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PART I

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, or this Annual Report, references to “we,” “us,” “our,” “the Company,”
“S|T|O|R|E” or “STORE Capital,” are references to STORE Capital Corporation, a Maryland corporation, prior to, and to
STORE Capital LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, upon and following the completion of the Merger, and references to
the “Merger” are references to the Merger as defined in Item 1 below.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange
Act. Such forward-looking statements include, without limitation, statements concerning our business and growth strategies,
investment, financing and leasing activities and trends in our business, including trends in the market for long-term, triple-net
leases of freestanding, single-tenant properties, and expected liquidity needs and sources (including the ability to obtain
financing or raise capital). Words such as “estimate,” “anticipate,” “expect,” “believe,” “intend,” “may,” “will,” “should,”
“seek,” “approximately” or “plan,” or the negative of these words, and phrases or similar words or phrases that are predictions of
or indicate future events or trends and that do not relate solely to historical matters, are intended to identify forward-looking
statements. You can also identify forward-looking statements by discussions of strategy, plans or intentions of management.

Forward-looking statements involve numerous risks and uncertainties, and you should not rely on them as predictions
of future events. Forward-looking statements depend on assumptions, data or methods that may be incorrect or imprecise, and
we may not be able to realize them. The following risks, among others, could cause actual results and future events to differ
materially from those set forth or contemplated in the forward-looking statements:

● real estate risks, including fluctuations in real estate values and the general economic climate in local markets and
competition for customers in such markets;

● rental rates that are unable to keep up with the pace of inflation;

● the performance and financial condition of our customers;

● real estate acquisition risks, including our ability to identify and complete acquisitions and/or failure of such
acquisitions to perform in accordance with projections;

● the competitive environment in which we operate;

● decreased rental rates or increased vacancy rates;

● potential defaults (including bankruptcy or insolvency) on, or non-renewal of, leases by customers;

● our ability to raise debt capital on attractive terms;

● financing risks, including the risks that our cash flows from operations may be insufficient to meet required
payments of principal and interest and that we may be unable to refinance our existing debt upon maturity or
obtain new financing on attractive terms at all;

● potential natural disasters and other liabilities and costs associated with the impact of climate change;

● litigation, including costs associated with defending claims against us as a result of incidents on our properties, and
any adverse outcomes;

● possible environmental liabilities, including costs, fines or penalties that may be incurred due to necessary
remediation of contamination of properties presently owned or previously owned by us;
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● potential changes in the law or governmental regulations that affect us and interpretations of those laws and
regulations, including changes in real estate and zoning or real estate investment trust tax laws; and

● the factors included in this report, including those set forth under the headings “Business,” “Risk Factors” and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of the
document in which they are contained. While forward-looking statements reflect our good faith beliefs, they are not guarantees
of future performance. We undertake no obligation to publicly release the results of any revisions to any forward-looking
statement that may be made to reflect events or circumstances after the date as of which that forward-looking statement speaks
or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as required by law.

Item 1. BUSINESS

The Merger

On September 15, 2022, STORE Capital Corporation, a Maryland corporation, Ivory Parent, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (“Parent”) and Ivory REIT, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Merger Sub” and, together with
Parent, the “Parent Parties”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”). The Parent Parties are
affiliates of GIC, a global institutional investor, and Oak Street Real Estate Capital, a division of Blue Owl Capital, Inc. On
February 3, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement,
STORE Capital Corporation merged with and into Merger Sub (the “Merger”) with Merger Sub surviving (the “Surviving
Entity”) and the separate existence of STORE Capital Corporation ceased. Immediately following the completion of the Merger,
the Surviving Entity changed its name to STORE Capital LLC. References herein to “we”, the “Company” “S|T|O|R|E” or
“STORE Capital” are references to STORE Capital Corporation prior to the Merger and to STORE Capital LLC upon and
following the Merger. As of the Closing Date of the Merger, the common equity of the Company is no longer publicly traded.

Overview

General.  S|T|O|R|E is an internally managed net-lease real estate investment trust, or REIT, that is a leader in the
acquisition, investment and management of Single Tenant Operational Real Estate, or STORE Properties, which is our target
market and the inspiration for our name. A STORE Property is a real property location at which a company operates its business
and generates sales and profits, which makes the location a profit center and, therefore, fundamentally important to that business.
Our portfolio is highly diversified and our customers operate across a wide variety of industries within the service, service-
oriented retail and manufacturing sectors of the U.S. economy.

Taxation as a Real Estate Investment Trust.  STORE Capital Corporation elected to be taxed as a real estate investment
trust, or a REIT, under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, commencing with its initial taxable year
ended December 31, 2011. STORE Capital LLC has elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, commencing with its initial taxable year ended December 31, 2022. To continue to qualify as a REIT, we must
continue to meet certain tests which, among other things, require that our assets consist primarily of real estate assets, our
income be derived primarily from real estate assets, and that we distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (other than
our net capital gains) to our members annually.

The Net-Lease Model and Sustainability.  S|T|O|R|E is a net-lease REIT. Accordingly, we acquire STORE Properties
from business owners, and then lease the properties back to the business owners under net-leases, substantially all of which are
triple-net. Under a triple-net lease, our customer (the tenant) is solely responsible for operating the business conducted at the
property subject to the lease, keeping the property and improvements in good order and repair, remodeling and updating the
building as it deems appropriate to maximize business value, and paying the insurance, property taxes and other property-related
expenses. Under the triple-net lease model, therefore, S|T|O|R|E is not a real estate operator; rather, we provide real estate
financing solutions to customers seeking a long-term, more efficient cost alternative to real estate ownership. Following our
acquisition of a property, it is our customer, and not S|T|O|R|E, that controls the property, including with respect to decisions as
to when and how to implement environmentally sustainable practices at a given property.
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Our Corporate Responsibility.  We define success by our ability to make a positive difference for all of our
stakeholders. S|T|O|R|E’s beginning was inspired by our belief that we could make a positive difference for real estate intensive
businesses across the U.S. by delivering innovative and superior real estate capital solutions. That belief has guided our efforts to
bring much needed capital and liquidity opportunities to middle-market and larger businesses which, in turn, have brought value
creation and growth to our customers, owners and employees. For our many customers, S|T|O|R|E’s real estate lease solutions
have contributed to their prospects for wealth creation and to their ability to grow, create jobs and contribute to many
communities across the country. In turn, meeting the needs of our customers provides an extraordinary investment opportunity
that we believe creates sustainable long-term wealth. We are committed to operating our business responsibly, guarding our
valuable reputation and creating long-term and sustainable value for our company through a robust business model and
attentiveness to our many stakeholders. S|T|O|R|E is committed to playing an important role for middle-market and larger
companies across the U.S. in order to help them succeed, while making a positive impact on our collective communities, both
today and for future generations.

Our Target Market and Asset Class

We provide real estate financing solutions principally to middle-market and larger businesses that own single tenant
profit-center real estate locations on which they conduct their businesses and generate revenues and profits, which we refer to as
Single Tenant Operational Real Estate or “STORE Properties.” Our customers operate these STORE Properties within the broad-
based service, service-oriented retail and manufacturing sectors of the U.S. economy. We have designed our net-lease solutions
to provide a long-term, cost efficient way to improve our customers’ capital structures and, thus, be a preferred alternative to real
estate ownership.

Our customers typically have the choice either to own or to lease the real estate they use in their daily businesses. They
choose to lease for various reasons, including the potential to lower their cost of capital, as leasing supplants traditional
financing options that tie up the equity in their real estate. Leasing is also viewed as an attractive alternative to our customers
because it generally locks in scheduled payments, at lower levels and for longer periods, than traditional financing options; these
factors are viewed favorably relative to the amounts funded.

Because STORE Properties are profit-center locations, payment of rent under our lease contracts is supported not only
by the credit quality of the tenant and the residual value of the real estate, but also and primarily by the profits produced by the
business operations at the locations we own (e.g. unit-level profitability).

Creating Superior Lease Contracts

We believe that our net-lease contracts, and not simply tenant or real estate quality, are central to our potential to deliver
superior long-term risk-adjusted rates of return. Contract quality embodies tenant and real estate characteristics, together with
other investment attributes we believe are highly material. Contract attributes include the prices we pay for the real estate we
own, inclusive of the prices relative to new construction cost. Other important contract attributes include the ability to receive
unit-level financial statements, which allows us to evaluate unit-level cash flows relative to the rents we receive. Likewise, over
many years of providing real estate net-lease capital, we have determined that tenant alignments of interest are highly important.
Such alignments of interest can include full parent company recourse, credit enhancements in the form of guarantees, cross
default provisions and the use of master leases. Master leases, which comprise most of our multi-property net-lease contracts, are
individual lease contracts that bind multiple properties and offer landlords greater security in the event of tenant insolvency and
bankruptcy. Whereas individual property leases provide tenants with the opportunity to evaluate the desirability and viability of
each individual property they rent in the event of a bankruptcy, master leases bind multiple properties, permitting landlords to
benefit from aggregate property performance and limiting tenants’ ability to pick and choose which leases to retain. Other
important tenant contract considerations include contractual lease escalations, indemnification provisions, lease renewal rights,
and the ability to sublease and assign leases, as well as qualitative considerations, such as alternative real estate use assessment
and the composition of a tenant’s capitalization structure.
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Our Business Process

We operate a platform for the acquisition of, investment in and management of STORE Properties that creates value
through four core competencies.

● Investment Origination. A S|T|O|R|E hallmark is our ability to directly market our real estate lease solutions to
middle-market and larger companies nation-wide, utilizing a team of experienced relationship managers.

● Investment Underwriting. Our investment underwriting approach centers on evaluations of unit-level and
corporate-level financial performance, together with detailed real estate valuation assessments, which is reflective
of the characteristics of the STORE Property asset class.

● Investment Documentation. The purchase documentation process includes the validation of investment
underwriting through our due diligence process, which includes our initiation and receipt of third-party real estate
valuations, title insurance, property condition assessments and environmental reports. When we are satisfied with
the results and outcome of our pre-acquisition due diligence process, we purchase the property under a purchase
agreement and enter into a lease with the seller.

● Portfolio Management. Net-lease real estate investment portfolios require active management to realize superior
risk-adjusted rates of return. S|T|O|R|E monitors unit-level profit and loss statements, customer corporate financial
statements and the timely payment of property taxes and insurance in order to gauge portfolio quality.

Environmental Stewardship

We are committed to environmental sustainability and the mitigation of environmental risks in connection with the
development of our property portfolio. This commitment reflects the fact that the properties we acquire are subject to both state
and federal environmental regulations, but, more importantly, it aligns with our belief that being conscious of, and seeking to
address and manage, environmental risks within our control, and supporting our customers to do the same in their businesses,
plays a role in building and sustaining successful enterprises; and, thus, is material to the success of our own business.

Our environmental initiatives and partnerships focus on energy savings and carbon footprint reduction in our customers’
facilities. As we are a triple-net lease REIT, without direct control of physical locations, our primary strategy includes educating
ourselves and our customers on evolving environmental strategies, soliciting feedback, and gathering environmental data from
our customers. This includes developing relationships between our customers and environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) vendor partners, and supporting our tenants in the implementation of green programs including energy efficiency and
carbon reduction programs.

Human Capital Management

We believe that to continue delivering strong financial results, we must execute on a human capital strategy that
prioritizes, among other things: (i) establishing a work environment that: attracts, develops, and retains top talent; (ii) affording
our employees an engaging work experience that allows for career development and opportunities for meaningful civic
involvement; (iii) evaluating compensation and benefits, and rewarding outstanding performance; (iv) engaging with, and
obtaining feedback from, our employees on their workplace experiences; (v) enabling every employee at every level to be
treated with dignity and respect, to be free from discrimination and harassment, and to devote their full attention and best efforts
to performing their job to the best of their respective abilities; and (vi) communicating with our board of directors on key topics.

As part of our efforts to achieve these priorities:

● We seek to foster a diverse and vibrant workplace of individuals who possess a broad range of experiences,
backgrounds and skills, starting at the top.
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● We empower our employees through employee-run engagement committees that develop and influence new
employee onboarding, personal growth and professional development programs, company social and team-
building events and health and wellness programs.

● We actively support charitable organizations that promote education and social well-being and we encourage our
employees to personally volunteer with organizations that are meaningful to them.

● We seek to identify future leaders and equip them with the tools for management roles within our Company.

As of December 31, 2022, we had 116 full-time employees, all of whom are located in our single office in Scottsdale,
Arizona. None of our employees are subject to a collective bargaining agreement. We consider our employee relations to be
good.

Competition

We face competition in the acquisition and financing of STORE Properties from numerous investors, including, but not
limited to, traded and non-traded public REITs, private equity investors and other institutional investment funds, as well as
private wealth management advisory firms that serve high net worth investors (also known as family offices).

Regulations and Requirements

Our properties are subject to various laws and regulations, including regulations relating to fire and safety requirements,
as well as affirmative and negative contractual covenants and, in some instances, common area obligations. We believe that each
of our customers has the necessary permits and approvals to operate and conduct their businesses on our properties. Moreover,
our properties are subject to Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 and similar state and local laws and
regulations (collectively, the “ADA”). Our customers have primary responsibility for complying with these regulations and other
requirements pursuant to our lease and loan agreements; however, we may have liability in certain circumstances if our tenants
do not comply with such laws and regulations. As of January 31, 2023, we are not aware of any ADA non-compliance that we
believe would have a material adverse effect on the results of our operations.

Additionally, our properties are subject to environmental laws and regulations, which may give rise to liabilities related
to the presence, handling or discharge of hazardous materials that may emanate from properties that we purchase, regardless of
fault. We mitigate the possible liabilities from such laws and regulations by undertaking extensive environmental due diligence
and by entering into leases with the sellers of our properties, pursuant to which the sellers agree to certain covenants and
indemnities that typically require the sellers to comply with applicable environmental laws and regulations and remediate or take
other corrective action should any environmental issues arise. We believe the costs of capital expenditures related to
environmental liabilities will not have a material impact on the results of our operations, as such costs are typically borne by the
sellers, previous owners, and tenants of our properties.

About Us

STORE Capital Corporation was incorporated under the laws of Maryland on May 17, 2011. STORE Capital LLC was
formed under the laws of Delaware on August 30, 2022. Our offices are located at 8377 E. Hartford Drive, Suite 100, Scottsdale,
Arizona 85255. We currently lease approximately 34,500 square feet of office space from an unaffiliated third party. Our
telephone number is (480) 256-1100 and our website is www.storecapital.com.

Available Information

We electronically file with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, our annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.
You may obtain a free copy of our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-
K, and amendments to those reports, on the day of filing with the SEC on our website, or by sending an email message to
info@storecapital.com.
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Item 1A.  RISK FACTORS

There are many factors that affect our business, financial condition, operating results, cash flows and distributions. The
following is a description of important factors that may cause our actual results of operations in future periods to differ
materially from those currently expected or discussed in forward-looking statements set forth in this Annual Report. The risks
and uncertainties described below are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or
that we may currently deem immaterial also may impair our business operations. Forward-looking statements and such risks,
uncertainties and other factors speak only as of the date of this Annual Report, and we expressly disclaim any obligation or
undertaking to update or revise any forward-looking statement contained herein, to reflect any change in our expectations with
regard thereto, or any other change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based, except to the
extent otherwise required by law. See “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Risks Related to Our Business and Operations

The value of our real estate is subject to fluctuation, and risks related to investing in real estate may have an adverse effect on
our financial condition.

We are subject to all of the general risks associated with the ownership of real estate. While the revenues from our
leases are not directly dependent upon the value of the underlying real estate, significant declines in real estate values could
adversely affect us in many ways, including a decline in the residual values of properties at lease expiration, possible lease
abandonments by our customers and a decline in the attractiveness of triple-net lease transactions to potential sellers. Moreover,
significant declines in real estate values may also affect our ability to execute leases on attractive terms with potential tenants. In
addition, we periodically review our real estate assets for impairment based on the projected operating cash flow of the property
over our anticipated holding period. Impairment charges have a direct impact on our results of operation. A financial failure or
other default by a customer will likely reduce or eliminate the operating cash flow generated by that customer’s leased property
and might decrease the value of that property and result in a non-cash impairment charge. Also, to the extent we purchase real
estate in an unstable market, we are subject to the risk that if the real estate market ceases to attract the same level of capital
investment in the future that it attracts at the time of our purchases, or the number of companies seeking to acquire properties
decreases, the value of our investments may not appreciate or may decrease significantly below the amounts we paid.

Contingent rent escalators may expose us to inflation risk and can hinder our growth and profitability.

A substantial portion of our leases contain variable-rate contingent rent escalators that periodically increase the base
rent payable by the customer. Our leases with rent escalators indexed to future increases in the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”)
primarily adjust over a one-year period but may adjust over multiple-year periods. Generally, these escalators increase rent at (i)
1 to 1.25 times the change in the CPI over a specified period or (ii) a fixed percentage. As a result of these escalators, during
periods of deflation or low inflation, small increases or decreases in the CPI may cause us to receive lower rental revenues than
we would receive under leases with fixed-rate rent escalators. Conversely, when inflation is higher, contingent rent increases
may not keep up with the rate of inflation. Higher inflation may also have an adverse impact on our customers if increases in
their operating expenses exceed increases in revenue, which may adversely affect our customers’ ability to satisfy their financial
obligations to us.

The success of our business depends upon the success of our customers’ businesses, and bankruptcy laws will limit our
remedies in the event of customer defaults.

We lease substantially all of our properties to customers who operate businesses at the leased properties. We underwrite
and evaluate investment risk on the basis that the profitability of these businesses is the primary source that supports the
payments on our leases and loans, which we refer to as “unit-level profitability.” We believe the success of our investments
materially depends upon whether our customers generate unit level profitability at the locations we acquire and lease back or
finance.

If any of our customers struggle financially, they may decline to extend or renew their leases, miss rental payments or
declare bankruptcy. Claims for unpaid future rent are rarely paid in full and are subject to statutory limitations that would likely
cause us to receive rental revenues substantially below the contractually specified rent. We are often
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subject to this risk because our triple-net leases generally involve a single tenant, but this risk is magnified when we lease
multiple properties to a single customer under a master lease. Federal bankruptcy laws may prohibit us from evicting bankrupt
customers solely upon bankruptcy, and we may not recover the premises promptly from the tenant or from a trustee or debtor-in-
possession in bankruptcy proceedings. We may also be unable to re-lease a terminated or rejected space on comparable terms, or
at all, or sell a vacant space upon a customer’s bankruptcy. We will be responsible for all of the operating costs at vacant
properties until they are sold or re-let, if at all.

Some service and service-oriented retail customers may be susceptible to e-commerce pressures.

Most of our portfolio is leased to, or financed by, customers operating service or service-oriented retail businesses.
Service and service-oriented retail businesses using physical outlets face increasing competition from online retailers and service
providers. While we believe the businesses in our portfolio are relatively insulated from e-commerce pressures, these businesses
may face increased competition from alternative online providers given the rapidly changing business conditions spurred by
technological innovation, changing consumer preferences and non-traditional competitors. There can be no assurance that our
customers’ businesses will remain competitive with e-commerce providers in the future; any failure to do so would impair their
ability to meet their lease obligations to us and materially and adversely affect us.

Geographic, market sector or industry concentrations within our portfolio may negatively affect our financial results.

Our operating performance is impacted by the economic conditions affecting the specific locales, market sectors and
industries in which we have concentrations of properties. As a result of these concentrations, local economic, market sector, and
industry conditions, changes in state or local governmental rules and regulations, acts of nature, epidemics, pandemics and
public health crises and actions taken in response thereto, and other factors affecting those states, market sectors or industries
could result in an adverse effect on our customers’ businesses and their ability to meet their obligations to us. Additionally, a
failure to increase demand for our products by, among other ways, failing to convince middle-market and larger companies to
sell and lease back their properties, or an increase in the availability of properties for rent, could materially and adversely affect
us. As we continue to acquire properties, our portfolio may become more concentrated by customer, industry or geographic area.
A less diverse portfolio could cause us to be more sensitive to the bankruptcy of fewer customers, changes in consumer trends of
a particular industry and a general economic downturn in a particular geographic area.

Failure of our underwriting and risk management procedures to accurately evaluate a potential customer’s credit risk could
materially and adversely affect our operating results and financial position.

Our success depends in part on the creditworthiness of our middle-market and larger customers who generally are not
rated by any nationally recognized rating agency. We analyze creditworthiness using Moody’s Analytics RiskCalc, our
methodology of estimating probability of lease rejection and our proprietary ‘Probability of Default’ model, each of which may
fail to adequately assess a particular customer’s default risk. An expected default frequency (“EDF”) score from Moody’s
Analytics RiskCalc lacks the extensive company participation required to obtain a credit rating published by a nationally
recognized statistical rating organization such as Moody’s Investors Services, Inc. or S&P Global Ratings, a division of S&P
Global, Inc., and may not be as indicative of creditworthiness. Substantially all of our customers are required to provide
corporate-level financial information to us periodically or at our request. EDF scores and the financial ratios we calculate are
based on unverified financial information from our customers, may reflect only a limited operating history and include various
estimates and judgments made by the party preparing the financial information. The probability of lease rejection we assign to a
particular investment may be inaccurate and may not incorporate significant risks of which we are unaware, which may cause us
to invest in properties and lease them to customers who ultimately default, and we may be unable to recover our investment by
re-leasing or selling the related property, on favorable terms, or at all.

We may be unable to identify and complete acquisitions of suitable properties, which may impede our growth.

Our ability to continue to acquire properties we believe to be suitable and compatible with our growth strategy may be
constrained by numerous factors, including the following:

● We may be unable to locate properties that will produce a sufficient spread between our cost of capital and the
lease rate we can obtain from a customer, which will decrease our profitability.
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● Our ability to grow requires that we overcome many customers’ preference to own, rather than lease, their real
estate and convince customers that it is in their best interests to lease, rather than own, their STORE Properties,
either of which we may not be able to accomplish.

● We may be unable to reach an agreement with a potential customer due to failed negotiations or our discovery of
previously unknown matters, conditions or liabilities during our real property, legal and financial due diligence
review with respect to a transaction and may be forced to abandon the opportunity after incurring significant costs
and diverting management’s attention.

● We may fail to obtain sufficient financing to complete acquisitions on favorable terms or at all.

We typically acquire only a small percentage of all properties that we evaluate (which we refer to as our “pipeline”). To
the extent any of the foregoing decreases our pipeline or otherwise impacts our ability to continue to acquire suitable properties,
our ability to grow our business will be adversely affected.

We face significant competition for customers, which may negatively impact the occupancy and rental rates of our properties,
reduce the number of acquisitions we are able to complete or increase the cost of these acquisitions.

We compete with numerous developers, owners and operators of properties that often own similar properties in similar
markets, and if our competitors offer lower rents than we are offering, we may be pressured to lower our rents or to offer more
substantial rent abatements, customer improvements, early termination rights, below-market renewal options or other lease
incentive payments in order to remain competitive. Competition for customers could negatively impact the occupancy and rental
rates of STORE properties.

We also face competition for acquisitions of real property from investors, including traded and non-traded public
REITs, private equity investors and other institutional investment funds, as well as private wealth management advisory firms,
some of which have greater financial resources, a greater ability to borrow funds to acquire properties, the ability to offer more
attractive terms to prospective customers and the willingness to accept greater risk or lower returns than we can prudently
manage. This competition may increase the demand for STORE Properties and, therefore, reduce the number of, or increase the
price for, suitable acquisition opportunities, all of which could materially and adversely affect us.

As leases expire, we may be unable to renew those leases or re-lease the space on favorable terms or at all.

We may not be able to renew leases or re-lease spaces without interruptions in rental revenue, at or above our current
rental rates or without offering substantial rent abatements, customer improvement allowances, early termination rights or below
market renewal options, and the terms of renewal, extension or re-lease may be less favorable to us than the prior lease. Because
some of our properties are specifically designed for a particular customer’s business, we may be required to renovate the
property, decrease the rent we charge or provide other concessions in order to lease the property to another prospective customer.
If we need to sell such properties, we may have difficulty selling them to a third party due to the property’s unique design.

Some of our customers operate under franchise or license agreements, which, if terminated or not renewed prior to the
expiration of their leases with us, would likely impair their ability to pay us rent.

Some of our customers operate their businesses under franchise or license agreements, which generally have terms that
end earlier than the respective expiration dates of the related leases. In addition, a customer’s rights as a franchisee or licensee
typically may be terminated by the franchisor and the customer may be precluded from competing with the franchisor or licensor
upon termination. A franchisor’s or licensor’s termination or refusal to renew a franchise or license agreement would impact the
customer’s ability to make payments under its lease or loan with us. We typically have no notice or cure rights with respect to
such a termination and have no rights to assignment of any such agreement, which may have an adverse effect on our ability to
mitigate losses arising from a default by a terminated franchisee on any of our leases or loans.
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If a customer defaults under either the ground lease or mortgage loan of a hybrid lease, we may be required to undertake
foreclosure proceedings on the mortgage before we can re-lease or sell the property.

In certain circumstances, we may enter into hybrid leases with customers. A hybrid lease is a modified sale-leaseback
transaction, where the customer sells us land and then we lease the land back to the customer under a ground lease and
simultaneously make a mortgage loan to the customer secured by the improvements the customer continues to own. If a
customer defaults under a hybrid lease, we may: (i) evict the customer under the ground lease and assume ownership of the
improvements; or (ii) if required by a court, foreclose on the mortgage loan that is secured by the improvements. Under a ground
lease, we, as the ground lessor, generally become the owner of the improvements on the land at lease maturity or if the customer
defaults. If, upon default, a court requires us to foreclose on the mortgage, rather than evicting the customer, we might encounter
delays and expenses in obtaining possession of the improvements, which in turn could delay our ability to promptly sell or re-
lease the property.

Defaults by customers on mortgages we hold could lead to losses on our investments.

From time to time, we make or assume commercial mortgage loans. We have also made a limited number of
investments on properties we own or finance in the form of loans secured by equipment or other fixtures owned by our
customers. In the event of a default, we would not earn interest or receive a return of the principal of our loan and may also
experience delays and costs in enforcing our rights as lender. Foreclosure and other similar proceedings used to enforce payment
of real estate loans are generally subject to principles of equity, which are designed to relieve the indebted party from the legal
effect of that party’s default. Foreclosure and other similar laws may limit our right to obtain a deficiency judgment against the
defaulting party after a foreclosure or sale, and may lead to a loss or delay in the payment on loans we hold. If we do have to
foreclose on a property, we may receive less in the foreclosure sale than the amount the customer owes us or that is needed to
cover the costs to foreclose, repossess and sell the property.

Some of our customers rely on government funding, and their failure to continue to qualify for such funding could adversely
impact their ability to make timely lease payments to us.

Some of our customers operate businesses that depend on government funding or reimbursements, such as customers in
the education, healthcare and childcare related industries, which may require them to satisfy certain licensure or certification
requirements in order to qualify for these government payments. The amount and timing of these government payments depend
on various factors that often are beyond our or our customers’ control. If these customers fail to receive necessary government
funding or fail to comply with related regulations, their cash flow could be materially affected, which may cause them to default
on their leases and adversely impact our business.

Construction and renovation risks could adversely affect our profitability.

In certain instances, we provide financing to our customers for the construction and/or renovation of their properties.
We are therefore subject to the risks that this construction or renovation may not be completed. Construction and renovation
costs for a property may exceed a customer’s original estimates due to increased costs of materials or labor, or other unexpected
costs. A customer may also be unable to complete construction or renovation of a property on schedule, which could result in
increased debt service expenses or construction costs. These additional expenses may affect the ability of the customer to make
payments to us.

Our ability to fully control the maintenance of our net-leased properties may be limited.

Because our customers are the tenants of our net-leased properties and are responsible for the day-to-day maintenance
and management of our properties, after lease expiration, we may incur expenses for deferred maintenance or other liabilities if a
property is not adequately maintained. We visit our properties periodically, but these visits are not comprehensive inspections
and deferred maintenance items may go unnoticed. Our leases generally provide for recourse against a customer in these
instances, but bankrupt or financially troubled customers may be more likely to defer maintenance, and it may be more difficult
to enforce remedies against such customers. We may not always be able to ascertain the financial circumstances of a given
customer or forestall deterioration in the condition of a property.
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Failure to qualify as a REIT could adversely affect our financial condition.

Our qualification as a REIT requires us to satisfy numerous highly technical and complex requirements for which there
are only limited judicial or administrative interpretations, and which involve the determination of various factual matters and
circumstances not entirely within our control. No guarantee can be made that we will be able to continue to be qualified as a
REIT in the future. If we fail to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, we would be subject to federal income tax (and state and
local taxes) on our taxable income at the regular corporate rate and be unable to deduct dividends when computing our taxable
income. Also, unless the Internal Revenue Service granted us relief under certain statutory provisions, we could not re-elect
REIT status until the fifth calendar year after the year in which we first failed to qualify as a REIT. The additional tax liability
from such a failure could adversely affect our financial condition.

Risks Related to the Financing of Our Business

Our growth depends on external sources of debt and equity capital, which are outside of our control and affect our ability to
seize strategic opportunities, satisfy debt obligations and make distributions to our members.

We rely on third-party sources to fund our debt and equity capital needs. Our access to third-party sources of capital
depends, in part, on general market conditions, the market’s perception of our growth potential, our current debt levels, our credit
ratings, our current and expected future earnings, and our cash flows and cash distributions.

In addition, in order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we are generally required under the Code to, among other
things, distribute annually at least 90% of our net REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid
deduction and excluding any net capital gain, and we will be subject to income tax to the extent that we distribute less than 100%
of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and including any net capital gain.
Because of these distribution requirements, without access to third-party sources of capital, we may not be able to acquire
properties when strategic opportunities exist, meet the capital and operating needs of our existing properties, satisfy our debt
service obligations or make the cash distributions to our members necessary to maintain our qualification as a REIT.

Current market conditions, including increases in interest rates, could adversely affect our ability to refinance existing
indebtedness or obtain additional financing for growth on acceptable terms or at all.

In periods during which credit markets experience significant price volatility, displacement and liquidity disruptions,
liquidity in the financial markets can be impacted, making financing terms for customers less attractive, and in certain cases,
rendering certain types of debt financing unavailable. In such periods, we may be unable to obtain debt financing on favorable
terms, or at all, or fully refinance maturing indebtedness with new indebtedness. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or other
factors at the time of refinancing result in higher interest rates upon refinancing, then the interest expense relating to that
refinanced indebtedness would increase, and the increased interest rates could cause our interest costs and overall costs of capital
to increase.

Our operating results and financial condition could be adversely affected if we or our subsidiaries are unable to make
required payments on our debt.

We are subject to risks normally associated with debt financing, including the risk that our cash flows will be
insufficient to meet required payments of principal and interest. If we are unable to make debt service payments as required on
loans secured by properties we own, a lender could foreclose on the property or properties securing its debt. This could cause us
to lose part or all of our investment. In addition, a significant portion of our investment portfolio consists of assets owned by our
consolidated, bankruptcy remote, special purpose entity subsidiaries (“SPEs”) that have been pledged to secure the long-term
borrowings of those SPEs. We or our other consolidated subsidiaries are the equity owners of our SPEs, which entitles us to the
excess cash flows after debt service and all other required payments are made on the debt of our SPEs. If our SPEs fail to make
the required payments on such indebtedness or fail to maintain the required debt service coverage ratios, distributions of excess
cash flows to us may be reduced or suspended and the indebtedness may become immediately due and payable. If our SPEs are
unable to pay the accelerated indebtedness, the pledged assets could be foreclosed upon and distributions of excess cash flows to
us may be suspended or terminated, which could reduce the value of our portfolio and revenues available for distribution to our
members.
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Our hedging strategies may not be successful in mitigating our risks associated with interest rates and could reduce our
overall net return.

We attempt to mitigate our exposure to interest rate risk by entering into long-term fixed-rate financing through the
combination of periodic debt offerings under our secured and unsecured debt programs including our STORE Master Funding
program, our asset-backed securities conduit, through non-recourse secured borrowings, through insurance company and bank
borrowings, by laddering our borrowing maturities and by using leases that generally provide for rent escalations during the term
of the lease. However, the weighted average term of our borrowings does not match the weighted average term of our
investments, and the methods we employ to mitigate our exposure to changes in interest rates involve risks, including the risk
that the debt markets are volatile and tend to reflect the conditions of the then current economic climate. Our efforts may not be
effective in reducing our exposure to interest rate changes, which may increase our cost of capital and reduce the net returns we
earn on our portfolio.

We depend on the asset backed securities (“ABS”) market for a substantial portion of our long-term debt financing.

Historically, we have raised a significant amount of long-term debt capital through our STORE Master Funding
program, which accesses the ABS market. Our ABS debt is issued by our SPEs, which issue multiple series of investment grade
ABS notes from time to time as additional collateral is added to the collateral pool. Our ABS debt is generally non-recourse, but
there are customary limited exceptions to recourse for matters such as fraud, misrepresentation, gross negligence or willful
misconduct, misapplication of payments, bankruptcy and environmental liabilities.

We have generally used the proceeds from these ABS financings to repay debt and fund real estate acquisitions. Our
obligations under these loans are generally secured by liens on certain of our properties. In the case of our STORE Master
Funding program, subject to certain conditions and limitations, we may substitute real estate collateral for assets in the collateral
pool from time to time. No assurance can be given that the ABS market or financing facilities with similar flexibility to
substitute collateral will be available to us in the future.

A disruption in the financial markets for ABS debt may affect our ability to obtain long-term debt, which, in turn, may
force us to acquire real estate assets at a lower than anticipated growth rate and negatively affect our return on equity.
Furthermore, a reduction in the difference, or spread, between the rate we earn on our assets (primarily the lease rates we charge
our customers) and the rate we pay on our liabilities (primarily the interest rates on our debt) could have a material and adverse
effect on our financial condition.

A downgrade in our credit ratings could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

The credit ratings assigned to us and our debt, which are subject to ongoing evaluation by the rating agencies who have
published them, could change based upon, among other things, our historical and projected business, prospects, liquidity, results
of operations and financial condition, or the real estate industry generally. If any credit rating agency downgrades or lowers our
credit rating, places any such rating on a so-called “watch list” for a possible downgrading or lowering or otherwise indicates a
negative outlook for that rating, it could materially adversely affect the market price of our debt securities, as well as our costs
and availability of capital.

The agreements governing some of our indebtedness contain restrictions and covenants which may limit our ability to enter
into or obtain funding for certain transactions, operate our business or make distributions to our members.

The agreements governing some of our indebtedness contain restrictions and covenants, including financial covenants,
that limit or will limit our ability to operate our business. These covenants, as well as any additional covenants to which we may
be subject in the future because of additional indebtedness, could cause us to forego investment opportunities, reduce or
eliminate distributions to our members or obtain financing on less than favorable terms. The covenants and other restrictions
under our debt agreements may affect our ability to incur indebtedness, create liens on assets, sell or substitute assets, modify
certain terms of our leases, prepay debt with higher interest rates, manage our cash flows and make distributions to our members.
Additionally, these restrictions may adversely affect our operating and financial flexibility and may limit our ability to respond to
changes in our business or competitive environment, all of which may materially and adversely affect us.
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General Real Estate Risks

Real estate investments are relatively illiquid and property vacancies could result in significant capital expenditures.

We may desire to sell a property in the future because of changes in market conditions, poor customer performance or
default under any mortgage we hold, or to avail ourselves of other opportunities. We may also be required to sell a property in
the future to meet debt obligations or avoid a default. Particularly with respect to certain types of real estate assets, such as
movie theaters, that cannot always be sold quickly, we may be unable to realize our investment objective by sale, other
disposition or refinancing at attractive prices within any given period of time or may otherwise be unable to complete any exit
strategy. In addition, as a REIT, the Code limits our ability to dispose of properties in ways that are not applicable to other types
of real estate companies. In particular, the tax laws applicable to REITs effectively require that we hold our properties for
investment, rather than primarily for sale in the ordinary course of business, which may cause us to forgo or defer sales of
properties that otherwise would be in our best interest. We may be required to invest in the restoration or modification of a
property before we can sell it. The inability to respond promptly to changes in the performance of our property portfolio could
adversely affect our financial condition and ability to service our debt and make distributions to our members.

The loss of a customer, either through lease expiration or customer bankruptcy, may require us to spend significant
amounts of capital to renovate the property before it is suitable for a new customer and cause us to incur significant costs in the
form of ongoing expenses for property maintenance, taxes, insurance and other expenses.

Uninsured losses relating to real property may adversely affect our returns.

Our contracts generally require our customers to maintain insurance customary for similar types of commercial
property. Depending on the location of the property or nature of its use, losses of a catastrophic nature may be covered by
insurance policies held by our customers with limitations, such as large deductibles or copayments, that a customer may not be
able to meet. In addition, factors such as inflation, changes in building codes and ordinances, environmental considerations,
public safety threats and others may result in insurance proceeds that are insufficient to repair or replace a damaged or destroyed
property. In the event of a substantial or comprehensive loss of any of our properties, we may not be able to rebuild such
property to its existing specifications without significant capital expenditures, which may exceed any amounts received under
insurance policies, due to the upgrades needed to meet zoning and building code requirements. The loss of our capital investment
in, or anticipated future returns from, our properties due to material uninsured losses could materially and adversely affect us.

Environmentally hazardous conditions may adversely affect our operating results.

Our properties may be subject to known and unknown environmental liabilities under various federal, state and local
laws and regulations relating to human health and the environment, some of which may impose joint and several liability on
certain statutory classes of persons, including owners or operators, for the costs of investigation or remediation of contaminated
properties. These laws and regulations apply to past and present business operations on the properties, and the use, storage,
handling and recycling or disposal of hazardous substances or wastes. We may be liable regardless of our knowledge of the
contamination, the timing of the contamination, the cause of the contamination or the party responsible for the contamination.
Our customers generally must indemnify us from all or most environmental compliance costs, but if a customer fails to, or
cannot, comply, we may be required to pay such costs. These costs could be substantial, and because these potential
environmental liabilities are generally uncapped, these costs could significantly exceed the property’s value. There can be no
assurance that our environmental due diligence efforts will reveal all environmental conditions at the properties in our pipeline.

Under the laws of many states, contamination on a site may give rise to a lien on the site for clean-up costs.  Several 
states will grant priority to a “super lien” for clean-up costs over all existing liens, including those of existing mortgages. If any 
of the properties on which we have a mortgage are or become contaminated and subject to a super lien, we may not be able to 
recover the full value of our investment.

Certain federal, state and local laws, regulations and ordinances govern the use, removal and/or replacement of 
underground storage tanks in the event of a release on, or an upgrade or redevelopment of, certain properties.  Such laws, 
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as well as common law standards, may impose liability for any releases of hazardous substances associated with the underground 
storage tanks and may allow third parties to seek recovery from the owners or operators of such properties for damages 
associated with such releases.

In a few states, transfers of some types of sites are conditioned upon cleanup of contamination prior to transfer,
including in cases where a lender has become the owner of the site through a foreclosure, deed in lieu of foreclosure or
otherwise. If any of our properties in these states are subject to such contamination, we may be subject to substantial clean-up
costs before we are able to sell or otherwise transfer the property. Additionally, certain federal, state and local laws, regulations
and ordinances govern the removal, encapsulation or disturbance of asbestos containing materials (“ACMs”) in the event of the
remodeling, renovation or demolition of a building. Such laws, as well as common law standards, may impose liability for
releases of ACMs and may impose fines and penalties against us or our customers for failure to comply with these requirements
or allow third parties to seek recovery from us or our customers.

In addition, our properties may contain or develop harmful mold, exposure to which may cause a variety of adverse
health effects. Exposure to mold at any of our properties could require us to undertake a costly remediation program to contain
or remove the mold and could subject us to liability if property damage or health concerns arise.

If we or our customers become subject to any of the above-mentioned environmental risks, we may be materially and
adversely affected.

We may be subject to liabilities and costs associated with the impacts of climate change.

The impacts of climate change on our properties or operations are highly uncertain and would be particular to the
geographic areas in which we operate. Such impacts may result from increased frequency of natural disasters, changes in rainfall
and storm patterns and intensities, water shortages, changing sea levels, rising energy and environmental costs, and changing
temperatures, which may impact our or our tenants’ ability to obtain property insurance on acceptable terms. While most all of
our leases are triple-net, and generally impose responsibility on our tenants for the property-level operating costs and require our
tenants to indemnify us for environmental liabilities, there can be no assurance that a given tenant will be able to satisfy its
payment obligations to us under its lease if climate change adversely impacts a particular property.

Certain provisions of our leases or loan agreements may be unenforceable, which could adversely impact us.

Our rights and obligations with respect to our leases, mortgage loans or other loans are governed by written agreements.
A court could determine that one or more provisions of such an agreement are unenforceable, such as a particular remedy
(including rights to indemnification), a loan prepayment provision or a provision governing our security interest in the
underlying collateral of a customer. We could be adversely impacted if, for example, this were to happen with respect to a master
lease governing our rights relating to multiple properties.

Other General Risks

We face risks associated with security breaches through cyber-attacks, cyber intrusions or otherwise, as well as other
significant disruptions of our IT networks and related systems.

While we do not collect or maintain the types of information that are most often targeted in cyber-attacks, such as credit
card data, bank account information, or sensitive personal information, we nevertheless face risks associated with security
breaches through cyber-attacks, malware, computer viruses and malicious codes, ransomware, unauthorized access attempts,
denial of service attacks, phishing, social engineering, bad actors with access to systems inside our organization, and other
significant disruptions of our IT networks and related systems. The risk of a security breach has generally increased as the
number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks and intrusions from around the world have increased. Our IT networks
and related systems are essential to the operation of our business, the availability and integrity of our data and our ability to
perform day-to-day operations, and security breaches or system interruptions could result in misstated financial reports,
violations of loan covenants, missed reporting deadlines, our inability to monitor our compliance with the rules and regulations
regarding our qualification as a REIT, unauthorized access to, and destruction, loss, theft, misappropriation or release of
proprietary, confidential, sensitive or otherwise valuable information of ours or others, the diversion of management attention
and resources to remedy any resulting damages, liability for claims for
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breach of contract, damages, credits, penalties or termination of leases or other agreements, or damage to our reputation among
our customers, lenders, vendors and investors generally.

We rely on information systems across our operations and corporate functions, in particular our finance and accounting
departments, and depend on such systems to ensure payment of obligations, collection of cash, data warehousing to support
analytics, and other various processes and procedures, and there can be no assurance that our security efforts will be effective in
deterring security breaches or disruptions. Even the most well protected information, networks, systems and facilities remain
potentially vulnerable because the techniques, tools and tactics used in such attempted security breaches evolve and generally are
not recognized until launched against a target, and in some cases are designed to not be detected and, in fact, may not be
detected. Accordingly, we may be unable to anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate security barriers, disaster
recovery or other preventative or corrective measures, and thus it is impossible for us to entirely counteract this risk or fully
mitigate the harms after such an attack. And as we periodically upgrade our IT systems, we face the risk that these systems may
not function properly and expose us to increased cybersecurity breaches and failures, which would expose us to reputational,
competitive, operational, financial and business harm, as well as potential litigation and regulatory action.

We depend on key personnel; the loss of their full service could impair our ability to operate successfully.

We rely on the experience, efforts and abilities of senior leadership and other key personnel. We cannot guarantee the
continued employment of any of the members of our senior leadership team or key personnel, each of whom could be difficult to
replace, given their extensive knowledge and experience. The loss of services of one or more members of our senior leadership
team, or our inability to attract and retain highly qualified personnel, could adversely affect our business and be negatively
perceived in the capital markets, diminish our investment opportunities and weaken our relationships with lenders, business
partners, and customers.

We are subject to litigation which could materially and adversely affect us.

From time to time, we are subject to litigation in connection with the ordinary course operation of our business,
including instances in which we are named as defendants in lawsuits arising out of accidents causing personal injuries or other
events that occur on the properties operated by our customers. We generally seek to have our customers defend, and assume
liability for, such matters involving their properties. In other cases, we may defend ourselves, invoke our insurance coverage or
the coverage of our customers, and/or invoke our indemnification rights included in our leases. Resolution of these types of
matters against us may result in significant legal fees and/or require us to pay significant fines, judgments or settlements, which,
to the extent uninsured or in excess of insured limits, or not subject to indemnification, could adversely impact our earnings and
cash flows. We also may become subject to litigation relating to our financing and other transactions. Certain types of litigation,
if determined adversely to us, may affect the availability or cost of some of our insurance coverage, which could expose us to
increased risks that would be uninsured and materially and adversely impact our ability to attract directors and officers.

Future federal, state and local rules or regulations may adversely affect our and our customers’ results of operations.

Compliance with future federal, state and local governmental rules or regulations, or stricter interpretation of existing
governmental rules or regulations, may result in new costs, new liabilities, restrictions on current business activities and could
cause a material and adverse effect on our and our customers’ results of operation. There is no way to predict what governmental
rules or regulations will be enacted in the future, how future rules or regulations will be administered or interpreted or how
future rules or regulations will affect our or our customers’ businesses.

Item 1B.  UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

Item 2.  PROPERTIES

As of December 31, 2022, our total investment in real estate and loans approximated $12.0 billion, representing
investments in 3,084 property locations, substantially all of which are profit centers for our customers. The weighted average
non-cancelable remaining term of our leases was approximately 13.1 years.
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Item 3.  LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of our business, including 
instances in which we are named as defendants in lawsuits arising out of accidents causing personal injuries or other events that 
occur on the properties operated by our customers. These matters are generally covered by insurance and/or by our customers 
pursuant to our contractual indemnification rights that we include in our leases. Management believes that the final outcome of 
such matters will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations or liquidity.  

Item 4.  MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not Applicable.

PART II

Item 5.  MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

There is no established public trading market for our common equity. 100.0% of our common equity is beneficially
owned by our two members.

Distributions

Distributions will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and will depend on our actual funds from operations,
financial condition and capital requirements, and the annual distribution requirements under the REIT provisions of the Code
and other factors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

During the three months ended December 31, 2022, the Company did not repurchase any of its equity securities.

Item 6.  [Reserved]

Item 7.  MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with
the “Business” section, as well as the consolidated financial statements and related notes in Part II, Item 8 in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Annual Report,
including information with respect to our plans and strategies for our business, includes forward-looking statements that involve
risks and uncertainties. You should read “Item 1A. Risk Factors” and the “Forward-Looking Statements” sections of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results
described in or implied by these forward-looking statements.

In 2019, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued ASU 2019-07, Codification Updates to SEC Sections-
Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to SEC Final Rule Releases No. 33-10532, Disclosure Update and Simplification,
which makes a number of changes meant to simplify certain disclosures in financial condition and results of operations,
particularly by eliminating year-to-year comparisons between prior periods previously disclosed. In complying with the relevant
aspects of the rule covering the current year Annual Report, we include disclosures on our cash flows and results of operations
for fiscal year 2022 versus 2021 only. For discussion of our fiscal year 2021 compared to our fiscal year 2020, see “Item 7.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report filed with the
SEC for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021.
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The Merger

On September 15, 2022, STORE Capital Corporation, a Maryland corporation, Ivory Parent, LLC, a Delaware limited
liability company (“Parent”) and Ivory REIT, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Merger Sub” and, together with
Parent, the “Parent Parties”), entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”). The Parent Parties are
affiliates of GIC, a global institutional investor, and Oak Street Real Estate Capital, a division of Blue Owl Capital, Inc. On
February 3, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), pursuant to the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement,
STORE Capital Corporation merged with and into Merger Sub (the “Merger”) with Merger Sub surviving (the “Surviving
Entity”) and the separate existence of STORE Capital Corporation ceased. Immediately following the completion of the Merger,
the Surviving Entity changed its name to STORE Capital LLC. References herein to “we”, the “Company” “S|T|O|R|E”, or
“STORE Capital” are references to STORE Capital Corporation prior to the Merger and to STORE Capital LLC upon and
following the Merger. As of the Closing Date of the Merger, the common equity of the Company is no longer publicly traded.

Following the Merger, we are a Delaware limited liability company organized as an internally managed real estate
investment trust, or REIT. As a REIT, we will generally not be subject to federal income tax to the extent that we distribute all
our taxable income to our members and meet other requirements.

Overview

We invest in Single Tenant Operational Real Estate, or STORE Property, which is our target market and the inspiration
for our name. A STORE Property is a property location at which a company operates its business and generates sales and profits,
which makes the location a profit center and, therefore, fundamentally important to that business. Due to the long-term nature of
our leases, we focus our acquisition activity on properties that operate in industries we believe have long-term relevance, the
majority of which are service industries. By acquiring the real estate from the operators and then leasing the real estate back to
them, the operators become our long-term tenants, and we refer to them as our customers. Through the execution of these sale-
leaseback transactions, we fill a need for our customers by providing them a source of long-term capital that enables them to
avoid the need to incur debt and/or employ equity in order to finance the real estate that is essential to their business.

All the real estate we acquire is held by our wholly owned subsidiaries, many of which are special purpose bankruptcy
remote entities formed to facilitate the financing of our real estate. We predominantly acquire our single-tenant properties
directly from our customers in sale-leaseback transactions where our customers sell us their operating properties and then
simultaneously enter into long-term triple-net leases with us to lease the properties back. Accordingly, our properties are fully
occupied and under lease from the moment we acquire them.

We generate our cash from operations primarily through the monthly lease payments, or “base rent”, we receive from
our customers under their long-term leases with us. We also receive interest payments on loans receivable, which are a smaller
part of our portfolio. We refer to the monthly scheduled lease and interest payments due from our customers as “base rent and
interest”. Most of our leases contain lease escalations every year or every several years that are based on the increase in the
Consumer Price Index or a stated percentage, which allows the monthly lease payments we receive to increase somewhat over
the life of the lease contracts. As of December 31, 2022, approximately 99% of our leases (based on base rent) were “triple-net”
leases, which means that our customers are responsible for all the operating costs such as maintenance, insurance and property
taxes associated with the properties they lease from us, including any increases in those costs that may occur as a result of
inflation. The remaining leases have some landlord responsibilities, generally related to maintenance and structural component
replacement that may be required on such properties in the future, although we do not currently anticipate incurring significant
capital expenditures or property-level operating costs under such leases. Because our properties are single-tenant properties,
almost all of which are under long-term leases, it is not necessary for us to perform any significant ongoing leasing activities on
our properties.

We have dedicated an internal team to review and analyze ongoing customer financial performance, both at the
corporate level and with respect to each property we own, in order to identify properties that may no longer be part of our long-
term strategic plan and as such, we may from time to time decide to sell properties.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2022, our investment portfolio stood at approximately $12.0 billion, consisting of investments in
3,084 property locations. Substantially all of our cash from operations is generated by our investment portfolio.

Our primary cash expenditures are the principal and interest payments we make on the debt we use to finance our real
estate investment portfolio and the general and administrative expenses of managing the portfolio and operating our business.
Since substantially all our leases are triple net, our tenants are generally responsible for the maintenance, insurance and property
taxes associated with the properties they lease from us. When a property becomes vacant through a tenant default or expiration
of the lease term with no tenant renewal, we incur the property costs not paid by the tenant, as well as those property costs
accruing during the time it takes to locate a substitute tenant or sell the property. We expect to incur some property-level
operating costs from time to time in periods during which properties that become vacant are being remarketed. In addition, we
may recognize an expense for certain property costs, such as real estate taxes billed in arrears, if we believe the tenant is likely to
vacate the property before making payment on those obligations or may be unable to pay such costs in a timely manner. Property
costs are generally not significant to our operations, but the amount of property costs can vary quarter to quarter based on the
timing of property vacancies and the level of underperforming properties. We may advance certain property costs on behalf of
our tenants but expect that the majority of these costs will be reimbursed by the tenant and do not anticipate that they will be
significant to our operations.

We intend to continue to grow through additional real estate investments. To accomplish this objective, we must
continue to identify real estate acquisitions that are consistent with our underwriting guidelines and raise future additional capital
to make such acquisitions. We acquire real estate with a combination of debt and equity capital, proceeds from the sale of
properties and cash from operations that is not otherwise distributed to our members in the form of distributions. We also
periodically commit to fund the construction of new properties for our customers or to provide them funds to improve and/or
renovate properties we lease to them. These additional investments will generally result in increases to the rental revenue or
interest income due under the related contracts.

Financing Strategy

Our debt capital is initially provided on a short-term, temporary basis through a multi-year, variable-rate unsecured
revolving credit facility with a group of banks. We manage our long-term leverage position through the strategic and economic
issuance of long-term fixed-rate debt on both a secured and unsecured basis. By matching the expected cash inflows from our
long-term real estate leases with the expected cash outflows of our long-term fixed-rate debt, we “lock in”, for as long as is
economically feasible, the expected positive difference between our scheduled cash inflows on the leases and the cash outflows
on our debt payments. By locking in this difference, or spread, we seek to reduce the risk that increases in interest rates would
adversely impact our profitability. In addition, we use various financial instruments designed to mitigate the impact of interest
rate fluctuations on our cash flows and earnings, including hedging strategies such as interest rate swaps and caps, depending on
our analysis of the interest rate environment and the costs and risks of such strategies. We also ladder our debt maturities in order
to minimize the gap between our free cash flow (which we define as our cash from operations less distributions plus proceeds
from our sale of properties) and our annual debt maturities.

Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility

As of December 31, 2022, we had $555.0 million outstanding under our previous unsecured revolving credit facility.
Borrowings under the previous facility required monthly payments of interest at a rate selected by us of either (1) LIBOR plus a
credit spread ranging from 0.70% to 1.40%, or (2) the Base Rate, as defined in the credit agreement, plus a credit spread ranging
from 0.00% to 0.40%. The credit spread used was based on our credit rating as defined in the credit agreement. We were also
required to pay a facility fee on the total commitment amount ranging from 0.10% to 0.30%. As of December 31, 2022, the
applicable credit spread for LIBOR-based borrowings was 0.85% and the facility fee was 0.20%.
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Under the terms of the facility, we were subject to various restrictive financial and nonfinancial covenants, which,
among other things, required us to maintain certain leverage ratios, cash flow and debt service coverage ratios and secured
borrowing ratios. The facility was recourse to us, and, as of December 31, 2022, we were in compliance with the financial and
nonfinancial covenants under the facility.

In connection with the completion of the Merger on February 3, 2023, we repaid in full all amounts outstanding under,
and terminated, the previous revolving credit facility agreement. Concurrently, we entered into a new unsecured credit agreement
with a group of lenders which provides for a senior unsecured revolving credit facility of up to $500.0 million. The facility is
scheduled to mature in February 2027 and includes two six-month extension options, subject to certain conditions and the
payment of a 0.075% extension fee. Borrowings under the facility require monthly payments of interest at a rate selected by us
of either (1) SOFR plus an adjustment of 0.10%, plus a credit spread ranging from 1.00% to 1.45%, or (2) the Base Rate, as
defined in the credit agreement, plus a credit spread ranging from 0.00% to 0.45%. The credit spread used is based on our
consolidated total leverage ratio as defined in the credit agreement. We are also required to pay a facility fee on the total
commitment amount ranging from 0.15% to 0.30% based on our consolidated total leverage ratio. Our credit agreement allows
for a further reduction in the pricing of one basis point if certain environmental sustainability metrics are met. In March 2023,
we entered into an incremental amendment to the unsecured credit agreement which provides for increases to the commitments
under the revolving credit facility in an amount of $150.0 million.

Senior Unsecured Term Debt

As of December 31, 2022, we had an aggregate principal amount of $1.4 billion of underwritten public notes
outstanding. These senior unsecured notes bear a weighted average coupon rate of 3.63% and interest on these notes is paid
semi-annually. The supplemental indentures governing our public notes contain various restrictive covenants, including
limitations on our ability to incur additional secured and unsecured indebtedness. As of December 31, 2022, we were in
compliance with these covenants.

Prior to our inaugural issuance of public debt in March 2018, our unsecured long-term debt had been issued through the
private placement of notes to institutional investors. The financial covenants of the privately placed notes are similar to our
previous unsecured revolving credit facility, and, as of December 31, 2022, we were in compliance with these covenants. In
November 2022, at maturity we paid off an aggregate principal amount of $75.0 million of such unsecured privately placed
notes. Upon the completion of the Merger, we were required to offer to repurchase the remaining $300.0 million in aggregate
principal amount of such privately placed notes. Following the closing of the repurchase offer period, we repurchased $185.6
million in aggregate principal amounts of such notes.

In April 2022, we entered into a term loan agreement under which we borrowed an aggregate $600.0 million of
floating-rate, unsecured term loans; the loans consisted of a $400.0 million five-year loan and a $200.0 million seven-year loan.
The interest rate on each of the term loans reset daily at Daily Simple SOFR plus an adjustment of 0.10% plus a credit rating-
based credit spread ranging from 0.75% to 1.60% on the five-year loan and 1.25% to 2.20% on the seven-year loan. The
applicable credit spread as of December 31, 2022 was 0.95% for the five-year loan and 1.25% for the seven-year loan. In
conjunction with entering into these floating-rate term loans, we also entered into interest rate swap agreements that effectively
converted the floating rates to a weighted average fixed rate of 3.68%.

The April 2022 term loans were arranged with lenders that also participated in our previous unsecured revolving credit
facility and the financial covenants of the term loans matched the covenants of that facility. As of December 31, 2022, we were
in compliance with these covenants. The term loans were senior unsecured obligations, required monthly interest payments and
could be prepaid at any time; the seven-year loan had a prepayment premium of 2% if repaid in year one and 1% if repaid in
year two.

In December 2022, we entered into a term loan agreement with an initial commitment of $100.0 million of unsecured,
floating-rate, short-term borrowings. As of December 31, 2022, we had borrowings of $90.0 million outstanding on this term
loan. The loan matured at the consummation of the Merger. The interest rate on this loan reset daily at Daily Simple SOFR, plus
an adjustment of 0.10% plus a credit rating-based credit spread ranging from 0.75% to 1.60%. The credit spread applicable as of
December 31, 2022 was 0.95%. The term loan agreement included an incremental borrowing feature that allowed us to request
up to an additional $100.0 million of term borrowings after
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December 31, 2022. The loan was arranged with a lender that also participated in our previous unsecured revolving credit
facility. The financial covenants of the term loan matched the covenants of the previous unsecured revolving credit facility. As of
December 31, 2022, we were in compliance with these covenants. The term loan was a senior unsecured obligation and required
monthly interest payments.

In connection with the completion of the Merger on February 3, 2023, we repaid all amounts outstanding and
terminated both the April 2022 term loans and the December 2022 term loan. Concurrently, we entered into an unsecured credit
agreement with a group of lenders which provides for an unsecured, variable-rate term loan of $600.0 million. The term loan
matures in April 2027 and the interest rate resets daily at Daily Simple SOFR plus an adjustment of 0.10%, plus a credit spread
ranging from 1.10% to 1.70% based on our consolidated total leverage ratio as defined in the credit agreement. Our credit
agreement allows for a further reduction in the pricing of one basis point if certain environmental sustainability metrics are met.
Our existing cash flow hedges were transferred to the new term loan and effectively convert the variable-rate on the term loan to
a fixed rate of 3.88%. In March 2023, we entered into an incremental amendment to the unsecured credit agreement which
provides for increases to the term loan in an amount of $200.0 million. In connection with the amendment, we entered into one
interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $200.0 million that effectively converts the incremental borrowings to a
fixed interest rate of 5.17% for the remaining term of the loan.

The aggregate outstanding principal amount of our unsecured senior notes and term loans payable was $2.4 billion as of
December 31, 2022 and the following is a summary, by year, of the scheduled payments of both principal and interest for these
notes (in thousands).

Total Senior Unsecured
Public Notes Term Loans (1) Other Unsecured Notes (2) Term Debt

Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest
2023 $  - $  51,688 $  90,000 $  23,237 $  - $  14,700 $  90,000 $  89,625
2024  -  51,687  -  22,466  100,000  14,264  100,000  88,417
2025  -  51,688  -  22,405  -  9,460  -  83,553
2026  -  51,687  -  22,404  200,000  3,153  200,000  77,244
2027  -  51,688  400,000  12,533  -  -  400,000  64,221
2028  350,000  39,175  -  7,898  -  -  350,000  47,073
2029  350,000  23,123  200,000  2,525  -  -  550,000  25,648
2030  350,000  18,600  -  -  -  -  350,000  18,600
2031  375,000  9,281  -  -  -  -  375,000  9,281
Total $  1,425,000 $  348,617 $  690,000 $  113,468 $  300,000 $  41,577 $  2,415,000 $  503,662

(1) In connection with the completion of the Merger on February 3, 2023, we repaid all amounts outstanding and terminated April 2022 and December 2022
term loans and entered into a new unsecured credit agreement which provides for a new $600.0 million term loan. In March 2023, we entered into an
incremental amendment to the unsecured credit agreement which provides for increases to the term loan in an amount of $200.0 million.

(2) Upon the completion of the Merger, we were required to offer to repurchase the $300.0 million in outstanding aggregate principal amount of such privately
placed notes. Following the closing of the repurchase offer period, we repurchased $185.6 million in aggregate principal amounts of such notes.

Non-recourse Secured Debt

As of December 31, 2022, approximately 30% of our real estate investment portfolio served as collateral for
outstanding borrowings under our STORE Master Funding debt program. We believe our STORE Master Funding program
allows for flexibility not commonly found in non-recourse debt, often making it preferable to traditional debt issued in the
commercial mortgage-backed securities market. Under the program, STORE Capital serves as both master and special servicer
for the collateral pool, allowing for active portfolio monitoring and prompt issue resolution. In addition, features of the program
allowing for the sale or substitution of collateral, provided certain criteria are met, facilitate active portfolio management.
Through this debt program, we arrange for bankruptcy remote, special purpose entity subsidiaries to issue multiple series of
investment-grade asset-backed net-lease mortgage notes, or ABS notes, from time to time as additional collateral is added to the
collateral pool and leverage can be added in incremental note issuances based on the value of the collateral pool.
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The ABS notes are generally issued by our wholly owned special purpose entity subsidiaries to institutional investors
through the asset backed securities market. These ABS notes are typically issued in two classes, Class A and Class B. At the time
of issuance, the Class A notes represent approximately 70% of the appraised value of the underlying real estate collateral owned
by the issuing subsidiaries and are currently rated AAA or A+ by S&P Global Ratings.

The aggregate outstanding principal amount of our secured mortgage notes payable was $2.3 billion as of December 31,
2022 and the scheduled maturities, including balloon payments, and scheduled interest payments on our aggregate secured
mortgage notes payable are as follows (in thousands):

STORE Master Funding
Non-recourse Net-lease Mortgage Notes Other Non-recourse Mortgage Notes Total Non-recourse Mortgage Notes (2)

Principal Balloons (1) Interest Principal Balloons Interest Principal Balloons Interest
2023 $  19,872 $  - $  79,514 $  2,756 $  27,285 $  6,165 $  22,628 $  27,285 $  85,679
2024  19,677  185,469  77,465  2,231  8,329  5,058  21,908  193,798  82,523
2025  17,482  256,612  63,301  2,295  -  4,794  19,777  256,612  68,095
2026  16,005  279,014  57,297  1,649  53,128  3,615  17,654  332,142  60,912
2027  8,276  460,472  42,952  945  -  2,074  9,221  460,472  45,026
Thereafter  20,568  834,806  141,618  6,314  36,044  5,302  26,882  870,850  146,920

(1) Debt is prepayable, without penalty, 24 or 36 months prior to scheduled maturity.
(2) In connection with the completion of the Merger on February 3, 2023, we entered into a non-recourse, secured credit agreement which provides for a 

secured term loan of $2.0 billion, of which $515.0 million was repaid in March 2023.  

Debt Summary

As of December 31, 2022, our aggregate secured and unsecured term debt had an outstanding principal balance of
$4.7 billion, a weighted average maturity of 5.9 years and a weighted average interest rate of 3.9%. The following is a summary
of the outstanding balance of our borrowings as well as a summary of the portion of our real estate investment portfolio that is
either pledged as collateral for these borrowings or is unencumbered as of December 31, 2022:

Gross Investment Portfolio Assets  
Special Purpose  

Outstanding Entity All Other  
(In millions) Borrowings Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Total  
STORE Master Funding net-lease mortgage notes payable $  2,118     $  3,616   $  —   $  3,616
Other mortgage notes payable    141    251    —    251

Total non-recourse debt    2,259    3,867    —    3,867
Unsecured notes and term loans payable  2,415  —  —  —
Unsecured credit facility  555  —  —  —

Total unsecured debt (including revolving credit facility)  2,970  —  —  —
Unencumbered real estate assets    —    6,830    1,383    8,213

Total debt $  5,229 $  10,697 $  1,383 $  12,080

Our decision to use either senior unsecured term debt, STORE Master Funding or other non-recourse traditional
mortgage loan borrowings depends on our view of the most strategic blend of unsecured versus secured debt that is needed to
maintain our targeted level of overall corporate leverage as well as on borrowing costs, debt terms, debt flexibility and the tenant
and industry diversification levels of our real estate assets. Our growing pool of unencumbered assets will increase our financial
flexibility by providing us with assets that can support senior unsecured financing or that can serve as substitute collateral for
existing debt. Should market factors, which are beyond our control, adversely impact our access to these debt sources at
economically feasible rates, our ability to grow through additional real estate acquisitions will be limited to any undistributed
amounts available from our operations and any additional equity capital raises from our members.

Total $  101,880 $  2,016,373 $  462,147 $  16,190 $  124,786 $  27,008 $  118,070 $  2,141,159 $  489,155
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For additional details and terms regarding these debt instruments, see Note 4 to the December 31, 2022 consolidated
financial statements.

Equity

We historically accessed the equity markets in various ways. As part of these efforts, we established “at the market”
equity distribution programs, or ATM programs, pursuant to which, from time to time, we could offer and sell registered shares
of our common stock through a group of banks acting as our sales agents. Most recently, in November 2020, we established a
$900 million ATM program (the “2020 ATM Program”).

The following tables outline the common stock issuances under our 2020 ATM Program (in millions except share and
per share information):

Year Ended December 31, 2022

ATM Program Shares Sold

Weighted
Average Price

per Share Gross Proceeds    
Sales Agents'
Commissions  

Other Offering
Expenses   Net Proceeds

$900 million 2020 ATM Program  8,607,771 $  29.38 $  252.9 $  (3.1) $  (0.2) $  249.6

Inception of Program Through December 31, 2022

ATM Program Shares Sold

Weighted
Average Price

per Share Gross Proceeds    
Sales Agents'
Commissions  

Other Offering
Expenses   Net Proceeds

$900 million 2020 ATM Program  19,449,302 $  31.55 $  613.7 $  (8.5) $  (0.8) $  604.4

The 2020 ATM Program was terminated upon the closing of the Merger.

Cash Flows

Substantially all our cash from operations is generated by our investment portfolio. As shown in the following table, net
cash provided by operating activities in 2022 increased by $91.0 million over 2021, primarily as a result of the increase in the
size of our real estate investment portfolio, which generated additional rental revenue and interest income. Our investments in
real estate, loans and financing receivables during 2022 were $111.2 million more than 2021. During 2022, our investment
activity was primarily funded with a combination of cash from operations, borrowings on our revolving credit facility, net
proceeds received from our term loan borrowings, proceeds from the issuance of stock and proceeds from the sale of real estate
properties. Investment activity during 2021 was primarily funded with a combination of cash from operations, proceeds from the
issuance of stock, proceeds from the sale of real estate properties, proceeds from the issuance of common stock, proceeds from
the issuance of long-term debt in June and November of 2021 and borrowings on our revolving credit facility. From a financing
perspective, our activities provided $648.4 million of net cash during 2022 as compared to $439.9 million in 2021. Financing
activities in 2022 include the aggregate $600.0 million of bank term loans we entered into in April, $425.0 million of net
borrowings on the revolving credit facility, and an additional $90.0 million of bank term loans we entered into in December,
offset by $267.6 million of aggregate debt repayments on our secured and unsecured long-term debt. We paid dividends to our
stockholders totaling $439.1 million and $398.0 million during 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Year Ended December 31, Increase
(In thousands) 2022 2021 (Decrease)
Net cash provided by operating activities     $  674,415     $  583,373     $  91,042     
Net cash used in investing activities    (1,353,096)    (1,129,819)    (223,277)
Net cash provided by financing activities    648,436    439,919  208,517
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $  (30,245) $  (106,527) $  76,282

As of December 31, 2022, we had liquidity of $35.1 million on our balance sheet. Management believes that our
current cash balance, the immediate borrowing capacity available on our unsecured revolving credit facility, and cash generated
by our operations is sufficient to fund our operations for the foreseeable future and allow us to acquire the real estate for which
we currently have made commitments. In order to continue to grow our real estate portfolio in the future,
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beyond the excess cash generated by our operations and our ability to borrow, we would expect to raise additional equity capital
from our members.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to the December 31, 2022 consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our historical financial condition and results of operations is based upon our
consolidated financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or
GAAP. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although management believes its estimates are
reasonable, actual results could differ materially from those estimates. The accounting policies discussed below are considered
critical because changes to certain judgments and assumptions inherent in these policies could affect the financial statements.
For more information on our accounting policies, please refer to the notes to our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Real Estate Investments

Classification and Cost

We record the acquisition of real estate properties at cost, including acquisition and closing costs. We allocate the cost
of real estate properties to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired based on their estimated relative fair values.
Intangible assets and liabilities acquired may include the value of existing in-place leases, above-market or below-market lease
value of in-place leases and ground lease-related intangibles, as applicable. Management uses multiple sources to estimate fair
value, including independent appraisals and information obtained about each property as a result of its pre-acquisition due
diligence and its marketing and leasing activities. Certain of our lease contracts allow our customers the option, at their election,
to purchase the leased property from us at a specified time or times (generally at the greater of the then-fair market value or our
cost, as defined in the lease contracts). Subsequent to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases
(Topic 842)(“ASC Topic 842”) on January 1, 2019, for real estate assets acquired through a sale-leaseback transaction and
subject to a lease contract which contains a purchase option, we will account for such an acquisition as a financing arrangement
and record the investment in loans and financing receivables on the consolidated balance sheet.

In-place lease intangibles are valued based on management’s estimates of lost rent and carrying costs during the time it
would take to locate a tenant if the property were vacant, considering current market conditions and costs to execute similar
leases. In estimating lost rent and carrying costs, management considers market rents, real estate taxes, insurance, costs to
execute similar leases (including leasing commissions) and other related costs.

The fair value of any above-market or below-market lease is estimated based on the present value of the difference
between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place lease and management’s estimate of current market lease
rates for the property, measured over a period equal to the remaining term of the lease.

Impairment

We review our real estate investments and related lease intangibles periodically for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable through operations. Such events
or changes in circumstances may include an expectation to sell certain assets in accordance with our long-term strategic plans.
Management considers factors such as expected future undiscounted cash flows, capitalization and discount rates, terminal
value, tenant improvements, market trends (such as the effects of leasing demand and competition) and other factors including
bona fide purchase offers received from third parties in making this assessment. If an asset is determined to be impaired, the
impairment is calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its
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estimated fair value. Estimating future cash flows is highly subjective and such estimates could differ materially from actual
results.

Results of Operations

Overview

As of December 31, 2022, our real estate investment portfolio had grown to approximately $12.0 billion, consisting of
investments in 3,084 property locations in 49 states. Approximately 94% of the real estate investment portfolio represents
commercial real estate properties subject to long-term leases, approximately 6% represents mortgage loan and financing
receivables on commercial real estate properties and a nominal amount represents loans receivable secured by our customers’
other assets.

Year Ended December 31, 2022 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2021

Year Ended
December 31, Increase

(In thousands) 2022   2021   (Decrease)  
Total revenues $  910,172     $  782,664     $  127,508     
Expenses:

Interest    189,549    170,974    18,575
Property costs    14,696    18,244    (3,548)
General and administrative    62,555    84,097    (21,542)
Merger-related  12,248    —  12,248
Depreciation and amortization    308,084    265,813    42,271
Provisions for impairment  16,428  24,979  (8,551)

Total expenses    603,560    564,107    39,453
Other income:

Gain on dispositions of real estate    19,224    46,655    (27,431)
Income from non-real estate, equity method investments  2,949  3,949  (1,000)

Income before income taxes  328,785  269,161  59,624
Income tax expense    884    813    71

Net income $  327,901 $  268,348 $  59,553

Revenues

The increase in revenues year over year was driven primarily by the growth in the size of our real estate investment
portfolio, which generated additional rental revenues and interest income. Our real estate investment portfolio grew from
approximately $10.7 billion in gross investment amount representing 2,866 properties at the end of 2021 to approximately
$12.0 billion in gross investment amount representing 3,084 properties at December 31, 2022. The weighted average real estate
investment amounts outstanding during the years were approximately $11.3 billion in 2022 and $10.0 billion in 2021. Our real
estate investments were made throughout the years presented and were not all outstanding for the entire period; accordingly, a
portion of the increase in revenues between years is related to recognizing a full year of revenue in 2022 on acquisitions that
were made during 2021. Similarly, the full revenue impact of acquisitions made during 2022 will not be seen until 2023. A
smaller component of the increase in revenues between years is related to rent escalations recognized on our lease contracts;
over time, these rent increases can provide a strong source of revenue growth. Additionally, during 2022, we collected
$5.1 million in lease termination fee income, $4.2 million of which were associated with the sale of a property. Lease
termination fee income is included in other income. Similarly, other income in 2021 includes $1.8 million of lease termination
fee income associated with property sales.

The majority of our investments are made through sale-leaseback transactions in which we acquire the real estate from
the owner-operators and then simultaneously lease the real estate back to them through long-term leases based on the tenant’s
business needs. The initial rental or capitalization rates we achieve on sale-leaseback transactions, calculated as the initial
annualized base rent divided by the purchase price of the properties, vary from transaction to transaction based on many factors,
such as the terms of the lease, the property type including the property’s real estate fundamentals and the
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market rents in the area on the various types of properties we target across the United States. There are also online commercial
real estate auction marketplaces for real estate transactions; properties acquired through these online marketplaces are often
subject to existing leases and offered by third party sellers. In general, because we provide tailored customer lease solutions in
sale-leaseback transactions, our lease rates historically have been higher and subject to less short-term market influences than
what we have seen in the auction marketplace as a whole. In addition, since our real estate lease contracts are a substitute for
both borrowings and equity that our customers would otherwise have to commit to their real estate locations, we believe there is
a relationship between lease rates and market interest rates and that lease rates are also influenced by overall capital availability.

Interest Expense

We fund the growth in our real estate investment portfolio with excess cash flow from our operations after dividends
and principal payments on debt, net proceeds from periodic sales of real estate, proceeds from issuances of long-term fixed-rate
debt and net proceeds from equity issuances. We typically use our unsecured revolving credit facility to temporarily finance the
properties we acquire.

The following table summarizes our interest expense.
For the Year Ended  

December 31,  
(Dollars in thousands) 2022   2021  
Interest expense - credit facility $  6,218      $  607     
Interest expense - credit facility fees  1,217  1,217
Interest expense - secured and unsecured debt    174,911    159,853
Capitalized interest  (2,306)  (823)
Amortization of deferred financing costs and other    9,509    10,120
Total interest expense $  189,549 $  170,974
Credit facility:

Average debt outstanding $  196,627 $  56,101
Average interest rate during the period (excluding facility fees)    3.2 %      1.1 %  

Secured and unsecured debt:
Average debt outstanding $  4,526,992 $  3,873,226
Average interest rate during the period    3.9 %      4.1 %  

The increase in average debt outstanding was the primary driver for the increase in interest expense on secured and
unsecured debt. Secured and unsecured debt added during 2022 included $600.0 million of unsecured floating-rate bank term
loans issued in April 2022; the term loans have been effectively converted to a weighted average fixed-rate of 3.68% through the
use of interest rate swaps. Long-term debt repaid in full, without penalties, during 2022 included $134.5 million of STORE
Master Funding Series 2014-1, Class A-2 notes, which bore an interest rate of 5.0% and were scheduled to mature in 2024 and
repayment of $75.0 million of unsecured privately placed notes in November 2022 at maturity. As of December 31, 2022, we
had $4.7 billion of secured and unsecured debt outstanding with a weighted average interest rate of 3.9%.

We typically use our revolving credit facility on a short-term, temporary basis to acquire real estate properties until
those borrowings are sufficiently large to warrant the economic issuance of long-term fixed-rate debt, the proceeds of which we
generally use to pay down the amounts outstanding under our revolving credit facility. Interest expense associated with our
revolving credit facility increased from 2021 as a result of the increased interest rate and increased level of borrowings
outstanding on the revolver during 2022. As of December 31, 2022, we had $555.0 million of borrowings outstanding under our
revolving credit facility.

Property Costs

Approximately 99% of our leases are triple net, meaning that our tenants are generally responsible for the property-
level operating costs such as taxes, insurance and maintenance. Accordingly, we generally do not expect to incur
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property-level operating costs or capital expenditures, except during any period when one or more of our properties is no longer
under lease or when our tenant is unable to meet their lease obligations. Our need to expend capital on our properties is further
reduced due to the fact that some of our tenants will periodically refresh the property at their own expense to meet their business
needs or in connection with franchisor requirements. As of December 31, 2022, we owned 16 properties that were vacant and not
subject to a lease and the lease contracts related to just 20 properties we own are due to expire during 2023. We expect to incur
some property costs related to the vacant properties until such time as those properties are either leased or sold. The amount of
property costs can vary quarter to quarter based on the timing of property vacancies and the level of underperforming properties.

As of December 31, 2022, we had entered into operating ground leases as part of several real estate investment
transactions. The ground lease payments made by our tenants directly to the ground lessors are presented on a gross basis in the
condensed consolidated statement of income, both as rental revenues and as property costs. For the few lease contracts where we
collect property taxes from our tenants and remit those taxes to governmental authorities, we reflect those payments on a gross
basis as both rental revenue and as property costs.

The following is a summary of property costs (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,  
2022 2021  

Property-level operating costs (a) $  7,826      $  11,820
Ground lease-related intangibles amortization expense  469  469
Operating ground lease payments made by STORE Capital  367  427
Operating ground lease payments made by STORE Capital tenants  2,607  2,651
Operating ground lease straight-line rent expense  280  237
Property taxes payable from tenant impounds    3,147    2,640
Total property costs $  14,696 $  18,244

(a) Property-level operating costs primarily include those expenses associated with vacant or nonperforming properties, property management
costs for the few properties that have specific landlord obligations and the cost of performing property site inspections from time to time.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses include compensation and benefits; professional fees such as portfolio servicing,
legal, accounting and rating agency fees; and general office expenses such as insurance, office rent and travel costs. General and
administrative costs totaled $62.6 million in 2022 as compared to $84.1 million in 2021. Expenses for 2021 included
approximately $6.9 million of severance costs related to the departure of our former Executive Chairman and approximately 
$890,000 of transition costs related to the appointment of our former Chief Financial Officer. Additionally, compensation 
expense for equity-based payments totaled $12.4 million in 2022 as compared to $32.2 million in 2021.  Expenses in 2021 
included $10.1 million related to the expense for certain modified performance-based stock based compensation awards granted 
in 2018 and 2019 and $3.2 million of accelerated amortization of certain stock-based compensation awards associated with 
executive severance and retirement agreements.

Excluding noncash, stock-based compensation expense and executive severance and transition costs from both periods,
general and administrative expenses was 0.44% of average portfolio investment assets in 2022 and 2021. We expect that general
and administrative expenses will continue to rise in some measure as our real estate investment portfolio grows. Certain
expenses, such as property related insurance costs and the costs of servicing the properties and loans comprising our real estate
portfolio, increase in direct proportion to the increase in the size of the portfolio. However, general and administrative expenses
as a percentage of the portfolio have decreased over time due to efficiencies and economies of scale.

Merger-related Expenses

Merger-related expenses include legal fees, investment banking fees and other costs incurred as a result of the Merger.
Merger-related expenses totaled $12.2 million in 2022.
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Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense, which increases in proportion to the increase in the size of our real estate
portfolio, rose from $265.8 million in 2021 to $308.1 million in 2022.

Provisions for Impairment

During 2022, we recognized provisions for impairment aggregating $16.4 million; of this amount, $16.0 million
represented provisions for the impairment of real estate and $0.4 million represented provisions for credit losses related to our
loans and financing receivables. During 2021, we recognized an aggregate $25.0 million of provisions for impairment,
consisting of $21.8 million of impairments of real estate and $3.2 million of provisions for credit losses.

Net Gain on Dispositions of Real Estate

As part of our ongoing active portfolio management process, we sell properties from time to time in order to enhance
the diversity and quality of our real estate portfolio and to take advantage of opportunities to recycle capital. During 2022, we
recognized a $19.2 million aggregate net gain on the sale of 60 properties. In comparison, during 2021, we recognized a
$46.7 million aggregate net gain on the sale of 103 properties. The net proceeds from the dispositions of real estate during 2022
aggregated $196 million as compared to an aggregate original investment amount of $212 million. For properties sold during
2021, net proceeds aggregated $356 million as compared to an aggregate original investment amount of $369 million. As noted
earlier, during 2022 and 2021, we also collected $4.2 million and $1.8 million, respectively, of early lease termination payments
in connection with certain property sales.

Net Income

For the year ended December 31, 2022, our net income was $327.9 million reflecting an increase from $268.3 million
in 2021. The change in net income is primarily comprised of a net increase resulting from the growth in our real estate
investment portfolio, which generated additional rental revenues and interest income, and lower general and administrative
expense, impairment and property costs which were partially offset by an increase in depreciation and amortization, a decrease
in the net gain on dispositions of real estate, an increase in interest expense and an increase in Merger-related expenses, as noted
above.
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Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our interest rate risk management objective is to limit the impact of future interest rate changes on our earnings and
cash flows. We seek to match the cash inflows from our long-term leases with the expected cash outflows on our long-term debt.
To achieve this objective, our consolidated subsidiaries primarily borrow on a fixed-rate basis for longer-term debt issuances. At
December 31, 2022, all our long-term debt carried a fixed interest rate or was effectively converted to a fixed rate for the term of
the debt and the weighted average long-term debt maturity was approximately 6.0 years. We are exposed to interest rate risk
between the time we enter into a sale-leaseback transaction and the time we finance the related real estate with long-term fixed-
rate debt. In addition, when that long-term debt matures, we may have to refinance the real estate at a higher interest rate. Market
interest rates are sensitive to many factors that are beyond our control.

We address interest rate risk by employing the following strategies to help insulate us from any adverse impact of rising
interest rates:

● We seek to minimize the time period between acquisition of our real estate and the ultimate financing of that
real estate with long-term fixed-rate debt.

● By using serial issuances of long-term debt, we intend to ladder out our debt maturities to avoid a significant
amount of debt maturing during any single period and to minimize the gap between free cash flow and annual
debt maturities; free cash flow includes cash from operations less dividends plus proceeds from our sales of
properties.

● Our secured long-term debt generally provides for some amortization of the principal balance over the term of
the debt, which serves to reduce the amount of refinancing risk at debt maturity to the extent that we can
refinance the reduced debt balance over a revised long-term amortization schedule.

● We seek to maintain a large pool of unencumbered real estate assets to give us the flexibility to choose among
various secured and unsecured debt markets when we are seeking to issue new long-term debt.

● We may also use derivative instruments, such as interest rate swaps, caps and treasury lock agreements, as
cash flow hedges to limit our exposure to interest rate movements with respect to various debt instruments.

Although our long-term debt generally carries a fixed rate, we often temporarily fund our property acquisitions with a
revolving credit facility, which carries a variable rate. During the year ended December 31, 2022, we had average daily
outstanding borrowings of $196.6 million on our previous variable-rate revolving credit facility, which bore interest based on
one-month LIBOR, plus a credit spread of 0.85% based on our current credit rating. Additionally, in December 2022 we entered
into a term loan agreement with an initial commitment of $100.0 million of unsecured, floating-rate, short-term borrowings. As
of December 31, 2022 we had borrowings of $90.0 million outstanding on this term loan which bore interest at Daily Simple
SOFR plus an adjustment of 0.10% plus the applicable credit spread which was 0.95% based on our current credit rating.

In connection with the completion of the Merger, on February 3, 2023, we repaid in full all indebtedness, liabilities and
other obligations outstanding under and terminated, the previous revolving credit facility and the April 2022 and December 2022
term loans. Concurrently, we entered into the following:

● an unsecured credit agreement which provides for (a) a senior unsecured revolving credit facility of up to
$500.0 million which bears interest based on SOFR plus an adjustment of 0.10% plus a credit spread of 1.00%
to 1.45% based on our consolidated total leverage ratio as defined in the credit agreement, and (b) an
unsecured, variable-rate term loan of $600.0 million. The term loan matures in April 2027 and the interest rate
resets daily at Daily Simple SOFR plus a credit spread ranging from 1.10% to 1.70% based on our
consolidated total leverage ratio as defined in the credit agreement. Our existing cash flow hedges were
transferred to the new term loan and effectively convert the variable-rate on the term loan to a fixed rate of
3.88%. In March 2023, we entered into an incremental amendment to the unsecured credit agreement which
provides for increases to the outstanding unsecured revolving credit facility and unsecured term loan in an
aggregate principal amount of $350.0 million, consisting of (i) increases to the commitments under the
revolving credit facility in an amount of $150.0 million and (ii) increases to the term loan in an amount of
$200.0 million. In connection with the amendment to the unsecured credit agreement, we entered into one
interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $200.0 million
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that effectively converts the incremental borrowings on the unsecured term loan to a fixed interest rate of
5.17% for the remaining term of the loan.

● a secured credit agreement that provides for a $2.0 billion secured term loan facility which bears interest at a
floating rate equal to one-month SOFR, plus a spread of 2.75%. In conjunction with entering into this
variable-rate secured term loan facility, we entered into interest rate swap agreements with a notional amount
of $750.0 million that effectively convert a portion of the loan to a fixed rate. In March 2023, we paid down
$515.0 million in aggregate principal amount of indebtedness under the secured credit agreement.  

We monitor our potential market interest rate risk exposures using a sensitivity analysis. Our sensitivity analysis
estimates the exposure to market risk sensitive instruments noted above assuming a hypothetical adverse change in interest rates.
Based on the results of our sensitivity analysis, which assumes a 1% adverse change in interest rates on variable rate debt
expected to be outstanding during 2023, the estimated market risk exposure for our variable-rate debt is estimated to be
approximately $10 million, or less than 1.5% of net cash provided by operating activities, for the year ended December 31, 2022.
In addition, we may use various financial instruments designed to mitigate the impact of interest rate fluctuations on our cash
flows and earnings, including hedging strategies, depending on our analysis of the interest rate environment and the costs and
risks of such strategies. We do not use derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes. See Note 2 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements for further information on derivatives.  

In July 2017, the Financial Conduct Authority, or FCA (the authority that regulates LIBOR), first announced that it 
intended to stop compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR. Subsequently, the Alternative Reference Rates 
Committee, or ARRC, identified the Secured Overnight Financing Rate, or SOFR, as the preferred alternative to LIBOR for use 
in derivatives and other financial contracts.  On March 5, 2021, the FCA announced that U.S. Dollar (USD) LIBOR would no 
longer be published after June 30, 2023. This latest announcement had several implications, including setting the spread that may 
be used to automatically convert contracts from USD LIBOR to SOFR.  Additionally, banking regulators encouraged banks to 
discontinue new LIBOR debt issuances by December 31, 2022.

At December 31, 2022, the Company’s $600.0 million unsecured revolving credit facility, which was set to mature in
June 2025, was its only contract indexed to LIBOR. In connection with the completion of the Merger on February 3, 2023, we
repaid all amounts outstanding under, and terminated, this revolving credit facility agreement and no longer have any LIBOR-
based borrowings outstanding.
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Item 8.  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Members and Board of Directors of STORE Capital LLC

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of STORE Capital Corporation (the Company) as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders' equity and
cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and financial statement
schedules listed in the Index at Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31,
2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2022, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established
in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
2013 framework and our report dated March 22, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement,
whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial
statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or
disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex
judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial
statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on
the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Acquisition of real estate investments
Description of the Matter As described in Notes 2 and 3 to the financial statements, the Company recorded $1.3 billion in 

acquisitions to real estate during 2022. Auditing the Company’s accounting for the 2022 acquisitions 
was complex and required specialized skills and knowledge due to the estimation involved in the 
allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired, including land, buildings, improvements and 
intangible lease assets. The Company utilized multiple sources to estimate such values including 
third party appraisers and other data such as market rents and comparables.  
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How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding and tested the design and operating effectiveness of controls over the
accounting for acquisitions, including controls over the initiation and approval of purchases, inputs
and assumptions used in the valuation estimates, and allocation of value among the assets acquired.
For a sample of acquisitions, we read the purchase agreements, evaluated the significant assumptions
and methods used in developing the allocation estimates, and tested the recording of the assets
acquired.

Our audit procedures included evaluating whether any intangible assets were properly identified and
the appropriateness of market data and other significant assumptions, including land comparables
and replacement costs. We reviewed the valuations completed by third party appraisers including a
review of the underlying market data utilized. We further compared the allocations to those
historically recognized by the Company and reviewed for any allocation outliers in the population.
For certain acquisitions of real estate, we involved valuation specialists to assist in the evaluation of
significant assumptions used and the appropriateness of the approach selected and the qualifications
of the third-party appraisers.

Real estate impairment
Description of the Matter The Company reviews its real estate investments for impairment whenever events or changes in

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recoverable. As more
fully described in Note 2 to the financial statements, during 2022, the Company recorded impairment
losses on certain real estate assets. Based on the factors impacting a property’s value, such as
vacancy, undiscounted cash flows from the lease, and market trends as well as hold versus sale
scenarios, the Company evaluated certain properties for recoverability and determined that specific
assets were impaired. As a result, the Company recognized $16.0 million in impairment losses,
which represented the amount by which the carrying values exceeded the estimated fair values of
these assets.

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

Auditing the Company's identification and measurement of impairment was complex as estimates
underlying the determination of recoverability and fair value involved a high degree of subjectivity.
Significant assumptions used in the Company’s undiscounted cash flow analyses and fair value
estimates were market comparable values, bona fide purchase offers on the properties, market rents,
tenant improvements and terminal values.

We obtained an understanding and tested the design and operating effectiveness of controls over the
Company’s processes to identify indicators of impairment and measure the fair value of the real
estate assets that were impaired. Our audit procedures also included, among others, evaluating the
significant assumptions used to estimate the undiscounted cash flows, including market rents and
comparables, tenant conditions and hold or sell strategies. We tested undiscounted cash flow
analyses and fair value measurement through review of market transactions, purchase agreements,
market rents, tenant improvements and capitalization rates. For assets that the carrying amount of
the asset was greater than the estimated undiscounted cash flows, we tested the fair value
measurement through review of market transactions, purchase agreements, appraisals, market rents,
capitalization and discount rates. For certain properties evaluated for impairment, we also involved a
valuation specialist to assist in our evaluation of certain assumptions, such as market rents,
capitalization and discount rates or comparable market property values without an active purchase
agreement.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2011.

Phoenix, Arizona
March 22, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Members and Board of Directors of STORE Capital LLC

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited STORE Capital Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based
on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, STORE Capital Corporation (the Company)
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on the
COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2022, and the related notes and the financial statement schedules listed in the Index at Item 15(a) and our report
dated March 22, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained
in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a
material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed
risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
March 22, 2023
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STORE Capital Corporation

Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

     December 31,   
2022 2021   

Assets
Investments:

Real estate investments:
Land and improvements $ 3,455,443 $ 3,133,402
Buildings and improvements   7,743,454   6,802,918
Intangible lease assets   61,968   54,971

Total real estate investments   11,260,865   9,991,291
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (1,438,107)   (1,159,292)

  9,822,758   8,831,999
Real estate investments held for sale, net   —   25,154
Operating ground lease assets 31,872 33,318
Loans and financing receivables, net   787,106   697,269

Net investments   10,641,736   9,587,740
Cash and cash equivalents   35,137   64,269
Other assets, net   158,097   121,073
Total assets $ 10,834,970 $ 9,773,082

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity
Liabilities:

Credit facility $ 555,000 $ 130,000
Unsecured notes and term loans payable, net 2,397,406 1,782,813
Non-recourse debt obligations of consolidated special purpose entities, net   2,238,470   2,425,708
Dividends payable — 105,415
Operating lease liabilities 36,873 37,637
Accrued expenses, deferred revenue and other liabilities   180,903   147,380

Total liabilities   5,408,652   4,628,953
Stockholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value per share, 375,000,000 shares authorized, 282,684,998 and
273,806,225 shares issued and outstanding, respectively   2,827   2,738

Capital in excess of par value   6,003,331   5,745,692
Distributions in excess of retained earnings   (609,361)   (602,137)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)   29,521   (2,164)

Total stockholders’ equity   5,426,318   5,144,129
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 10,834,970 $ 9,773,082

See accompanying notes.
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STORE Capital Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Income

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31,  
2022 2021 2020       

Revenues:                         
Rental revenues $ 846,420 $ 729,061 $ 644,498
Interest income on loans and financing receivables   56,776   50,821   45,288
Other income   6,976   2,782   4,482

Total revenues   910,172   782,664   694,268
Expenses:

Interest   189,549   170,974   169,706
Property costs   14,696   18,244   22,025
General and administrative   62,555   84,097   49,685
Merger-related 12,248 — —
Depreciation and amortization   308,084   265,813   242,925
Provisions for impairment 16,428 24,979 23,003

Total expenses   603,560   564,107   507,344
Other income:

Gain on dispositions of real estate   19,224   46,655   22,774
Income from non-real estate, equity method investments 2,949 3,949 3,500

Income before income taxes 328,785 269,161 213,198
Income tax expense   884   813   584

Net income $ 327,901 $ 268,348 $ 212,614

Net income per share of common stock
Basic $ 1.17 $ 0.99 $ 0.84
Diluted $ 1.17 $ 0.99 $ 0.84

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic   280,105,477   270,105,269   252,534,580
Diluted   280,105,477   270,105,269   252,651,040

See accompanying notes.
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STORE Capital Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,  
2022 2021 2020  

Net income     $ 327,901     $ 268,348     $ 212,614     
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges   30,393   (3)   (1,437)
Cash flow hedge losses reclassified to interest expense   1,292   634   978

Total other comprehensive income (loss)   31,685   631   (459)
Total comprehensive income $ 359,586 $ 268,979 $ 212,155

See accompanying notes.
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STORE Capital Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

For the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020
(In thousands, except share data)

Distributions Accumulated  
Capital in in Excess of Other Total  

Common Stock Excess of Retained Comprehensive Stockholders’  
Shares Par Value Par Value Earnings Income (Loss) Equity  

Balance at December 31, 2019   239,822,900 $ 2,398 $ 4,787,932 $ (302,609) $ (2,336) $ 4,485,385
Adoption of ASC Topic 326, cumulative adjustment (2,465) (2,465)
Net income   —   —   —   212,614   —   212,614
Other comprehensive loss   —   —   — — (459)   (459)
Issuance of common stock, net of costs of $9,558   25,696,396 257 686,129 — —   686,386
Equity-based compensation   732,511 6 4,659 5 —   4,670
Shares repurchased under stock compensation plan (139,131) — (2,831) (2,366) — (5,197)
Common dividends declared ($1.42 per common share) and dividend

equivalents on restricted stock units   —   —   — (365,156) —   (365,156)
Balance at December 31, 2020   266,112,676   2,661   5,475,889   (459,977)   (2,795)   5,015,778
Net income   —   —   —   268,348   —   268,348
Other comprehensive income   —   —   — — 631   631
Issuance of common stock, net of costs of $4,109   7,322,471 73 243,598 — —   243,671
Equity-based compensation   659,210 7 32,223 172 —   32,402
Shares repurchased under stock compensation plan (288,132) (3) (6,018) (3,488) — (9,509)
Common dividends declared ($1.49 per common share) and dividend

equivalents on restricted stock units   —   —   — (407,192) —   (407,192)
Balance at December 31, 2021   273,806,225   2,738   5,745,692   (602,137)   (2,164)   5,144,129
Net income   —   —   —   327,901   —   327,901
Other comprehensive income   —   —   — — 31,685   31,685
Issuance of common stock, net of costs of $3,268   8,607,771 86 249,520 — —   249,606
Equity-based compensation   473,798 3 12,426 112 —   12,541
Shares repurchased under stock compensation plan (202,796) — (4,307) (1,964) — (6,271)
Common dividends declared ($1.18 per common share) and dividend

equivalents on restricted stock units   —   —   — (333,273) —   (333,273)
Balance at December 31, 2022   282,684,998 $ 2,827 $ 6,003,331 $ (609,361) $ 29,521 $ 5,426,318

See accompanying notes.



Table of Contents

36

STORE Capital Corporation

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31,  
2022 2021 2020  

Operating activities          
Net income $ 327,901 $ 268,348 $ 212,614
Adjustments to net income:

Depreciation and amortization   308,084   265,813   242,925
Amortization of deferred financing costs and other noncash interest expense   9,509   10,120   8,827
Amortization of equity-based compensation   12,430   32,228   4,665
Provisions for impairment 16,428 24,979 23,003
Net gain on dispositions of real estate   (19,224)   (46,655)   (22,774)
Income from non-real estate, equity method investments (2,949) (3,949) (3,500)
Distribution received from non-real estate, equity method investment 468 120 —
Noncash revenue and other   (4,423)   (9,907)   (53,139)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Other assets 4,455 32,459 (6,837)
Accrued expenses, deferred revenue and other liabilities   21,736   9,817   25,802

Net cash provided by operating activities   674,415   583,373   431,586
Investing activities
Acquisition of and additions to real estate   (1,457,503)   (1,379,902)   (917,038)
Investment in loans and financing receivables   (158,676)   (125,049)   (153,545)
Collections of principal on loans and financing receivables   67,922   19,160   46,618
Proceeds from dispositions of real estate   195,629   355,972   212,108
Contribution made to non-real estate, equity method investment (468) — —
Net cash used in investing activities   (1,353,096)   (1,129,819)   (811,857)
Financing activities
Borrowings under credit facility   1,183,000 665,000 600,000
Repayments under credit facility   (758,000)   (535,000)   (600,000)
Borrowings under unsecured notes and term loans payable 690,000 374,539 348,453
Repayments under unsecured notes and term loans payable (75,000) (100,000) (100,000)
Borrowings under non-recourse debt obligations of consolidated special purpose entities   —   514,785   —
Repayments under non-recourse debt obligations of consolidated special purpose entities   (192,559)   (301,078)   (127,659)
Financing costs paid   (3,272)   (14,433)   (3,330)
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock   252,873   247,780   695,944
Stock issuance costs paid (3,268) (4,162) (9,540)
Shares repurchased under stock compensation plans (6,271) (9,507) (5,198)
Dividends paid (439,067) (398,005) (353,204)
Net cash provided by financing activities   648,436   439,919   445,466
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   (30,245)   (106,527)   65,195
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of period   70,049   176,576   111,381
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of period $ 39,804 $ 70,049 $ 176,576

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 35,137 $ 64,269 $ 166,381
Restricted cash included in other assets 4,667 5,780 10,195
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 39,804 $ 70,049 $ 176,576

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:
Accrued tenant improvements included in real estate investments $ 21,118 $ 25,077 $ 22,087
Seller financing provided to purchaser of real estate sold — — 3,176
Tenant funded improvements to real estate investments 10,550 — —
Acquisition of real estate assets from borrowers under loans and financing receivables 8,945 42,782 30,585
Non-recourse debt obligation assumed in conjunction with acquisition of property — — 6,215
Accrued financing and stock issuance costs 54 79 138

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the period for interest, net of amounts capitalized $ 177,294 $ 159,805 $ 160,091
Cash paid during the period for income and franchise taxes 2,937 2,441 2,366

See accompanying notes.
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STORE Capital Corporation

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31, 2022

1. Organization

STORE Capital Corporation (“STORE Capital” or “the Company”) was incorporated under the laws of Maryland on May 17, 2011 to
acquire single-tenant operational real estate to be leased on a long-term, net basis to companies that operate across a wide variety of industries
within the service, service-oriented retail and manufacturing sectors of the United States economy. From time to time, it also provides mortgage
financing to its customers.

On November 21, 2014, the Company completed the initial public offering (“IPO”) of its common stock. The shares began trading on
the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) on November 18, 2014 under the ticker symbol “STOR”.

STORE Capital made an election to qualify, and believes it operated through the closing of the Merger (as defined below) in a manner
to continue to qualify, as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for federal income tax purposes beginning with its initial taxable year ended
December 31, 2011. A REIT is generally not subject to federal income taxes to the extent that it distributes all of its taxable income to its
members and meets other specific requirements.

The Merger

On September 15, 2022, STORE Capital Corporation, a Maryland corporation, Ivory Parent, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“Parent”) and Ivory REIT, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Merger Sub” and, together with Parent, the “Parent Parties”), entered
into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”). The Parent Parties are affiliates of GIC, a global institutional investor, and
Oak Street Real Estate Capital, a division of Blue Owl Capital, Inc. On February 3, 2023 (the “Closing Date”), pursuant to the terms and subject
to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, STORE Capital Corporation merged with and into Merger Sub (the “Merger”) with Merger
Sub surviving (the “Surviving Entity”), and the separate existence of STORE Capital Corporation ceased. Immediately following the completion
of the Merger, the Surviving Entity changed its name to STORE Capital LLC. References herein to the “Company” or to “STORE Capital” are
references to STORE Capital Corporation prior to the Merger and to STORE Capital LLC upon and following the Merger. As of the Closing
Date of the Merger, the common equity of the Company is no longer publicly traded. See Note 10 for a description of events occurring
subsequent to December 31, 2022 in connection with the completion of the Merger.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Principles

Basis of Accounting and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”)
and the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). These consolidated statements include the accounts of
STORE Capital and its subsidiaries which are wholly owned and controlled by the Company through its voting interest. One of the Company’s
wholly owned subsidiaries, STORE Capital Advisors, LLC, provides all of the general and administrative services for the day-to-day operations
of the consolidated group, including property acquisition and lease origination, real estate portfolio management and marketing, accounting and
treasury services. The remaining subsidiaries were formed to acquire and hold real estate investments or to facilitate non-recourse secured
borrowing activities. Generally, the initial operations of the real estate subsidiaries are funded by an interest-bearing intercompany loan from
STORE Capital, and such intercompany loan is repaid when the subsidiary issues long-term debt secured by its properties. All intercompany
account balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Certain of the Company’s wholly owned consolidated subsidiaries were formed as special purpose entities. Each special purpose entity
is a separate legal entity and is the sole owner of its assets and liabilities. The assets of the special purpose entities are not available to pay or
otherwise satisfy obligations to the creditors of any owner or affiliate of the special purpose entity. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, these special
purpose entities held assets totaling $9.5 billion and $8.5 billion, respectively, and had third-party liabilities totaling $2.4 billion and $2.6 billion,
respectively. These assets and liabilities are included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Although management believes its estimates are reasonable, actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Segment Reporting

The Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 280, Segment Reporting,
established standards for the manner in which enterprises report information about operating segments. The Company views its operations as one
reportable segment.

Investment Portfolio

STORE Capital invests in real estate assets through three primary transaction types as summarized below. At the beginning of 2019, the
Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) (“ASC Topic 842”) which had an impact on certain
accounting related to the Company’s investment portfolio.

● Real Estate Investments – investments are generally made through sale-leaseback transactions in which the Company acquires the
real estate from the owner-operators and then leases the real estate back to them through long-term leases which are generally
classified as operating leases; the operators become the Company’s long-term tenants (its customers). Certain of the lease contracts
that are associated with a sale-leaseback transaction may contain terms, such as a tenant purchase option, which results in the
transaction being accounted for as a financing arrangement due to the adoption of ASC Topic 842 rather than as an investment in
real estate subject to an operating lease.

● Mortgage Loans Receivable – investments are made by issuing mortgage loans to the owner-operators of the real estate that serve
as the collateral for the loans and the operators become long-term borrowers and customers of the Company. On occasion, the
Company may also make other types of loans to its customers, such as equipment loans.

● Hybrid Real Estate Investments – investments are made through modified sale-leaseback transactions, where the Company
acquires land from the owner-operators, leases the land back through long-term leases and simultaneously issues mortgage loans to
the operators secured by the buildings and improvements on the land. Prior to 2019, these hybrid real estate investment transactions
were generally accounted for as direct financing leases. Subsequent to the adoption of ASC Topic 842, new or modified hybrid real
estate investment transactions are generally accounted for as operating leases of the land and mortgage loans on the buildings and
improvements.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

During the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic beginning in early 2020, the Company provided to certain tenants rent deferral
arrangements in the form of both short-term notes and lease modifications. The FASB provided accounting relief under which concessions
provided to tenants in direct response to the COVID-19 pandemic are not required to be evaluated or accounted for as lease modifications in
accordance with ASC Topic 842. The Company elected to apply this accounting relief to the rent deferral arrangements it has entered into with its
tenants, which primarily affected the timing (but not the amount) of lease and loan payments due to the Company under its contracts. For the
years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $1.5 million, $8.3 million and $57.1  million of net revenue associated
with these deferral arrangements with a corresponding increase in receivables that are included in other assets, net on the consolidated balance
sheet. During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company collected $14.5 million, $33.4 million and $9.9 million of the
receivables related to these deferral arrangements.
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Accounting for Real Estate Investments

Classification and Cost

STORE Capital records the acquisition of real estate properties at cost, including acquisition and closing costs. The Company allocates
the cost of real estate properties to the tangible and intangible assets and liabilities acquired based on their estimated relative fair values.
Intangible assets and liabilities acquired may include the value of existing in-place leases, above-market or below-market lease value of in-place
leases and ground lease-related intangibles, as applicable. Management uses multiple sources to estimate fair value, including independent
appraisals and information obtained about each property as a result of its pre-acquisition due diligence and its marketing and leasing activities.
Certain of the Company’s lease contracts allow its tenants the option, at their election, to purchase the leased property from the Company at a
specified time or times (generally at the greater of the then-fair market value or the Company’s cost, as defined in the lease contracts).
Subsequent to the adoption of ASC Topic 842, for real estate assets acquired through a sale-leaseback transaction and subject to a lease contract
which contains a purchase option, the Company accounts for such an acquisition as a financing arrangement and records the investment in loans
and financing receivables on the consolidated balance sheet; should the purchase option later expire or be removed from the lease contract, the
Company would derecognize the asset accounted for as a financing arrangement and recognize the transferred leased asset in real estate
investments.

In-place lease intangibles are valued based on management’s estimates of lost rent and carrying costs during the time it would take to
locate a tenant if the property were vacant, considering current market conditions and costs to execute similar leases. In estimating lost rent and
carrying costs, management considers market rents, real estate taxes, insurance, costs to execute similar leases (including leasing commissions)
and other related costs. The value assigned to in-place leases is amortized on a straight-line basis as a component of depreciation and
amortization expense typically over the remaining term of the related leases.

The fair value of any above-market or below-market lease is estimated based on the present value of the difference between the
contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to the in-place lease and management’s estimate of current market lease rates for the property, measured
over a period equal to the remaining term of the lease. Capitalized above-market lease intangibles are amortized over the remaining term of the
respective leases as a decrease to rental revenue. Below-market lease intangibles are amortized as an increase in rental revenue over the
remaining term of the respective leases plus the fixed-rate renewal periods on those leases, if any. Should a lease terminate early, the unamortized
portion of any related lease intangible is immediately recognized in operations.

The Company’s real estate portfolio is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated remaining useful life of the
properties, which generally ranges from 30 to 40 years for buildings and is generally 15 years for land improvements. Properties classified as
held for sale are recorded at the lower of their carrying value or their fair value, less anticipated selling costs. Any properties classified as held for
sale are not depreciated.

Revenue Recognition

STORE Capital leases real estate to its tenants under long-term net leases that are predominantly classified as operating leases.  The 
Company’s leases generally provide for rent escalations throughout the lease terms. For leases that provide for specific contractual escalations, 
rental revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis so as to produce a constant periodic rent over the term of the lease. Accordingly, straight-line 
operating lease receivables, calculated as the aggregate difference between the rental revenue recognized on a straight-line basis and scheduled 
rents, represent unbilled rent receivables that the Company will receive only if the tenants make all rent payments required through the expiration 
of the leases; these receivables are included in other assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company reviews its straight-line 
operating lease receivables for collectibility on a contract by contract basis and any amounts not considered substantially collectible are written 
off against rental revenues. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had $46.9 million and $39.4 million, respectively, of straight-line
operating lease receivables. Leases that have contingent rent escalators indexed to future increases in the Consumer Price Index (“CPI”) may
adjust over a one-year period or over multiple-year periods. Generally, these escalators increase rent at (a) 1 to 1.25 times the increase in the CPI
over a specified period or (b) a fixed percentage. Because of the volatility and uncertainty with respect to future changes in the CPI, the
Company’s inability to determine the extent to which any specific future change in the CPI is probable at each rent adjustment date during the
entire term of these leases and the Company’s view that the multiplier does not represent a significant leverage factor, increases in rental revenue
from leases with this type of escalator are recognized only after the changes in the rental rates have actually occurred.
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In addition to base rental revenue, certain leases also have contingent rentals that are based on a percentage of the tenant’s gross sales;
the Company recognizes contingent rental revenue when the threshold upon which the contingent lease payment is based is actually reached.
Approximately 3.2% of the Company’s investment portfolio is subject to leases that provide for contingent rent based on a percentage of the
tenant’s gross sales; historically, contingent rent recognized has been less than 2.0% of rental revenues.

The Company reviews its operating lease receivables for collectibility on a regular basis, taking into consideration changes in factors
such as the tenant’s payment history, the financial condition of the tenant, business conditions in the industry in which the tenant operates and
economic conditions in the area where the property is located. In the event that the collectibility of lease payments with respect to any tenant is
not probable, a direct write-off of the receivable is made and any future rental revenue is recognized only when the tenant makes a rental
payment or when collectibility is again deemed probable.

Direct costs incremental to successful lease origination, offset by any lease origination fees received, are deferred and amortized over
the related lease term as an adjustment to rental revenue. The Company periodically commits to fund the construction of new properties for its
customers; rental revenue collected during the construction period is deferred and amortized over the remaining lease term when the construction
project is complete. Substantially all of the Company’s leases are triple net, which means that the lessees are directly responsible for the payment
of all property operating expenses, including property taxes, maintenance and insurance. For a few lease contracts, the Company collects
property taxes from its customers and remits those taxes to governmental authorities. Subsequent to the adoption of ASC Topic 842, these
property tax payments are presented on a gross basis as part of both rental revenues and property costs in the consolidated statements of income.

Impairment

STORE Capital reviews its real estate investments and related lease intangibles periodically for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable through operations. Such events or changes in
circumstances may include an expectation to sell certain assets in accordance with the Company’s long-term strategic plans. Management
considers factors such as expected future undiscounted cash flows, capitalization and discount rates, terminal value, tenant improvements, market
trends (such as the effects of leasing demand and competition) and other factors including bona fide purchase offers received from third parties in
making this assessment. These factors are classified as Level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy, discussed in Fair Value Measurement
below. If an asset is determined to be impaired, the impairment is calculated as the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds its
estimated fair value. Estimating future cash flows is highly subjective and such estimates could differ materially from actual results.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized an aggregate provision for impairment of real estate of
$16.0 million. For the assets impaired in 2022, the estimated fair value of the impaired real estate assets at the time of impairment aggregated
$65.3 million. The Company recognized aggregate provisions for the impairment of real estate of $21.8 million and $22.0 million during the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Accounting for Loans and Financing Receivables

Loans Receivable – Classification, Cost and Revenue Recognition

STORE Capital holds its loans receivable, which are primarily mortgage loans secured by real estate, for long-term investment. Loans
receivable are carried at amortized cost, including related unamortized discounts or premiums, if any.

The Company recognizes interest income on loans receivable using the effective-interest method applied on a loan-by-loan basis. Direct
costs associated with originating loans are offset against any related fees received and the balance, along with any premium or discount, is
deferred and amortized as an adjustment to interest income over the term of the related loan receivable using the effective interest method. A loan
receivable is placed on nonaccrual status when the loan has become more than 60 days past due, or earlier if management determines that full
recovery of the contractually specified payments of principal and interest is doubtful. While on nonaccrual status, interest income is recognized
only when received. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had loans receivable with an aggregate outstanding principal balance of
$31.8 million and $28.8 million, respectively, on nonaccrual status.
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Direct Financing Receivables – Classification, Cost and Revenue Recognition

Direct financing receivables include hybrid real estate investment transactions completed prior to 2019. The Company recorded the
direct financing receivables at their net investment, determined as the aggregate minimum lease payments and the estimated residual value of the
leased property less unearned income. The unearned income is recognized over the life of the related contracts so as to produce a constant rate of
return on the net investment in the asset. Subsequent to the adoption of ASC Topic 842, existing direct financing receivables will continue to be
accounted for in the same manner, unless the underlying contracts are modified.

Impairment and Provision for Credit Losses

The Company accounts for provisions of credit losses in accordance with ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (“Topic
326”): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (“ASC Topic 326”). In accordance with ASC Topic 326, the Company evaluates
the collectibility of its loans and financing receivables at the time each financing receivable is issued and subsequently on a quarterly basis
utilizing an expected credit loss model based on credit quality indicators. The primary credit quality indicator is the implied credit rating
associated with each borrower, utilizing two categories, investment grade and non-investment grade. The Company computes implied credit
ratings based on regularly received borrower financial statements using Moody’s Analytics RiskCalc. The Company considers the implied credit
ratings, loan and financing receivable term to maturity and underlying collateral value and quality, if any, to calculate the expected credit loss
over the remaining life of the receivable. Loans are written off against the allowance for credit loss when all or a portion of the principal amount
is determined to be uncollectible. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized an estimated $0.4 million,
$3.2 million and $1.0 million, respectively, of provisions for credit losses related to its loans and financing receivables; the provision for credit
losses is included in provisions for impairment on the consolidated statements of income. During the year ended December 31, 2022, the
Company wrote off $3.7 million of loans receivable against previously established reserves for credit losses. The Company did not write off any
loans during the years ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.

Accounting for Operating Ground Lease Assets

As part of certain real estate investment transactions, the Company may enter into long-term operating ground leases as a lessee.  The 
Company is required to recognize an operating ground lease (or right-of-use) asset and related operating lease liability for each of these operating 
ground leases. Operating ground lease assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the lease payments. The 
Company uses its estimated incremental borrowing rate, which is the estimated rate at which the Company could borrow on a collateralized basis 
with similar payments over a similar term, in determining the present value of the lease payments. 

Many of these operating lease contracts include options for the Company to extend the lease; the option periods are included in the
minimum lease term only if it is reasonably likely the Company will exercise the option(s). Rental expense for the operating ground lease
contracts is recognized in property costs on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Some of the contracts have contingent rent escalators
indexed to future increases in the CPI and a few contracts have contingent rentals that are based on a percentage of the gross sales of the
property; these payments are recognized in expense as incurred. The payment obligations under these contracts are typically the responsibility of
the tenants operating on the properties, in accordance with the Company’s leases with the respective tenants. As a result, the Company also
recognizes sublease rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the Company’s sublease with the tenant; the sublease income is
included in rental revenues.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investment securities with maturities at acquisition of three months or less.
The Company invests cash primarily in money-market funds of a major financial institution, consisting predominantly of U.S. Government
obligations.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash may include reserve account deposits held by lenders, including deposits required to be used for future investment in
real estate assets, escrow deposits and cash proceeds from the sale of assets held by a qualified intermediary to facilitate tax-deferred exchange
transactions under Section 1031 of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company had $4.7 million and $5.8 million of restricted cash at December
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, which are included in other assets, net, on the consolidated balance sheets.
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Deferred Costs

Financing costs related to the issuance of the Company’s long-term debt are deferred and amortized as an increase to interest expense
over the term of the related debt instrument using the effective-interest method and are reported as a reduction of the related debt balance on the
consolidated balance sheets. Deferred financing costs related to the establishment of the Company's credit facility are deferred and amortized to
interest expense over the term of the credit facility and are included in other assets, net, on the consolidated balance sheets.

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company may enter into derivative contracts as part of its overall financing strategy to manage the Company’s exposure to changes 
in interest rates associated with current and/or future debt issuances. The Company does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. 
The use of derivative financial instruments carries certain risks, including the risk that the counterparties to these contractual arrangements are 
not able to perform under the agreements. To mitigate this risk, the Company enters into derivative financial instruments only with counterparties 
with high credit ratings and with major financial institutions with which the Company may also have other financial relationships. The Company 
does not anticipate that any of the counterparties will fail to meet their obligations.  

The Company records its derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value. All derivatives subject to a master netting arrangement in
accordance with the associated master International Swap and Derivatives Association agreement have been presented on a net basis by
counterparty portfolio for purposes of balance sheet presentation and related disclosures. The accounting for changes in the fair value of
derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative, whether the Company has elected to apply hedge accounting and whether the hedging
relationship has satisfied the criteria necessary to apply hedge accounting. Derivatives qualifying as a hedge of the exposure to variability in
expected future cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges. Hedge accounting generally provides for
the matching of the earnings effect of the hedged forecasted transactions in a cash flow hedge. The changes in the fair value of derivatives
designated and that qualify as cash flow hedges is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Amounts reported in
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to cash flow hedges are reclassified to operations as an adjustment to interest expense as
interest payments are made on the hedged debt transaction.

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had seven interest rate swap agreements in place. One of the interest rate swap agreements has
a notional amount of $200.0 million and was designated as a cash flow hedge of the Company's $200.0 million floating-rate bank term loan due
in April 2029. The remaining six interest rate swap agreements have an aggregate notional amount of $400.0 million and were designated as cash
flow hedges of the Company's $400.0 million floating-rate bank term loan due in April 2027 (Note 4). As of December 31, 2021, the Company
had no derivative instruments in place.

Fair Value Measurement

The Company estimates the fair value of financial and non-financial assets and liabilities based on the framework established in fair
value accounting guidance. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date (an exit price). The hierarchy described below prioritizes inputs to the valuation
techniques used in measuring the fair value of assets and liabilities. This hierarchy maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use
of unobservable inputs by requiring the most observable inputs to be used when available. The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based
on the reliability of inputs as follows:

● Level 1—Quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities that the Company has the ability to access.

● Level 2—Significant inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly. These types of inputs would include quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical assets in inactive markets and market-corroborated inputs.

● Level 3—Inputs that are unobservable and significant to the overall fair value measurement of the assets or liabilities. These types
of inputs include the Company’s own assumptions.
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Share-based Compensation

Directors and employees of the Company have historically been granted long-term incentive awards, including restricted stock awards
(“RSAs”) and restricted stock unit awards (“RSUs’), which provided such directors and employees with equity interests as an incentive to remain
in the Company’s service and to align their interests with those of the Company’s stockholders.

The Company estimates the fair value of RSAs based on the closing price per share of the common stock on the date of grant and
recognizes that amount in general and administrative expense ratably over the vesting period at the greater of the amount amortized on a straight-
line basis or the amount vested.

The Company’s RSUs granted 2019 through 2022 contain both a market condition and a performance condition as well as a service
condition. The Company values the RSUs with a market condition using a Monte Carlo simulation model and values the RSUs with a
performance condition based on the fair value of the awards expected to be earned and recognizes those amounts in general and administrative
expense on a tranche-by-tranche basis ratably over the vesting periods.

Income Taxes

As a REIT, the Company generally will not be subject to federal income tax. It is still subject, however, to state and local income taxes
and to federal income and excise tax on its undistributed income. STORE Investment Corporation is the Company’s wholly owned taxable REIT
subsidiary (“TRS”) created to engage in non-qualifying REIT activities. The TRS is subject to federal, state and local income taxes.

Net Income Per Common Share

Net income per common share has been computed pursuant to the guidance in the FASB ASC Topic 260, Earnings Per Share. The
guidance requires the classification of the Company’s unvested restricted common shares, which contain rights to receive non-forfeitable
dividends, as participating securities requiring the two-class method of computing net income per common share. The following table is a
reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the computation of basic and diluted net income per common share (dollars in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,  
2022 2021 2020  

Numerator:                                        
Net income $ 327,901 $ 268,348 $ 212,614

Less: Earnings attributable to unvested restricted shares   (558)   (659)   (776)
Net income used in basic and diluted income per share $ 327,343 $ 267,689 $ 211,838
Denominator:
Weighted average common shares outstanding   280,559,061   270,693,243   253,055,331

Less: Weighted average number of shares of unvested restricted
stock   (453,584)   (587,974)   (520,751)

Weighted average shares outstanding used in basic income per share   280,105,477   270,105,269   252,534,580
Effects of dilutive securities:

Add: Treasury stock method impact of potentially dilutive securities
(a)   —   —   116,460

Weighted average shares outstanding used in diluted income per share   280,105,477   270,105,269   252,651,040

(a) For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, excludes 121,112 shares, 225,424 shares and 127,136 shares, respectively, related
to unvested restricted shares as the effect would have been antidilutive.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or the SEC. The Company adopts the new pronouncements
as of the specified effective date. When permitted, the Company may elect to early adopt the new pronouncements. Unless otherwise discussed,
these new accounting pronouncements include technical corrections to existing guidance or introduce new
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guidance related to specialized industries or entities and, therefore, will have minimal, if any, impact on the Company’s financial position, results
of operations or cash flows upon adoption.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate
Reform on Financial Reporting. ASU 2020-04 contains practical expedients for reference rate reform related activities that impact debt, leases,
derivatives and other contracts. The guidance in ASU 2020-04 is optional and may be elected over time as reference rate reform activities occur.
In December 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848, which
amended the sunset date of the guidance in Topic 848 to December 31, 2024 from December 31, 2022. During the first quarter of 2020, the
Company elected to apply the hedge accounting expedients related to probability and the assessments of effectiveness for future LIBOR-indexed
cash flows to assume that the index upon which future hedged transactions will be based matches the index on the corresponding derivatives.
Application of these expedients preserves the presentation of derivatives consistent with past presentation. The Company continues to evaluate
the impact of the guidance and may apply other elections as applicable as additional changes in the market occur.

3. Investments

At December 31, 2022, STORE Capital had investments in 3,084 property locations representing 3,034 owned properties (of which 100
are accounted for as financing arrangements and 22 are accounted for as direct financing receivables), 24 properties where all the related land is
subject to an operating ground lease and 26 properties which secure mortgage loans. The gross investment portfolio totaled $12.08 billion at
December 31, 2022 and consisted of the gross acquisition cost of the real estate investments totaling $11.3 billion, loans and financing
receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of $787.1 million and operating ground lease assets totaling $31.9 million. As of December 31,
2022, approximately 32% of these investments are assets of consolidated special purpose entity subsidiaries and are pledged as collateral under
the non-recourse obligations of these special purpose entities (Note 4).
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The gross dollar amount of the Company’s investments includes the investment in land, buildings, improvements and lease intangibles
related to real estate investments as well as the carrying amount of the loans and financing receivables and operating ground lease assets. During
2020, 2021 and 2022, the Company had the following gross real estate and other investment activity (dollars in thousands):

     Number of      Dollar  
Investment Amount of  
Locations Investments  

Gross investments, December 31, 2019   2,504   8,854,921
Acquisition of and additions to real estate (a)(b)   203   959,842
Investment in loans and direct financing receivables (c)   11   156,721
Sales of real estate   (72)   (222,556)
Principal collections on loans and direct financing receivables (d)   (12)   (80,521)
Net change in operating ground lease assets (e) 10,429
Provisions for impairment (23,003)
Adoption of expected credit loss standard (ASC Topic 326) (2,465)
Other   (13,602)

Gross investments, December 31, 2020   2,634   9,639,766
Acquisition of and additions to real estate (a)(d)(f)   307 1,427,278
Investment in loans and direct financing receivables   29 125,049
Sales of real estate   (103) (339,658)
Principal collections on loans and direct financing receivables (d)   (1) (61,942)
Net change in operating ground lease assets (e) (1,365)
Provisions for impairment (24,979)
Other (15,212)

Gross investments, December 31, 2021   2,866   10,748,937
Acquisition of and additions to real estate (a)(d)(g)(h)   256 1,475,499
Investment in loans and direct financing receivables   28 158,676
Sales of real estate   (60) (197,530)
Principal collections on loans and direct financing receivables (d)   (6) (76,868)
Net change in operating ground lease assets (e) (1,446)
Provisions for impairment (16,428)
Other (10,997)

Gross investments, December 31, 2022   12,079,843
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (1,438,107)

Net investments, December 31, 2022   3,084 $ 10,641,736

(a) Includes $0.8 million during 2020, $0.8 million during 2021 and $2.3 million during 2022 of interest capitalized to properties under construction.
(b) Excludes $16.9 million of tenant improvement advances disbursed in 2020 which were accrued as of December 31, 2019.
(c) Includes $3.2 million related to mortgage loans made to the purchasers of a real estate properties sold during 2020.
(d) For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2021, and 2022 includes $30.6 million, $42.8 million, and $8.9 million, respectively of non-cash principal

collection transactions in which the Company acquired the underlying collateral property (buildings and improvements) and leased them back to a customer.
(e) Includes new operating ground lease assets recognized net of amortization during the year ended December 30, 2020. During the years ended December 31,

2021 and 2022, represents amortization.
(f) Excludes $21.2 million of tenant improvement advances disbursed in 2021 which were accrued as of December 31, 2020.
(g) Excludes $22.6 million of tenant improvement advances disbursed in 2022 which were accrued as of December 31, 2021.
(h) Incudes $10.6 million of tenant funded improvements during 2022.
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The following table summarizes the revenues the Company recognized from its investment portfolio (in thousands):
Year Ended December 31,  

2022 2021 2020       
Rental revenues:                         

Operating leases (a)(c) $ 845,880 $ 728,477 $ 644,733
Sublease income - operating ground leases (b) 2,812 2,809 2,096
Amortization of lease related intangibles and costs   (2,272)   (2,225)   (2,331)

Total rental revenues $ 846,420 $ 729,061 $ 644,498

Interest income on loans and financing receivables:
Mortgage and other loans receivable (c) $ 26,667 $ 24,959 $ 18,097
Sale-leaseback transactions accounted for as financing arrangements   24,140   17,883   15,376
Direct financing receivables   5,969   7,979   11,815

Total interest income on loans and financing receivables $ 56,776 $ 50,821 $ 45,288

(a) For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, includes $3.1 million, $2.6 million and $2.5 million, respectively, of property tax tenant
reimbursement revenue and includes variable lease revenue of $1.0 million, $11.2 million and $4.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021
and 2020, respectively.

(b) Represents total revenue recognized for the sublease of properties subject to operating ground leases to the related tenants; includes both payments made by
the tenants to the ground lessors and straight-line revenue recognized for scheduled increases in the sublease rental payments.

(c) For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, includes $1.5 million, $8.3 million and $57.1 million, respectively, of revenue that has been
recognized related to rent and financing relief arrangements granted as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic with a corresponding increase in receivables
which are included in other assets, net on the consolidated balance sheet.

The Company has elected to account for the lease and nonlease components in its lease contracts as a single component if the timing
and pattern of transfer for the separate components are the same and, if accounted for separately, the lease component would classify as an
operating lease.

Significant Credit and Revenue Concentration

STORE Capital’s real estate investments are leased or financed to 587 customers who operate their businesses across 126 industries
geographically dispersed throughout 49 states. The primary sectors of the U.S. economy and their proportionate dollar amount of STORE
Capital’s investment portfolio at December 31, 2022 are service at 62%, service-oriented retail at 16% and manufacturing at 22%. Only one
industry group, restaurants (11%), and only one state, Texas (11%), accounted for 10% or more of the total dollar amount of STORE Capital’s
investment portfolio at December 31, 2022. None of the Company’s customers represented more than 10% of the Company’s investment
portfolio at December 31, 2022, with the largest customer representing 2.7%. On an annualized basis, as of December 31, 2022, the largest
customer represented 2.8% of the Company’s total investment portfolio revenues.

Real Estate Investments

The weighted average remaining noncancelable lease term of the Company’s operating leases with its tenants at December 31, 2022 was
approximately 13.1 years. Substantially all the leases are triple net, which means that the lessees are responsible for the payment of all property
operating expenses, including property taxes, maintenance and insurance; therefore, the Company is generally not responsible for repairs or other
capital expenditures related to the properties while the triple-net leases are in effect. At December 31, 2022, 16 of the Company’s properties were
vacant and not subject to a lease.
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Scheduled future minimum rentals to be received under the remaining noncancelable term of the operating leases in place as of
December 31, 2022 are as follows (in thousands):

2023 $ 908,961
2024   902,039
2025   898,423
2026   892,006
2027 880,092
Thereafter   7,402,655
Total future minimum rentals (a) $ 11,884,176

(a) Excludes future minimum rentals to be received under lease contracts associated with sale-leaseback transactions accounted for as financing
arrangements. See Loans and Financing Receivables section below.

Substantially all the Company’s leases include one or more renewal options (generally two to four five-year options). Since lease
renewal periods are exercisable at the option of the lessee, the preceding table presents future minimum lease payments due during the initial
lease term only. In addition, the future minimum lease payments presented above do not include any contingent rentals such as lease escalations
based on future changes in CPI.

Intangible Lease Assets

The following details intangible lease assets and related accumulated amortization at December 31 (in thousands):

     2022      2021
In-place leases   $ 42,519  $ 35,522
Ground lease-related intangibles 19,449 19,449

Total intangible lease assets 61,968 54,971
Accumulated amortization (27,278) (25,285)

Net intangible lease assets   $ 34,690   $ 29,686

Aggregate lease intangible amortization included in expense was $3.7 million, $3.5 million and $4.3 million during the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. The amount amortized as a decrease to rental revenue for capitalized above-market lease
intangibles was $0.2 million and $1.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.  

Based on the balance of the intangible assets as of December 31, 2022, the aggregate amortization expense is expected to be
$3.5 million in 2023, $3.0 million in 2024, $2.5 million in 2025, $2.3 million in 2026 and $2.2 million in 2027. The weighted average remaining
amortization period is approximately 10 years for the in-place lease intangibles, and approximately 42 years for the amortizing ground lease-
related intangibles.

Operating Ground Lease Assets

As of December 31, 2022, STORE Capital had operating ground lease assets aggregating $31.9 million. Typically, the lease payment
obligations for these leases are the responsibility of the tenants operating on the properties, in accordance with the Company’s leases with those
respective tenants. The Company recognized total lease cost for these operating ground lease assets of $3.3 million, $3.3 million, and $2.4
million during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 the
Company also recognized in rental revenues $2.8 million, $2.8 million, and $2.1 million, respectively, of sublease revenue associated with its
operating ground leases. The Company’s ground leases have remaining terms ranging from less than one year to 89 years, some of which have
one or more options to extend the lease for terms ranging from three years to ten years. The weighted average remaining non-cancelable lease
term for the ground leases was 22 years at December 31, 2022. The weighted average discount rate used in calculating the operating lease
liabilities was 5.7%.
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The future minimum lease payments to be paid under the operating ground leases as of December 31, 2022 were as follows (in
thousands):

          Ground       
Ground Leases
Leases Paid by
Paid by STORE Capital's

STORE Capital Tenants (a) Total  
2023 $ 4,149 $ 2,629 $ 6,778
2024   55   2,711   2,766
2025   57   2,395   2,452
2026   57   2,233   2,290
2027 57 2,227 2,284
Thereafter   3,014   42,282   45,296
Total lease payments 7,389 54,477 61,866
Less imputed interest   (2,663)   (26,711)   (29,374)
Total operating lease liabilities - ground leases $ 4,726 $ 27,766 $ 32,492

(a) STORE Capital’s tenants, who are generally sub-tenants under the ground leases, are responsible for paying the rent under these ground leases. In the
event the tenant fails to make the required ground lease payments, the Company would be primarily responsible for the payment, assuming the
Company does not re-tenant the property or sell the leasehold interest. Of the total $54.5 million commitment, $19.0 million is due for periods beyond
the current term of the Company’s leases with the tenants. Amounts exclude contingent rent due under three leases where the ground lease payment, or
a portion thereof, is based on the level of the tenants’ sales.

Loans and Financing Receivables

The Company’s loans and financing receivables are summarized below (dollars in thousands):

Interest Maturity December 31,  
Type Rate (a) Date 2022 2021  
Four mortgage loans receivable 8.03 %   2023 - 2026 $ 104,069 $ 114,911
Three mortgage loans receivable   8.81 %   2032 - 2036   9,967   14,444
Sixteen mortgage loans receivable (b)   8.45 %   2042 - 2062   231,639   216,547

Total mortgage loans receivable   345,675   345,902
Equipment and other loans receivable 7.32 %   2023 - 2036 15,842 25,409

Total principal amount outstanding—loans receivable   361,517   371,311
Unamortized loan origination costs   1,011   1,046
Sale-leaseback transactions accounted for as financing arrangements (c) 7.52 %   2034 - 2043 369,604 255,483
Direct financing receivables   60,899   78,637
Allowance for credit and loan losses (d) (5,925) (9,208)
Total loans and financing receivables $ 787,106 $ 697,269

(a) Represents the weighted average interest rate as of the balance sheet date.
(b) Four of these mortgage loans allow for prepayment in whole, but not in part, with penalties ranging from 20% to 70% depending on the timing of the

prepayment.
(c) In accordance with ASC Topic 842, represents sale-leaseback transactions accounted for as financing arrangements rather than as investments in real estate

subject to operating leases. Interest rate shown is the weighted average initial rental or capitalization rate on the leases; the leases mature between 2034 and
2043 and the purchase options expire between 2024 and 2042.

(d) Balance includes $2.5 million of loan loss reserves recognized prior to December 31, 2019, $2.5 million credit loss reserves recognized upon the adoption
of ASC Topic 326 on January 1, 2020, and an aggregate $4.6 million of credit losses recognized since the adoption of ASC Topic 326 net of $3.7 million of
loans that were written-off against previously established reserves.

Loans Receivable

At December 31, 2022, the Company held 38 loans receivable with an aggregate carrying amount of $358.3 million. Twenty-three of
the loans are mortgage loans secured by land and/or buildings and improvements on the mortgaged property; the interest rates on
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11 of the mortgage loans are subject to increases over the term of the loans. Four of the mortgage loans are shorter-term loans (maturing prior to
2027) that generally require monthly interest-only payments with a balloon payment at maturity. The remaining mortgage loans receivable
generally require the borrowers to make monthly principal and interest payments based on a 40-year amortization period with balloon payments,
if any, at maturity or earlier upon the occurrence of certain other events. The equipment and other loans generally require the borrower to make
monthly payments with a balloon payment at maturity.

The long-term mortgage loans receivable generally allow for prepayments in whole, but not in part, without penalty or with penalties
ranging from 1% to 20%, depending on the timing of the prepayment, except as noted in the table above. All other loans receivable allow for
prepayments in whole or in part without penalty. Absent prepayments, scheduled maturities are expected to be as follows (in thousands):

     Scheduled            
Principal Balloon Total
Payments Payments Payments  

2023 $ 2,452 $ 92,832 $ 95,284
2024   2,224   —   2,224
2025   2,028   —   2,028
2026   1,999   20,371   22,370
2027 1,716 548 2,264
Thereafter   207,495   29,852   237,347
Total principal payments $ 217,914 $ 143,603 $ 361,517

Sale-Leaseback Transactions Accounted for as Financing Arrangements

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had $369.6 million and $255.5 million, respectively, of investments acquired through
sale-leaseback transactions accounted for as financing arrangements rather than as investments in real estate subject to an operating lease;
revenue from these arrangements is recognized in interest income rather than as rental revenue. The scheduled future minimum rentals to be
received under these agreements (which will be reflected in interest income) as of December 31, 2022, were as follows (in thousands):

2023 $ 28,486
2024   28,622
2025   28,762
2026   28,855
2027 28,956
Thereafter   343,194
Total future scheduled payments $ 486,875

Direct Financing Receivables

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had $60.9 million and $78.6 million, respectively, of investments accounted for as
direct financing leases under previous accounting guidance; the components of these investments were as follows (in thousands):

2022 2021
Minimum lease payments receivable $ 119,839      $ 159,371
Estimated residual value of leased assets   6,889   8,938
Unearned income   (65,829)   (89,672)
Net investment $ 60,899 $ 78,637

As of December 31, 2022, the future minimum lease payments to be received under the direct financing lease receivables are expected
to average approximately $6.5 million for each of the next five years and $87.5 million thereafter.
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Provision for Credit Losses

In accordance with ASC Topic 326, the Company evaluates the collectibility of its loans and financing receivables at the time each
financing receivable is issued and subsequently on a quarterly basis utilizing an expected credit loss model based on credit quality indicators. The
Company groups individual loans and financing receivables based on the implied credit rating associated with each borrower. Based on credit
quality indicators as of December 31, 2022, $171.8 million of loans and financing receivables were categorized as investment grade and
$620.2 million were categorized as non-investment grade. During the year ended December 31, 2022, there were $0.4 million of provisions for
credit losses recognized, $3.7 million of write-offs charged against the allowance and no recoveries of amounts previously written off.

As of December 31, 2022, the year of origination for loans and financing receivables with a credit quality indicator of investment grade
was $14.5 million in 2022, $35.7 million in 2021, none million in 2020, $109.2 million in 2019, none in 2018 and $12.4 million prior to 2018.
The year of origination for loans and financing receivables with a credit quality indicator of non-investment grade was $139.1 million in 2022,
$76.7 million in 2021, $90.4 million in 2020, $125.7 million in 2019, $31.3 million in 2018 and $157.0 million prior to 2018.

4. Debt

Credit Facility

As of December 31, 2022, the Company had an unsecured revolving credit facility with a group of lenders that was used to partially
fund real estate acquisitions pending the issuance of long-term, fixed-rate debt. The credit facility had immediate availability of $600.0 million
and an accordion feature of $1.0 billion, which allowed the size of the facility to be increased up to $1.6 billion. At December 31, 2022, the
Company had $555.0 million of borrowings outstanding on the facility.

Borrowings under the facility required monthly payments of interest at a rate selected by the Company of either (1) LIBOR plus a credit
spread ranging from 0.70% to 1.40%, or (2) the Base Rate, as defined in the credit agreement, plus a credit spread ranging from 0.00% to 0.40%.
The credit spread used was based on the Company’s credit rating as defined in the credit agreement. The Company was required to pay a facility
fee on the total commitment amount ranging from 0.10% to 0.30%. As of December 31, 2022, the applicable credit spread for LIBOR-based
borrowings is 0.85% and the facility fee was 0.20%.

Under the terms of the facility, the Company is subject to various restrictive financial and nonfinancial covenants which, among other
things, require the Company to maintain certain leverage ratios, cash flow and debt service coverage ratios and secured borrowing ratios. Certain
of these ratios are based on the Company’s pool of unencumbered assets, which aggregated approximately $8.2 billion at December 31, 2022.

The facility is recourse to the Company and, as of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with the covenants under the
facility.

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, unamortized financing costs related to the Company’s credit facility totaled $2.6 million and
$3.7 million, respectively, and are included in other assets, net, on the consolidated balance sheets.

Unsecured Notes and Term Loans Payable, net

The Company has completed four public offerings of ten-year unsecured notes (“Public Notes”). In March 2018, February 2019 and
November 2020, the Company completed public offerings of $350.0 million each in aggregate principal amount. In November 2021, the
Company completed a public offering of $375.0 million in aggregate principal amount. The Public Notes have coupon rates of 4.50%, 4.625%,
2.75%, and 2.70%, respectively, and interest is payable semi-annually in arrears in March and September of each year for the 2018 and 2019
Public Notes, May and November of each year for the 2020 Public Notes, and June and December of each year for the 2021 Public Notes. The
notes were issued at 99.515%, 99.260%, 99.558%, and 99.877%, respectively, of their principal amounts.

The supplemental indentures governing the Public Notes contain various restrictive covenants, including limitations on the Company’s
ability to incur additional secured and unsecured indebtedness. As of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with these covenants.
The Public Notes can be redeemed, in whole or in part, at par within three months of their maturity date or at a
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redemption price equal to the sum of (i) the principal amount of the notes being redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest and (ii) the make-
whole premium, as defined in the supplemental indentures governing these notes.

In April 2022, the Company entered into a term loan agreement under which the Company borrowed an aggregate $600.0 million of
floating-rate, unsecured term loans; the loans consisted of a $400.0 million five-year loan and a $200.0 million seven-year loan (the “Term
Loans”). The interest rate on each of the Term Loans reset daily at Daily Simple SOFR plus an adjustment of 0.10% plus a credit rating-based
credit spread ranging from 0.75% to 1.60% on the five-year loan and 1.25% to 2.20% on the seven-year loan. As of December 31, 2022, the
credit spread applicable to the Company was 0.95% for the five-year loan and 1.25% for the seven-year loan. The Company has entered into
interest rate swap agreements that effectively convert the floating rates on the Term Loans to a weighted average fixed rate of 3.68%.

The Term Loans were arranged with a group of lenders that also participated in the Company’s unsecured revolving credit facility. The
financial covenants of the Term Loans matched the covenants of the unsecured revolving credit facility. As of December 31, 2022, the Company
was in compliance with these covenants. The Term Loans were senior unsecured obligations of the Company which require monthly interest
payments and may be prepaid at any time; the seven-year loan had a prepayment premium of 2% if repaid in year one and 1% if repaid in year
two.

In December 2022, the Company entered into a term loan agreement with an initial commitment of $100.0 million of unsecured,
floating-rate, short-term term borrowings (the “December 2022 Term Loan”). The December 2022 Term Loan matured at the earlier of March 31,
2023 or the consummation of the Merger and the interest rate reset daily at Daily Simple SOFR plus an adjustment of 0.10% plus a credit rating-
based credit spread ranging from 0.75% to 1.60%. The credit spread applicable to the Company as of December 31, 2022 was 0.95%. The term
loan agreement included an incremental borrowing feature that allows the Company to request up to an additional $100.0 million of term
borrowings after December 31, 2022. The December 2022 Term Loan was arranged with a lender that also participated in the Company’s
unsecured revolving credit facility. The financial covenants of the December 2022 Term Loan matched the covenants of the unsecured revolving
credit facility. As of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with these covenants. The December 2022 Term Loan was a senior
unsecured obligation of the Company and required monthly interest payments. As of December 31, 2022 the Company had borrowings of
$90.0 million bearing an interest rate of 5.35%.

The Company has entered into Note Purchase Agreements (“NPAs”) with institutional purchasers that provided for the private
placement of three series of senior unsecured notes aggregating $375 million (the “Notes”). Interest on the Notes is payable semi-annually in
arrears in May and November of each year. On each interest payment date, the interest rate on each series of Notes may be increased by 1.0%
should the Company’s Applicable Credit Rating (as defined in the NPAs) fail to be an investment-grade credit rating; the increased interest rate
would remain in effect until the next interest payment date on which the Company obtains an investment grade credit rating. The Company may
prepay at any time all, or any part, of any series of Notes, in an amount not less than 5% of the aggregate principal amount of the series then
outstanding in the case of a partial prepayment, at 100% of the principal amount so prepaid plus a Make-Whole Amount (as defined in the
NPAs). The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company. In November 2022, the Company repaid its $75.0 million Series A senior
unsecured notes at maturity which bore an interest rate of 4.95%. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had $300.0 million of senior
unsecured notes outstanding.

The NPAs contain a number of financial covenants that are similar to the Company’s unsecured credit facility as summarized above.
Subject to the terms of the NPAs and the Notes, upon certain events of default, including, but not limited to, (i) a payment default under the
Notes, and (ii) a default in the payment of certain other indebtedness by the Company or its subsidiaries, all amounts outstanding under the Notes
will become due and payable at the option of the purchasers. As of December 31, 2022, the Company was in compliance with its covenants
under the NPAs.
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The Company’s senior unsecured notes and term loans payable are summarized below (dollars in thousands):

Maturity Interest   December 31, December 31,  
Date Rate   2022 2021  

Notes Payable:
Series A issued November 2015 $ — $ 75,000
Series B issued November 2015 Nov. 2024 5.24 %   100,000 100,000
Series C issued April 2016 Apr. 2026 4.73 %   200,000 200,000

Public Notes issued March 2018 Mar. 2028 4.50 %   350,000 350,000
Public Notes issued February 2019 Mar. 2029 4.625 %   350,000 350,000
Public Notes issued November 2020 Nov. 2030 2.75 %   350,000 350,000
Public Notes issued November 2021 Dec. 2031 2.70 %   375,000 375,000

Total notes payable 1,725,000 1,800,000
Term Loans:

Term Loan issued December 2022 Mar. 2023 (a) 5.35 % (b)  90,000 —
Term Loan issued April 2022 Apr. 2027 3.58 % (c) 400,000 —
Term Loan issued April 2022 Apr. 2029 3.88 % (d) 200,000 —

Total term loans 690,000 —
Unamortized discount (4,113) (4,740)
Unamortized deferred financing costs (13,481) (12,447)
Total unsecured notes and term loans payable, net $ 2,397,406 $ 1,782,813

(a) Loan matures at the earlier of March 31, 2023 or the consummation of the Merger.
(b) Loan is a floating-rate loan which resets daily at Daily Simple SOFR + an adjustment of 0.10% + the applicable credit spread which was 0.95% at

December 31, 2022.
(c) Loan is a floating-rate loan which resets daily at Daily Simple SOFR + an adjustment of 0.10% + the applicable credit spread which was 0.95% at

December 31, 2022. The Company has entered into six interest rate swap agreements that effectively convert the floating rate to the fixed rate noted as of
December 31, 2022.

(d) Loan is a floating-rate loan which resets daily at Daily Simple SOFR + an adjustment of 0.10% + the applicable credit spread which was 1.25% at
December 31, 2022. The Company has entered into one interest rate swap agreement that effectively converts the floating rate to the fixed rate noted as of
December 31, 2022.

Non-recourse Debt Obligations of Consolidated Special Purpose Entities, net

During 2012, the Company implemented its STORE Master Funding debt program pursuant to which certain of its consolidated special
purpose entities issue multiple series of non-recourse net-lease mortgage notes from time to time that are collateralized by the assets and related
leases (collateral) owned by these entities. One of the principal features of the program is that, as additional series of notes are issued, new
collateral is contributed to the collateral pool, thereby increasing the size and diversity of the collateral pool for the benefit of all noteholders,
including those who invested in prior series. Another feature of the program is the ability to substitute collateral from time to time subject to
meeting certain prescribed conditions and criteria. The notes issued under this program are generally segregated into Class A amortizing notes
and Class B non-amortizing notes. The Company has retained the Class B notes which aggregate $190.0 million at December 31, 2022.

The Class A notes require monthly principal and interest payments with a balloon payment due at maturity and these notes may be
prepaid at any time, subject to a yield maintenance prepayment premium if prepaid more than 24 or 36 months prior to maturity. As of December
31, 2022, the aggregate collateral pool securing the net-lease mortgage notes was comprised primarily of single-tenant commercial real estate
properties with an aggregate investment amount of approximately $3.6 billion.

In connection with obtaining the Term Loans in April 2022, the Company prepaid, without penalty, $134.5 million of STORE Master
Funding Series 2014-1, Class A-2 notes, which bore an interest rate of 5.0% and were scheduled to mature in 2024; and the Company recognized
$0.8 million of accelerated amortization of deferred financing costs associated with the prepayment.

A number of additional consolidated special purpose entity subsidiaries of the Company have financed their real estate properties with
traditional first mortgage debt. The notes generally require monthly principal and interest payments with balloon payments due at maturity. In
general, these mortgage notes payable can be prepaid in whole or in part upon payment of a yield maintenance premium. The
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mortgage notes payable are collateralized by real estate properties owned by these consolidated special purpose entity subsidiaries with an
aggregate investment amount of approximately $250.7 million at December 31, 2022.

The mortgage notes payable, which are obligations of the consolidated special purpose entities described in Note 2, contain various
covenants customarily found in mortgage notes, including a limitation on the issuing entity’s ability to incur additional indebtedness on the
underlying real estate. Although this mortgage debt generally is non-recourse, there are customary limited exceptions to recourse for matters such
as fraud, misrepresentation, gross negligence or willful misconduct, misapplication of payments, bankruptcy and environmental liabilities.
Certain of the mortgage notes payable also require the posting of cash reserves with the lender or trustee if specified coverage ratios are not
maintained by the Company or one of its tenants.

The Company’s non-recourse debt obligations of consolidated special purpose entity subsidiaries are summarized below (dollars in
thousands):

Outstanding Balance    
Maturity Interest December 31,    

Date Rate 2022 2021    

$140,000 Series 2014-1, Class A-2 (a)     5.00 %     —   134,692
$150,000 Series 2018-1, Class A-1 Oct. 2024 (b) 3.96 %   140,552 142,051
$50,000 Series 2018-1, Class A-3 Oct. 2024 (b) 4.40 %   48,417 48,917
$270,000 Series 2015-1, Class A-2 Apr. 2025 (b) 4.17 %   259,650 260,999
$200,000 Series 2016-1, Class A-1 (2016) Oct. 2026 (b) 3.96 %   175,861 180,190
$82,000 Series 2019-1, Class A-1 Nov. 2026 (b) 2.82 % 78,180 78,590
$46,000 Series 2019-1, Class A-3 Nov. 2026 (b) 3.32 % 45,291 45,521
$135,000 Series 2016-1, Class A-2 (2017) Apr. 2027 (b) 4.32 %   120,182 123,046
$228,000 Series 2018-1, Class A-2 Oct. 2027 (c) 4.29 %   213,638 215,918
$164,000 Series 2018-1, Class A-4 Oct. 2027 (c) 4.74 %   158,807 160,447
$168,500 Series 2021-1, Class A-1 Jun. 2028 (b) 2.12 %   167,236 168,079
$89,000 Series 2021-1, Class A-3 Jun. 2028 (b) 2.86 %   88,333 88,778
$168,500 Series 2021-1, Class A-2 Jun. 2033 (c) 2.96 %   167,236 168,079
$89,000 Series 2021-1, Class A-4 Jun. 2033 (c) 3.70 %   88,333 88,778
$244,000 Series 2019-1, Class A-2 Nov. 2034 (c) 3.65 % 232,634 233,854
$136,000 Series 2019-1, Class A-4 Nov. 2034 (c) 4.49 % 133,903 134,583

Total non-recourse net-lease mortgage notes 2,118,253 2,272,522
Non-recourse mortgage notes:

$13,000 note issued May 2012     5.195 %     —   9,961
$26,000 note issued August 2012     5.05 %     —   20,085
$6,400 note issued November 2012     4.707 %     —   4,938
$6,944 notes issued March 2013   Apr. 2038   4.50 % (d)   5,103   5,332
$11,895 note issued March 2013   Apr. 2023   4.7315 % (d)   8,935   9,309
$17,500 note issued August 2013   Sept. 2023   5.46 %     13,701   14,212
$10,075 note issued March 2014 Apr. 2024 5.10 % 8,602 8,808
$65,000 note issued June 2016 Jul. 2026 4.75 % 57,980 59,223
$41,690 note issued March 2019   Mar. 2029   4.80 %   40,662   41,291
$6,350 notes issued March 2019 (assumed in December 2020) Apr. 2049 4.64 % 5,993 6,106

Total non-recourse mortgage notes 140,976 179,265
Unamortized discount   (395)   (496)
Unamortized deferred financing costs   (20,364)   (25,583)
Total non-recourse debt obligations of consolidated special purpose entities, net $ 2,238,470 $ 2,425,708

(a) Notes were repaid, without penalty, in April 2022 using a portion of the proceeds from the aggregate $600.0 million of term loans the Company entered into
in April 2022.

(b) Prepayable, without penalty, 24 months prior to maturity.
(c) Prepayable, without penalty, 36 months prior to maturity.
(d) Mortgage note was repaid, without penalty, in January 2023.  

Non-recourse net-lease mortgage notes:                                     



Table of Contents

54

Credit Risk Related Contingent Features

The Company has agreements with derivative counterparties, which provide generally that the Company could be declared in default on
its derivative obligations if the Company defaults on the underlying indebtedness. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had no interest rate
swaps that were in a liability position.

Debt Maturity Schedule

As of December 31, 2022, the scheduled maturities, including balloon payments, on the Company’s aggregate debt obligations are as
follows (in thousands):

     Scheduled            
Principal Balloon
Payments Payments Total  

2023 $ 22,628 $ 117,285 $ 139,913
2024   21,908   293,798   315,706
2025   19,777   256,612   276,389
2026   17,654   532,142   549,796
2027 9,221 860,472 869,693
Thereafter   26,882   2,495,850   2,522,732

$ 118,070 $ 4,556,159 $ 4,674,229

5. Income Taxes

The Company’s total current income tax expense (benefit) was as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,  
     2022      2021      2020  

Federal income tax $ — $ — $ (4)
State income tax   884   813   588
Total current income tax expense $ 884 $ 813 $ 584

The Company’s deferred income tax expense and its ending balance in deferred tax assets and liabilities were immaterial for 2022, 2021
and 2020.

The Company files federal, state and local income tax returns. Certain state income tax returns filed for 2018 and tax returns filed for
2019 through 2022 remain subject to examination. Prior to the Merger, the Company had a net operating loss carryforward (“NOL”) for income
tax purposes of $1.5 million that was generated during the year ended December 31, 2011 and, therefore, has no impact on income tax expense
for the three years ended December 31, 2022. This loss is no longer available following the Merger.

Management of the Company determines whether any tax positions taken or expected to be taken meet the “more-likely-than-not”
threshold of being sustained by the applicable federal, state or local tax authority. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, management concluded
that there is no tax liability relating to uncertain income tax positions. The Company’s policy is to recognize interest related to any underpayment
of income taxes as interest expense and to recognize any penalties as operating expenses. There was no accrual for interest or penalties at
December 31, 2022 and 2021.
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The Company’s common stock distributions were characterized for federal income tax purposes as follows (per share):

Year ended December 31,  
2022 2021 2020  

Ordinary income dividends     $ 1.1550     $ 1.1606     $ 1.0677
Capital gain dividends   —   0.0785   0.0180
Return of capital —   0.2259   0.3243
Cash liquidation distributions   0.4100   —   —
Total $ 1.5650 $ 1.4650 $ 1.4100

6. Stockholders’ Equity

In November 2020, the Company established its fifth “at the market” equity distribution program, or ATM program, pursuant to which,
from time to time, it may offer and sell up to $900.0 million of registered shares of common stock through a group of banks acting as its sales
agents (the “2020 ATM Program”).

The following tables outline the common stock issuances under the 2020 ATM Program (in millions except share and per share
information):

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Shares Sold
Weighted Average Price

per Share Gross Proceeds     
Sales Agents'
Commissions   Other Offering Expenses   Net Proceeds

8,607,771 $ 29.38 $ 252.9 $ (3.1) $ (0.2) $ 249.6

Inception of Program Through December 31, 2022

Shares Sold
Weighted Average Price

per Share Gross Proceeds     
Sales Agents'
Commissions   Other Offering Expenses   Net Proceeds

19,449,302 $ 31.55 $ 613.7 $ (8.5) $ (0.8) $ 604.4

The Company declared dividends payable to common stockholders totaling $332.4 million, $405.2 million, and $364.0 million during
the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

7. Long-Term Incentive Plans

In November 2014, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the adoption of the STORE Capital Corporation 2015 Omnibus Equity
Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”), which permits the issuance of up to 6,903,076 shares of common stock, which represented 6% of the number of
issued and outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock upon the completion of the IPO. As of December 31, 2022, 2,507,375 shares are
available for grant under the 2015 Plan.

In 2012, the Company’s Board of Directors established the STORE Capital Corporation 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “2012
Plan”) which permits the issuance of up to 1,035,400 shares of common stock. During 2022, the plan expired and as of December 31, 2022, no
shares remain available for grant under the 2012 Plan.

Both the 2015 and 2012 Plans allow for awards to officers, directors and employees of the Company in the form of restricted shares of
the Company’s common stock and other equity-based awards including performance-based grants.
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The following table summarizes the restricted stock award (“RSA”) activity:

2022 2021 2020  
Weighted Weighted Weighted  

Number of Average Share Number of Average Share Number of Average Share  
Shares Price (1) Shares Price (1) Shares Price (1)  

Outstanding non-vested shares, beginning of year      437,424     $ 25.96      639,554     $ 23.69      285,238     $ 27.70
Shares granted   233,147 $ 29.47   195,278 $ 34.03   491,009 $ 22.63
Shares vested   (166,770) $ 26.32   (313,518) $ 26.58   (130,642) $ 28.15
Shares forfeited   (56,954) $ 24.93   (83,890) $ 25.09   (6,051) $ 30.89
Outstanding non-vested shares, end of year   446,847 $ 27.79   437,424 $ 25.96   639,554 $ 23.69

(1) Grant date fair value

The Company grants RSAs to its officers, directors and employees. Generally, restricted shares granted to the Company’s employees
vest in 25% increments in February or May of each year. The independent directors receive annual grants that vest at the end of each term served.
As permitted, the Company does not estimate a forfeiture rate for non-vested shares. Accordingly, unexpected forfeitures will lower share-based
compensation expense during the applicable period. Under the terms of the 2015 and 2012 Plans, the Company pays non-refundable dividends to
the holders of non-vested shares. Applicable accounting guidance requires that the dividends paid to holders of these non-vested shares be
charged as compensation expense to the extent that they relate to non-vested shares that do not or are not expected to vest. The Company
estimates the fair value of RSAs at the date of grant and recognizes that amount in expense over the vesting period as the greater of the amount
amortized on a straight-line basis or the amount vested. The fair value of the RSAs is based on the closing price per share of the Company’s
common stock on the date of the grant.

The Company has granted restricted stock unit awards (“RSUs”) with (a) both a market and a performance condition or (b) a market
condition to its executive officers; these awards also contain a service condition. The number of common shares to be earned from each grant
range from zero to 100% of the total RSUs granted over a three-year performance period. The following table summarizes the RSU activity:

Number of RSUs  
2022 (1) 2021 2020  

Non-vested and outstanding, beginning of year      1,005,754      1,298,175      1,203,018
RSUs granted   629,307   846,896   534,141
RSUs vested   (217,987)  (468,466)  (376,961)
RSUs forfeited — (338,839) (62,023)
RSUs not earned (195,036) (332,012) —
Non-vested and outstanding, end of year   1,222,038   1,005,754   1,298,175

(1) In connection with the completion of the Merger on February 3, 2023, outstanding performance-based RSUs became earned and vested in accordance with
the actual level of performance of STORE or a minimum of target in as of the date of execution of the Merger Agreement.

For the 2021 and 2022 grants, 75% of the common shares to be earned is based on the Company’s total shareholder return (“TSR”)
measured against a market index and 25% of shares to be earned is based on the growth in a key Company performance indicator over a three-
year period. For the 2018 through 2020 grants, one-half of the common shares to be earned is based on the Company’s TSR measured against a
market index and one-half of the number of shares to be earned is based on the growth in a key Company performance indicator over a three-
year period. The 2018 through 2022 awards vest 100% at the end of the three-year performance period to the extent market, performance and
service conditions are met. The RSUs accrue dividend equivalents which are paid only if the award vests. During the years ended December 31,
2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company accrued dividend equivalents expected to be paid on earned awards of $0.9 million, $1.3 million and
$1.2 million, respectively; during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company paid $1.3 million, $2.4 million and $1.1
million, respectively, of these accrued dividend equivalents to its executive officers.

The Company valued the RSUs with a performance condition based on the closing price per share of the Company’s common stock on
the date of the grant multiplied by the number of awards expected to be earned. The Company valued the RSUs with a market condition using a
Monte Carlo simulation model on the date of grant which resulted in grant date fair values of $6.7 million, $7.8 million and $5.4 million for the
2022, 2021 and 2020 and, respectively. The estimated fair value is amortized to expense on a tranche-by-tranche
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basis ratably over the vesting periods. The following assumptions were used in the Monte Carlo simulation for computing the grant date fair
value of the RSUs with a market condition for each grant year:

2022 2021 2020  
Volatility      45.79 %      46.01 % 19.31 %
Risk-free interest rate 1.77 % 0.25 % 1.42 %
Dividend yield   0.00 %   0.00 % 0.00 %

The 2015 and 2012 Plans each allow the Company’s employees to elect to satisfy the minimum statutory tax withholding obligation due
upon vesting of RSAs and RSUs by allowing the Company to repurchase an amount of shares otherwise deliverable on the vesting date having a
fair market value equal to the withholding obligation. During the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, the Company repurchased an
aggregate 202,796 shares, 288,132 shares and 139,131 shares, respectively, in connection with this tax withholding obligation.

Compensation expense for equity-based payments totaled $12.4 million, $32.2 million, and $4.7 million for the years ended
December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and is included in general and administrative expenses. At December 31, 2022, STORE Capital
had $17.4 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested equity-based compensation arrangements which was to  be 
recognized through February 2024.

8. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company is subject to various legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of its business. Management believes
that the final outcome of such matters will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In connection with the Merger, six lawsuits were filed by purported stockholders against the Company and previous members of the
Company Board. The complaints generally alleged, among other things, that the preliminary proxy statement filed by the Company in connection
with the Merger failed to disclose allegedly material information in violation of Sections 14(a) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, and Rule 14a-9 thereunder. Plaintiffs in each pending lawsuit sought, among other things, an injunction barring the Merger or, in the
alternative, rescission of the Merger to the extent it was already implemented, and an award of damages. Prior to the Closing Date of the Merger,
all six lawsuits were dismissed.

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various types of commitments to purchase real estate properties. These
commitments are generally subject to the Company’s customary due diligence process and, accordingly, a number of specific conditions must be
met before the Company is obligated to purchase the properties. As of December 31, 2022, the Company had commitments to its customers to
fund improvements to owned or mortgaged real estate properties totaling approximately $150.8 million, of which $129.1 million is expected to
be funded in the next twelve months. These additional investments will generally result in increases to the rental revenue or interest income due
under the related contracts.

The Company has entered into lease agreements with an unrelated third party for its corporate office space that will expire in July 2027
and July 2029; the leases each allow for one five-year renewal period at the option of the Company. During the years ended December 31, 2022,
2021 and 2020, total rent expense was $829,000, $735,000, and $737,000, respectively, which is included in general and administrative expense
on the consolidated statements of income. At December 31, 2022, the Company’s future minimum rental commitment under this noncancelable
operating lease, excluding the renewal option period, was approximately $977,000 in 2023, $994,000 in 2024, $1.0 million in 2025, $1.0 million
in 2026, $701,000 in 2027, and $292,000 thereafter. Upon adoption of ASC Topic 842, the Company recorded a right-of-use asset and lease
liability related to this lease; at December 31, 2022, the balance of the right-of-use asset was $3.9 million, which is included in other assets, net
on the consolidated balance sheet, and the balance of the related lease liability was $4.4 million.

The Company has employment agreements with each of its executive officers that provide for minimum annual base salaries, and
annual cash and equity incentive compensation based on the satisfactory achievement of reasonable performance criteria and objectives to be
adopted by the Company’s Board of Directors each year. In the event an executive officer’s employment terminates under certain circumstances,
the Company would be liable for cash severance, continuation of healthcare benefits and, in some instances, accelerated vesting of equity awards
that he or she has been awarded as part of the Company’s incentive compensation program.
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The Company has a defined contribution retirement savings plan qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code (the
401(k) Plan). The 401(k) Plan is available to employees who have completed 30 days of service with the Company. STORE Capital provides a
matching contribution in cash, up to a maximum of 4% of compensation, which vests immediately. The matching contributions made by the
Company totaled approximately $614,000 in 2022, $603,000 in 2021, and $515,000 in 2020.

9. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company’s derivatives are required to be measured at fair value in the Company’s consolidated financial statements on a recurring
basis. Derivatives are measured under a market approach, using prices obtained from a nationally recognized pricing service and pricing models
with market observable inputs such as interest rates and equity index levels. These measurements are classified as Level 2 within the fair value
hierarchy. The aggregate fair value of the Company’s derivative instruments was an asset of $31.4 million at December 31, 2022; the Company
had no derivatives outstanding at December 31, 2021. Derivative assets are included in other assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets.

In addition to the disclosures for assets and liabilities required to be measured at fair value at the balance sheet date, companies are
required to disclose the estimated fair values of all financial instruments, even if they are not carried at their fair value. The fair values of
financial instruments are estimates based on market conditions and perceived risks at December 31, 2022 and 2021. These estimates require
management’s judgment and may not be indicative of the future fair values of the assets and liabilities.

Financial assets and liabilities for which the carrying values approximate their fair values include cash and cash equivalents, restricted
cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and tenant deposits. Generally, these assets and liabilities are short-term in duration and are recorded
at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company believes the carrying value of the borrowings on its credit facility approximate fair
value based on their nature, terms and variable interest rate. Additionally, the Company believes the carrying values of its fixed-rate loans
receivable approximate fair values based on market quotes for comparable instruments or discounted cash flow analyses using estimates of the
amount and timing of future cash flows, market rates and credit spreads.

The estimated fair values of the Company’s aggregate long-term debt obligations have been derived based on market observable inputs
such as interest rates and discounted cash flow analyses using estimates of the amount and timing of future cash flows, market rates and credit
spreads. These measurements are classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. At December 31, 2022, these debt obligations had an
aggregate carrying value of $4.6 billion and an estimated fair value of $4.1 billion. At December 31, 2021, these debt obligations had an
aggregate carrying value of $4.2 billion and an estimated fair value of $4.5 billion.

10. Subsequent Events

Completion of Merger

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Merger Agreement, at or immediately prior to, as applicable, the effective time of the Merger
(the “Merger Effective Time”), among other things:

● Common Stock – Each share of common stock of the Company, par value $0.01 per share (“Common Stock”), other than shares of
Common Stock held by STORE Capital, the Parent Parties or any of their respective wholly-owned subsidiaries, issued and
outstanding immediately prior to the Merger Effective Time, was automatically cancelled and converted into the right to receive an
amount in cash equal to $32.25 per share (the “Merger Consideration”), without interest.

● Restricted Stock Awards – Each outstanding RSA automatically became fully vested and all restrictions and repurchase rights
thereon lapsed, and thereafter all shares of Common Stock represented thereby were considered outstanding for all purposes under
the Merger Agreement and subject to the right to receive an amount in cash equal to the Merger Consideration, less required
withholding taxes.

● Performance-based Restricted Stock Unit Awards – Outstanding performance-based RSUs became earned and vested in accordance
with the actual level of performance of STORE or a minimum of target in accordance with the underlying agreements as of the date
of execution of the Merger Agreement, and thereafter were cancelled and, in exchange therefor, each holder of any such cancelled
vested RSUs ceased to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive as of the Merger Effective Time, in
consideration for the cancellation of such vested RSUs and in settlement therefor, an
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amount in cash equal to (1) the product of (a) the Merger Consideration and (b) the number of so-determined earned performance
shares subject to such vested RSUs, without interest, less required withholding taxes and (2) an amount equivalent to all accrued
and unpaid cash dividends that would have been paid on the number of so-determined earned shares of Common Stock subject to
such vested RSUs as if they had been issued and outstanding from the date of grant up to, and including, the Merger Effective
Time, less required withholding taxes.

Debt Repayments and Termination of Agreements

In connection with the completion of the Merger, on February 3, 2023, STORE repaid in full all indebtedness, liabilities and other
obligations outstanding under, and terminated, the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated June 2021, which provided for the
Company’s senior unsecured revolving credit facility and the Term Loan Agreement, dated April 2022, which provided for floating-rate,
unsecured term loans. At the time of repayment, the outstanding balance on the unsecured revolving credit facility was $600.0 million and the
aggregate borrowings under the Term Loan Agreement were $600.0 million. Additionally, in connection with the completion of the Merger, on
February 3, 2023, the Company repaid $130.0 million of outstanding borrowings on the December 2022 Term Loan at maturity.

Upon completion of the Merger and pursuant to the Company’s Note Purchase Agreements (Note 4), the Company was required to offer
to prepay the $300.0 million of outstanding aggregate principal amounts of Notes. Following the closing of the repurchase offer period, the
Company repurchased $185.6 million in aggregate principal amounts of such Notes.

Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan

In connection with the completion of the Merger, on February 3, 2023, the Company entered into a credit agreement (the “Unsecured
Credit Agreement”) which provides for a senior unsecured revolving credit facility of up to $500.0 million (the “Unsecured Revolving Credit
Facility”) and an unsecured, variable-rate term loan of $600.0 million (the “Unsecured Term Loan”).

The Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility matures in February 2027 and includes two six-month extension options, subject to certain
conditions and the payment of a 0.075% extension fee. Borrowings under the Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility require monthly payments of
interest at a rate selected by the Company of either (1) SOFR plus an adjustment of 0.10% plus a credit spread ranging from 1.00% to 1.45%, or
(2) a Base Rate, as defined in the Unsecured Credit Agreement, plus a credit spread ranging from 0.00% to 0.45%. The credit spread used is
based on the Company’s consolidated total leverage ratio as defined in the Unsecured Credit Agreement. The Company is also required to pay a
facility fee on the total commitment amount of the Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility ranging from 0.15% to 0.30%. The Unsecured Term
Loan matures in April 2027 and the interest rate resets daily at Daily Simple SOFR plus an adjustment of 0.10% plus a credit spread ranging
from 1.10% to 1.70% based on the Company’s consolidated total leverage ratio as defined in the Unsecured Revolving Credit Agreement. The
Company’s existing cash flow hedges effectively convert the variable-rate on the Unsecured Term Loan to a fixed rate of 3.88%.   

The Unsecured Credit Agreement also includes capacity for uncommitted incremental term loans and revolving commitments, whether
in the form of additional facilities or an increase to the existing facilities, up to an aggregate amount for all revolving commitments and term
loans under the Unsecured Credit Agreement of $2.5 billion. The Unsecured Credit Agreement contains various restrictive financial and
nonfinancial covenants which, among other things, require the Company to maintain certain leverage ratios, cash flow and debt service coverage
ratios and secured borrowing ratios.

In March 2023, the Company entered into an incremental amendment to the Unsecured Credit Agreement which provides for increases
to the outstanding Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility and Unsecured Term Loan in an aggregate principal amount of $350.0 million, consisting
of (i) increases to the commitments under the Unsecured Revolving Credit Facility in an amount of $150.0 million and (ii) increases to the
Unsecured Term Loan in an amount of $200.0 million. In connection with the amendment to the Unsecured Credit Agreement, the Company
entered into one interest rate swap agreement with a notional amount of $200.0 million that effectively converts the incremental borrowings on
the Unsecured Term Loan to a fixed interest rate of 5.17% for the remaining term of the loan.
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Secured Term Loan Facility

In connection with the completion of the Merger, on February 3, 2023, the Company and certain of its consolidated special purpose
entities entered into a credit agreement (the “Credit Agreement”) which provides for a secured term loan of $2.0 billion (the “Secured Term Loan
Facility”). The Secured Term Loan Facility matures in February 2025 and includes two six-month extension options, subject to certain conditions
and the payment of a 0.25% extension fee.

Borrowings outstanding under the Secured Term Loan Facility require monthly payments of interest at a floating-rate equal to one-
month SOFR, plus a spread of 2.75%; provided that, if the amount outstanding three months following the Closing Date is greater than $1.5
billion, the spread will automatically increase to 3.00%. In conjunction with entering into the Secured Term Loan Facility, the Company entered
into three interest rate swap agreements with an aggregate notional amount of $750.0 million that effectively convert a portion of the borrowings
to a fixed interest rate of 7.60%. As of February 3, 2023, the effective weighted average interest rate on the Secured Term Loan Facility was
7.42%.

The Secured Term Loan Facility is secured by a collateral pool of properties owned by consolidated special purpose entities of the
Company and is generally non-recourse to the Company, subject to certain customary limited exceptions.

The consolidated special purpose entities are subject to certain restrictive covenants under the Credit Agreement, including with respect
to the type of business they may conduct and other customary covenants for a bankruptcy-remote special purpose entity. The Credit Agreement
permits substitution of real estate collateral from time to time for assets securing the Secured Term Loan Facility, subject to certain conditions
and limitations.

In March 2023, the Company paid down $515.0 million in aggregate principal amount of indebtedness under the Credit Agreement.

Notice of Delisting

On February 3, 2023, in connection with the completion of the Merger, the Company requested that the NYSE suspend trading in the
shares of Common Stock and filed with the SEC a notification of removal from listing and registration on Form 25 to effect the delisting of the
Common Stock from the NYSE and deregistration of the Common Stock under Section 12(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

On February 3, 2023, the Company issued 125 Series A Preferred Units (the “Series A Preferred Units”) for an aggregate cash amount
of $125,000. The issuance of the Series A Preferred Units was made through a private placement in reliance on Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities
Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

Item 9.  CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

Item 9A.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with
the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Accounting Officer, of the effectiveness of the design
and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act).
Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Accounting Officer concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by
this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
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Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as
such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) for the Company. Under the supervision and with the
participation of management, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Accounting Officer of the Company conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations (“2013 Framework”) (“COSO”). Based on such evaluation, management concluded that the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022.

The Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein. Ernst & Young LLP has issued an attestation
report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022. This report is included under “Item 8.
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have not been any changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the fourth fiscal quarter to which this report relates that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, the internal control over financial reporting of the Company.

Item 9B.  OTHER INFORMATION

None.

Item 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.

PART III

Item 10.  DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Executive Officers and Directors

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers and directors:

Name Age Position(s)
Mary B. Fedewa 57 President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Adam Gallistel 47 Director
Jesse Hom 39 Director
Daniel Santiago 34 Director
Marc Zahr 43 Director
Michael Reiter 45 Director
Craig A. Barnett 45 Executive Vice President – Underwriting & Portfolio Management
Chad A. Freed 49 Executive Vice President – General Counsel, Chief Compliance Officer and Secretary
Tyler S. Maertz 44 Executive Vice President - Acquisitions
Lori Markson 50 Executive Vice President – Portfolio Operations
David Alexander McElyea 48 Executive Vice President – Data Analytics & Business Strategy
Ashley A. Dembowski 38 Senior Vice President – Chief Accounting Officer & Corporate Controller

Set forth below is biographical information with respect to each of our directors and executive officers as of the date of this Annual
Report. With respect to the directors, the following information also describes the specific experience, qualifications, attributes and skills
that qualify each director to serve on STORE’s Board.
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Directors

Mary B. Fedewa co-founded STORE in May 2011 and has served as STORE’s Chief Executive Officer and President since April
2021 and September 2020, respectively, having previously served as STORE’s Chief Operating Officer from October 2017 to September
2020, as Executive Vice President – Acquisitions, Assistant Secretary and Assistant Treasurer from May 2011 to October 2017, and as a
director since 2016. Ms. Fedewa has over 20 years of experience in a broad range of financial services. Prior to co-founding STORE, Ms.
Fedewa spent several years investing as principal in single-tenant commercial real estate for private real estate companies. From 2004 to
2007, Ms. Fedewa was a Managing Director of Acquisitions at Spirit Finance Corporation (now Spirit Realty Capital, Inc. (NYSE: SRC))
(“Spirit”), a real estate investment trust (“REIT”), originating net-lease transactions in a variety of industries across the United States. Prior
to Spirit, Ms. Fedewa held numerous positions within GE Capital, including as a Senior Vice President of GE Capital Franchise Finance
Corporation (“GE Franchise Finance”), which was the successor company to Franchise Finance Corporation of America (“FFCA”), a
Scottsdale, Arizona-based REIT acquired by GE Capital in 2001. Throughout her GE Capital tenure, Ms. Fedewa held leadership positions
within Mortgage Insurance, Private Label Financing and Commercial Finance. While at GE Capital, Ms. Fedewa was awarded a Six Sigma
Black Belt and also served as a GE Quality Leader. Ms. Fedewa attended North Carolina State University, where she graduated summa cum
laude with a B.A. degree in Business Management with a concentration in Finance.

Adam Gallistel has served as a director since February 2023. Mr. Gallistel joined GIC in 2004 and is a Managing Director and
Regional Head of Americas, Real Estate. Mr. Gallistel leads GIC’s real estate equity and debt investment activities across the Americas. He
is a member of GIC’s Real Estate Investment Committee, which oversees GIC’s global real estate investments. Mr. Gallistel is also the Head
of GIC’s New York Office, which has over 225 employees. Prior to joining GIC, Mr. Gallistel held positions at LaSalle Investment
Management and The Concord Group. Mr. Gallistel holds a bachelor’s degree in History from the University of Pennsylvania and an
M.B.A., with honors, from Columbia Business School. Mr. Gallistel currently serves on the boards of CoreSite and PREA and is an
Executive Committee member of the Samuel Zell & Robert Lurie Real Estate Center of the University of Pennsylvania’s Wharton School of
Business.

Jesse Hom has served as a director since February 2023. Mr. Hom joined GIC in 2008 and is a Managing Director and Global Head
of Real Estate Credit and Capital Markets. Mr. Hom focuses on driving performance and growth across both GIC’s Real Estate credit and
equity businesses. Prior to joining GIC, Mr. Hom was an investment banking analyst at JP Morgan, where he focused on origination and
structuring for their CMBS structured products group. Mr. Hom serves as a board member at Safehold Inc. (NYSE: SAFE) and several other
private real estate companies. Mr. Hom holds a bachelor’s degree in Real Estate Finance from the School of Hotel Administration at Cornell
University.

Daniel Santiago has served as a director since February 2023. Mr. Santiago joined GIC in 2014 and is a Vice President on the
Americas Real Estate Investment team, where he leads the region’s net lease real estate investments and relationships in the triple net lease
space. Prior to his current position, Mr. Santiago oversaw GIC Americas’ public REIT investments across several sectors, such as triple net
lease, industrial, malls, strips, multifamily, office, healthcare, hospitality, datacenters and self-storage. Prior to joining GIC, Mr. Santiago
was an investment banking analyst at Credit Suisse Brazil. Mr. Santiago holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from the São Paulo School
of Economics (“EESP-FGV”).

Marc Zahr has served as a director since February 2023. Mr. Zahr is the Founder and the President of Oak Street, a division of Blue
Owl, a member of the Blue Owl Capital Inc.’s Executive Committee, and a member of the firm’s Board of Directors. Mr. Zahr also serves as
the Chairman of the Board of Trustees of Oak Street Net Lease Trust, a private REIT. As the Head of the Blue Owl Real Estate division, Mr.
Zahr is responsible for the overall direction and leadership of all real estate related activities. He manages and oversees the firm’s investment
activities which include sourcing, underwriting and negotiating all acquisitions. Mr. Zahr also leads the real estate Investment Committees
and new product development. Mr. Zahr was honored as one of Crain’s Chicago Business’s 40 Under 40 for 2018. Prior to Blue Owl, Mr.
Zahr served as Vice President at American Realty Capital where he was responsible for the analytics and acquisition activities within the
company’s real estate portfolios. Mr. Zahr also served as a Fixed Income Trader at TM Associates and an Associate at Merrill Lynch. Mr.
Zahr received a B.A. in Communications from the University of Dayton.

Michael Reiter has served as a director since February 2023. Mr. Reiter is the Chief Operating Officer of Oak Street, a division of
Blue Owl, a member of the Board of Trustees of Oak Street Net Lease Trust, a private REIT, and a member of the real estate Investment
Committees. Mr. Reiter is responsible for the oversight, implementation and execution of the Company’s capital markets, business
development, investment and asset management activities. Prior to Blue Owl, Mr. Reiter served as a Managing



Table of Contents

63

Director in the Real Estate Investment Management division at Cantor Fitzgerald. Mr. Reiter was a member of the Board of Trustees of
Plymouth Industrial REIT, Inc. and a Senior Vice President and Head of Capital Markets at VEREIT, Inc. and American Realty Capital,
where he was responsible for real estate acquisitions, capital markets and business development. Mr. Reiter commenced his career as a
Certified Public Accountant at Ernst & Young as a Manager in the real estate advisory and assurance practices. Mr. Reiter received his B.S.
in Economics from the University of Wisconsin, Madison and his M.S. in Accounting, cum laude, from the University of Notre Dame.

Executive Officers

Craig A. Barnett has served as STORE’s Executive Vice President – Underwriting & Portfolio Management since September 2020.
Prior to his appointment, Mr. Barnett served in various leadership roles at STORE for nearly 11 years, most recently as Senior Vice President
– Portfolio Management. After joining STORE as a senior underwriter in 2011, Mr. Barnett played an integral role in growing STORE’s
transaction volume to over $9.0 billion. Mr. Barnett has nearly 20 years of broad-based commercial real estate and REIT experience,
including portfolio and investment management, capital transactions, investment analysis, underwriting and valuation. Prior to joining
STORE, he was a Vice President of Franchise Capital Advisors and held leadership positions at GE Capital and FFCA. Mr. Barnett received
a B.S. degree in Finance from Arizona State University’s W.P. Carey School of Business.

Chad A. Freed has served as STORE’s Executive Vice President – General Counsel, Chief Compliance Officer and Secretary since
August 2019. Prior to joining STORE, Mr. Freed served as the General Counsel, Executive Vice President of Corporate Development of
Universal Technical Institute, Inc. (NYSE: UTI) (“UTI”), an education company, from June 2015 to August 2019. Mr. Freed previously
served as UTI’s General Counsel, Senior Vice President of Business Development from March 2009 to June 2015, as Senior Vice President,
General Counsel from February 2005 to March 2009 and as inside legal counsel and Corporate Secretary since March 2004. Prior to joining
UTI, Mr. Freed was a Senior Associate in the Corporate Finance and Securities department at Bryan Cave LLP. Mr. Freed received his Juris
Doctor from Tulane University and a B.S. degree in International Business and French from Pennsylvania State University.

Tyler A. Maertz has served as STORE’s Executive Vice President – Acquisitions since September 2020. Prior to his appointment,
Mr. Maertz served in various capacities at STORE, having joined STORE shortly after inception as the initial member of STORE’s direct
acquisitions team, most recently as Senior Managing Director – Western Territory. Mr. Maertz served in various positions with GE Capital
for 11 years prior to joining STORE, including as a member of the sales team at GE Franchise Finance, actively managing the customer
relationships for a portfolio of assets approaching $1 billion, and leading the Financial Planning & Analysis group at GE Franchise Finance.
Mr. Maertz graduated with honors from GE’s Financial Management Program, a renowned leadership training program. Mr. Maertz received
a Bachelor of Business Administration degree in Finance & Accounting from the University of Notre Dame and an M.B.A. degree from
Arizona State University’s W.P. Carey School of Business, and is a CFA charterholder.

Lori Markson has served as STORE’s Executive Vice President – Portfolio Operations since February 2022 having previously
served as Senior Vice President – Portfolio Operations and in various other leadership roles at STORE from 2016 to February 2022.
Ms. Markson has 25 years of broad-based commercial lending and real estate experience, including underwriting, asset management,
operations and valuation. Prior to joining STORE, she had a 15-year career at GE Franchise Finance where she served as Managing Director
of Underwriting and Portfolio Management and Vice President of Underwriting. Prior to GE Franchise Finance, Ms. Markson held positions
in commercial real estate underwriting and loan origination. Ms. Markson earned a B.A. degree in Economics from The University of
California, Los Angeles.

David Alexander McElyea has served as STORE’s Executive Vice President – Data Analytics & Business Strategy since February
2022, having joined STORE in October 2021 as Senior Vice President – Business Analytics, and oversees the development of STORE’s
advanced analytics models and the ongoing development of its enterprise business intelligence platform. Mr. McElyea has 20 years of
experience in analytic roles within the financial services industry. Prior to joining STORE, Mr. McElyea spent four years with OneAZ Credit
Union, most recently in the role of Chief Data Analytics Officer, and prior to that, Mr. McElyea spent five years with American Express
Company in marketing science and analytics roles. Mr. McElyea earned a B.A. degree in Economics from Arizona State University and an
M.B.A. degree from Arizona State University’s W.P. Carey School of Business.

Ashley A. Dembowski has served as STORE’s Senior Vice President – Chief Accounting Officer & Corporate Controller since April
2022 and March 2021, respectively, having previously served as STORE’s Vice President – Director of Accounting since joining the STORE
in June of 2020. In these roles, Ms. Dembowski led STORE’s corporate accounting team in all aspects of the
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monthly close and financial accounting and the audit and Sarbanes-Oxley (SOX) compliance processes and has worked closely with
executive management and department leaders. Prior to joining the STORE, Ms. Dembowski was a Senior Manager in the audit practice of
Ernst & Young LLP (“EY”). During her 12+ year tenure with EY, Ms. Dembowski served a variety of private and public clients primarily in
the real estate sector, including REITs, and has extensive experience in the application of GAAP accounting standards and technical
accounting, SEC reporting, and SOX standards, leading over 20 professionals through all aspects of audit execution. Ms. Dembowski is a
Certified Public Accountant and a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Dembowski earned a Bachelor of
Science degree in Accountancy from Arizona State University.

Role of Our Board

Our Board serves as the ultimate decision-making body of STORE playing a critical role in the strategic planning process and
strategy. Our Board selects and oversees the members of our senior management team, who are charged by our Board with conducting the
day-to-day business of STORE.

Our Board is comprised of representatives appointed by each of our members in accordance with the terms of our operating 
agreement. The term of any director will begin at his or her appointment and will continue until removed by or as a result of death, voluntary 
resignation, or action by the common member designating such director.  In the event of removal of a director, the resulting vacancy shall be 
filled by the member that designated the removed director.

As of the date of this Annual Report, the Company’s Board does not have any committees.

Code of Ethics

Our Board has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that apply to all of our directors, officers and employees. A current
version of this code is available free of charge by contacting Chad A. Freed, our Executive Vice President – General Counsel, Chief
Compliance Officer and Secretary, at 8377 East Hartford Drive, Suite 100, Scottsdale, Arizona 85255.

Changes to Security Holder Director Nomination Procedures

Following the closing of the Merger, board members are appointed pursuant to the provisions of our operating agreement.

Item 11.  EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

2022 Executive Compensation

In this section, we describe the material components of the executive compensation program for the Company’s Named Executive
Officers (“NEOs”), whose compensation is set forth in the Summary Compensation Table below. We also provide an overview of the Company’s
executive compensation philosophy and executive compensation program. In addition, we explain how and why STORE Capital Corporation’s
Compensation Committee (“Compensation Committee”) arrived at the specific compensation decisions involving the NEOs for the 2022 fiscal
year.

For 2022, the Company’s NEOs were:

 Named Executive Officer    Title as of December 31, 2022
Mary B. Fedewa   Chief Executive Officer and President
Chad A. Freed   Executive Vice President – General Counsel, Chief Compliance Officer and Secretary
Craig A. Barnett   Executive Vice President – Underwriting and Portfolio Management
Tyler S. Maertz   Executive Vice President – Acquisitions
Sherry L. Rexroad   Former Executive Vice President – Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Secretary (a)

a) Ms. Rexroad stepped down from her role as the Company’s Executive Vice President – Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Assistant Secretary
effective December 9, 2022.
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The discussion that follows will focus on the 2022 compensation of Ms. Fedewa and Messrs. Freed, Barnett and Maertz.

Compensation Philosophy and Objectives

For 2022, the Compensation Committee approved a program that contained a competitive annual base salary but that was weighted
towards variable at-risk pay elements through the use of short-term cash incentive and long-term equity-based compensation. Under this
program, NEOs were required to achieve established personal goals and to contribute to STORE’s achievement of measurable financial
performance metrics in order to increase their cash compensation. In addition, the program was designed to require that the NEOs deliver
meaningful returns to the Company’s stockholders in order to earn a significant portion of their equity compensation. Each element of the 2022
compensation program is discussed in more detail below.

How We Determine Compensation

Role of the Compensation Committee. Historically, the Compensation Committee, oversaw the design, development and
implementation of the executive compensation program. Additionally, the Compensation Committee administered the compensation plans and
awards for the directors and NEOs and was primarily responsible for reviewing and approving the compensation policies and the compensation
paid to the NEOs.

Role of Management. Certain of the NEOs, principally our Chief Executive Officer, worked closely with the Compensation Committee
and its consultant, Korn Ferry, to analyze relevant peer data and to provide input into the compensation program design.

Role of Compensation Consultant: In 2022, the Compensation Committee engaged Korn Ferry as its independent compensation
consultant to assist the Compensation Committee with structuring the executive compensation program. Korn Ferry provided the Compensation
Committee with market data and made recommendations regarding the compensation mix and levels with respect to the 2022 executive
compensation program described herein. The Compensation Committee conducted independence assessments of its consultants and determined
that no conflict of interest existed that would require disclosure under SEC rules. Korn Ferry did not provide services to STORE Capital in any
other capacity.

Competitive Market Analysis. In 2020, we established an updated peer group (the “Compensation Peer Group”) for purposes of
developing the 2021 executive compensation program and retained that Compensation Peer Group for purposes of developing the 2022 executive
compensation program. In developing the Compensation Peer Group, the Compensation Committee, with the assistance of Korn Ferry and
management, focused primarily on the compensation practices, salary levels and target incentive levels of peer companies according to revenue
(seeking a peer group with respect to which STORE Capital’s revenue is close to median), asset size and market capitalization. Consistent with
previous peer groups, the Compensation Peer Group included both net-lease REITs and other REITs that have experienced significant asset
growth in recent years, many of which also have relatively small employee populations.

The Compensation Peer Group consisted of the following companies:

Agree Realty Corporation*    Medical Properties Trust, Inc.
American Homes 4 Rent    National Retail Properties, Inc.*
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc.*    Omega Healthcare Investors, Inc.*
CyrusOne, Inc.    Physicians Realty Trust
Douglas Emmett, Inc.    QTS Realty Trust, Inc.
EPR Properties*    Spirit Realty Capital*
Gaming and Leisure Properties, Inc.*    STAG Industrial, Inc.*
Lexington Realty Trust    W.P. Carey Inc.*
*Denotes a net-lease oriented company.

Historically, the Compensation Committee reviewed each compensation element and aggregate total direct compensation (the sum of
base salary, short-term cash incentives and long-term equity incentives) for each of the NEOs compared to similarly situated employees of
companies in the Compensation Peer Group but did not target compensation to a specific percentile of the market data. In determining actual pay
levels, the Compensation Committee considered peer group data as well as other factors that, in its collective judgment, it believed to be relevant,
including the executive’s experience and performance, internal pay equity among STORE’s senior management team based on the executive’s
respective scope of responsibilities and specific skills, the executive’s ability to impact business results and other business events or conditions.



Table of Contents

66

Custom Peer Group for Long-Term Incentive Plan. As further discussed below, with respect to the performance-based RSU
component of the long-term incentive compensation, we weighted the relative Compounded Annual Total Shareholder Return (“TSR”) and the
absolute Compounded AFFO Per Share Growth metrics (each as defined below), so that the former represented 75% of the potential award and
the latter represented 25% of the potential award; and for the relative Compounded Annual TSR component of the award we adopted a custom
peer group of 20 companies based on market capitalization, revenue and volatility (the “Custom Peer Group”).

In the discussion below, we reference funds from operations (“FFO”) and adjusted funds from operations (“AFFO”), which are metrics
that are not included within the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (“FASB”) generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). These
two non-GAAP financial measures are useful to management, investors and analysts because they are widely accepted industry measures used to
compare the operating performance of REITs. FFO is computed in accordance with the definition adopted by the Board of Governors of the
National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or (“NAREIT”). NAREIT defines FFO as GAAP net income, excluding gains (or losses)
from extraordinary items and sales of depreciable property, real estate impairment losses, and depreciation and amortization expense from real
estate assets, including the pro rata share of such adjustments of unconsolidated subsidiaries. To derive AFFO, we modify the NAREIT
computation of FFO to include other adjustments to GAAP net income related to certain revenues and expenses that have no impact on the long-
term operating performance, such as straight-line rents, amortization of deferred financing costs and stock based compensation. In addition, in
deriving AFFO, we exclude certain other costs not related to ongoing operations, such as the amortization of lease-related intangibles and
executive severance and transition costs.

Components of 2022 Compensation

The components of the NEOs’ 2022 compensation were set forth in an annual written compensation plan approved by the Compensation
Committee. For 2022, the compensation of the NEOs consisted of three principal components:

Compensation Element Purpose of Compensation Element Key Features of Compensation Element
Base Salary   • A stable means of cash compensation designed to provide competitive

compensation that reflects the contributions and skill levels of each
executive.

  • Paid in cash
• The Compensation Committee, with assistance from its
compensation consultant, historically has reviewed base
salaries each year.

Short-Term Incentives • The annual cash bonus program was designed to motivate the executive
officers to achieve performance goals established by the Compensation
Committee that reinforced the Company's annual business plan, assisted
STORE in attracting and retaining qualified executives and promoted the
alignment of the Named Executive Officers’ interests with those of the
Company's stockholders.

• The threshold, target and maximum dollar amounts for
short-term incentive compensation have historically been
established by the Compensation Committee
• Paid in cash following certification of achievement of
goals.

Long-Term Incentives • The equity-based compensation program involved awards of restricted
stock and performance-based RSUs and was designed to align the long-term
interests of the Named Executive Officers with those of the stockholders
and to maintain the competitiveness of the total compensation package.

• Historically, restricted stock grants were subject to time-
based vesting while performance-based RSUs vest at the
end of a three-year performance period.
• Historically granted in February of each year.

Set forth below is a discussion of each of the principal components of 2022 compensation for the NEOs.

Base Salary

The following table shows the 2022 base salaries of the current NEOs:

Name Base Salary
Mary B. Fedewa $  795,000
Chad. A. Freed  420,000
Craig A. Barnett  375,000
Tyler S. Maertz  350,000
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Short-Term Incentives

Program Design for 2022

For 2022, the Compensation Committee approved the following threshold, target and maximum cash bonus award opportunities,
expressed as a percentage of base salary, which the NEOs were eligible to receive under the annual cash bonus program. Straight line
interpolation is used to determine awards for results in between performance levels:

Payout Opportunities
(as a percentage of base salary)

Name Threshold Target Maximum
Mary B. Fedewa  75 %  150 %  300 %
Chad. A. Freed  37.5 %  75 %  150 %
Craig A. Barnett  37.5 %  75 %  150 %
Tyler S. Maertz  37.5 %  75 %  150 %

For 2022, as in prior years, the compensation program as adopted by the Compensation Committee provided that all of the NEOs would
be eligible to earn annual cash bonuses based (i) 75% on STORE’s achievement of identified corporate performance metrics (as described in
more detail below), and (ii) 25% on each individual officer’s achievement of personal goals specifically developed for each Named Executive
Officer and approved by the Compensation Committee.

The details of the 2022 annual incentive program design are as follows:
Percentage of

Metric Definition Purpose
Corporate

Performance Metrics
Total Bonus
Opportunity

Origination Volume The aggregate of the gross purchase
prices of property paid to sellers or the
face amount of notes receivable
originated, excluding non-cash items
and investments meant to be temporary
in nature.

Reflects its importance to current and future
AFFO per share growth and also to the
importance of investment diversity and balance
sheet size to mitigate long-term risk.

33.33 % 25 %

Debt to EBITDA
ratio

Net debt divided by adjusted Earnings
Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and
Amortization ("EBITDA") calculated on
a run rate basis, as an average of the
four quarterly periods.

Reflects the importance of borrowing efficiency
as a component of the Company's cost of capital,
promoting AFFO per share growth.

33.33 % 25 %

AFFO per share AFFO divided by the weighted-average
common shares outstanding on a fully
diluted basis.

Reflects portfolio performance and accretive
annual investment activity.

33.33 % 25 %

Personal goals Achievement of personal goals
specifically developed for each Named
Executive Officer and approved by the
Compensation Committee.

Incentivizes the efficiency of each NEO’s
department and the processes he or she oversees
in ways that are meaningful to the Company's
competitive market position and the
implementation of long-term strategic initiatives.

 — 25 %

The Compensation Committee also adopted threshold, target and maximum goal levels for each corporate performance metric.
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Corporate Performance

As stated above, the Compensation Committee based 75% of the 2022 annual cash bonus opportunity on corporate performance
metrics. The table below sets forth the 2022 corporate performance goal levels that were set for each performance metric. To the extent actual
performance falls between two performance goal levels, linear interpolation is applied:

Corporate Performance Metrics
Metric Threshold Target Maximum
Origination Volume (millions) $  1,250 $  1,450 $  1,650
Debt to Adjusted EBITDA ≤6.25x ≤6.00x ≤5.75x
AFFO per share $ 2.150 $ 2.175 $ 2.200

Individual Performance

The Compensation Committee based the remaining 25% of the 2022 annual cash bonus opportunity on individual goals specifically
developed for each Named Executive Officer that were designed to enhance the efficiency of each NEO’s department and the processes he or she
oversees in ways that are meaningful to STORE’s competitive market position and the implementation of long-term strategic initiatives. In the
case of the NEOs other than the Chief Executive Officer, the individual performance goals generally included the completion or implementation
of identified projects, improvements and/or processes supplementary to each of their primary executive management roles within the business.
The Chief Executive Officer achieves his or her individual performance goal only to the extent the other executive officers achieve their
individual goals, as determined by the Compensation Committee.

2022 Payouts

For 2022, each NEO successfully completed his or her individual goals. Accordingly, each earned a cash bonus based on the weighted
achievement of the corporate performance metrics and the successful completion of individual goals. The following table shows the actual
payouts for each NEO under the annual cash bonus program for 2022:

NEO Actual Payout
% of Maximum Bonus

Opportunity
Mary B. Fedewa $  2,378,428 99.7%
Chad. A. Freed  628,264 99.7%
Craig A. Barnett  560,950 99.7%
Tyler S. Maertz  523,553 99.7%

Long-Term Incentives

During 2022, as in prior years, we granted time-based restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) and performance-based restricted stock unit
awards (“RSUs”) to each of the Named Executive Officers who were NEOs at the beginning of the year.

Program Design for 2022

For the 2022 long-term incentive program, 75% of the equity grants (at target value) were granted in the form of performance-based 
RSUs that were eligible for vesting at the end of a three-year performance period ending December 31, 2024 and 25% of the equity grants (at 
target value) were granted in the form of time-based restricted stock that were to vest in annual increments over a four-year period assuming 
continued employment of the NEO. For 2022, the target equity grants were as follows:  

Name

2022 Target Value of Equity
Grant (as a percentage of base

salary)
Mary B. Fedewa 575 %
Chad. A. Freed 214 %
Craig A. Barnett 200 %
Tyler S. Maertz 200 %
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Of the performance based RSUs, (i) 75% of the RSUs vest is based on the ranking of STORE’s Compounded Annual TSR over the
performance period as compared to the Compounded Annual TSR over the performance period of the companies included within the Custom
Peer Group, and (ii) 25% of the RSUs vest based on achieving specified Compounded AFFO Per Share Growth during the performance period.
For purposes of the foregoing:

● Compounded Annual TSR is calculated as the compounded annual growth rate, expressed as a percentage (rounded to the
nearest tenth of a percent), in the value per share of common stock during the performance period due to the appreciation in
the price per share of common stock and dividends paid to a stockholder of record with respect to one share of common stock.
For purposes of calculating the growth in value per share of common stock, the beginning and ending share prices of the
Company’s common stock are based on a 20-day trailing average closing stock price. For purposes of calculating the dividends
paid to a stockholder of record with respect to one share of common stock, dividends paid during the performance period are
assumed reinvested on the ex-dividend date.

● Compounded AFFO Per Share Growth is expressed as a percentage (rounded to the nearest tenth of a percent) of STORE’s
AFFO per weighted average basic common share (an important measure of cash flow for public REITs and one that is often
used as an operating performance benchmark) during the performance period for the year ending December 31, 2024. The
Custom Peer Group is a custom peer group consisting of the following companies:

Agree Realty Corporation Gladstone Commercial Corporation Realty Income Corporation
American Finance Trust, Inc. Global Net Lease, Inc. Safehold Inc.
Broadstone Net Lease, Inc. Lexington Realty Trust Spirit Realty Capital
Essential Property Trust, Inc. MGM Growth Properties STAG Industrial, Inc.
Four Corners Property Trust, Inc. National Retail Properties, Inc. VICI Properties, Inc.
Gaming and Leisure Properties, Inc. NETSTREIT Corp. W.P. Carey Inc.
Getty Realty Corp. One Liberty Properties, Inc.

The actual number of shares of time-based restricted stock and performance-based RSUs awarded to each applicable NEO was
determined by dividing the applicable grant amount (in dollars) by the average closing market price of STORE’s common stock on the NYSE for
the 20-day trading period ending December 31, 2021. The table below reflects the number of shares of time-based restricted stock and
performance-based RSUs (at target) granted to each NEO participating in the 2022 executive compensation program, as well as the target value
of those awards:

Name # of Restricted Shares

# of Performance-
Based RSUs (at

Target)

Target Value
of

Restricted
Shares and

RSUs
Mary B. Fedewa  33,592  100,777 $  4,571,200
Chad. A. Freed  6,605  19,815  898,800
Craig A. Barnett  5,511  16,535  750,000
Tyler S. Maertz  5,144  15,432  700,000

Holders of time-based restricted stock are entitled to dividends when paid by us while performance-based RSUs earn a dividend
equivalent that is paid in cash when, and solely to the extent, the underlying RSUs are earned and vest.

Relative Compounded Annual TSR Component

With respect to the 75% of the performance-based RSUs that may be earned and become vested based on STORE’s Compounded
Annual TSR over the performance period, the actual number of performance-based RSUs that may be earned and become vested was set at
between 0% and 300% of the target number depending on the ranking of STORE’s Compounded Annual TSR as compared to the Compounded
Annual TSR of the companies included within the Custom Peer Group over the performance period. The specific requirements and
corresponding award levels established for the 2022 grant are contained in the table below:
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Performance Level    Relative Compounded Annual TSR
RSUs Earned as a

Percentage of Target
Threshold    STORE’s Compounded Annual TSR must rank at a level at least equal to the 35th

percentile of the companies included within the Custom Peer Group
33.33%

Target    STORE’s Compounded Annual TSR must rank at a level at least equal to the 55th
percentile of the companies included within the Custom Peer Group

100.00%

Maximum    STORE’s Compounded Annual TSR must rank at a level at least equal to the 75th
percentile of the companies included within the Custom Peer Group

300.00%

Absolute Compounded AFFO Per Share Growth Component

With respect to the 25% of the performance-based RSUs that may be earned and become vested based on STORE’s Absolute
Compounded AFFO Per Share Growth over the performance period, the actual number of performance-based RSUs that may be earned and
become vested was set at between 0% and 300% of the target number, depending on the level of achievement of Compounded AFFO Per Share
Growth over the performance period. The specific targets and corresponding award levels established for the 2022 grant are contained in the
table below:

Performance Level    Absolute Compounded AFFO Per Share Growth
RSUs

Earned as a Percentage of Target
Threshold    3.0% 33.33%
Target    4.5% 100.00%
Maximum    6.0% or greater 300.00%

Results of 2020, 2021 and 2022 Restricted Stock and Performance-Based RSU Grants

On February 3, 2023, we closed the Merger. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, effective immediately prior to the merger
effective time:

● each outstanding award of restricted stock automatically became fully vested and all restrictions and repurchase rights thereon
lapsed, with the result that all shares of common stock represented thereby were considered outstanding for all purposes under the
merger agreement and received an amount in cash equal to the Merger Consideration, less required withholding taxes.

● outstanding awards of performance-based RSUs automatically became earned and vested with (a) approximately 53% of the
maximum number of shares of common stock subject to the award vesting for performance-based RSUs granted in 2020, (b)
approximately 50% of the maximum number of shares of common stock subject to the award vesting for performance-based RSUs
granted in 2021 and (c) approximately 33% of the maximum number of shares of common stock subject to the award vesting for
performance-based RSUs granted in 2022, and thereafter were cancelled and, in exchange therefor, each holder of any such
cancelled vested performance-based RSUs ceased to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive as of the
merger effective time, in consideration for the cancellation of such vested performance unit and in settlement therefor, an amount in
cash equal to the product of (1) the Merger Consideration and (2) the number of so-determined earned performance shares subject
to such vested performance-based RSUs, without interest, less required withholding taxes. In addition, on the closing date, each
holder of performance-based RSUs received an amount equivalent to all cash dividends that would have been paid on the number
of so-determined earned shares of the Company’s common stock subject to such performance-based RSUs as if they had been
issued and outstanding from the date of grant up to, and including, the merger effective time, less required withholding taxes.

401(k) Plan

We have established a 401(k) retirement savings plan (the “401(k) Plan”) for the Company’s employees who satisfy certain eligibility
requirements. The NEOs are eligible to participate in the 401(k) Plan on the same terms as other full-time employees. The Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended, allows eligible employees to defer a portion of their compensation within prescribed limits, generally on a pre- or
post-tax basis, through contributions to the 401(k) Plan. Currently, we match contributions made by participants in
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the 401(k) plan up to a specified percentage of the employee contributions, and these matching contributions are fully vested as of the date on
which the contribution is made. We believe that providing a vehicle for retirement savings though the 401(k) Plan, and making fully vested
matching contributions, adds to the overall desirability of the executive compensation package and provides further incentives to employees,
including the NEOs, in accordance with the compensation policies.

Severance and Change in Control Arrangements

The NEOs were eligible for severance payments and benefits in the event of an involuntary termination of employment without “cause”
or for “good reason,” as well as certain benefits in connection with a change in control of STORE. In connection with the Merger closing on
February 3, 2023, the NEOs ceased to be officers of STORE Capital Corporation, their associated employment agreements were canceled, and
Ms. Fedewa, Messrs. Freed, Barnett, and Maertz, and certain other executives entered into new employment agreements with the Company that
provide severance payment and benefits in the event of an involuntary termination of employment without “cause” or for “good reason.”

For detailed information on the estimated potential payments and benefits payable to the NEOs in the event of their termination of
employment under the Previous Employment Agreements, see the section titled “Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control.”

Perquisites and Other Personal Benefits

We do not provide the NEOs with perquisites or other personal benefits, except for a long-term disability policy, reimbursement for the
costs of an annual physical and reimbursement (capped at $1,000 per month) for the monthly dues at a fitness or country club. These items are
provided because we believe that they serve a necessary business purpose and represent an immaterial element of the executive compensation
program. The value of these perquisites is reported in the Summary Compensation Table.

We do not provide tax reimbursements or any other tax payments, including excise tax “gross-ups,” to any of the executive officers.

BOARD REPORT ON EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The current Board of Directors has reviewed the disclosures in the section titled “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” contained in
this Annual Report and has discussed such disclosures with the management of the Company. Based on such review and discussion, the Board of
Directors recommended that the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” be included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2022.

The Board of Directors

Mary B. Fedewa
Adam Gallistel
Jesse Hom
Daniel Santiago
Marc Zahr
Michael Reiter

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION

During the year ended December 31, 2022, each of Messrs. Quentin P. Smith, Jr., William F. Hipp and Jawad Ahsan served as a member
of the Compensation Committee. None of such persons has ever been an officer or employee of STORE. None of the executive officers have
served as a member of the board of directors, compensation committee or other board committee performing equivalent functions of any entity
that has one or more executive officers serving as one of the directors or on the Compensation Committee.
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COMPENSATION TABLES

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth for each of the Named Executive Officers the compensation amounts paid or earned for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020.

  Name and Principal Position Year Salary Bonus
Stock

Awards (e)(f)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan

Compensation (g)

All Other
Compensation

(h) Total
Mary B. Fedewa 2022 $  795,000 $  — $  4,988,030 $  2,378,428 $  37,535 $  8,198,993

Chief Executive Officer and 2021  705,139 (a)   —  4,535,096  1,756,265  31,935  7,028,435
President 2020  612,500 (a)   —  3,068,259  1,625,000  36,735  5,342,494

Chad A. Freed 2022  420,000  —  980,761  628,264  27,839  2,056,864
Executive Vice President – 2021  400,000  —  926,330  508,117  28,810  1,863,257
General Counsel, Chief
Compliance Officer and
Secretary

2020  375,000  —  701,332  562,500  27,860  1,666,692

Craig A. Barnett 2022  375,000  —  818,395  560,950  17,947  1,772,292
Executive Vice President – 2021  375,000  —  789,464  476,360  16,836  1,657,660
Underwriting and Portfolio
Management

2020  232,500  —  580,030  112,500  11,400  936,430

Tyler S. Maertz 2022  350,000  —  763,820  523,553  17,598  1,654,971
Executive Vice President – 2021  357,821  —  744,693  444,603  16,101  1,563,218
Acquisitions 2020  596,545 (d)   —  575,277  123,750  11,400  1,306,972

Sherry L. Rexroad 2022  500,000  —  1,882,266  997,244  28,741  3,408,251
Former Executive Vice
President–Chief Financial
Officer and Treasurer

2021  104,167 (b)  500,000 (c)   1,814,073  —  177,000  2,595,240

a) The amounts shown for Ms. Fedewa for 2021 and 2020 give effect to (i) for 2021, a salary increase from $650,000 to $725,000, effective April 15,
2021, following her promotion to Chief Executive Officer and President, and (ii) for 2020 a salary increase from $600,000 to $650,000, effective
October 1, 2020, following her promotion to President and Chief Operating Officer.

b) Ms. Rexroad was hired by STORE on October 18, 2021 and became Executive Vice President – Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer, effective
November 8, 2021. The amount shown for Ms. Rexroad for 2021 reflects a negotiated base salary of $500,000 prorated based on her start date of
October 18, 2021.

c) In accordance with the terms of her employment agreement, and in consideration for certain compensation that Ms. Rexroad forfeited when leaving
her former employer, Ms. Rexroad was paid a non-discretionary bonus of $500,000 for 2021.

d) The amount shown for Mr. Maertz gives effect to his base salary of $330,000, effective October 1, 2020, following his promotion to Executive Vice
President – Acquisitions. For the first nine months of 2020, in his role as Senior Managing Director of Acquisitions, Mr. Maertz earned a base salary
that included commissions based on acquisition volume.

e) The amounts included in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of both restricted stock and RSUs calculated in accordance with FASB
ASC Topic 718. The fair value reflects the expected future cash flows of dividends and therefore dividends on unvested shares are not separately
disclosed. The amounts in this column for each fiscal year exclude the effect of any estimated forfeitures of such awards. The basis for the calculation
of these amounts is included in Note 7 to the December 31, 2022 consolidated financial statements.

f) The performance RSUs granted in 2020, 2021 and 2022 to the NEOs include a performance condition based on STORE’s Compounded AFFO Per
Share Growth. In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718, the amounts in this column for 2020, 2021 and 2022 reflect the aggregate grant date fair
value of the RSUs assuming the expected level of performance conditions will be achieved. The aggregate grant date fair value of the 2022 restricted
stock grants and of the 2022 Performance RSUs (i) assuming that the expected level of performance conditions will be achieved, and (ii) assuming that
the highest level of performance conditions will be achieved, are as follows:

Value of RSU Grants at Grant Date

Name
Value of Restricted Stock at Grant

Date
Expected Level of Performance

Conditions Achieved
Maximum Level of Performance

Conditions Achieved
Mary B. Fedewa $  1,009,104 $  3,978,926 $  5,492,602
Chad A. Freed  198,414  782,347  1,079,963
Craig A. Barnett  165,550  652,844  901,195
Tyler S. Maertz  154,526  609,294  841,083
Sherry L. Rexroad  380,787  1,501,479  2,072,680
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g) The amounts included in this column represent the annual cash incentive amounts awarded under the 2015 Incentive Plan, earned in the year indicated
and paid in the following year. The cash incentive amounts awarded to the NEOs for 2022 under the 2015 Incentive Plan are described in more detail
in the section titled “Executive Compensation” under the heading “Short-Term Incentives.”

h) The following table sets forth the amounts of other compensation, including perquisites and other personal benefits, paid to, or on behalf of, the NEOs
included in the “All Other Compensation” column. Perquisites and other personal benefits are valued on the basis of the aggregate incremental cost to
us.

  Name Year

Disability
Insurance
Premium

Annual
Physical

Club
Dues

401(k)
Match

Relocation
Expense Total

Mary B. Fedewa 2022 $  8,335 $  5,000 $  12,000 $  12,200 $  — $  37,535
2021  8,335  —  12,000  11,600  —  31,935
2020  8,335  5,000  12,000  11,400  —  36,735

Chad A. Freed 2022  3,639  —  12,000  12,200  —  27,839
2021  5,210  —  12,000  11,600  —  28,810
2020  5,210  —  11,400  11,250  —  27,860

Craig A. Barnett 2022  5,306  —  441  12,200  —  17,947
2021  3,913  1,323  —  11,600  —  16,836
2020  —  —  —  11,400  —  11,400

Tyler S. Maertz 2022  5,398  —  —  12,200  —  17,598
2021  4,501  —  —  11,600  —  16,101
2020  —  —  —  11,400  —  11,400

Sherry L. Rexroad 2022  4,541  —  12,000  12,200  —  28,741
2021  —  —  2,000  —  175,000 (aa)  177,000
2020  —  —  —  —  —  —

aa) In 2021, in accordance with the terms of her employment agreement, we reimbursed Ms. Rexroad for expenses incurred in connection with her
relocation to STORE’s headquarters in Arizona.

Grants of Plan-Based Awards

The following table shows information regarding grants of plan-based awards made by us during 2022 to the NEOs.

Estimated Possible Payouts Under Non-
Equity Incentive Plan Awards (a)

Estimated Future Payouts Under Equity
Incentive Plan Awards (b)

All Other
Stock

Awards:
Number of
Shares of
Stock or
Units (c)

Grant Date
Fair Value of

Stock and
Option Awards

(d)
Name Grant Date Threshold Target Maximum Threshold Target Maximum
Mary B. Fedewa Cash Incentive — $  596,250 $  1,192,500 $  2,385,000  —  —  —  — $  —

Restricted Stock 2/14/2022  —  —  —  —  —  —  33,592  1,009,104
RSUs 2/14/2022  —  —  —  33,592  100,777  302,331  —  1,830,866

Chad A. Freed Cash Incentive —  157,500  315,000  630,000  —  —  —  —  —
Restricted Stock 2/14/2022  —  —  —  —  —  —  6,605  198,414
RSUs 2/14/2022  —  —  —  6,605  19,815  59,445  —  359,987

Craig A. Barnett Cash Incentive —  140,625  281,250  562,500  —  —  —  —  —
Restricted Stock 2/14/2022  —  —  —  —  —  —  5,511  165,550
RSUs 2/14/2022  —  —  —  5,512  16,535  49,605  —  300,398

Tyler S. Maertz Cash Incentive —  131,250  262,500  525,000  —  —  —  —  —
Restricted Stock 2/14/2022  —  —  —  —  —  —  5,144  154,526
RSUs 2/14/2022  —  —  —  5,144  15,432  46,296  —  280,361

Sherry L. Rexroad Cash Incentive —  250,000  500,000  1,000,000  —  —  —  —  —
Restricted Stock 2/14/2022  —  —  —  —  —  —  12,676  380,787
RSUs 2/14/2022  —  —  —  12,676  38,029  114,087  —  690,892

a) The amounts reported in these columns represent the range of possible annual cash incentive amounts that could have been paid to the NEOs for 2022
under the 2015 Incentive Plan based upon achievement of specified performance targets set by the Compensation Committee. The cash awards under
the 2015 Incentive Plan are described in more detail in the section titled “2022 Executive Compensation” under the heading “Short-Term Incentives.”
The actual cash awards paid in February 2023 for performance in 2022 are reported in the “Non-Equity Incentive Plan Compensation” column of the
Summary Compensation Table above.
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b) The amounts reported in these columns represent potential share payouts with respect to performance-based RSUs granted during 2022 under the 2015
Incentive Plan.

c) The amounts reported in this column reflect the restricted stock grants made to each of the NEOs in 2022. The time-based restricted stock granted to
the NEOs under the 2015 Incentive Plan is described in more detail in the section titled “2022 Executive Compensation” under the heading “Long-
Term Incentives.” We did not grant options during 2022.

d) The amounts included in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of both (i) time-based restricted stock, and (ii) Performance RSUs, in
each case granted during 2022 pursuant to the 2015 Incentive Plan and calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718. The basis for the
calculation of these amounts is included in Note 7 to the December 31, 2022 consolidated financial statements.

Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End

The following table sets forth certain information regarding outstanding equity awards held by each NEO that had not vested as of
December 31, 2022.

Stock Awards

Number of
Shares or Units
of Stock That

Have Not
Vested (a)

Market Value
of Shares or

Units of Stock
That Have Not

Vested (b)

Equity Incentive
Plan Awards:

Number of
Unearned Shares,

Units or Other
Rights That Have

Not Vested (c)

Equity Incentive Plan
Awards: Market or

Payout Value of
Unearned Shares, Units

or Other Rights That
Have Not Vested (b)

Mary B. Fedewa     80,211 $  2,571,565  264,267 $  8,472,406
Chad A. Freed     13,159  421,878  59,862  1,919,176
Craig A. Barnett     23,945  767,677  35,671  1,143,602
Tyler S. Maertz     24,590  788,355  33,292  1,067,342
Sherry Rexroad     25,282  810,541  89,057  2,855,167

a) On February 3, 2023, we closed the Merger. Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, effective immediately prior to the merger effective each
outstanding awards of restricted stock automatically became fully vested and all restrictions and repurchase rights thereon lapsed, with the result that
all shares of common stock represented thereby were considered outstanding for all purposes under the Merger Agreement and received an amount in
cash equal to the Merger Consideration, less required withholding taxes.

b) Market value was calculated using the closing price of the Company’s common stock as reported on the NYSE on December 30, 2022, which was
$32.06.

c) The awards made in 2020, 2021 and 2022 are performance-based RSUs. On February 3, 2023, we closed the Merger. Under the terms of the Merger
Agreement, effective immediately prior to the merger effective time outstanding awards of performance-based RSUs automatically became earned and
vested with (a) approximately 53% of the maximum number of shares of common stock subject to the award vesting for performance-based RSUs
granted in 2020, (b) approximately 50% of the maximum number of shares of common stock subject to the award vesting for performance-based
RSUs granted in 2021 and (c) approximately 33% of the maximum number of shares of common stock subject to the award vesting for performance-
based RSUs granted in 2022, and thereafter were cancelled and, in exchange therefor, each holder of any such cancelled vested performance-based
RSUs ceased to have any rights with respect thereto, except the right to receive as of the merger effective time, in consideration for the cancellation of
such vested performance unit and in settlement therefor, an amount in cash equal to the product of (1) the Merger Consideration and (2) the number of
so-determined earned performance shares subject to such vested performance-based RSUs, without interest, less required withholding taxes. In
addition, on the closing date, each holder of performance-based RSUs received an amount equivalent to all cash dividends that would have been paid
on the number of so-determined earned shares of the Company’s common stock subject to such performance-based RSUs as if they had been issued
and outstanding from the date of grant up to, and including, the merger effective time, less required withholding taxes.
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Options Exercised and Stock Vested

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the vesting of equity awards held by each Named Executive Officer during
2022.

   Stock Awards(a)
Name    Number of Shares Acquired on Vesting    Value Realized on Vesting
Mary B. Fedewa     24,236 $  738,713 (b) 
Chad A. Freed     3,134     95,524 (b) 
Craig A. Barnett     9,411     286,847 (b) 
Tyler S. Maertz     9,862     275,738 (c) 
Sherry Rexroad     2,741     83,546 (b) 

a) STORE does not currently grant stock options and therefore had no option exercises by any NEO in 2022.
b) Reflects shares of time-based restricted stock that vested on February 15, 2022. Represents the value realized upon vesting calculated by multiplying

$30.48, the closing price of STORE’s common stock on February 15, 2022, by the number of shares that vested.
c) Reflects 1,844 and 8,018 shares of time-based restricted stock that vested on February 15, 2022 and May 15, 2022, respectively. Represents the value

realized upon vesting calculated by multiplying $30.48 and $27.38, the closing price of STORE’s common stock on February 15, 2022 and May 13,
2022, respectively, by the number of shares that vested.

Pension Benefits and Nonqualified Deferred Compensation

There were no deferred compensation or defined benefit plans in place for 2022.

POTENTIAL PAYMENTS UPON TERMINATION OR CHANGE IN CONTROL

During 2022, the NEOs were party to employment agreements (each, a “Previous Employment Agreement,” and collectively, the
“Previous Employment Agreements”) with STORE Capital Advisors, LLC, an Arizona limited liability company and wholly owned subsidiary of
STORE (“STORE Capital Advisors”), and STORE, as the guarantor of the obligations of STORE Capital Advisors thereunder. The Previous
Employment Agreements had terms that ran through April 15, 2025 and were subject to (i) automatic one-year renewal terms unless either party
gives the other not less than sixty (60) days’ advance notice of nonrenewal and (ii) automatic two-year renewal terms if a Change in Control (as
described below) occurs within the last two years of the initial term or during any renewal term. The Previous Employment Agreements included
provisions that required STORE or its successors to pay or provide certain compensation and benefits to the NEOs in the event of certain
terminations of employment or a Change in Control of STORE.
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Types of Compensation Payable upon Termination of Employment

The table below reflects the types of compensation payable pursuant to the Previous Employment Agreements to each of our NEOs in
the event of a termination of the NEO’s employment under the various circumstances described below (in addition to any base salary, incentive
bonus and other benefits that have been earned and accrued prior to the date of termination and reimbursement of expenses incurred prior to the
date of termination):

Termination
Scenario Cash Severance Restricted Stock Restricted Stock Units (a) Other Benefits (b)
Death or
Disability

Pro rata portion of target incentive
bonus for which the NEO was eligible
in the year of termination.

Immediate vesting
of unvested shares
of restricted
common stock.

Vesting of unvested RSUs based on the actual
level of achievement of the performance
criteria as of the end of the performance
period, prorated for the number of days that
the executive was employed during the
applicable performance period.

For a period of up to 18 months, the
excess of (1) the amount the NEO
was required to pay monthly to
maintain coverage under COBRA
over (2) the amount the NEO would
have paid monthly if he or she had
continued to participate in the
Company’s medical and health
benefits plan.

Without
“Cause”(c) or
for “Good
Reason”(d)

An amount equal to the target bonus for
which the NEO is eligible for the year
in which the termination of employment
occurs, prorated for the portion of such
year during which the NEO was
employed by the Company prior to the
effective date of the NEO’s termination
of employment; plus

An amount equal to two times the sum
of:

Immediate vesting
of unvested shares
of restricted
common stock.

Vesting of unvested RSUs based on the actual
level of achievement of the performance
criteria as of the end of the performance
period, prorated for the number of days that
the executive was employed during the
applicable performance period.

For a period of up to 12 months, the
excess of (i) the amount the NEO
was required to pay monthly to
maintain coverage under COBRA
over (ii) the amount the NEO would
have paid monthly if he or she had
continued to participate in the
Company’s medical and health
benefits plan.

• base salary, plus
• the greater of (i) the average
cash bonus received by the NEO
for the last two completed fiscal
years during which the NEO
served as an executive officer, or
(ii) the cash bonus payable at the
target level for the prior year
(whether received or not)

a) Any RSUs that do not vest as provided are automatically forfeited.
b) Payable to the extent the NEO (or his or her eligible dependents in the event of the NEO’s death) is eligible for and elects continued coverage for

himself or herself and his or her eligible dependents in accordance with COBRA.
c) For all NEOs, “Cause” means the NEO’s (i) refusal or neglect, in the reasonable judgment of our Board, to perform substantially all of his or her

employment-related duties, which refusal or neglect is not cured within 20 days of receipt of written notice by us; (ii) willful misconduct; (iii) personal
dishonesty, incompetence or breach of fiduciary duty which, in any case, has a material adverse impact on our business or reputation or any of our
affiliates, as determined in our Board’s reasonable discretion; (iv) conviction of or entering a plea of guilty or nolo contendere (or any applicable
equivalent thereof) to a crime constituting a felony (or a crime or offense of equivalent magnitude in any jurisdiction); (v) willful violation of any
federal, state or local law, rule or regulation that has a material adverse impact on our business or reputation or any of our affiliates, as determined in
our Board’s reasonable discretion; or (vi) any material breach of the NEO’s non-competition, non-solicitation or confidentiality covenants.

d) For all NEOs, “Good Reason” means termination of employment by the NEO on account of any of the following actions or omissions taken without
the NEO’s written consent: (i) a material reduction of, or other material adverse change in, the NEO’s duties or responsibilities (including in
connection with a Change in Control, where the NEO’s duties or responsibilities are materially reduced, or materially adversely changed, as compared
to the NEO’s duties or responsibilities prior to such Change in Control), or the assignment to the NEO of any duties or responsibilities that are
materially inconsistent with his or her position; (ii) a material reduction in the NEO’s base salary or in the target percentage with respect to the NEO’s
cash bonus; (iii) a requirement that the primary location at which the NEO performs his or her duties be changed to a location that is outside of a 35-
mile radius of Scottsdale, Arizona or a substantial increase in the amount of travel that the NEO is
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required to do because of a relocation of our headquarters from Scottsdale, Arizona; (iv) a material breach by us of the NEO’s Previous Employment
Agreement; or (v) a failure by us, in the event of a Change in Control (as defined in the Previous Employment Agreements), to obtain from any
successor to us an agreement to assume and perform the NEO’s Previous Employment Agreement. A termination for “good reason” will not be
effective until (i) the NEO provides us with written notice specifying each basis for the NEO’s determination that “good reason” exists and (ii) we fail
to cure or resolve the NEO’s issues within 30 days of receipt of such notice.

Vesting of Outstanding Equity Awards upon Change in Control

Pursuant to the 2015 Incentive Plan and the applicable award agreements thereunder, upon a Change in Control (as defined in the 2015
Incentive Plan) and regardless of whether the NEO’s employment is terminated by us or he or she resigns for any reason, the NEO was entitled,
(i) with respect to outstanding time-based restricted stock awards that are not assumed or substituted in connection with such Change in Control,
immediate vesting of such outstanding restricted stock awards, and (ii) with respect to outstanding performance-based RSU awards that are not
assumed or substituted in connection with such Change in Control, immediate vesting of such outstanding RSU awards at a level equal to the
greater of (a) 100% of the target award level payout, and (b) the amount that would have vested based on the actual level of achievement of the
performance criteria as of the date of the Change in Control (calculated as provided in the applicable award agreement). Any RSU that does not
vest on the date of such termination is automatically forfeited.

Under the 2015 Incentive Plan and the Previous Employment Agreements, a “Change in Control” includes the occurrence of any of the
following events:

● any person or entity (other than STORE, any trustee or other fiduciary holding securities under a STORE employee benefit plan, or any
company owned, directly or indirectly, by our stockholders of in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of STORE
capital stock) becomes the “beneficial owner” (as such is defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of
STORE securities (not including in the securities beneficially owned by such person or entity any securities acquired directly from
STORE or any affiliate thereof) representing 50% or more of the combined voting power of the then outstanding voting securities of
STORE;

● our Board ceases to be comprised of a majority of directors (i) who were Board members at the effective date of the respective previous
Employment Agreement, or (ii) whose appointment or election by our Board or nomination for election by STORE’s stockholders was
approved or recommended by a vote of at least two-thirds of the directors then still in office who either were directors at the effective
date of the respective Previous Employment Agreement or whose appointment, election or nomination for election was previously so
approved or recommended (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an actual or threatened
election contest, including, but not limited to, a consent solicitation, relating to the election of directors);

● the consummation of any merger, consolidation or amalgamation of STORE other than (i) a merger, consolidation or amalgamation into
an entity at least fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the voting securities of which are owned by STORE’s
stockholders following the completion of such transaction in substantially the same proportions as their ownership of STORE
immediately prior to such sale or (ii) a merger, consolidation or amalgamation immediately following which the individuals who
comprise our Board immediately prior thereto constitute at least a majority of the board of directors of the entity surviving such merger,
consolidation or amalgamation or, if STORE or the entity surviving such merger is then a subsidiary, the ultimate parent thereof; or

● our stockholders approve a plan of complete liquidation of STORE or the sale or disposition of all or substantially all STORE’s assets,
other than (i) a sale or disposition to an entity, at least fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the voting securities of
which are owned by STORE’s stockholders following the completion of such transaction in substantially the same proportions as their
ownership of STORE immediately prior to such sale, or (ii) a sale or disposition of all or substantially all of STORE’s assets
immediately following which the individuals who comprise our Board immediately prior thereto constitute at least a majority of the
board of directors of the entity to which such assets are sold or disposed or, if such entity is a subsidiary, the ultimate parent thereof.
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Potential Payments upon Termination

The following table shows the estimated payments that were payable to each NEO under the 2015 Incentive Plan and the Previous
Employment Agreements if a termination “without cause” or resignation for “good reason,” or a Change in Control, as applicable, had occurred
on December 31, 2022.

Name    Benefit    Death or Disability   

Termination
without Cause or
Resignation for

Good Reason (b)   
Upon a Change in

Control (c)
Mary B. Fedewa    Cash Severance    $  1,192,500    $  5,832,546    $  -

   Accelerated Vesting of Restricted Stock     2,571,565     2,571,565     2,571,565
   Accelerated Vesting of RSUs (a)     2,912,888     2,912,888     8,472,406
   Health Benefits     15,309     10,206   
   Total     6,692,262     11,327,205     11,043,971

Chad A. Freed    Cash Severance     315,000     2,004,870     -
   Accelerated Vesting of Restricted Stock     421,878     421,878     421,878
   Accelerated Vesting of RSUs (a)     722,770     722,770     1,919,176
   Health Benefits     19,524     13,016     -
   Total     1,479,172     3,162,534     2,341,054

Craig Barnett    Cash Severance     281,250     1,617,637     -
   Accelerated Vesting of Restricted Stock     767,677     767,677     767,677
   Accelerated Vesting of RSUs (a)     132,408     132,408     1,143,602
   Health Benefits     19,524     13,016     -
   Total     1,200,859     2,530,738     1,911,279

Tyler S. Maertz    Cash Severance     262,500     1,509,795     -
   Accelerated Vesting of Restricted Stock     788,355     788,355     788,355
   Accelerated Vesting of RSUs (a)     123,575     123,575     1,067,342
   Health Benefits     19,524     13,016     -
   Total     1,193,954     2,434,741     1,855,697

Sherry Rexroad    Cash Severance     500,000     2,000,053     -
   Accelerated Vesting of Restricted Stock     810,541     810,541     810,541
   Accelerated Vesting of RSUs (a)     304,523     304,523     2,855,167
   Health Benefits     9,537     6,358     -
   Total     1,624,601     3,121,475     3,665,708

a) For the 2020, 2021 and 2022 Performance RSUs, the amounts set forth under the columns entitled “Death or Disability” and “Termination without
Cause or Resignation for Good Reason” represent an amount of such RSUs granted to the NEOs based on (i) for the relative Compounded Annual
TSR condition, an average closing stock price and an average closing MSCI Index value (for the 2020 Performance RSUs) or Custom Peer Group
value (for the 2021 and 2022 Performance RSUs) for the 20-day trading period ended December 31, 2022, and (ii) for the absolute Compounded
AFFO Per Share Growth condition, the expected level of performance that will be achieved based on actual performance or a minimum of target
achievement.

b) If an NEO were terminated for “cause” or resigned without “good reason” on December 31, 2022, the NEO would have been entitled to receive only
his or her base salary, cash bonus and any other compensation-related payments that had been earned but not yet paid, and unreimbursed expenses that
were owed as of the date of the termination, in each case that were related to any period of employment preceding the NEO’s termination date. The
NEO would not have been entitled to any additional payments and would have immediately forfeited all unvested shares of restricted stock and
unvested RSUs.

c) Pursuant to the 2015 Incentive Plan and the applicable award agreements thereunder, upon a Change in Control, with respect to outstanding time-based
restricted shares and performance-based RSU awards that are not assumed or substituted in connection with such Change in Control, each NEO is
entitled to (i) immediate vesting of such outstanding unvested time-based restricted shares, and (ii) immediate vesting of such outstanding RSU awards
at a level equal to the greater of (a) 100% of the target award level payout, and (b) the amount that would have vested based on the actual level of
achievement of the performance criteria as of the date of the Change in Control (calculated as provided in the applicable award agreement). The
amounts that the NEOs would realize upon a Change in Control in which equity awards are not assumed or substituted and that does not involve a
termination of employment are reflected in this column; if, in connection with a Change in Control, an NEO were terminated “without cause” or
resigned for “good reason” then, in addition to the amounts shown in this column, the NEO would also receive the amounts in respect of Cash
Severance and Health Benefits shown in the prior column.
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OTHER COMPENSATION MATTERS

As required by Section 953(b) of the Dodd-Frank Act and Item 402(u) of Regulation S-K, we are providing the following information
about the relationship of the annual total compensation of our employees and the annual total compensation of Ms. Fedewa, STORE Capital
Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer for 2022. The pay ratio included in this information is a reasonable estimate calculated in a manner
consistent with Item 402(u) of Regulation S-K.

For 2022, the median of the annual total compensation (inclusive of base salary, bonus and other items, as discussed below) of all
employees of the company (other than our Chief Executive Officer) was $132,423. The annual total annualized compensation of Ms. Fedewa, as
reported above in the Summary Compensation Table, was $8,198,993.

Based on this information, for 2022, the ratio of the annual total compensation of Ms. Fedewa, the Chief Executive Officer for fiscal
2022, to the median of the annual total compensation of all employees was 63.8 to 1. To identify the median of the annual total compensation of
all our employees, as well as to determine the annual total compensation of our median employee, we took the following steps:

● We determined that, as of December 31, 2022, our employee population consisted of 116 individuals, all of whom were full-
time employees located in the United States. We selected December 31, 2022 as the date upon which we would identify the
“median employee” because it enabled us to make such identification in a reasonably efficient and economical manner.

● In accordance with Item 402(u) of Regulation S-K, we are using the same “median employee” identified in our 2020 pay ratio
calculation, as we believe that there has been no change in our employee population or employee compensation arrangements
that we believe would result in a significant change to our pay ratio disclosure for 2022. See our proxy statement for our 2021
annual meeting of stockholders for information regarding the process we utilized to identify our “median employee.”

● Once we identified our median employee, we combined all the elements of such employee’s compensation for 2022 in
accordance with the requirements of Item 402(c)(2)(x) of Regulation S-K, resulting in annual total compensation of $132,423.
The difference between such employee’s base salary and the employee’s annual total compensation represents the employee’s
annual bonus and company matching contributions on behalf of the employee to our 401(k) employee savings plan. Since we
do not maintain a defined benefit or other actuarial plan for our employees, and do not otherwise provide a plan for payments
or other benefits at, following or in connection with retirement, the “median employee’s” annual total compensation did not
include amounts attributable to those types of arrangements.

2022 Director Compensation

In this section, we describe the material components of the director compensation program for STORE Capital Corporation’s 2022
Board of Directors. During 2022, the following individuals served on the STORE Capital Corporation’s Board of Directors:

Jawad Ahsan William F. Hipp
Joseph M. Donovan Tawn Kelley
David M. Edwards Catherine D. Rice
Mary B. Fedewa (a) Quentin P. Smith, Jr.
Morton H. Fleischer Einar A. Seadler (b)

a) The compensation of Ms. Fedewa, the Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer, is discussed above under the heading “2022 Executive
Compensation”.

b) Mr. Seadler resigned from the Board and as a member of each committee on which he served, effective February 17, 2022.
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The following table sets forth the elements of the director compensation program in effect in 2022:

Compensation Element Position 2022
  Annual Cash Fees: Non-Executive Chairman: $140,000

Other Non-Employee Directors: $85,000

  Annual Equity Grant: Non-Executive Chairman: $185,000 in restricted stock that vests at the
end of their one-year term

Other Non-Employee Directors: $130,000 in restricted stock that vests at the
end of their one-year term

  Board and Committee Meeting Fees: All Non-Employee Directors: None
  Committee Chair Fee: Audit: $20,000

Compensation: $15,000
Investment: $15,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance: $12,500

In 2022, Messrs. Donovan, Smith and Hipp earned fees of $20,000, $15,000, and $15,000, respectively, for their service as the chairs of
the Audit, Compensation, and Investment Committees, respectively. In addition, Ms. Kelley earned fees of $12,500 for her service as chair of the
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee.

The annual cash retainers were payable in four equal installments on the first Wednesday of each quarter in arrears of service for the
preceding quarter. The annual equity grant was made for prospective service, at the time of STORE’s annual meeting of stockholders, for the
upcoming one-year term.

The following table shows the compensation earned to the non-employee directors who served on the STORE Capital Corporation
Board during 2022:

  Name    Fees earned   
Stock Awards (a)

(b)      Total
Jawad Ahsan $  73,903 $  167,770 $  241,673
Joseph M. Donovan     105,000     130,010     235,010
David M. Edwards  73,903  167,770  241,673
Morton H. Fleischer  85,000  130,010  215,010
William F. Hipp     100,000     130,010     230,010
Tawn Kelley     152,500     208,809     361,309
Catherine D. Rice     85,000     130,010     215,010
Quentin P. Smith, Jr.     100,000     130,010     230,010
Einar A. Seadler (c)     36,125     —     36,125

a) All stock award amounts in this column reflect the aggregate grant date fair value of restricted stock calculated in accordance with FASB ASC Topic
718. For each director other than Ms. Kelley and Mr. Seadler, the number of shares of restricted stock granted in May 2022 was determined by
dividing the grant date value of the award, $130,000, by $26.74 (the closing price of the Company’s common stock on May 26, 2022, the date of the
grant), rounded to the nearest whole share. For Mr. Ahsan and Mr. Edwards, the total also includes an additional $37,760, reflecting the prorated grant
received upon appointment to the board in February 2022. Ms. Kelley’s grant date value of the May 2022 award, as Chairman of the Board, was
$185,000. Her total also includes an additional $23,822, reflecting the prorated grant she received as a result of her ascension to the position of
Chairman of the Board effective December 27, 2021. Mr. Seadler resigned from the Board and as a member of each committee on which he served,
effective February 17, 2022, and as such did not receive any restricted stock grants during 2022.



Table of Contents

81

b) As of December 31, 2022, the independent directors then in office had the following aggregate numbers of unvested stock awards outstanding:

  Name Unvested Stock Awards
Jawad Ahsan  4,862
Joseph M. Donovan  4,862
David M. Edwards  4,862
Morton H. Fleischer  13,641
William F. Hipp  4,862
Tawn Kelley  6,918
Catherine D. Rice  4,862
Quentin P. Smith, Jr.  4,862

c) Mr. Seadler resigned from the Board and as a member of each committee on which he served, effective February 17, 2022.

Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table shows information within our knowledge with respect to the beneficial ownership of our units of common
equity as of March 20, 2023, for each person or group of affiliated persons whom we know to beneficially own more than 5% of our
common equity. As of March 20, 2023, our directors and executive officers do not hold beneficial ownership of our common equity. The
table is based on 1,000 units of our common equity outstanding.

Name of Greater than Five Percent Beneficial Owners   
Common Equity Units

Beneficially Owned Number
Percentage of Common

Equity Owned
Ivory Parent, LLC

8377 E Hartford Drive Ste 100
Scottsdale, AZ 85255   

510 51 %

Ivory SuNNNs LLC
280 Park Avenue, 9th Floor
New York, New York 10017   

490 49 %

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

The following information reflects certain information about our equity compensation plan as of December 31, 2022:
     Number of securities           Number of securities  

to be issued upon Weighted-average available for future issuance  
exercise of exercise price of under equity compensation  

outstanding options, outstanding options, plans (excluding securities  
Plan category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))  

(a) (b) (c)  
Equity compensation plans approved by stockholders        2,507,375  (1)

Equity compensation plans not approved by stockholders      
Total    —    —    2,507,375

1) Represents shares available for future issuance under the STORE Capital Corporation 2015 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the “Equity Incentive
Plan”) as of December 31, 2022.

No securities were issued under our equity incentive plan after December 31, 2022.  Pursuant to the terms of the Merger 
Agreement, in connection with the completion of the Merger, our equity incentive plan was terminated effective February 3, 2023.
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Item 13.  CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Independence Determinations

At the closing of the Merger, the Company delisted its common stock on the NYSE. As a result, the Company is no longer
required to comply with the NYSE’s corporate governance requirements, including the requirement that a majority of its Board be
comprised of independent directors. However, prior to the Closing of the Merger and during 2022, under the corporate governance listing
standards of the NYSE and our Corporate Governance Guidelines, our Board during 2022 was required to consist of a majority of
independent directors. In making independence determinations, our Board observed NYSE and SEC criteria and considered all relevant
facts and circumstances. Under NYSE corporate governance listing standards, to be considered independent:

● the director must not have had a disqualifying relationship, as defined in the NYSE standards; and

● our Board must have affirmatively determined that the director otherwise has no material relationship with STORE
directly, or as an officer, stockholder or partner of an organization that had a relationship with STORE.

Our 2022 Board, through its Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, reviewed all relevant business relationships any
director and director nominee may have with STORE on an annual basis. As a result of its annual review, our Board determined that during
2022, other than Mary B. Fedewa, who is our President and Chief Executive Officer and who is therefore not independent, none of our
directors had a material relationship with STORE and that all such members of the Board were independent.

In addition, all directors who served as members of our Audit Committee, our Compensation Committee and our Nominating and
Corporate Governance Committee during 2022 were independent as required by the NYSE corporate governance rules. Under these rules,
our Audit Committee members also satisfied a separate SEC independence requirement and our Compensation Committee members also
satisfied an additional NYSE independence requirement.

Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions

Our Board has adopted a written statement of policy regarding transactions with related parties (our “Related Person Policy”). Our
Related Person Policy requires that a “related person” (as defined in paragraph (a) of Item 404 of Regulation S-K under the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended) must promptly disclose to our Chief Compliance Officer any transaction in which the amount involved exceeds
$1,000 and in which any related person had or will have a direct or indirect material interest and all material facts with respect thereto.
Following a determination of whether the proposed transaction is material to STORE (with any transaction in which the amount involved
exceeds $50,000 being deemed material for purposes of our Related Person Policy), our Chief Compliance Officer will report the
transaction to our Board for its approval.

Following a competitive bidding process conducted in the fall of 2018, we selected Berkshire Hathaway Specialty Insurance
Company (“BHSIC”) to provide our primary layer of directors and officers liability insurance as well as Side A difference in condition
coverage. For the policy period of December 31, 2021 through December 31, 2022, we paid a premium to BHSIC of $220,000 and
$50,000, respectively, for such policies. In addition, we selected BHSIC to provide our employment practices liability insurance for the
period of December 31, 2021 through December 31, 2022, and paid an additional premium of $12,916 for such policy. During at least a
portion of 2022, Berkshire Hathaway Inc., the parent company of BHSIC, beneficially owned more than 5.0% of our outstanding common
stock.
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Item 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the aggregate fees paid by us to Ernst & Young LLP (“EY”) for professional services rendered:
Year Ended

December 31,
2022   2021

Audit fees (a) $  1,261,650      $  1,257,644
Audit-related fees (b)  58,500  125,000
Tax fees (c)    362,278    223,051
All other fees    3,408    8,445
Total $  1,685,836 $  1,614,140

a) Audit fees consist of fees incurred in connection with the audit of our annual financial statements, as well as services related to SEC matters,
including review of registration statements filed and related issuances of agreed-upon procedures letters, consents and other services.

b) Audit-related fees consist of fees for attestation services rendered by EY related to the issuances of notes through our STORE Master Funding
debt program and fees for services rendered by EY related to the Merger.

c) Tax fees consist of fees for professional services rendered by EY for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning.

In 2022, our Audit Committee determined that the provision of services to us described in the foregoing table were compatible
with maintaining the independence of EY. All (100%) of the services described in the foregoing table with respect to us and our subsidiaries
were approved by our Audit Committee in conformity with our pre-approval policy (as described below).

Historically, the Audit Committee selects STORE’s independent registered public accounting firm and separately pre-approves all
audit services it will provide to STORE. Our Audit Committee also reviewed and separately pre-approved all audit-related, tax and other
services rendered by our independent registered public accounting firm in accordance with our Audit Committee’s charter and policy on
pre-approval of audit-related, tax and other services. In its review of these services and related fees and terms, our Audit Committee
considered, among other things, the possible effect of the performance of such services on the independence of our independent registered
public accounting firm.

None of the services described above were approved pursuant to the de minimis exception provided in Rule 2-01(c)(7)(i)(C) of
Regulation S-X promulgated by the SEC.
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PART IV

Item 15.  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:

1. Financial Statements. (see Item 8)

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 42) 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

2. Financial Statement Schedules. (see schedules beginning on page F-1)

Schedule III—Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

Schedule IV—Mortgage Loans on Real Estate

All other schedules are omitted since the required information is not present or is not present in amounts sufficient to require submission
of the schedule, or because the information required is included in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.

3. Exhibits.

The exhibits listed below are filed as part of this Annual Report. References under the caption “Location” to exhibits or other filings
indicate that the exhibit or other filing has been filed, that the indexed exhibit and the exhibit referred to are the same and that the exhibit referred
to is incorporated by reference. Management contracts and compensatory plans or arrangements filed as exhibits to this Annual Report are
identified by an asterisk.

 

Exhibit Description Location

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 15, 2022, by
and among Ivory Parent, LLC, Ivory REIT, LLC, and STORE
Capital Corporation.

Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2023.

3.1 Third Amended and Restated Limited Liability Company
Agreement of STORE Capital LLC, dated as of February 3, 2023.

Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2023.

3.2 Certificate of Formation of STORE Capital LLC, dated August 30,
2022, as amended effective February 3, 2023.

Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2023.

https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-22-245210.html?hash=ce7f9a49624ddbca48516cc3aa72d0c56b8811f721835dc476673b9a11e0d438&dest=d260495dex21_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-22-245210.html?hash=ce7f9a49624ddbca48516cc3aa72d0c56b8811f721835dc476673b9a11e0d438&dest=d260495dex21_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-22-245210.html?hash=ce7f9a49624ddbca48516cc3aa72d0c56b8811f721835dc476673b9a11e0d438&dest=d260495dex21_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-23-024224.html?hash=f3026b933729b48a98171b44604f71b90b867402a6fc3f605bc57099932934c6&dest=d404467dex31_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-23-024224.html?hash=f3026b933729b48a98171b44604f71b90b867402a6fc3f605bc57099932934c6&dest=d404467dex31_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-23-024224.html?hash=f3026b933729b48a98171b44604f71b90b867402a6fc3f605bc57099932934c6&dest=d404467dex32_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-23-024224.html?hash=f3026b933729b48a98171b44604f71b90b867402a6fc3f605bc57099932934c6&dest=d404467dex32_htm
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4.1 Eighth Amended and Restated Master Indenture dated as of June 29,
2021, by and among STORE Master Funding I, LLC, STORE
Master Funding II, LLC, STORE Master Funding III, LLC, STORE
Master Funding IV, LLC, STORE Master Funding V, LLC, STORE
Master Funding VI, LLC, STORE Master Funding VII, LLC and
STORE Master Funding XIV, LLC, STORE Master Fund XIX,
LLC, STORE Master Funding XX, LLC, collectively as Issuers, and
Citibank, N.A., as Indenture Trustee, relating to Net-Lease
Mortgage Notes.

Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 30, 2021.

4.2 Series 2013-1 Indenture Supplement dated as of March 27, 2013, by
and among STORE Master Funding I, LLC and STORE Master
Funding II, LLC, collectively as Issuers, and Citibank, N.A., as
Indenture Trustee.

Exhibit 4.3 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-11 filed with the
SEC on September 23, 2014.

4.3 Series 2013-2 Indenture Supplement dated as of July 25, 2013, by
and among STORE Master Funding I, LLC, STORE Master
Funding II, LLC, and STORE Master Funding III, LLC, collectively
as Issuers, and Citibank, N.A., as Indenture Trustee.

Exhibit 4.4 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-11 filed with the
SEC on September 23, 2014.

4.4 Series 2013-3 Indenture Supplement dated as of December 3, 2013,
by and among STORE Master Funding I, LLC, STORE Master
Funding II, LLC, STORE Master Funding III, LLC, and STORE
Master Funding IV, LLC, collectively as Issuers, and Citibank, N.A.,
as Indenture Trustee.

Exhibit 4.5 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-11 filed with the
SEC on September 23, 2014.

4.5 Series 2014-1 Indenture Supplement dated as of May 6, 2014, by
and among STORE Master Funding I, LLC, STORE Master
Funding II, LLC, STORE Master Funding III, LLC, STORE Master
Funding IV, LLC, and STORE Master Funding V, LLC, collectively
as Issuers, and Citibank, N.A., as Indenture Trustee.

Exhibit 4.6 to Amendment No. 1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form S-11 filed with the
SEC on September 23, 2014.

4.6 Series 2015-1 Indenture Supplement dated as of April 16, 2015, by
and among STORE Master Funding I, LLC, STORE Master
Funding II, LLC, STORE Master Funding III, LLC, STORE Master
Funding IV, LLC, STORE Master Funding V, LLC and STORE
Master Funding VI, LLC, collectively as Issuers, and Citibank,
N.A., as Indenture Trustee.

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 20, 2015.

4.7 Series 2016-1 Indenture Supplement dated as of October 18, 2016,
by and among STORE Master Funding I, LLC, STORE Master
Funding II, LLC, STORE Master Funding III, LLC, STORE Master
Funding IV, LLC, STORE Master Funding V, LLC STORE Master
Funding VI, LLC, and STORE Master Funding VII, LLC,
collectively as Issuers, and Citibank, N.A., as Indenture Trustee.

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 21, 2016.

4.8 Series 2018-1 Indenture Supplement dated as of October 22, 2018,
by and among STORE Master Funding I, LLC, STORE Master
Funding II, LLC, STORE Master Funding III, LLC, STORE Master
Funding IV, LLC, STORE Master Funding V, LLC, STORE Master
Funding VI, LLC and STORE Master Funding VII, LLC,
collectively as Issuers, and Citibank, N.A., as Indenture Trustee.

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 23, 2018.
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4.9 Series 2019-1 Indenture Supplement dated as of November 13,
2019, by and among STORE Master Funding I, LLC, STORE
Master Funding II, LLC, STORE Master Funding III, LLC, STORE
Master Funding IV, LLC, STORE Master Funding V, LLC, STORE
Master Funding VI, LLC, STORE Master Funding VII, LLC and
STORE Master Funding XIV, LLC, collectively as Issuers, and
Citibank, N.A., as Indenture Trustee.

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 14,
2019.

4.10 Series 2021-1 Indenture Supplement, dated as of June 29, 2021, by
and among STORE Master Funding I, LLC, STORE Master
Funding II, LLC, STORE Master Funding III, LLC, STORE Master
Funding IV, LLC, STORE Master Funding V, LLC, STORE Master
Funding VI, LLC, STORE Master Funding VII, LLC, STORE
Master Funding XIV, LLC, STORE Master Funding XIX, LLC and
STORE Master Funding XX, LLC, collectively as Issuers, and
Citibank, N.A., as Indenture Trustee.

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 30, 2021.

4.11 Indenture, dated as of March 15, 2018, by and between STORE
Capital Corporation and Wilmington Trust, National Association.

Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 15, 2018.

4.12 Supplemental Indenture No. 1, dated as of March 15, 2018, by and
between STORE Capital Corporation and Wilmington Trust,
National Association.

Exhibit 4.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 15, 2018.

4.13 Supplemental Indenture No. 2, dated as of February 28, 2019, by
and between STORE Capital Corporation and Wilmington Trust,
National Association.

Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 28,
2019.

4.14 Supplemental Indenture No. 3 dated as of November 18, 2020, by
and between STORE Capital Corporation and Wilmington Trust
Company (including form of Note).

Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 18,
2020.

4.15 Supplemental Indenture No. 4 dated as of November 17, 2021, by
and between STORE Capital Corporation and Wilmington Trust
Company.

Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 17,
2021.

4.16 Supplemental Indenture No. 5, dated as of February 3, 2023, by and
between Ivory REIT, LLC, STORE Capital Corporation and
Wilmington Trust Company, as Trustee.

Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2023.

10.1 * Employment Agreement, effective as of February 3, 2023, by and
among STORE Capital LLC (formerly known as Ivory REIT, LLC),
STORE Capital Advisors, LLC, and Mary B. Fedewa.

Filed herewith.

10.2 * Employment Agreement, effective as of February 3, 2023, by and
among STORE Capital LLC, STORE Capital Advisors, LLC, and
Chad A. Freed.

Filed herewith.

10.3 * Employment Agreement, effective as of February 3, 2023, by and
among STORE Capital LLC, STORE Capital Advisors, LLC, and
Tyler S. Maertz.

Filed herewith.

10.4 * Employment Agreement, effective as of February 3, 2023, by and
among STORE Capital LLC, STORE Capital Advisors, LLC, and
Craig A. Barnett.

Filed herewith.
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10.5 Seventh Amended and Restated Property Management and
Servicing Agreement, dated as of June 29, 2021, by and among
STORE Master Funding I, LLC, STORE Master Funding II, LLC,
STORE Master Funding III, LLC, STORE Master Funding IV, LLC,
STORE Master Funding V, LLC, STORE Master Funding VI, LLC,
STORE Master Funding VII, LLC, STORE Master Funding XIV,
LLC, STORE Master Funding XIX, LLC and STORE Master
Funding XX, LLC, collectively as Issuers, STORE Capital
Corporation, as Property Manager and Special Servicer, KeyBank
National Association, as Back-Up Manager, and Citibank, N.A., as
Indenture Trustee.

Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on June 30, 2021.

10.6 Credit Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2023, among the
Borrowers identified therein, Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands
Branch, as Administrative Agent, Citibank, N.A., as Payment Agent,
and the other lenders identified therein.

Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2023.

10.7 Property Management and Servicing Agreement, dated as of
February 3, 2023, among the Borrowers identified therein, Ivory
REIT, LLC (renamed STORE Capital LLC following the Merger
Effective Time), as Property Manager and Special Servicer,
KeyBank National Association, as Back-Up Manager, and Credit
Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Branch, as Administrative Agent.

Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2023.

10.8 Credit Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2023, by and among
Ivory REIT, LLC (renamed STORE Capital LLC following the
Merger Effective Time), KeyBank National Association, as
Administrative Agent, and the other lenders and parties identified
therein.

Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 3, 2023.

10.9 Incremental Amendment No. 1, dated as of March 8, 2023, by and
among STORE Capital LLC, KeyBank National Association, as
Administrative Agent, and the other lenders identified therein.

Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 14, 2023.

21 List of Subsidiaries. Filed herewith.

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Principal Executive Officer. Filed herewith.

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of the Principal Financial Officer. Filed herewith.

32.1 Section 1350 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer. Filed herewith.

32.2 Section 1350 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer. Filed herewith.

101 The following financial statements from STORE Capital LLC’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December
31, 2022, are formatted in Inline Extensible Business Reporting
Language: (i) consolidated balance sheets, (ii) consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, (iii) consolidated statements
of cash flows, and (iv) notes to consolidated financial statements.

Filed herewith.

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL
document).

Filed herewith.

*Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
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Item 16.  Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

STORE CAPITAL LLC

Date:  March 22, 2023 By: /s/ Mary B. Fedewa
Mary B. Fedewa
President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below on March 22, 2023 by the
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/Mary B. Fedewa President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 22, 2023
Mary B. Fedewa (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/Ashley A. Dembowski Senior Vice President – Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller March 22, 2023
Ashley A. Dembowski (Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/Adam Gallistel Chairman of the Board of Directors March 22, 2023
Adam Gallistel

/s/Jesse Hom Director March 22, 2023
Jesse Hom

/s/Daniel Santiago Director March 22, 2023
Daniel Santiago

/s/Marc Zahr Director March 22, 2023
Marc Zahr

/s/Michael Reiter Director March 22, 2023
Michael Reiter
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STORE Capital Corporation
Schedule III - Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation

(Dollars in Thousands)

Descriptions (a) Initial Cost to Company Costs Capitalized Subsequent to Acquisition Gross amount at December 31, 2022 (b) (c)

Property Location   

Number
of

Properties   Encumbrances  
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements   
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements   
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements    Total   

Accumulated
Depreciation

 (d) (e)   
Years

Constructed  
Years 

Acquired
Alabama 32 $ - $ 29,876 $ 79,440 $ - $ 1,858 $ 29,876 $ 81,298 $ 111,174 $ (18,141) 1950 - 2017 2012 - 2022
Alabama 20 (f) 14,994 26,005 297 4,605 15,291 30,610 45,901 (6,600) 1964 - 2014 2011 - 2021

Alaska 9 - 9,716 25,224 - - 9,716 25,224 34,940 (2,014) 1953 - 2005 2019 - 2020
Alaska 1 (f) 828 702 - - 828 702 1,530 (281) 2005 2016

Arizona 49 - 65,400 119,938 9,458 34,553 74,858 154,491 229,349 (23,871) 1946 - 2021 2012 - 2022
Arizona 42 (f) 63,589 127,075 6,575 40,634 70,164 167,709 237,873 (33,963) 1976 - 2019 2011 - 2022

Arkansas 28 - 26,817 44,844 17 507 26,834 45,351 72,185 (11,285) 1966 - 2011 2015 - 2019
Arkansas 20 (f) 12,781 24,140 14 4,087 12,795 28,227 41,022 (8,342) 1950 - 2012 2013 - 2022

California 41 - 141,429 201,820 8,270 48,732 149,699 250,552 400,251 (38,511) 1930 - 2022 2012 - 2022
California 38 (f) 57,008 52,238 1,454 4,463 58,462 56,701 115,163 (13,912) 1940 - 2020 2012 - 2022
California 1 13,701 4,528 22,213 - - 4,528 22,213 26,741 (4,896) 2008 2013

Colorado 28 - 37,170 137,747 3,703 13,223 40,873 150,970 191,843 (27,869) 1967 - 2016 2014 - 2022
Colorado 14 (f) 14,413 19,900 1,602 9,446 16,015 29,346 45,361 (5,793) 1953 - 2021 2013 - 2022

Connecticut 21 - 14,672 45,044 1,207 2,785 15,879 47,829 63,708 (5,788) 1779 - 2022 2015 - 2021
Connecticut 9 (f) 5,657 16,179 - - 5,657 16,179 21,836 (5,043) 1860 - 1998 2013 - 2020

Delaware 1 - 3,554 5,541 - - 3,554 5,541 9,095 (927) 1973 2019

District of Columbia 1 - 1,108 805 - - 1,108 805 1,913 (75) 1930 2021

Florida
Jacksonville, Florida 9 - 6,943 13,612 313 975 7,256 14,587 21,843 (3,062) 1980 - 2018 2012 - 2018
Jacksonville, Florida 8 (f) 6,902 15,628 4,039 21,050 10,941 36,678 47,619 (9,047) 1972 - 2014 2011 - 2018

All Other Florida 96 - 139,897 181,506 12,044 43,403 151,941 224,909 376,850 (32,705) 1950 - 2022 2011 - 2022
All Other Florida 49 (f) 34,917 104,728 5,501 13,213 40,418 117,941 158,359 (28,444) 1950 - 2014 2012 - 2021

Georgia
Macon, Georgia 6 - 8,487 28,165 - - 8,487 28,165 36,652 (2,001) 1947 - 1982 2021 - 2021
Macon, Georgia 2 (f) 1,150 1,208 19 101 1,169 1,309 2,478 (492) 1975 - 2008 2012 - 2022

All Other Georgia 54 - 79,278 212,117 9,286 14,595 88,564 226,712 315,276 (35,152) 1939 - 2022 2011 - 2022
All Other Georgia 97 (f) 82,017 139,077 2,617 20,252 84,634 159,329 243,963 (42,173) 1960 - 2021 2011 - 2021

Idaho 14 - 21,338 52,049 - 5,842 21,338 57,891 79,229 (4,467) 1946 - 2006 2014 - 2022
Idaho 6 (f) 10,979 26,678 9,169 3,013 20,148 29,691 49,839 (3,850) 2007 - 2021 2014 - 2020

Illinois
Chicago, Illinois 6 - 16,337 22,122 36 456 16,373 22,578 38,951 (2,760) 1920 - 2015 2015 - 2021
Chicago, Illinois 7 (f) 9,902 14,881 1,575 6,850 11,477 21,731 33,208 (4,456) 1886 - 2021 2012 - 2022

Albion, Illinois 5 - 9,986 33,298 - - 9,986 33,298 43,284 (2,519) 1950 - 1998 2021

All Other Illinois 133 - 95,134 234,320 2,453 21,026 97,587 255,346 352,933 (41,610) 1870 - 2019 2012 - 2022
All Other Illinois 40 (f) 57,775 111,569 1,834 8,938 59,609 120,507 180,116 (30,896) 1880 - 2015 2011 - 2021

Indiana 53 - 78,539 144,348 1,019 4,920 79,558 149,268 228,826 (22,644) 1927 - 2019 2014 - 2022
Indiana 38 (f) 28,244 70,246 205 992 28,449 71,238 99,687 (14,927) 1959 - 2013 2011 - 2021
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Descriptions (a) Initial Cost to Company Costs Capitalized Subsequent to Acquisition Gross amount at December 31, 2022 (b) (c)

Property Location   

Number
of

Properties    Encumbrances  
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements   
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements   
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements    Total   

Accumulated
Depreciation

 (d) (e)   
Years

Constructed  
Years 

Acquired
Iowa 16 - 23,092 29,382 - 20 23,092 29,402 52,494 (4,044) 1950 - 2009 2014 - 2022
Iowa 17 (f) 9,716 22,153 947 6,003 10,663 28,156 38,819 (8,867) 1960 - 2013 2011 - 2018

Kansas 28 - 16,222 34,814 6,525 18,316 22,747 53,130 75,877 (9,771) 1969 - 2019 2015 - 2019
Kansas 4 (f) 3,640 5,071 226 1,892 3,866 6,963 10,829 (1,778) 1987 - 2018 2012 - 2021

Kentucky 31 - 31,963 75,004 775 16,098 32,738 91,102 123,840 (16,945) 1907 - 2020 2013 - 2022
Kentucky 37 (f) 22,863 44,502 - 250 22,863 44,752 67,615 (12,413) 1972 - 2018 2011 - 2021

Louisiana 7 - 4,310 10,101 - 1 4,310 10,102 14,412 (1,225) 1968 - 2020 2012 - 2022
Louisiana 26 (f) 27,567 30,940 822 519 28,389 31,459 59,848 (9,326) 1981 - 2015 2012 - 2020

Maine 17 - 16,696 60,392 - - 16,696 60,392 77,088 (4,878) 1798 - 2011 2015 - 2022
Maine 4 (f) 1,059 2,229 82 163 1,141 2,392 3,533 (1,031) 1979 - 1993 2014 - 2016

Maryland 7 - 10,828 12,881 - 75 10,828 12,956 23,784 (2,344) 1963 - 2007 2017 - 2021
Maryland 5 (f) 7,377 14,463 - - 7,377 14,463 21,840 (2,612) 1950 - 2007 2012 - 2020

Massachusetts 31 - 44,283 121,669 - - 44,283 121,669 165,952 (20,628) 1850 - 2009 2014 - 2022
Massachusetts 8 (f) 20,105 25,687 - 363 20,105 26,050 46,155 (5,612) 1955 - 1988 2013 - 2021

Michigan 87 - 106,589 324,817 5,043 24,296 111,632 349,113 460,745 (52,422) 1862 - 2020 2015 - 2022
Michigan 37 (f) 24,017 40,775 96 5,167 24,113 45,942 70,055 (18,221) 1880 - 2012 2012 - 2022

Minnesota 48 - 77,176 152,297 2,136 8,629 79,312 160,926 240,238 (22,073) 1905 - 2018 2015 - 2022
Minnesota 37 (f) 34,077 58,302 5,787 27,053 39,864 85,355 125,219 (25,114) 1951 - 2021 2011 - 2020
Minnesota 1 11,744 7,639 11,328 - - 7,639 11,328 18,967 (4,036) 2015 - 2015 2016 - 2016

Mississippi 29 - 23,926 63,965 120 1,374 24,046 65,339 89,385 (11,481) 1974 - 2010 2012 - 2022
Mississippi 12 (f) 12,068 33,833 - - 12,068 33,833 45,901 (6,177) 1965 - 2009 2011 - 2020
Mississippi 6 40,662 15,385 48,917 - - 15,385 48,917 64,302 (9,029) 1989 - 2001 2018

Missouri 71 - 55,797 111,758 3,318 13,914 59,115 125,672 184,787 (21,328) 1928 - 2019 2013 - 2022
Missouri 21 (f) 27,850 34,181 1,308 4,842 29,158 39,023 68,181 (8,751) 1971 - 2022 2011 - 2022
Missouri 1 8,935 807 13,794 - 620 807 14,414 15,221 (3,424) 2008 2012 - 2012

Montana 1 - 2,753 14,468 - - 2,753 14,468 17,221 (2,340) 2009 2017
Montana 3 (f) 3,080 1,509 2,360 8,189 5,440 9,698 15,138 (475) 1920 - 2020 2014 - 2021

Nebraska 10 - 10,507 5,694 504 7,175 11,011 12,869 23,880 (2,590) 1961 - 2022 2014 - 2021
Nebraska 14 (f) 7,005 23,344 - 2,745 7,005 26,089 33,094 (2,888) 1910 - 2015 2012 - 2021

Nevada 8 - 11,909 16,545 - 1,006 11,909 17,551 29,460 (2,073) 1980 - 2021 2016 - 2021
Nevada 5 (f) 7,809 16,402 - 1,029 7,809 17,431 25,240 (3,597) 1960 - 2009 2013 - 2021
Nevada 1 5,993 2,770 5,454 25 2,259 2,795 7,713 10,508 (754) 1995 2020

New Hampshire 8 - 9,233 16,269 877 4,718 10,110 20,987 31,097 (2,510) 1960 - 2001 2017 - 2022
New Hampshire 4 (f) 1,837 7,914 - - 1,837 7,914 9,751 (1,365) 1973 - 2003 2014 - 2018

New Jersey 4 - 3,303 5,965 - - 3,303 5,965 9,268 (693) 1970 - 2015 2019 - 2022
New Jersey 7 (f) 7,004 29,971 329 2,176 7,333 32,147 39,480 (9,802) 1930 - 2009 2013 - 2018

New Mexico 6 - 8,562 19,175 81 8,486 8,643 27,661 36,304 (4,367) 1946 - 2009 2015 - 2022
New Mexico 4 (f) 4,243 6,084 - - 4,243 6,084 10,327 (1,747) 1955 - 2019 2013 - 2019



Table of Contents

F-3

Descriptions (a) Initial Cost to Company Costs Capitalized Subsequent to Acquisition Gross amount at December 31, 2022 (b) (c)

Property Location   

Number
of

Properties    Encumbrances  
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements   
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements   
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements    Total   

Accumulated
Depreciation

 (d) (e)   
Years

Constructed  
Years 

Acquired
New York 25 - 49,841 157,415 1,729 3,411 51,570 160,826 212,396 (20,055) 1892 - 2016 2013 - 2022
New York 15 (f) 13,340 32,426 - 32 13,340 32,458 45,798 (4,867) 1950 - 2014 2016 - 2020

North Carolina 71 - 51,284 88,801 3,161 10,591 54,445 99,392 153,837 (16,033) 1942 - 2022 2013 - 2022
North Carolina 63 (f) 41,023 66,597 2,071 4,522 43,094 71,119 114,213 (19,456) 1950 - 2018 2012 - 2020

North Dakota 1 - 1,405 25,557 371 1,740 1,776 27,297 29,073 (2,306) 1993 2019
North Dakota 3 (f) 2,642 7,843 172 278 2,814 8,121 10,935 (2,755) 1984 - 2013 2011 - 2016
North Dakota 1 13,933 7,219 16,872 - - 7,219 16,872 24,091 (5,463) 1995 2016

Ohio
Columbus, Ohio 11 - 13,975 39,693 1,272 8,168 15,247 47,861 63,108 (5,728) 1961 - 2019 2016 - 2022
Columbus, Ohio 8 (f) 5,580 10,911 - 250 5,580 11,161 16,741 (4,353) 1970 - 2014 2012 - 2020

All Other Ohio 76 - 93,808 242,103 1,630 11,981 95,438 254,084 349,522 (34,418) 1856 - 2018 2011 - 2022
All Other Ohio 62 (f) 45,156 135,854 21 1,009 45,177 136,863 182,040 (37,169) 1915 - 2020 2011 - 2021

Oklahoma 25 - 23,292 34,801 1,721 7,549 25,013 42,350 67,363 (11,595) 1965 - 2020 2014 - 2021
Oklahoma 31 (f) 31,372 46,137 459 2,052 31,831 48,189 80,020 (22,176) 1946 - 2011 2011 - 2019
Oklahoma 3 3,140 2,907 3,843 - - 2,907 3,843 6,750 (1,627) 1996 - 2006 2012

Oregon 5 - 2,827 7,447 - - 2,827 7,447 10,274 (1,314) 1924 - 2010 2016 - 2019
Oregon 5 (f) 8,147 4,648 460 159 8,607 4,807 13,414 (1,566) 1965 - 1985 2011 - 2019

Pennsylvania 68 - 66,881 208,806 290 3,720 67,171 212,526 279,697 (18,427) 1885 - 2018 2015 - 2022
Pennsylvania 33 (f) 35,711 56,440 1,439 4,487 37,150 60,927 98,077 (17,300) 1865 - 2020 2011 - 2021
Pennsylvania 1 8,602 4,398 11,502 - - 4,398 11,502 15,900 (6,238) 1960 2013

Rhode Island 7 - 6,318 15,049 - - 6,318 15,049 21,367 (1,161) 1930 - 2015 2018 - 2022
Rhode Island 6 (f) 4,854 12,253 - - 4,854 12,253 17,107 (1,052) 1968 - 1995 2019 - 2022

South Carolina 52 - 33,905 127,234 3,187 13,136 37,092 140,370 177,462 (23,488) 1912 - 2019 2014 - 2022
South Carolina 38 (f) 28,501 52,408 1,310 9,940 29,811 62,348 92,159 (15,465) 1973 - 2019 2012 - 2021

South Dakota 14 - 18,662 50,338 6,737 20,437 25,399 70,775 96,174 (9,409) 1948 - 2020 2016 - 2021
South Dakota 3 (f) 3,573 9,662 - 719 3,573 10,381 13,954 (3,721) 1992 - 2014 2011 - 2014

Tennessee 47 - 60,502 163,699 441 7,228 60,943 170,927 231,870 (22,529) 1889 - 2019 2011 - 2022
Tennessee 68 (f) 59,849 94,037 3,049 8,503 62,898 102,540 165,438 (30,596) 1971 - 2019 2011 - 2021

Texas
Abilene, Texas 1 - 3,831 44,208 - - 3,831 44,208 48,039 - 2009 2022
Abilene, Texas 1 (f) 593 2,023 - - 593 2,023 2,616 (832) 1961 2012

Amarillo, Texas 4 - 4,002 11,473 - 3,164 4,002 14,637 18,639 (1,604) 1977 - 2016 2013 - 2019
Amarillo, Texas 1 (f) 269 457 - - 269 457 726 (104) 1954 2014
Amarillo, Texas 1 1,018 927 1,330 - - 927 1,330 2,257 (637) 1995 2012

Arlington, Texas 2 - 1,595 4,761 - - 1,595 4,761 6,356 (979) 1964 - 1997 2017 - 2018
Arlington, Texas 4 (f) 3,353 10,077 129 1,521 3,482 11,598 15,080 (2,546) 1945 - 2010 2012 - 2018

Austin, Texas 4 - 6,058 11,115 - - 6,058 11,115 17,173 (2,273) 1991 - 2017 2014 - 2021
Austin, Texas 1 (f) 2,212 3,600 - - 2,212 3,600 5,812 (1,207) 2006 2011

Corpus Christi,
Texas 5 - 10,731 15,967 - - 10,731 15,967 26,698 (6,289) 1964 - 2017 2012 - 2021
Corpus Christi,
Texas 2 (f) 2,020 1,128 743 316 2,763 1,444 4,207 (436) 1975 - 2016 2019
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Descriptions (a) Initial Cost to Company Costs Capitalized Subsequent to Acquisition Gross amount at December 31, 2022 (b) (c)

Property Location   

Number
of

Properties    Encumbrances  
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements   
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements   
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements    Total   

Accumulated
Depreciation

 (d) (e)   
Years

Constructed  
Years 

Acquired
Cypress, Texas 2 - 2,098 4,322 - 391 2,098 4,713 6,811 (486) 2012 - 2017 2018 - 2021
Cypress, Texas 1 (f) 4,223 9,504 - - 4,223 9,504 13,727 (1,035) 2019 2019

Fort Worth, Texas 5 - 9,695 13,715 1,565 5,915 11,260 19,630 30,890 (5,740) 1989 - 2014 2012 - 2021
Fort Worth, Texas 2 (f) 5,361 13,744 - - 5,361 13,744 19,105 (2,798) 1998 - 2021 2013 - 2021

Frisco, Texas 4 - 5,683 10,790 190 924 5,873 11,714 17,587 (1,633) 2003 - 2018 2015 - 2021
Frisco, Texas 2 (f) 4,214 6,362 24 30 4,238 6,392 10,630 (2,218) 1996 - 2008 2012 - 2014

Harlingen, Texas 4 - 3,768 11,342 - - 3,768 11,342 15,110 (1,585) 1993 - 2014 2015 - 2021
Harlingen, Texas 1 (f) 487 391 819 2,293 1,306 2,684 3,990 (487) 2018 2016

Houston, Texas 22 - 25,548 29,177 695 8,769 26,243 37,946 64,189 (5,034) 1965 - 2017 2015 - 2021
Houston, Texas 10 (f) 16,673 23,655 8,204 7,146 24,877 30,801 55,678 (9,801) 1965 - 2016 2013 - 2018

Humble, Texas 2 - 3,468 1,885 1,989 11,451 5,457 13,336 18,793 (3,182) 2009 - 2016 2015 - 2016
Humble, Texas 3 (f) 1,732 3,567 - - 1,732 3,567 5,299 (1,128) 1982 - 2012 2013 - 2016

Irving, Texas 3 - 5,212 6,577 - - 5,212 6,577 11,789 (1,513) 1983 - 2005 2012 - 2019
Irving, Texas 1 (f) 1,375 4,661 - - 1,375 4,661 6,036 (1,223) 1982 2014

Katy, Texas 4 - 5,100 6,242 - 438 5,100 6,680 11,780 (933) 1984 - 2016 2016 - 2021
Katy, Texas 1 (f) 1,564 2,651 159 1,507 1,723 4,158 5,881 (764) 2015 2017

League City, Texas 2 - 7,417 12,612 - - 7,417 12,612 20,029 (2,637) 2011 - 2016 2015 - 2017

Lubbock, Texas 1 - 1,512 7,836 - 342 1,512 8,178 9,690 (1,391) 2005 2015
Lubbock, Texas 5 (f) 9,980 16,629 1,529 3,066 11,509 19,695 31,204 (5,526) 1980 - 2014 2012 - 2018
Lubbock, Texas 1 946 1,289 808 - - 1,289 808 2,097 (393) 1994 2012

McAllen, Texas 3 - 2,810 5,268 - - 2,810 5,268 8,078 (934) 1976 - 2015 2016 - 2021
McAllen, Texas 4 (f) 5,491 10,558 583 1,293 6,074 11,851 17,925 (3,521) 1955 - 2015 2011 - 2017

Mesquite, Texas 2 - 1,455 8,967 - - 1,455 8,967 10,422 (347) 1987 - 2008 2021
Mesquite, Texas 1 (f) 1,795 5,837 - - 1,795 5,837 7,632 (1,545) 1973 2013

San Antonio, Texas 13 - 15,537 19,398 745 1,320 16,282 20,718 37,000 (3,596) 1945 - 2017 2015 - 2021
San Antonio, Texas 5 (f) 10,611 11,711 531 1,680 11,142 13,391 24,533 (2,742) 1985 - 2017 2011 - 2022

Yoakum, Texas 1 - 2,325 22,099 - - 2,325 22,099 24,424 (553) 1971 2022

All Other Texas 152 - 110,530 219,485 4,729 37,720 115,259 257,205 372,464 (39,751) 1920 - 2022 2012 - 2022
All Other Texas 58 (f) 57,371 110,327 3,405 14,918 60,776 125,245 186,021 (30,725) 1950 - 2018 2011 - 2022

Utah 10 - 19,300 31,266 403 3,870 19,703 35,136 54,839 (6,925) 1972 - 2021 2014 - 2021
Utah 5 (f) 6,282 13,773 109 796 6,391 14,569 20,960 (1,160) 1961 - 2013 2018 - 2021
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Descriptions (a) Initial Cost to Company Costs Capitalized Subsequent to Acquisition Gross amount at December 31, 2022 (b) (c)

Property Location   

Number
of

Properties   Encumbrances  
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements   
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements   
Land &

Improvements   
Building &

Improvements    Total   

Accumulated
Depreciation

 (d) (e)   
Years

Constructed  
Years 

Acquired
Vermont 5 - 1,747 2,230 4 354 1,751 2,584 4,335 (369) 1950 - 1997 2016 - 2022
Vermont 2 (f) 955 829 - - 955 829 1,784 (410) 1983 - 1998 2014

Virginia 31 - 47,225 105,632 4,906 6,846 52,131 112,478 164,609 (8,749) 1921 - 2022 2011 - 2022
Virginia 15 (f) 8,750 15,019 106 585 8,856 15,604 24,460 (5,067) 1928 - 2008 2011 - 2019

Washington 11 - 14,178 31,693 144 1,396 14,322 33,089 47,411 (6,333) 1910 - 2004 2015 - 2021
Washington 11 (f) 24,332 18,031 1,570 5,239 25,902 23,270 49,172 (5,761) 1948 - 2009 2012 - 2021

West Virginia 12 - 10,486 24,861 - 846 10,486 25,707 36,193 (4,018) 1953 - 2007 2012 - 2022
West Virginia 11 (f) 9,341 8,572 - - 9,341 8,572 17,913 (3,208) 1970 - 2009 2011 - 2020

Wisconsin 62 - 80,908 234,526 29,129 48,739 110,037 283,265 393,302 (43,119) 1911 - 2021 2015 - 2022
Wisconsin 27 (f) 18,568 71,421 4,287 4,032 22,855 75,453 98,308 (14,424) 1948 - 2022 2014 - 2022
Wisconsin 3 32,302 17,490 39,558 - - 17,490 39,558 57,048 (11,592) 1966 - 1992 2016

Wyoming 3 - 962 3,634 - 3 962 3,637 4,599 (423) 1975 - 2009 2016 - 2022
Wyoming 4 (f) 5,572 6,539 5,743 6,060 11,315 12,599 23,914 (1,629) 1980 - 2022 2012 - 2021

2,936 $ 140,976 $ 3,239,415 $ 6,942,675 $ 216,028 $ 800,779 $ 3,455,443 $ 7,743,454 $ 11,198,897 $ (1,410,829)

(a) As of December 31, 2022, we had investments in 3,058 single-tenant real estate property locations including 3,034 owned properties and 24 ground lease interests; 100 of our
owned properties are accounted for as financing arrangements and 22 are accounted for as direct financing receivables and are excluded from the table above. Initial costs exclude
intangible lease assets totaling $62.0 million.

(b) The aggregate cost for federal income tax purposes is approximately $11,633.6 million.
(c) The following is a reconciliation of total real estate carrying value for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020:

Year ended December 31,  
    2022     2021     2020

Balance, beginning of year     $ 9,936,320     $ 8,866,666     $ 8,175,034
Additions

Acquisitions 1,333,088 1,300,142 834,023
Improvements 135,781 143,665 130,051

Deductions
Provision for impairment of real estate (16,050) (21,800) (21,978)
Other (8,750) (12,876) (11,184)
Cost of real estate sold (181,492) (312,418) (212,818)
Reclasses to held for sale — (27,059) (26,462)

Balance, end of year   $ 11,198,897   $ 9,936,320   $ 8,866,666
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(d) The following is a reconciliation of accumulated depreciation for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020:

Year ended December 31,  
    2022     2021     2020

Balance, beginning of year     $ (1,134,007)    $ (911,656)    $ (711,176)
Additions

Depreciation expense (304,588) (262,566) (238,853)
Deductions

Accumulated depreciation associated with real estate sold 19,016 25,434 23,031
Other 8,750 12,876 11,184
Reclasses to held for sale — 1,905 4,158

Balance, end of year   $ (1,410,829)  $ (1,134,007)  $ (911,656)

(e) The Company's real estate assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the properties, which generally ranges from 30 to 40 years for
buildings and improvements and is 15 years for land improvements.

(f) Property is collateral for non-recourse debt obligations totaling $2.1 billion issued under the Company’s STORE Master Funding debt program.

See report of independent registered public accounting firm.
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STORE Capital Corporation
Schedule IV - Mortgage Loans on Real Estate

As of December 31, 2022
(Dollars in thousands)

          Final      Periodic       Final            Outstanding      Carrying  
Interest  Maturity Payment Payment Prior face amount of  amount of  

Description Rate Date Terms  Terms  Liens mortgages mortgages (c)  
First mortgage loans:  

Two movie theater properties located in
North Carolina (a) 8.35 %   (b) Interest only Balloon of $12.2 million None $ 12,161 $ 9,745
Two restaurant properties located in
Indiana 10.00 %   6/30/2023 Interest only Balloon of $0.2 million None 219 219
Three elementary school properties in
California and Virginia   8.00 %   12/31/2023  Interest only   Balloon of $70.8 million   None   70,775   71,198
Three metal tank manufacturing
properties located in Illinois, Tennessee,
and Texas   7.90 %   12/31/2026  Principal & Interest   Balloon of $20.0 million   None   21,000   20,550
Two restaurant properties located in
Louisiana 8.61 %   7/1/2032 Principal & Interest Balloon of $1.9 million None 2,084 2,087
Five restaurant properties located in
Mississippi 8.68 %   7/1/2032 Principal & Interest Balloon of $5.1 million None 5,514 5,519
One restaurant property located in
Montana 9.29 %   11/1/2036 Principal & Interest Balloon of $2.1 million None 2,369 2,369
One textile manufacturer property in
South Carolina 8.25 %   10/1/2042 Principal & Interest Balloon of $13.1 million None 14,500 14,345
Ten car wash properties located in
Nebraska, Pennsylvania, and Texas 8.25 %   6/30/2051 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 24,204 24,026
Five restaurant properties located in
Tennessee 8.25 %   8/31/2053 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 3,549 3,536
One hunting and fishing property
located in California 7.90 %   5/31/2054 Principal & Interest Balloon of $6.0 million None 16,883 16,831
Three floral/nursery merchant
wholesaler properties located in
California 8.35 %   11/30/2054 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 25,112 25,012
Three mortgage loans secured by one
recreation property located in Colorado 9.35 %   2/28/2055 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 30,396 30,682
13 restaurant properties in Florida,
Kansas and Missouri 7.60 %   8/31/2055 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 9,862 9,797
Three restaurant properties located in
Ohio 8.45 %   12/31/2055 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 2,991 2,986
One athletic club in Chicago, IL (a) 7.60 %   1/31/2056 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 16,549 16,375
Leasehold interest in an amusement
park property located in Ontario,
Canada 9.89 %   8/1/2056 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 22,097 21,979
One recreation property located in Utah 9.25 %   12/11/2060 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 6,269 6,241
One family entertainment property
located in Texas 8.25 %   6/30/2062 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 4,531 4,509
Five family entertainment properties
located in Texas 8.11 %   6/30/2062 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 26,720 26,627
Three food processing properties in
Idaho, Tennessee, and Wisconsin 8.00 %   12/31/2062 Principal & Interest Fully amortizing None 27,890 27,787

  $ 345,675 $ 342,420
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The following shows changes in the carrying amounts of mortgage loans receivable during the years ended December 31,
2022, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,  
     2022      2021      2020  

Balance, beginning of year $ 342,317 $ 301,355 $ 202,557
Additions:

New mortgage loans (d)   68,912   75,666   132,542
Other: Capitalized loan origination costs   85   98   155

Deductions:
Collections of principal (e)   (69,279)   (32,046)   (32,151)
Other: Provisions for loan losses 503 (2,704) (1,670)
Other: Amortization of loan origination costs   (118)   (52)   (78)

Balance, end of year $ 342,420 $ 342,317 $ 301,355

(a) Loan was on nonaccrual status as of December 31, 2022.
(b) Loan matured prior to December 31, 2022 and the Company has been in negotiations with the borrower regarding a resolution.
(c) The aggregate cost for federal income tax purposes is $346.5 million.
(d) For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, new mortgage loans includes $15.2 million and $19.8 million, respectively, of mortgage loans

previously classified as deferred financing receivables.
(e) For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020, collections of principal include non-cash principal collections aggregating $8.9 million,

$30.8 million and $23.4 million, respectively, related to loan receivable transactions in which the Company acquired the underlying mortgaged property.

See report of independent registered public accounting firm.
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
BETWEEN

IVORY REIT, LLC
AND MARY FEDEWA

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of February 2, 2023, is
entered into by and between Ivory REIT, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the
“Company”), and Mary Fedewa (the “Executive”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Executive currently serves as the President and Chief Executive Officer of
STORE Capital Corporation (“STORE”) pursuant to the terms of an Employment Agreement with
the Company and STORE Capital Advisors, LLC, dated as of April 15, 2021 (the “Existing
Employment Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to enter into this Agreement, which will
supersede and replace the Existing Agreement in its entirety as of the closing of the transactions
contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger Agreement”) by and among Ivory
Parent, LLC, the Company and STORE, dated as of September 15, 2022, whereby STORE will be
merged with and into the Company.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the future performance and responsibilities of the
Executive and the Company and upon the other terms and conditions and mutual covenants
hereinafter provided, the parties hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Employment.

(a) Effective Date; Position. The Executive and the Company agree that this Agreement is
being entered into in contemplation of the consummation of the transaction contemplated by the
Merger Agreement and that, without further action on the part of the parties hereto, this Agreement
shall become effective upon the consummation of the Merger (the date of the consummation of the
Merger, the “Effective Date”); provided that, if the Merger Agreement is terminated in accordance 
with its terms, then this Agreement shall be null and void and of no force or effect and the Existing 
Employment Agreement will remain in full force and effect.  Subject to the foregoing, the Executive 
shall be employed by the Company during the Term (defined below) as its President and Chief 
Executive Officer. The Executive shall report directly to the Board of Directors of the Company (the 
“Board”).

(b) Duties. The Executive’s principal employment duties and responsibilities shall be
those duties and responsibilities customary for the positions of President and Chief Executive Officer
and such other executive officer duties and responsibilities as the Board shall from time to time
reasonably assign to the Executive.

(c) Extent of Services. Except for illnesses and vacation periods or as otherwise approved
in writing by the Board, the Executive shall devote substantially all of the Executive’s business time
and attention and the Executive’s best efforts to the performance of the
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Executive’s duties and responsibilities under this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Executive may (i) make any investment in entities unrelated to the Company and its affiliates, so long
as (A) the Executive is not obligated or required to, and shall not in fact, devote any material
managerial efforts to such investment, and (B) such investment is not in violation of any other terms
of this Agreement, including Section 10 hereof; (ii) participate in charitable, academic or community
activities, and in trade or professional organizations; or (iii) hold directorships in other businesses as
permitted by the Board (the activities in clauses (i) through (iii) above are collectively referred to
herein as the “Excluded Activities”); provided in each case, that none of the Excluded Activities,
individually or in the aggregate, interfere with the performance of the Executive’s duties under this
Agreement.

(d) Location of Employment.  The principal location of the Executive’s employment with 
the Company will be at the Company’s office in Scottsdale, Arizona (subject to any remote working 
arrangements approved by the Board), although the Executive understands and agrees that the 
Executive may be required to travel from time to time for business reasons.

Section 2. Term.

(a) The Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall commence on the Effective
Date and, unless terminated earlier as provided in Section 7, the Executive’s employment shall
continue until the third (3rd) anniversary of the Effective Date (the “Initial Term”).

(b) Upon the expiration of the Initial Term and each Renewal Term (as defined below),
the Executive’s employment will automatically continue for subsequent one (1) year terms (each a
“Renewal Term”) unless either the Company or the Executive provides not less than ninety (90)
days’ advance written notice to the other that such party does not wish to renew the Agreement for a
subsequent Renewal Term. In the event such notice of nonrenewal is given pursuant to this Section
2(b), this Agreement will expire at the end of the then current term. The Initial Term and each
subsequent Renewal Term, taking into account any early termination of employment pursuant to
Section 7, are referred to collectively as the “Term.”

Section 3. Base Salary. The Company shall pay the Executive a base salary (the “Base
Salary”) during the Term, which shall be payable in periodic installments according to the
Company’s normal payroll practices. The initial Base Salary hereunder shall be paid at the annualized
rate of $795,000. The Executive’s Base Salary shall be considered annually by the Board, and may be
increased in the sole discretion of the Board. Any increase shall be retroactive to January 1 of the
year in which such increase is approved. The Base Salary, as adjusted by any subsequent increases,
shall not be decreased during the Term. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Base Salary” shall
mean the amount of the Executive’s annual base salary as established and adjusted from time to time
pursuant to this Section 3.

Section 4. Annual Cash Incentive Bonus.

(a) The Executive shall be eligible to receive an annual cash incentive bonus (the
“Cash Bonus”) for each fiscal year during the Term, commencing with 2023. The target amount of
the Cash Bonus for which the Executive is eligible shall be equal to 150% of the Base
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Salary (the “Target Bonus Amount”), with a “threshold” amount equal to 75% of the Base Salary 
and a maximum amount equal to 300% of the Base Salary.  The actual amount of the Cash Bonus 
payable to the Executive with respect to any calendar year during the Term shall be based upon the 
satisfactory achievement of reasonable performance metrics and key performance indicators (such 
metrics, the “Bonus Metrics”) determined by the Board after consultation with the Executive;
provided that the Bonus Metrics (and definitions thereof) for each of 2023, 2024 and 2025 are as set
forth on Appendix A.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the Bonus Metrics that apply for any 
applicable year shall each be determined independently of one another and the amount of the 
resulting Cash Bonus shall be based on the level of determination of each individual Bonus Metric 
based on its applicable weighting.  As a result, (i) if the Board, in consultation with the Executive, 
determines that any applicable Bonus Metric has been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with 
respect to the applicable performance year, then, based on the level of such achievement and the 
applicable weighting of such Bonus Metric, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment of the 
corresponding Cash Bonus with respect to that Bonus Metric and (ii) if the Board, in consultation 
with the Executive, determines that an applicable Bonus Metric has not been achieved at or above a 
“threshold” level with respect to the applicable performance year, then no Cash Bonus shall be due 
and payable to the Executive for such year with respect to such Bonus Metric. If any applicable
Bonus Metric has been achieved at a level between a “threshold” level and a “target” level, or at a
level between a “target” level and a “maximum” level, with respect to the applicable performance
level, then the Cash Bonus with respect to that Bonus Metric shall be determined on the basis of
linear interpolation between the applicable levels.

(c) The Cash Bonus, if any, shall be paid to the Executive no later than thirty (30)
days after the date on which the Board, in consultation with the Executive, determines (i) whether or
not the applicable Bonus Metrics for such performance year have been achieved, and the level of
such achievement, and (ii) the amount of the actual Cash Bonus so earned; provided that in no event
shall any Cash Bonus, if earned, be paid later than March 15 of the year following the performance
year to which it relates.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(ii) or Section 8(b)(ii) in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment under certain circumstances, the
Executive must be employed by the Company throughout the entirety of an applicable performance
year (January 1 through December 31) in order to receive all or any portion of a Cash Bonus. For the
avoidance of doubt, if the Executive was employed by the Company from January 1 through
December 31 of such performance year, the Executive has met the employment criterion for Cash
Bonus eligibility for that year and need not be employed by the Company thereafter, including at the
time the Cash Bonus, if any, is determined or paid for that performance year, in order to receive
payment of any Cash Bonus amount the Executive would otherwise be entitled to receive; provided,
that the Executive will not be eligible to receive payment of any unpaid Cash Bonus if the
Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause.
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Section 5. Long-Term Incentive.

(a) The Executive shall be eligible to participate in a long-term cash incentive plan
(the “LTIP”).  Pursuant to the LTIP, the Executive will receive a long-term incentive grant every third 
fiscal year during the Term, each such grant to reflect a three-year performance period (the 
“Performance Period”) and with the first such grant to be received in fiscal year 2023 covering the 
2023-2025 Performance Period, the second such grant to be received in fiscal 2026 covering the 
2026-2028 Performance Period, and so on.  The target amount of the LTIP grant for the initial 2023-
2025 Performance Period shall be equal, on an annualized basis, to 575% of the Base Salary as in 
effect on the date of grant (the “Target LTIP Grant”), with a “threshold” amount equal to 33% of the 
Target LTIP Grant and a maximum amount equal to 300% of the Target LTIP Grant.  The actual 
amount of any LTIP grant that will be payable to the Executive shall be based upon the satisfactory 
achievement of reasonable performance metrics and key performance indicators (such metrics, the 
“LTIP Metrics”) determined by the Board after consultation with the Executive over the applicable
Performance Period, with payment of the actual amount determined to be earned for the applicable
Performance Period to be made as provided in Section 5(c) below; provided that the LTIP Metrics
(and definitions thereof) with respect to the 2023 LTIP grant covering the Performance Period that
begins on January 1, 2023 and ends on December 31, 2025 are as set forth on Appendix B and
example calculations of the potential payouts of the 2023 LTIP grant at varying levels of achievement
of such LTIP Metrics are as set forth on Appendix C.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the LTIP Metrics that apply for any applicable 
Performance Period shall each be determined independently of one another and the amount of the 
resulting LTIP payment shall be based on the level of determination of each individual LTIP Metric 
based on its applicable weighting.  As a result, (i) if the Board, in consultation with the Executive, 
determines that any applicable LTIP Metric has been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with 
respect to the applicable Performance Period, then, based on the level of such achievement and the 
applicable weighting of such LTIP Metric, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment of the 
corresponding LTIP amount with respect to that LTIP Metric for such Performance Period, and (ii) if 
the Board determines that an applicable LTIP Metric has not been achieved at or above a “threshold” 
level with respect to the applicable Performance Period, then no LTIP payment shall be due and 
payable to the Executive for such Performance Period with respect to such LTIP Metric. If any 
applicable LTIP Metric has been achieved at a level between a “threshold” level and a “target” level, 
or at a level between a “target” level and a “maximum” level, with respect to the applicable 
Performance Period, then the corresponding LTIP payment with respect to that LTIP Metric shall be 
determined on the basis of linear interpolation between the applicable levels.

(c) The LTIP payment, if any, payable in respect of a Performance Period shall be
paid to the Executive no later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the Board, in consultation
with the Executive, determines (i) whether or not the applicable LTIP Metrics for such Performance
Period have been achieved, and the level of such achievement, and (ii) the amount of the actual LTIP
payment so earned; provided that in no event shall any LTIP payment, if earned, be paid later than
March 15 of the year following the final year of the applicable Performance Period.
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(d) Except as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(iv) or Section 8(b)(iv) in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment under certain circumstances, the
Executive must be employed by the Company throughout the entirety of an applicable Performance
Period in order to receive all or any portion of an LTIP payment. For the avoidance of doubt, if the
Executive was employed by the Company through the final day of the Performance Period, the
Executive has met the employment criterion for the LTIP payment for that Performance Period and
need not be employed by the Company thereafter, including at the time the LTIP payment, if any, is
determined or paid for that Performance Period, in order to receive payment of any LTIP payment
amount the Executive would otherwise be entitled to receive; provided, that the Executive will not be
eligible to receive payment of any unpaid LTIP payments if the Executive’s employment is
terminated for Cause.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Board
determines in good faith that GIC and its affiliates have exited their investment in the Company (a
“GIC Exit”), then the Board, in consultation with the Executive, shall determine the level of 
achievement as of the date of such GIC Exit of all applicable LTIP Metrics for any Performance 
Period that has not been completed as of the date of such GIC Exit and shall make any corresponding 
LTIP payments that the Board determines are payable to the Executive in respect thereof within 30 
days following the date of the GIC Exit in full satisfaction of all rights that the Executive may 
otherwise have with respect to the LTIP.   

Section 6. Benefits.

(a) Paid Time Off. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to such paid
time off, including sick time and personal days, generally made available by the Company to other
senior executive officers of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s paid-
time off policy.

(b) Employee Benefit Plans. During the Term, the Executive (and, where
applicable, the Executive’s spouse and eligible dependents, if any, and their respective designated
beneficiaries) shall be eligible to participate in and receive the benefit of each employee benefit plan
sponsored or maintained by the Company and generally made available to other senior executive
officers of the Company, subject to the generally applicable provisions thereof. Nothing in this
Agreement shall in any way limit the Company’s right to amend or terminate any such employee
benefit plan in its sole discretion, with or without notice, so long as any such amendment affects the
Executive and the other senior executive officers of the Company in a similar fashion.

(c) Other Benefits. The perquisites set forth below shall be provided to the
Executive subject to continued employment with the Company:

(i) Disability Insurance. The Company shall maintain a supplemental,
long-term disability policy on behalf of the Executive; provided that the cost of such policy
(to the Company) shall not exceed $15,000 per year or such higher amount as may be
subsequently approved by the Board.
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(ii) Annual Physical. The Company shall pay the cost of an annual medical
examination for the Executive by a licensed physician in the Scottsdale or Phoenix, Arizona
area selected by the Executive; provided that the cost for such annual medical examination
shall not exceed $2,500 per year or such higher amount as may be subsequently approved by
the Board.

(iii) Club Dues. The Company shall pay, or reimburse the Executive for, the
monthly membership dues actually incurred by the Executive for one fitness or country club
membership maintained by the Executive; provided that the payable or reimbursable amount
shall not exceed $1,000 per month or such higher amount as may be subsequently approved
by the Board. For the avoidance of doubt, except as specifically provided for above, the
Company shall not pay, or reimburse the Executive for, any other expenses associated with
such club membership (including, but not limited to, any initiation fees and personal
expenditures at such club).

Section 7. Termination. The employment of the Executive by the Company pursuant to
this Agreement shall terminate:

(a) Death or Disability. Immediately upon the death or Disability of the Executive.
As used in this Agreement, “Disability” means the Executive’s inability to perform the essential
functions of the Executive’s position, with or without reasonable accommodation, due to a mental or
physical disability for a period of either (i) 90 consecutive days or (ii) 180 days in any 365 day
period.

(b) For Cause. At the election of the Company, for Cause. For purposes of this
Agreement, “Cause” means the Executive’s:

(i) in the reasonable judgment of the Board, refusal or neglect to perform
substantially all the Executive’s employment-related duties or to abide by or comply with the
lawful directives of the Board, which refusal or neglect is not cured within twenty (20) days’
of the Executive’s receipt of written notice from the Company;

(ii) personal dishonesty, incompetence or breach of fiduciary duty which,
in any case, has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Company or
any of its affiliates, as determined in the Board’s reasonable discretion;

(iii) violation by the Executive of any material written policy of the
Company (including any policy regarding sexual, racial or other harassment or
discrimination) that has been provided or made available to the Executive; provided, that, if
such violation is capable of being cured without resulting in financial or reputational harm to
the Company, the Executive shall have twenty (20) days after receipt of written notice of such
violation to so cure;

(iv) conviction of or entrance of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere (or any
applicable equivalent thereof) to a crime constituting a felony (or a crime or offense of
equivalent magnitude in any jurisdiction);
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(v) willful violation of any federal, state or local law, rule, or regulation
that has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Company or any of its
affiliates, as determined in the Board’s reasonable discretion; or

(vi) material breach of any covenant contained in Section 10 of this
Agreement.

The Executive’s termination for Cause shall take effect immediately upon the Executive’s
receipt of written notice from the Company of such termination for Cause, which notice shall specify,
with particularity, each basis for the Company’s determination that Cause exists.

(c) For Good Reason. At the election of the Executive, for Good Reason. For
purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following
actions or omissions, without the Executive’s written consent:

(i) A material reduction of, or other material adverse change in, the
Executive’s duties or responsibilities, such that the Executive is no longer performing the
duties or engaging in the responsibilities of a President and Chief Executive Officer, or the
assignment to the Executive of any duties or responsibilities that are materially inconsistent
with the Executive’s position as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company;

(ii) A material reduction by the Company in the Executive’s annual Base
Salary, Target Bonus Amount or Target LTIP Grant;

(iii)  (A) the requirement by the Company that the primary location at 
which the Executive performs the Executive’s duties be changed to a location that is outside 
of a 35-mile radius of Scottsdale, Arizona, or (B) a substantial increase in the amount of travel 
that the Executive is required to do because of a relocation of the Company’s headquarters 
from Scottsdale, Arizona;

(iv) A material breach by the Company of any provision of this Agreement
not otherwise specified in this Section 7(c), it being agreed and understood that any breach of
the Company’s obligations under Section 6(c) shall not constitute a material breach of this
Agreement and the Executive’s sole remedy for any breach of such Section 6(c) shall be
monetary damages; and

(v) Any failure by the Company to obtain from any successor to the
Company an agreement to assume and perform this Agreement as contemplated by Section
15(e).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive’s termination of employment for Good Reason shall
not be effective, and Good Reason shall not be deemed to exist, until (A) the Executive provides the
Company with written notice specifying, with particularity, each basis for the Executive’s
determination that actions or omissions constituting Good Reason have occurred, and (B) the
Company fails to cure or resolve the issues identified by the Executive’s notice within thirty (30)
days of the Company’s receipt of such notice. The Company and the Executive
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agree that such thirty (30) day period shall be utilized to engage in discussions in a good faith effort
to cure or resolve the actions or omissions otherwise constituting Good Reason, and that the
Executive will not be considered to have resigned from employment during such thirty (30) day
period.

(d) Without Cause; Without Good Reason. At the election of the Company,
without Cause, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Executive, or, at the election of the
Executive, without Good Reason, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Company. For the
avoidance of doubt, the exercise by the Company of its right to not extend the Agreement, or the
expiration of this Agreement by its terms at the end of the Term, shall constitute a termination at the
election of the Company without Cause.

Section 8. Effects of Termination.

(a) Termination By the Company Without Cause or By the Executive for Good
Reason. If the employment of the Executive is terminated by the Company for any reason other than
Cause, death or Disability, or if the employment of the Executive is terminated by the Executive for
Good Reason, then, subject to the terms and conditions of Section 15(i), the Company shall pay or
provide to the Executive the following compensation and benefits:

(i) Accrued Obligations. Any and all Base Salary, Cash Bonus, LTIP and
any other compensation-related payments that have been earned but not yet paid, including (if
applicable) pay in lieu of accrued, but unused, vacation, and unreimbursed expenses that are
owed as of the date of the termination of the Executive’s employment, in each case that are
related to any period of employment preceding the Executive’s termination date (the
“Accrued Obligations”). Any earned but unpaid Cash Bonus or LTIP that is part of the
Accrued Obligations shall be paid at the time provided for in Section 4 or Section 5 above, as
applicable. Any Accrued Obligations that constitute retirement or deferred compensation shall
be payable in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable plan, program or
arrangement. All other Accrued Obligations shall be paid within thirty (30) days of the date of
termination, or, if earlier, not later than the time required by applicable law; provided that the
payment of any unreimbursed expenses shall be subject to the Executive’s submission of
substantiation of such expenses in accordance with the Company’s applicable expense policy;

(ii) Severance Payment.

(A) An amount equal to 1.5 times the Executive’s Base Salary in
effect on the date of termination; plus

(B) An amount equal to the Target Bonus Amount (calculated on
the basis of a full fiscal year).

The sum of the amounts payable under clauses (A) and (B) of this Section 8(a)(ii) are
referred to, collectively, as the “Severance Payment.” Subject to the provisions of
Section 8(e), the Severance Payment shall be paid to the Executive in a single, lump
sum cash payment within sixty-two (62) days following the effective date of the
Executive’s termination of employment; and
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(iii) COBRA Reimbursement. If the Executive is eligible for, and elects to
receive, continued coverage for the Executive and, if applicable, the Executive’s eligible
dependents under the Company’s group health benefits plan(s) in accordance with the
provisions of COBRA, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for a period of twelve (12)
months following termination of the Executive’s employment (or, if less, for the period that
the Executive is eligible for such COBRA continuation coverage) for the excess of (A) the
amount that the Executive is required to pay monthly to maintain such continued coverage
under COBRA, over (B) the amount that the Executive would have paid monthly to
participate in the Company’s group health benefits plan(s) had the Executive continued to be
an employee of the Company (the “COBRA Reimbursement” and such amount, the “COBRA
Reimbursement Amount”). COBRA Reimbursements shall be made by the Company to the
Executive consistent with the Company’s normal expense reimbursement policy; provided
that the Executive submits documentation to the Company substantiating the Executive’s
payments for COBRA coverage. However, if the Company determines in its sole discretion
that it cannot, without potentially violating applicable law (including, without limitation,
Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), provide any COBRA Reimbursements that
otherwise would be due to the Executive under this Section 8(a)(iii), then the Company will,
subject to the provisions of Section 15(i), in lieu of any such COBRA Reimbursements,
provide to the Executive a taxable monthly payment in an amount equal to the COBRA
Reimbursement Amount, which payments will be made regardless of whether the Executive
elects COBRA continuation coverage (the “Alternative Payments”). Any Alternative
Payments will cease to be provided when, and under the same terms and conditions, COBRA
Reimbursements would have ceased under this Section 8(a)(iii). For the avoidance of doubt,
the Alternative Payments may be used for any purpose, including, but not limited to,
continuation coverage under COBRA, and will be subject to all applicable taxes and
withholdings, if any. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary under this Agreement, if at any
time the Company determines in its sole, good faith discretion that it cannot provide the
Alternative Payments contemplated by the preceding sentence without violating Section 2716
of the Public Health Service Act, the Executive will not receive such payments.

(iv) LTIP. A cash payment equal to the product of (A) the LTIP payment
that the Executive would have received for any Performance Period that has not been
completed as of the date of such termination if the Executive had continued in employment
through the end of the Performance Period, if any, based on the Board’s determination of
actual performance for the entire Performance Period in accordance with Section 5, and (B) a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days the Executive was employed during
such Performance Period and the denominator of which is the total number of days in the
Performance Period (the “Pro-Rated LTIP Payments”).  Such cash payment shall be made at 
the same time as it would have been paid in accordance with Section 5 if the Executive had 
remained employed through the end of the applicable Performance Period.  

(b) Termination on Death or Disability. If the employment of the Executive is
terminated due to the Executive’s death or Disability, the Company shall have no further liability or
further obligation to the Executive except that the Company shall pay or provide to the
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Executive (or, if applicable, the Executive’s estate or designated beneficiaries under any Company-
sponsored employee benefit plan in the event of the Executive’s death) the following compensation
and benefits:

(i) The Accrued Obligations, at the times provided and subject to the
conditions set forth in Section 8(a)(i) above;

(ii) An amount equal to the Target Bonus Amount for which the Executive
is eligible for the year in which the termination of employment occurs, prorated for the
portion of such year during which the Executive was employed by the Company prior to the
effective date of the Executive’s termination of employment, payable as set forth in Section
8(a)(ii) above;

(iii) COBRA Reimbursement for 18 months provided in accordance with
Section 8(a)(iii) above; and

(iv) The Pro-Rated LTIP Payments in accordance with Section 8(a)(iv)
above.

(c) By the Company for Cause or By the Executive Without Good Reason. In the
event that the Executive’s employment is terminated (i) by the Company for Cause, or (ii) voluntarily
by the Executive without Good Reason, the Company’s sole obligation shall be to pay the Executive
the Accrued Obligations at the times provided and subject to the conditions set forth in Section 8(a)(i)
above; provided, that, if such termination is for Cause then the Executive shall not be eligible to
receive any unpaid Cash Bonus or LTIP payments.

(d) Termination of Authority; Resignation from Boards. Immediately upon the
termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, or the expiration of
this Agreement, notwithstanding anything else appearing in this Agreement or otherwise, the
Executive will stop serving the functions of the Executive’s terminated or expired positions, and shall
be without any of the authority or responsibility for such positions. On request of the Board at any
time following the termination or expiration of the Executive’s employment for any reason, the
Executive shall resign from the Board (and the boards of directors or managers of the Company or
any affiliate of the Company) if then a member and shall execute such documentation as the
Company shall reasonably request to evidence the cessation of the Executive’s terminated or expired
positions.

(e) Release. Prior to the payment by the Company of the payments and benefits
provided under Sections 8(a)(ii)-(iv) or Sections 8(b) (ii)-(iv) hereunder, if any, and in no event later
than sixty-two (62) days following the effective date of the Executive’s termination, the Executive
(or, if applicable, the Executive’s representative) shall, as a condition to receipt of such payments and
benefits, deliver to the Company a General Release of Claims in a form acceptable to the Company
that is effective and irrevocable with respect to all potential claims the Executive may have against
the Company or its affiliates or other related parties or individuals related to the Executive’s
employment. If the Executive does not timely execute and return the release, or timely revokes such
release after delivery, the Company shall not be required to pay the Executive all or any portion of
such payments and benefits.
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Section 9. Section 280G of the Code. Notwithstanding anything contained in this
Agreement to the contrary, if the Executive would receive (a) any payment, deemed payment or other
benefit under this Agreement, that together with any other payment, deemed payment or other benefit
the Executive may receive under any other plan, program, policy or arrangement (collectively with
the payments under Section 8 hereof, the “Covered Payments”), would constitute an “excess
parachute payment” under Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), that would be or become subject to the tax (the “Excise Tax”) imposed under Section 4999
of the Code or any similar tax that may hereafter be imposed, and (b) a greater net after-tax benefit by
limiting the Covered Payments so that the portion thereof that are parachute payments do not exceed
the maximum amount of such parachute payments that could be paid to the Executive without the
Executive’s being subject to any Excise Tax (the “Safe Harbor Amount”), then the Covered
Payments to the Executive shall be reduced (but not below zero) so that the aggregate amount of
parachute payments that the Executive receives does not exceed the Safe Harbor Amount. In the
event that the Executive receives reduced payments and benefits hereunder, such payments and
benefits shall be reduced in connection with the application of the Safe Harbor Amount in a manner
determined by the Board in a manner that complies with Section 409A that first reduces any
payments or benefits that are valued at full value under the applicable provisions of Section 280G,
with the latest in time payments or benefits reduced first, and then reducing any payments or benefits
that are valued at less than full value under the applicable provisions of Section 280G, with the latest
in time payments or benefits reduced first. For purposes of determining whether any of the Covered
Payments will be subject to the Excise Tax, such Covered Payments will be treated as “parachute
payments” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code, and all “parachute payments” in excess
of the “base amount” (as defined under Section 280G(b)(3) of the Code) shall be treated as subject to
the Excise Tax, unless, and except to the extent that, in the good faith judgment of a public
accounting firm appointed by the Company prior to the change in control or tax counsel selected by
such accounting firm (the “Accountants”), the Company has a reasonable basis to conclude that such
Covered Payments (in whole or in part) either do not constitute “parachute payments” or represent
reasonable compensation for personal services actually rendered (within the meaning of Section
280G(b)(4)(B) of the Code) in excess of the allocable portion of the “base amount,” or such
“parachute payments” are otherwise not subject to such Excise Tax, and the value of any non-cash
benefits or any deferred payment or benefit shall be determined by the Accountants in accordance
with the principles of Section 280G of the Code.

Section 10. Noncompetition; Nonsolicitation and Confidentiality.

(a) Consideration. The Executive acknowledges that, in the course of the
Executive’s employment with the Company, the Executive will serve as a member of the Company’s
senior management and will become familiar with the Company’s trade secrets and with other
confidential and proprietary information and that the Executive’s services will be of special, unique
and extraordinary value to the Company and its subsidiaries. The Executive further acknowledges
that the business of the Company and its subsidiaries is national in scope and that the Company and
its subsidiaries, in the course of such business, work with customers and vendors throughout the
United States, and compete with other companies located throughout the United States. Therefore, in
consideration of the foregoing, the Executive agrees that (i) the Executive shall comply with
subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this Section 10 during the Term and for the period of time
following the Term specified in each such subparagraph, and (ii)
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the Company’s obligation to make any of the payments and benefits to be paid or provided to the
Executive under this Agreement (including, without limitation, under Section 8 and Section 9) shall
be subject to the Executive’s compliance with subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this Section 10,
during the Term and for the period of time following the Term specified in each such subparagraph.

(b) Noncompetition. During the Term and for a period of twelve (12) months
following the termination of the Executive’s employment (the “Restricted Period”), the Executive
shall not, anywhere in the United States where the Company or its subsidiaries conduct business prior
to the date of the Executive’s termination of employment (the “Restricted Territory”), directly or
indirectly, (i) whether as a principal, partner, member, employee, independent contractor, consultant,
shareholder or otherwise, provide services to (A) any person or entity (or any division, unit or other
segment of any entity) whose principal business is to purchase real estate from, and to lease such real
estate back to, the owners and/or operators of businesses that (x) are operated from single-tenant
locations within the United States, (y) generate sales and profits at each such location, and (z) operate
within the service, retail, and manufacturing sectors, including, without limitation and for example
only, restaurants, early childhood education centers, movie theaters, health clubs and furniture stores,
or (B) any other business or in respect of any other endeavor that is competitive with or similar to any
other business activity (a) engaged in by the Company or any of its subsidiaries prior to the date of
the Executive’s termination of employment or (b) that has been submitted to the Board (or a
committee thereof) for consideration and that is under active consideration by the Board (or a
committee thereof) as of the date of the Executive’s termination of employment or (ii) usurp any
transactional opportunity (the services described in Section 10(b)(i) and Section 10(b)(ii) are defined
collectively as the “Restricted Business”). Nothing in this Section 10 shall prohibit the Executive
from making any passive investment in a public company, from owning five percent (5%) or less of
the issued and outstanding voting securities of any entity, or from serving as a non-employee,
independent director of a company that does not compete with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
(as described in this Section 10(b)), provided that such activities do not create a conflict of interest
with the Executive’s employment by the Company or result in the Executive being obligated or
required to devote any managerial efforts to such entity.

(c) Non-Solicitation of Employees. During the Restricted Period, except in
accordance with performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder, the Executive shall not, directly or
indirectly, induce any person who was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
Executive’s employment with the Company and with whom the Executive had contact or about
whom the Executive had access to Confidential Information during the then-immediately preceding
twelve (12) calendar month period ending no later than the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment to terminate employment with that entity, and the Executive shall not, directly or
indirectly, either individually or as owner, agent, employee, consultant or otherwise, employ, offer
employment to or otherwise interfere with the employment relationship of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries with any person who is or was employed by the Company or such subsidiary during the
Executive’s employment with the Company and with whom the Executive had contact or about
whom the Executive had access to Confidential Information during the then-immediately preceding
twelve (12) calendar month period ending no later than the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment unless, at the time of such employment, offer or other interference, such person shall
have ceased to be
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employed by such entity for a period of at least six (6) months; provided that the foregoing will not 
apply to individuals solicited or hired as a result of the use of an independent employment agency (so 
long as the agency was not directed to solicit or hire a particular individual) or to individuals who 
have responded to a public solicitation to the general population.  

(d) Confidentiality. During the Executive’s employment and at all times following
the termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason, the Executive shall not, without the
prior written consent of the Company, use, divulge, disclose or make accessible to any other person,
firm, partnership, corporation or other entity any confidential or proprietary information pertaining to
the business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, including, without limitation, know-how;
trade secrets; customer lists; pricing policies; operational methods; and other information relating to
products, processes, past, current and prospective customers or other third parties, services and other
business and financial affairs (collectively, the “Confidential Information”), in each case to which
the Executive has had or may have access or which the Executive developed or may have developed.
The Company acknowledges that, prior to the Executive’s employment with the Company, the
Executive has lawfully acquired extensive knowledge of the industries and businesses in which the
Company engages and the Company’s customers, and that the provisions of this Section 10 are not
intended to restrict the Executive’s use of such previously acquired knowledge. Upon termination of
the Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, the Executive shall return to the
Company all Company property and all written Confidential Information in the possession of the
Executive. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or any other Company document to the
contrary, the Executive shall be permitted, and the Company expressly acknowledges the Executive’s
right, to divulge, disclose or make accessible to the Executive’s counsel any Confidential Information
that, in the good faith judgment of the Executive (or the Executive’s counsel), is necessary or
appropriate in order for counsel to evaluate the Executive’s rights, duties or obligations under this
Agreement or in connection with the Executive’s status as an officer and/or director of the Company
or any of its subsidiaries.

In the event that the Executive receives a request or is required (by deposition, interrogatory, 
request for documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand or similar process) to disclose all or any 
part of the Confidential Information to a third party (other than the Executive’s counsel), the 
Executive agrees to (a) promptly notify the Company in writing of the existence, terms and 
circumstances surrounding such request or requirement; (b) consult with the Company, at the 
Company’s request, on the advisability of taking legally available steps to resist or narrow such 
request or requirement; and (c) assist the Company, at the Company’s request and expense, in seeking 
a protective order or other appropriate remedy. In the event that such protective order or other remedy 
is not obtained or that the Company requests no consultation or assistance from the Executive 
pursuant to this provision or otherwise waives compliance with the provisions hereof, the Executive 
shall not be liable for such disclosure unless such disclosure was caused by or resulted from a 
previous disclosure by the Executive not permitted by this Agreement.  Further, nothing in this 
Agreement or any other agreement by and between the Company and the Executive shall prohibit or 
restrict the Executive from (i) voluntarily communicating with an attorney retained by the Executive, 
(ii) voluntarily communicating with any law enforcement, government agency, including the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or a 
state or local commission on human rights, or any self-regulatory organization, regarding possible 
violations of law, including 
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criminal conduct and unlawful employment practices or (iii) recovering a SEC whistleblower award 
as provided under Section 21F of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in each case without advance 
notice to the Company.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1833(b), the Executive acknowledges that the Executive shall not
have criminal or civil liability under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade
secret of the Company that (i) is made (A) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government
official, either directly or indirectly, or to the Executive’s attorney; and (B) solely for the purpose of
reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a complaint or other
document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. If the Executive
files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of law, the
Executive may disclose the trade secret to his or her attorney and use the trade secret information in
the court proceeding, if the Executive (1) files any document containing the trade secret under seal,
and (2) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order. Nothing in this Agreement is
intended to conflict with 18 U.S.C. §1833(b) or create liability for disclosures of trade secrets that are
expressly allowed by such section.

(e) Subject to the permitted disclosures in Section 10(d), the Executive agrees that
the Executive will not at any time during the Term or thereafter, directly or indirectly, in any forum or
in any manner (including, but not limited to, orally, in writing or electronically whether for attribution
or anonymously) to any third party (including, but not limited, to any former, current or prospective
employee, client, investor, vendor or other counterparty) make, or cause to be made, any statement,
or express any observation or opinion disparaging or otherwise portraying in a negative light the
business, reputation, character, honesty, integrity, morality or business acumen or abilities of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, directors, officers, employees or direct or indirect equity holders,
including each equity holder’s respective affiliates.

(f) Injunctive Relief with Respect to Covenants. The Executive acknowledges and
agrees that the covenants and obligations of the Executive with respect to noncompetition,
nonsolicitation and confidentiality, as the case may be, set forth herein relate to special, unique and
extraordinary matters and that a violation or threatened violation of any of the terms of such
covenants or obligations will cause the Company irreparable injury for which adequate remedies are
not available at law. Therefore, the Executive agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law,
that the Company shall be entitled to an injunction, restraining order or such other equitable relief
(without the requirement to post bond) restraining the Executive from committing any violation of
the covenants or obligations contained in this Section 10. These injunctive remedies are cumulative
and are in addition to any other rights and remedies the Company may have at law or in equity. In
connection with the foregoing provisions of this Section 10, the Executive represents that the
Executive’s economic means and circumstances are such that such provisions will not prevent the
Executive from providing for the Executive and the Executive’s family on a basis satisfactory to the
Executive.

Nothing in this Section 10 shall impede, restrict or otherwise interfere with the Executive’s
participation in any Excluded Activities.
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The Executive agrees that the restraints imposed upon the Executive pursuant to this Section
10 are necessary for the reasonable and proper protection of the Company and its subsidiaries and
affiliates, and that each and every one of the restraints is reasonable in respect to subject matter,
length of time and geographic area. The parties further agree that, in the event that any provision of
this Section 10 shall be determined by any court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction to be
unenforceable by reason of its being extended over too great a time, too large a geographic area or
too great a range of activities, such provision may be modified by the court or arbitrator to permit its
enforcement to the maximum extent permitted by law.

Section 11. Intellectual Property. During the Term, the Executive shall promptly disclose
to the Company, its subsidiaries or their respective successors or assigns, and grant to the Company
and its successors and assigns without any separate remuneration or compensation other than that
received by the Executive in the course of the Executive’s employment, the Executive’s entire right,
title and interest in and to any and all inventions, developments, discoveries, models, or any other
intellectual property of any type or nature whatsoever developed solely during the Term
(“Intellectual Property”), whether developed by the Executive during or after business hours, or
alone or in connection with others, that is in any way related to the business of the Company, its
subsidiaries or its successors or assigns. This provision shall not apply to books or articles authored
by the Executive during non-work hours, consistent with the Executive’s obligations under this
Agreement including Section 10 thereof, so long as such books or articles (a) are not funded in whole
or in part by the Company, (b) do not interfere with the performance of the Executive’s duties under
this Agreement, and (c) do not use or contain any Confidential Information or Intellectual Property of
the Company or its subsidiaries. The Executive agrees, at the Company’s expense, to take all steps
necessary or proper to vest title to all such Intellectual Property in the Company, and cooperate fully
and assist the Company in any litigation or other proceedings involving any such Intellectual
Property.

Section 12. Disputes.

(a) Arbitration. Excluding requests for equitable relief by the Company under
Section 10(f), all controversies, claims or disputes arising between the parties that are not resolved
within sixty (60) days after written notice from one party to the other setting forth the nature of such
controversy, claim or dispute shall be submitted to binding arbitration in Maricopa County, Arizona,
including, without limitation, (i) any dispute, controversy or claim related in any way to the
Executive’s employment with the Company or any termination thereof, (ii) any dispute, controversy
or claim of alleged discrimination, harassment or retaliation (including, but not limited to, claims
based on race, sex, sexual preference, religion, national origin, age, marital or family status, medical
condition, handicap or disability) and (iii) any claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the
breach thereof (collectively, “Disputes”). Arbitration of disputes under this Agreement shall proceed
in accordance with the Employment Dispute Resolution Rules of the American Arbitration
Association (“AAA”) as those rules are applied to individually negotiated employment agreements, as
then in effect (“Rules”); provided, however, that both parties shall have the opportunity to conduct
pre-arbitration discovery; provided, further, that nothing herein will require arbitration of any claim
or charge which, by law, cannot be the subject of a compulsory arbitration agreement; and provided,
further, that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Executive may, but is not required
to, arbitrate claims for sexual harassment or assault to the extent applicable law renders a pre-
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dispute arbitration agreement covering such claims invalid or unenforceable.  The arbitration shall be 
decided by a single arbitrator mutually agreed upon by the parties or, in the absence of such 
agreement, by an arbitrator selected according to the applicable rules of the AAA.

(i) Any judgment on or enforcement of any award, including an award providing
for interim or permanent injunctive relief, rendered by the arbitrator may be entered, enforced
or appealed in any court of competent jurisdiction. Any arbitration proceedings, decision or
award rendered hereunder, and the validity, effect and interpretation of this arbitration
provision, will be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §1 et seq.

(ii) It is part of the essence of this Agreement that any Disputes hereunder will be
resolved expeditiously and as confidentially as possible. Accordingly, the Company and the
Executive agree that all proceedings in any arbitration will be conducted under seal and kept
strictly confidential. In that regard, no party will use, disclose or permit the disclosure of any
information, evidence or documents produced by any other party in the arbitration
proceedings or about the existence, contents or results of the proceedings except as may be
required by any legal process, as required in an action in aid of arbitration or for enforcement
of or appeal from an arbitral award or as may be permitted by the arbitrator for the
preparation and conduct of the arbitration proceedings. Before making any disclosure
permitted by the preceding sentence, the party intending to make such disclosure will give the
other party reasonable written notice of the intended disclosure and afford such other party a
reasonable opportunity to protect its interests.

(b) Jury Waiver. Each party to this Agreement understands and expressly
acknowledges that in agreeing to submit the disputes described in Section 12(a) to binding
arbitration, such party is knowingly and voluntarily waiving all rights to have such disputes heard and
decided by the judicial process in any court in any jurisdiction. This waiver includes, without
limitation, the right otherwise enjoyed by such party to a jury trial.

(c) Limitations Period. All arbitration proceedings pursuant to this Agreement
shall be commenced within the time period provided for by the legally recognized statute of
limitations applicable to the claim being asserted. No applicable limitations period shall be deemed
shortened or extended by this Agreement.

(d) Arbitrator’s Decision. The arbitrator shall have the power to award any party
any relief available to such party under applicable law, but may not exceed that power. The arbitrator
shall explain the reasons for the award and must produce a formal written opinion. The arbitrator’s
award shall be final and binding and judgment upon the award may be entered in any court of
competent jurisdiction. There shall be no appeal from the award except on those grounds specified by
the Federal Arbitration Act and case law interpreting the Federal Arbitration Act.

(e) Legal Fees. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 12(d), the
Arbitrator shall have the discretion to order the Company to pay or promptly reimburse the Executive
for the reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred by the Executive in successfully enforcing or
defending any right of the Executive pursuant to this Agreement even if the Executive does not
prevail on all issues; provided, however, that the Company shall have no
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obligation to reimburse the Executive unless the amount recovered by the Executive from the
Company, exclusive of fees and costs, is at least equal to the greater of (i) $50,000, or (ii) 25% of the
award sought by the Executive in any arbitration or other legal proceeding.

(f) Availability of Provisional Injunctive Relief. Notwithstanding the parties’
agreement to submit all disputes to final and binding arbitration, either party may file an action in any
court of competent jurisdiction to seek and obtain provisional injunctive and equitable relief to ensure
that any relief sought in arbitration is not rendered ineffectual by interim harm that could occur
during the pendency of the arbitration proceeding.

Section 13. Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify the Executive, to the
maximum extent permitted by applicable law and the governing instruments of the Company, against
all costs, charges and expenses incurred or sustained by the Executive, including the cost of legal
counsel selected and retained by the Executive in connection with any action, suit or proceeding to
which the Executive may be made a party by reason of the Executive being or having been an officer,
director or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Section 14. Cooperation in Future Matters. The Executive hereby agrees that for a
period of twelve (12) months following the Executive’s termination of employment, the Executive
shall cooperate with the Company’s reasonable requests relating to matters that pertain to the
Executive’s employment by the Company, including, without limitation, providing information or
limited consultation as to such matters, participating in legal proceedings, investigations or audits on
behalf of the Company, or otherwise being reasonably available to the Company for other related
purposes. Any such cooperation shall be performed at scheduled times taking into consideration the
Executive’s other commitments, and the Executive shall be compensated at a reasonable hourly or
per diem rate to be agreed upon by the parties to the extent such cooperation is required on more than
an occasional and limited basis. The Executive shall not be required to perform such cooperation to
the extent it conflicts with any requirements of exclusivity of services for another employer or
otherwise, nor in any manner that in the good faith belief of the Executive would conflict with the
Executive’s rights under or ability to enforce this Agreement.

Section 15. General.

(a) Notices. Any notices or other communications required or permitted under, or
otherwise given in connection with, this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have
been duly given (a) on the date delivered or sent if delivered in person or by email, (b) on the fifth
(5th) Business Day after dispatch by registered or certified mail, or (c) on the next business day if
transmitted by nationally recognized overnight courier, in each case as follows:

to the Company:

Ivory Parent, LLC
c/o GIC Real Estate, Inc.
280 Park Avenue, 9th Floor
New York, New York 10017
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Attention:  Jesse Hom and Daniel Santiago
Email: jessehom@gic.com.sg; danielsantiago@gic.com.sg

and

Oak Street Real Estate Capital, LLC
30 N. LaSalle Street, Suite 4140
Chicago, Illinois 60602
Attention: Michael Reiter and Jared Sheiker
Email: michael.reiter@blueowl.com; jared.sheiker@blueowl.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
One Manhattan West
New York, New York 10001
Attention: Blair Thetford, Esq.
Email: blair.thetford@skadden.com

and

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
155 N Upper Wacker Drive
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Attention:  Nancy Olson, Esq.
Email: nancy.olson@skadden.com

to the Executive:

At the Executive’s last residence and email address shown on the records of the
Company.

Any such notice shall be effective (i) if delivered personally, when received or (ii) if sent by
overnight courier, when receipted for.

(b) Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction finds or declares any
provision of this Agreement invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof shall not in any way be affected or impaired.

(c) Waivers. No delay or omission by either party hereto in exercising any right,
power or privilege hereunder shall impair such right, power or privilege, nor shall any single or
partial exercise of any such right, power or privilege preclude any further exercise thereof or the
exercise of any other right, power or privilege.

(d) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each
of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, e-mail or other means
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of electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original
signed copy of this Agreement.

(e) Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
Company’s successors and the Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors,
administrators, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. This Agreement shall not be assignable by
the Executive, it being understood and agreed that this is a contract for the Executive’s personal
services. This Agreement shall not be assignable by the Company except that the Company shall
assign it in connection with a transaction involving the succession by a third party to all or
substantially all of the Company’s business and/or assets (whether direct or indirect and whether by
purchase, merger, consolidation, liquidation or otherwise). When assigned to a successor, the
assignee shall assume this Agreement and expressly agree to perform this Agreement in the same
manner and to the same extent as the Company would be required to perform it in the absence of
such an assignment. For all purposes under this Agreement, the term “Company” shall include any
successor to the Company’s business and/or assets that executes and delivers the assumption
agreement described in the immediately preceding sentence or that becomes bound by this
Agreement by operation of law.

(f) Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the
parties and, effective as of the Effective Date, supersedes all prior agreements and understandings,
whether written or oral, relating to the subject matter hereof, including without limitation the Existing
Employment Agreement. This Agreement may not be amended except by a written instrument
hereafter signed by the Executive and a duly authorized representative of the Board (other than the
Executive).

(g) Governing Law and Jurisdiction. Except for Section 12 of this Agreement,
which shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, this Agreement and the performance hereof
shall be construed and governed in accordance with the laws of the State of Arizona, without giving
effect to principles of conflicts of law. The Executive hereby expressly consents to the personal
jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in Arizona for any lawsuit filed there against the
Executive by the Company arising from or relating to this Agreement.

(h) 409A Compliance. It is intended that this Agreement comply with Section
409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations and IRS guidance thereunder (collectively referred to
as “Section 409A”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, this Agreement shall, to the maximum
extent possible, be administered, interpreted and construed in a manner consistent with Section 409A.
To the extent that any reimbursement, fringe benefit or other, similar plan or arrangement in which
the Executive participates during the Term or thereafter provides for a “deferral of compensation”
within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, (i) the amount of the benefit provided thereunder in
a taxable year of the Executive shall not affect the amount of such benefit provided in any other
taxable year of the Executive (except that a plan providing medical or health benefits may impose a
generally applicable limit on the amount that may be reimbursed or paid), (ii) any portion of such
benefit provided in the form of a reimbursement shall be paid to the Executive on or before the last
day of the Executive’s taxable year following the Executive’s taxable year in which the expense was
incurred, and (iii) such benefit shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for any other benefit.
For all purposes under this Agreement, reference to the Executive’s “termination of employment”
(and corollary
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terms) from the Company shall be construed to refer to the Executive’s “separation from service” (as
determined under Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1(h), as uniformly applied by the Company) from the
Company to the extent necessary to comply with and avoid imposition on the Executive of any tax
penalty imposed under, Section 409A. If the Executive is a “specified employee” within the meaning
of Section 409A, any payment required to be made to the Executive hereunder upon or following the
Executive’s date of termination for any reason other than death or “disability” (as such terms are used
in Section 409A(a)(2) of the Code) shall, to the extent necessary to comply with and avoid imposition
on the Executive of any tax penalty imposed under, Section 409A, be delayed and paid in a single
lump sum during the ten (10) day period following the six (6) month anniversary of the date of
termination. Any severance payments or benefits under this Agreement that would be considered
deferred compensation under Section 409A will be paid on, or, in the case of installments, will not
commence until, the sixty-second (62nd) day following separation from service, or, if later, such time
as is required by the preceding sentence or by Section 409A. Any installment payments that would
have been made to the Executive during the sixty-two (62)-day period immediately following the
Executive’s separation from service but for the preceding sentence will be paid to the Executive on
the sixty-second (62nd) day following the Executive’s separation from service and the remaining
payments shall be made as provided in this Agreement.

(i) Construction. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the
language chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall
be applied against any party. The headings of sections of this Agreement are for convenience of
reference only and shall not affect its meaning or construction.

(j) Payments and Exercise of Rights After Death. Any amounts payable hereunder
after the Executive’s death shall be paid to the Executive’s designated beneficiary or beneficiaries,
whether received as a designated beneficiary or by will or the laws of descent and distribution. The
Executive may designate a beneficiary or beneficiaries for all purposes of this Agreement, and may
change at any time such designation, by notice to the Company making specific reference to this
Agreement. If no designated beneficiary survives the Executive or the Executive fails to designate a
beneficiary for purposes of this Agreement prior to the Executive’s death, all amounts thereafter due
hereunder shall be paid, as and when payable, to the Executive’s spouse, if such spouse survives the
Executive, and otherwise to the Executive’s estate.

(k) Consultation With Counsel. The Executive acknowledges that, prior to the
execution of this Agreement, the Executive has had a full and complete opportunity to consult with
counsel or other advisers of the Executive’s own choosing concerning the terms, enforceability and
implications of this Agreement, and that the Company has not made any representations or warranties
to the Executive concerning the terms, enforceability and implications of this Agreement other than
as are reflected in this Agreement. The Company acknowledges that, following the execution of this
Agreement, the Executive shall have the right to consult with counsel of the Executive’s choosing (at
the Executive’s personal expense) concerning the terms, enforceability and implications of this
Agreement and the Executive’s rights, duties and obligations hereunder and as an officer and/or
director of the Company and, in so doing, may divulge Confidential Information to the Executive’s
counsel.
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(l) Withholding. Any payments provided for in this Agreement shall be paid after
deduction for any applicable income tax withholding required under federal, state or local law.

(m) Survival. The provisions of Sections 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.

(n) Waiver of Good Reason.  The Executive acknowledges and agrees that neither 
the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement or any changes to the 
Executive’s terms and conditions of employment, compensation or benefits as contemplated by this 
Agreement or otherwise will constitute Good Reason (or any similar term) under the Existing 
Employment Agreement or any other arrangement to which the Executive is subject.   

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed
as of the date first above written.

IVORY REIT, LLC

By: /s/  Daniel Santiago

Name:  Daniel Santiago
Title:  Authorized Signatory

EXECUTIVE

/s/ Mary Fedewa
Mary Fedewa

​ 
​ 

​ 



Exhibit 10.2

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
BETWEEN

STORE CAPITAL LLC
AND CHAD A. FREED

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of February 3, 2023 (the
“Effective Date”), is entered into by and between STORE Capital LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (the “Company”), and Chad A. Freed (the “Executive”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, up until the date hereof, the Executive served as the General Counsel, Executive
Vice President and Secretary of STORE Capital Corporation (“STORE”) pursuant to the terms of an
Employment Agreement with the Company and STORE Capital Advisors, LLC, dated as of April 15,
2021 (the “Existing Employment Agreement”);

WHEREAS, on the date hereof, STORE was merged with and into the Company upon the
closing of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger
Agreement”) by and among Ivory Parent, LLC, the Company and STORE, dated as of September 15,
2022; and

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to enter into this Agreement, which
supersedes and replaces the Existing Employment Agreement in its entirety.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the future performance and responsibilities of the
Executive and the Company and upon the other terms and conditions and mutual covenants
hereinafter provided, the parties hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Employment.

(a) Position. The Executive shall be employed by the Company during the Term (defined
below) as its General Counsel, Executive Vice President and Secretary. The Executive shall report
directly to the Chief Executive Officer.

(b) Duties. The Executive’s principal employment duties and responsibilities shall be
those duties and responsibilities customary for the positions of General Counsel, Executive Vice
President and Secretary and such other executive officer duties and responsibilities as the Chief
Executive Officer shall from time to time reasonably assign to the Executive.

(c) Extent of Services. Except for illnesses and vacation periods or as otherwise approved
in writing by the Chief Executive Officer, the Executive shall devote substantially all of the
Executive’s business time and attention and the Executive’s best efforts to the performance of the
Executive’s duties and responsibilities under this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Executive may (i) make any investment in entities unrelated to the Company and its affiliates, so long
as (A) the Executive is not obligated or required to, and shall not in fact, devote any material
managerial efforts to such investment, and (B) such investment is not in violation of any other terms
of this Agreement, including Section 10 hereof;
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(ii) participate in charitable, academic or community activities, and in trade or professional
organizations; or (iii) hold directorships in other businesses as permitted by the Board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) (the activities in clauses (i) through (iii) above are collectively referred
to herein as the “Excluded Activities”); provided in each case, that none of the Excluded Activities,
individually or in the aggregate, interfere with the performance of the Executive’s duties under this
Agreement.

(d) Location of Employment.  The principal location of the Executive’s employment with 
the Company will be at the Company’s office in Scottsdale, Arizona (subject to any remote working 
arrangements approved by the Company), although the Executive understands and agrees that the 
Executive may be required to travel from time to time for business reasons.

Section 2. Term.

(a) The Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall commence on the Effective
Date and, unless terminated earlier as provided in Section 7, the Executive’s employment shall
continue until the third (3rd) anniversary of the Effective Date (the “Initial Term”).

(b) Upon the expiration of the Initial Term and each Renewal Term (as defined below),
the Executive’s employment will automatically continue for subsequent one (1) year terms (each a
“Renewal Term”) unless either the Company or the Executive provides not less than ninety (90)
days’ advance written notice to the other that such party does not wish to renew the Agreement for a
subsequent Renewal Term. In the event such notice of nonrenewal is given pursuant to this Section
2(b), this Agreement will expire at the end of the then current term. The Initial Term and each
subsequent Renewal Term, taking into account any early termination of employment pursuant to
Section 7, are referred to collectively as the “Term.”

Section 3. Base Salary. The Company shall pay the Executive a base salary (the “Base
Salary”) during the Term, which shall be payable in periodic installments according to the
Company’s normal payroll practices. The initial Base Salary hereunder shall be paid at the annualized
rate of $420,000. The Executive’s Base Salary shall be considered annually by the Board, and may be
increased in the sole discretion of the Board. Any increase shall be retroactive to January 1 of the
year in which such increase is approved. The Base Salary, as adjusted by any subsequent increases,
shall not be decreased during the Term. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Base Salary” shall
mean the amount of the Executive’s annual base salary as established and adjusted from time to time
pursuant to this Section 3.

Section 4. Annual Cash Incentive Bonus.

(a) The Executive shall be eligible to receive an annual cash incentive bonus (the
“Cash Bonus”) for each fiscal year during the Term, commencing with 2023. The target amount of
the Cash Bonus for which the Executive is eligible shall be equal to 75% of the Base Salary (the
“Target Bonus Amount”), with a “threshold” amount equal to 37.5% of the Base Salary and a 
maximum amount equal to 150% of the Base Salary.  The actual amount of the Cash Bonus payable 
to the Executive with respect to any calendar year during the Term shall be based upon the 
satisfactory achievement of reasonable performance metrics and key performance 
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indicators (such metrics, the “Bonus Metrics”) determined by the Board; provided that the Bonus
Metrics (and definitions thereof) for each of 2023, 2024 and 2025 are as set forth on Appendix A.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the Bonus Metrics that apply for any 
applicable year shall each be determined independently of one another and the amount of the 
resulting Cash Bonus shall be based on the level of determination of each individual Bonus Metric 
based on its applicable weighting.  As a result, (i) if the Board determines that any applicable Bonus 
Metric has been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the applicable performance 
year, then, based on the level of such achievement and the applicable weighting of such Bonus 
Metric, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment of the corresponding Cash Bonus with 
respect to that Bonus Metric and (ii) if the Board determines that an applicable Bonus Metric has not 
been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the applicable performance year, then 
no Cash Bonus shall be due and payable to the Executive for such year with respect to such Bonus 
Metric. If any applicable Bonus Metric has been achieved at a level between a “threshold” level and a
“target” level, or at a level between a “target” level and a “maximum” level, with respect to the
applicable performance level, then the Cash Bonus with respect to that Bonus Metric shall be
determined on the basis of linear interpolation between the applicable levels.

(c) The Cash Bonus, if any, shall be paid to the Executive no later than thirty (30)
days after the date on which the Board determines (i) whether or not the applicable Bonus Metrics for
such performance year have been achieved, and the level of such achievement, and (ii) the amount of
the actual Cash Bonus so earned; provided that in no event shall any Cash Bonus, if earned, be paid
later than March 15 of the year following the performance year to which it relates.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(ii) or Section 8(b)(ii) in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment under certain circumstances, the
Executive must be employed by the Company throughout the entirety of an applicable performance
year (January 1 through December 31) in order to receive all or any portion of a Cash Bonus. For the
avoidance of doubt, if the Executive was employed by the Company from January 1 through
December 31 of such performance year, the Executive has met the employment criterion for Cash
Bonus eligibility for that year and need not be employed by the Company thereafter, including at the
time the Cash Bonus, if any, is determined or paid for that performance year, in order to receive
payment of any Cash Bonus amount the Executive would otherwise be entitled to receive; provided,
that the Executive will not be eligible to receive payment of any unpaid Cash Bonus if the
Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause.

Section 5. Long-Term Incentive.

(a) The Executive shall be eligible to participate in a long-term cash incentive plan
(the “LTIP”).  Pursuant to the LTIP, the Executive will receive a long-term incentive grant every third 
fiscal year during the Term, each such grant to reflect a three-year performance period (the 
“Performance Period”) and with the first such grant to be received in fiscal year 2023 covering the 
2023-2025 Performance Period, the second such grant to be received in fiscal 2026 covering the 
2026-2028 Performance Period, and so on.  The target amount of the LTIP 
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grant for the initial 2023-2025 Performance Period shall be equal, on an annualized basis, to 214% of 
the Base Salary as in effect on the date of grant (the “Target LTIP Grant”), with a “threshold” 
amount equal to 33% of the Target LTIP Grant and a maximum amount equal to 300% of the Target 
LTIP Grant.  The actual amount of any LTIP grant that will be payable to the Executive shall be based 
upon the satisfactory achievement of reasonable performance metrics and key performance indicators 
(such metrics, the “LTIP Metrics”) determined by the Board over the applicable Performance Period,
with payment of the actual amount determined to be earned for the applicable Performance Period to
be made as provided in Section 5(c) below; provided that the LTIP Metrics (and definitions thereof)
with respect to the 2023 LTIP grant covering the Performance Period that begins on January 1, 2023
and ends on December 31, 2025 are as set forth on Appendix B and example calculations of the
potential payouts of the 2023 LTIP grant at varying levels of achievement of such LTIP Metrics are as
set forth on Appendix C.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the LTIP Metrics that apply for any applicable 
Performance Period shall each be determined independently of one another and the amount of the 
resulting LTIP payment shall be based on the level of determination of each individual LTIP Metric 
based on its applicable weighting.  As a result, (i) if the Board determines that any applicable LTIP 
Metric has been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the applicable Performance 
Period, then, based on the level of such achievement and the applicable weighting of such LTIP 
Metric, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment of the corresponding LTIP amount with 
respect to that LTIP Metric for such Performance Period, and (ii) if the Board determines that an 
applicable LTIP Metric has not been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the 
applicable Performance Period, then no LTIP payment shall be due and payable to the Executive for 
such Performance Period with respect to such LTIP Metric. If any applicable LTIP Metric has been 
achieved at a level between a “threshold” level and a “target” level, or at a level between a “target” 
level and a “maximum” level, with respect to the applicable Performance Period, then the 
corresponding LTIP payment with respect to that LTIP Metric shall be determined on the basis of 
linear interpolation between the applicable levels.

(c) The LTIP payment, if any, payable in respect of a Performance Period shall be
paid to the Executive no later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the Board determines (i)
whether or not the applicable LTIP Metrics for such Performance Period have been achieved, and the
level of such achievement, and (ii) the amount of the actual LTIP payment so earned; provided that in
no event shall any LTIP payment, if earned, be paid later than March 15 of the year following the
final year of the applicable Performance Period.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(iv) or Section 8(b)(iv) in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment under certain circumstances, the
Executive must be employed by the Company throughout the entirety of an applicable Performance
Period in order to receive all or any portion of an LTIP payment. For the avoidance of doubt, if the
Executive was employed by the Company through the final day of the Performance Period, the
Executive has met the employment criterion for the LTIP payment for that Performance Period and
need not be employed by the Company thereafter, including at the time the LTIP payment, if any, is
determined or paid for that Performance Period, in order to receive payment of any LTIP payment
amount the Executive would otherwise be entitled to
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receive; provided, that the Executive will not be eligible to receive payment of any unpaid LTIP
payments if the Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Board
determines in good faith that GIC and its affiliates have exited their investment in the Company (a
“GIC Exit”), then the Board shall determine the level of achievement as of the date of such GIC Exit 
of all applicable LTIP Metrics for any Performance Period that has not been completed as of the date 
of such GIC Exit and shall make any corresponding LTIP payments that the Board determines are 
payable to the Executive in respect thereof within 30 days following the date of the GIC Exit in full 
satisfaction of all rights that the Executive may otherwise have with respect to the LTIP.   

Section 6. Benefits.

(a) Paid Time Off. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to such paid
time off, including sick time and personal days, generally made available by the Company to other
senior executive officers of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s paid-
time off policy.

(b) Employee Benefit Plans. During the Term, the Executive (and, where
applicable, the Executive’s spouse and eligible dependents, if any, and their respective designated
beneficiaries) shall be eligible to participate in and receive the benefit of each employee benefit plan
sponsored or maintained by the Company and generally made available to other senior executive
officers of the Company, subject to the generally applicable provisions thereof. Nothing in this
Agreement shall in any way limit the Company’s right to amend or terminate any such employee
benefit plan in its sole discretion, with or without notice, so long as any such amendment affects the
Executive and the other senior executive officers of the Company in a similar fashion.

(c) Other Benefits. The perquisites set forth below shall be provided to the
Executive subject to continued employment with the Company:

(i) Disability Insurance. The Company shall maintain a supplemental,
long-term disability policy on behalf of the Executive; provided that the cost of such policy
(to the Company) shall not exceed $15,000 per year or such higher amount as may be
subsequently approved by the Board.

(ii) Annual Physical. The Company shall pay the cost of an annual medical
examination for the Executive by a licensed physician in the Scottsdale or Phoenix, Arizona
area selected by the Executive; provided that the cost for such annual medical examination
shall not exceed $2,500 per year or such higher amount as may be subsequently approved by
the Board.

(iii) Club Dues. The Company shall pay, or reimburse the Executive for, the
monthly membership dues actually incurred by the Executive for one fitness or country club
membership maintained by the Executive; provided that the payable or reimbursable amount
shall not exceed $1,000 per month or such higher amount as may be subsequently approved
by the Board. For the avoidance of doubt, except as specifically
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provided for above, the Company shall not pay, or reimburse the Executive for, any other
expenses associated with such club membership (including, but not limited to, any initiation
fees and personal expenditures at such club).

Section 7. Termination. The employment of the Executive by the Company pursuant to
this Agreement shall terminate:

(a) Death or Disability. Immediately upon the death or Disability of the Executive.
As used in this Agreement, “Disability” means the Executive’s inability to perform the essential
functions of the Executive’s position, with or without reasonable accommodation, due to a mental or
physical disability for a period of either (i) 90 consecutive days or (ii) 180 days in any 365 day
period.

(b) For Cause. At the election of the Company, for Cause. For purposes of this
Agreement, “Cause” means the Executive’s:

(i) in the reasonable judgment of the Board, refusal or neglect to perform
substantially all the Executive’s employment-related duties or to abide by or comply with the
lawful directives of the Board, which refusal or neglect is not cured within twenty (20) days’
of the Executive’s receipt of written notice from the Company;

(ii) personal dishonesty, incompetence or breach of fiduciary duty which,
in any case, has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Company or
any of its affiliates, as determined in the Board’s reasonable discretion;

(iii) violation by the Executive of any material written policy of the
Company (including any policy regarding sexual, racial or other harassment or
discrimination) that has been provided or made available to the Executive; provided, that, if
such violation is capable of being cured without resulting in financial or reputational harm to
the Company, the Executive shall have twenty (20) days after receipt of written notice of such
violation to so cure;

(iv) conviction of or entrance of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere (or any
applicable equivalent thereof) to a crime constituting a felony (or a crime or offense of
equivalent magnitude in any jurisdiction);

(v) willful violation of any federal, state or local law, rule, or regulation
that has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Company or any of its
affiliates, as determined in the Board’s reasonable discretion; or

(vi) material breach of any covenant contained in Section 10 of this
Agreement.

The Executive’s termination for Cause shall take effect immediately upon the Executive’s
receipt of written notice from the Company of such termination for Cause, which notice shall specify,
with particularity, each basis for the Company’s determination that Cause exists.
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(c) For Good Reason. At the election of the Executive, for Good Reason. For
purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following
actions or omissions, without the Executive’s written consent:

(i) A material reduction of, or other material adverse change in, the
Executive’s duties or responsibilities, such that the Executive is no longer performing the
duties or engaging in the responsibilities of a General Counsel, Executive Vice President and
Secretary, or the assignment to the Executive of any duties or responsibilities that are
materially inconsistent with the Executive’s position as General Counsel, Executive Vice
President and Secretary of the Company;

(ii) A material reduction by the Company in the Executive’s annual Base
Salary, Target Bonus Amount or Target LTIP Grant;

(iii)  (A) the requirement by the Company that the primary location at 
which the Executive performs the Executive’s duties be changed to a location that is outside 
of a 35-mile radius of Scottsdale, Arizona, or (B) a substantial increase in the amount of travel 
that the Executive is required to do because of a relocation of the Company’s headquarters 
from Scottsdale, Arizona;

(iv) A material breach by the Company of any provision of this Agreement
not otherwise specified in this Section 7(c), it being agreed and understood that any breach of
the Company’s obligations under Section 6(c) shall not constitute a material breach of this
Agreement and the Executive’s sole remedy for any breach of such Section 6(c) shall be
monetary damages; and

(v) Any failure by the Company to obtain from any successor to the
Company an agreement to assume and perform this Agreement as contemplated by Section
15(e).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive’s termination of employment for Good Reason shall
not be effective, and Good Reason shall not be deemed to exist, until (A) the Executive provides the
Company with written notice specifying, with particularity, each basis for the Executive’s
determination that actions or omissions constituting Good Reason have occurred, and (B) the
Company fails to cure or resolve the issues identified by the Executive’s notice within thirty (30)
days of the Company’s receipt of such notice. The Company and the Executive agree that such thirty
(30) day period shall be utilized to engage in discussions in a good faith effort to cure or resolve the
actions or omissions otherwise constituting Good Reason, and that the Executive will not be
considered to have resigned from employment during such thirty (30) day period.

(d) Without Cause; Without Good Reason. At the election of the Company,
without Cause, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Executive, or, at the election of the
Executive, without Good Reason, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Company. For the
avoidance of doubt, the exercise by the Company of its right to not extend the Agreement, or the
expiration of this Agreement by its terms at the end of the Term, shall constitute a termination at the
election of the Company without Cause.
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Section 8. Effects of Termination.

(a) Termination By the Company Without Cause or By the Executive for Good
Reason. If the employment of the Executive is terminated by the Company for any reason other than
Cause, death or Disability, or if the employment of the Executive is terminated by the Executive for
Good Reason, then, subject to the terms and conditions of Section 15(i), the Company shall pay or
provide to the Executive the following compensation and benefits:

(i) Accrued Obligations. Any and all Base Salary, Cash Bonus, LTIP and
any other compensation-related payments that have been earned but not yet paid, including (if
applicable) pay in lieu of accrued, but unused, vacation, and unreimbursed expenses that are
owed as of the date of the termination of the Executive’s employment, in each case that are
related to any period of employment preceding the Executive’s termination date (the
“Accrued Obligations”). Any earned but unpaid Cash Bonus or LTIP that is part of the
Accrued Obligations shall be paid at the time provided for in Section 4 or Section 5 above, as
applicable. Any Accrued Obligations that constitute retirement or deferred compensation shall
be payable in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable plan, program or
arrangement. All other Accrued Obligations shall be paid within thirty (30) days of the date of
termination, or, if earlier, not later than the time required by applicable law; provided that the
payment of any unreimbursed expenses shall be subject to the Executive’s submission of
substantiation of such expenses in accordance with the Company’s applicable expense policy;

(ii) Severance Payment.

(A) An amount equal to 1 times the Executive’s Base Salary in
effect on the date of termination; plus

(B) An amount equal to the Target Bonus Amount (calculated on
the basis of a full fiscal year).

The sum of the amounts payable under clauses (A) and (B) of this Section 8(a)(ii) are
referred to, collectively, as the “Severance Payment.” Subject to the provisions of
Section 8(e), the Severance Payment shall be paid to the Executive in a single, lump
sum cash payment within sixty-two (62) days following the effective date of the
Executive’s termination of employment; and

(iii) COBRA Reimbursement. If the Executive is eligible for, and elects to
receive, continued coverage for the Executive and, if applicable, the Executive’s eligible
dependents under the Company’s group health benefits plan(s) in accordance with the
provisions of COBRA, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for a period of twelve (12)
months following termination of the Executive’s employment (or, if less, for the period that
the Executive is eligible for such COBRA continuation coverage) for the excess of (A) the
amount that the Executive is required to pay monthly to maintain such continued coverage
under COBRA, over (B) the amount that the Executive would have paid monthly to
participate in the Company’s group health benefits plan(s) had the Executive continued to be
an employee of the Company (the “COBRA Reimbursement”
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and such amount, the “COBRA Reimbursement Amount”). COBRA Reimbursements shall
be made by the Company to the Executive consistent with the Company’s normal expense
reimbursement policy; provided that the Executive submits documentation to the Company
substantiating the Executive’s payments for COBRA coverage. However, if the Company
determines in its sole discretion that it cannot, without potentially violating applicable law
(including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), provide any
COBRA Reimbursements that otherwise would be due to the Executive under this Section
8(a)(iii), then the Company will, subject to the provisions of Section 15(i), in lieu of any such
COBRA Reimbursements, provide to the Executive a taxable monthly payment in an amount
equal to the COBRA Reimbursement Amount, which payments will be made regardless of
whether the Executive elects COBRA continuation coverage (the “Alternative Payments”).
Any Alternative Payments will cease to be provided when, and under the same terms and
conditions, COBRA Reimbursements would have ceased under this Section 8(a)(iii). For the
avoidance of doubt, the Alternative Payments may be used for any purpose, including, but not
limited to, continuation coverage under COBRA, and will be subject to all applicable taxes
and withholdings, if any. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary under this Agreement, if at
any time the Company determines in its sole, good faith discretion that it cannot provide the
Alternative Payments contemplated by the preceding sentence without violating Section 2716
of the Public Health Service Act, the Executive will not receive such payments.

(iv) LTIP. A cash payment equal to the product of (A) the LTIP payment
that the Executive would have received for any Performance Period that has not been
completed as of the date of such termination if the Executive had continued in employment
through the end of the Performance Period, if any, based on the Board’s determination of
actual performance for the entire Performance Period in accordance with Section 5, and (B) a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days the Executive was employed during
such Performance Period and the denominator of which is the total number of days in the
Performance Period (the “Pro-Rated LTIP Payments”).  Such cash payment shall be made at 
the same time as it would have been paid in accordance with Section 5 if the Executive had 
remained employed through the end of the applicable Performance Period.  

(b) Termination on Death or Disability. If the employment of the Executive is
terminated due to the Executive’s death or Disability, the Company shall have no further liability or
further obligation to the Executive except that the Company shall pay or provide to the Executive (or,
if applicable, the Executive’s estate or designated beneficiaries under any Company-sponsored
employee benefit plan in the event of the Executive’s death) the following compensation and
benefits:

(i) The Accrued Obligations, at the times provided and subject to the
conditions set forth in Section 8(a)(i) above;

(ii) An amount equal to the Target Bonus Amount for which the Executive
is eligible for the year in which the termination of employment occurs, prorated for the
portion of such year during which the Executive was employed by the
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Company prior to the effective date of the Executive’s termination of employment, payable as
set forth in Section 8(a)(ii) above;

(iii) COBRA Reimbursement for 18 months provided in accordance with
Section 8(a)(iii) above; and

(iv) The Pro-Rated LTIP Payments in accordance with Section 8(a)(iv)
above.

(c) By the Company for Cause or By the Executive Without Good Reason. In the
event that the Executive’s employment is terminated (i) by the Company for Cause, or (ii) voluntarily
by the Executive without Good Reason, the Company’s sole obligation shall be to pay the Executive
the Accrued Obligations at the times provided and subject to the conditions set forth in Section 8(a)(i)
above; provided, that, if such termination is for Cause then the Executive shall not be eligible to
receive any unpaid Cash Bonus or LTIP payments.

(d) Termination of Authority; Resignation from Boards. Immediately upon the
termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, or the expiration of
this Agreement, notwithstanding anything else appearing in this Agreement or otherwise, the
Executive will stop serving the functions of the Executive’s terminated or expired positions, and shall
be without any of the authority or responsibility for such positions. On request of the Board at any
time following the termination or expiration of the Executive’s employment for any reason, the
Executive shall resign from the Board (and the boards of directors or managers of the Company or
any affiliate of the Company) if then a member and shall execute such documentation as the
Company shall reasonably request to evidence the cessation of the Executive’s terminated or expired
positions.

(e) Release. Prior to the payment by the Company of the payments and benefits
provided under Sections 8(a)(ii)-(iv) or Sections 8(b) (ii)-(iv) hereunder, if any, and in no event later
than sixty-two (62) days following the effective date of the Executive’s termination, the Executive
(or, if applicable, the Executive’s representative) shall, as a condition to receipt of such payments and
benefits, deliver to the Company a General Release of Claims in a form acceptable to the Company
that is effective and irrevocable with respect to all potential claims the Executive may have against
the Company or its affiliates or other related parties or individuals related to the Executive’s
employment. If the Executive does not timely execute and return the release, or timely revokes such
release after delivery, the Company shall not be required to pay the Executive all or any portion of
such payments and benefits.

Section 9. Section 280G of the Code. Notwithstanding anything contained in this
Agreement to the contrary, if the Executive would receive (a) any payment, deemed payment or other
benefit under this Agreement, that together with any other payment, deemed payment or other benefit
the Executive may receive under any other plan, program, policy or arrangement (collectively with
the payments under Section 8 hereof, the “Covered Payments”), would constitute an “excess
parachute payment” under Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), that would be or become subject to the tax (the “Excise Tax”) imposed under Section 4999
of the Code or any similar tax that may hereafter be imposed, and (b) a greater net after-tax benefit by
limiting the Covered Payments so that the portion thereof



11

that are parachute payments do not exceed the maximum amount of such parachute payments that
could be paid to the Executive without the Executive’s being subject to any Excise Tax (the “Safe
Harbor Amount”), then the Covered Payments to the Executive shall be reduced (but not below zero)
so that the aggregate amount of parachute payments that the Executive receives does not exceed the
Safe Harbor Amount. In the event that the Executive receives reduced payments and benefits
hereunder, such payments and benefits shall be reduced in connection with the application of the Safe
Harbor Amount in a manner determined by the Board in a manner that complies with Section 409A
that first reduces any payments or benefits that are valued at full value under the applicable
provisions of Section 280G, with the latest in time payments or benefits reduced first, and then
reducing any payments or benefits that are valued at less than full value under the applicable
provisions of Section 280G, with the latest in time payments or benefits reduced first. For purposes of
determining whether any of the Covered Payments will be subject to the Excise Tax, such Covered
Payments will be treated as “parachute payments” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code,
and all “parachute payments” in excess of the “base amount” (as defined under Section 280G(b)(3) of
the Code) shall be treated as subject to the Excise Tax, unless, and except to the extent that, in the
good faith judgment of a public accounting firm appointed by the Company prior to the change in
control or tax counsel selected by such accounting firm (the “Accountants”), the Company has a
reasonable basis to conclude that such Covered Payments (in whole or in part) either do not constitute
“parachute payments” or represent reasonable compensation for personal services actually rendered
(within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(4)(B) of the Code) in excess of the allocable portion of the
“base amount,” or such “parachute payments” are otherwise not subject to such Excise Tax, and the
value of any non-cash benefits or any deferred payment or benefit shall be determined by the
Accountants in accordance with the principles of Section 280G of the Code.

Section 10. Noncompetition; Nonsolicitation and Confidentiality.

(a) Consideration. The Executive acknowledges that, in the course of the
Executive’s employment with the Company, the Executive will serve as a member of the Company’s
senior management and will become familiar with the Company’s trade secrets and with other
confidential and proprietary information and that the Executive’s services will be of special, unique
and extraordinary value to the Company and its subsidiaries. The Executive further acknowledges
that the business of the Company and its subsidiaries is national in scope and that the Company and
its subsidiaries, in the course of such business, work with customers and vendors throughout the
United States, and compete with other companies located throughout the United States. Therefore, in
consideration of the foregoing, the Executive agrees that (i) the Executive shall comply with
subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this Section 10 during the Term and for the period of time
following the Term specified in each such subparagraph, and (ii) the Company’s obligation to make
any of the payments and benefits to be paid or provided to the Executive under this Agreement
(including, without limitation, under Section 8 and Section 9) shall be subject to the Executive’s
compliance with subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this Section 10, during the Term and for the
period of time following the Term specified in each such subparagraph.

(b) Noncompetition. During the Term and for a period of twelve (12) months
following the termination of the Executive’s employment (the “Restricted Period”), the Executive
shall not, anywhere in the United States where the Company or its subsidiaries
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conduct business prior to the date of the Executive’s termination of employment (the “Restricted
Territory”), directly or indirectly, (i) whether as a principal, partner, member, employee, independent
contractor, consultant, shareholder or otherwise, provide services to (A) any person or entity (or any
division, unit or other segment of any entity) whose principal business is to purchase real estate from,
and to lease such real estate back to, the owners and/or operators of businesses that (x) are operated
from single-tenant locations within the United States, (y) generate sales and profits at each such
location, and (z) operate within the service, retail, and manufacturing sectors, including, without
limitation and for example only, restaurants, early childhood education centers, movie theaters, health
clubs and furniture stores, or (B) any other business or in respect of any other endeavor that is
competitive with or similar to any other business activity (a) engaged in by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries prior to the date of the Executive’s termination of employment or (b) that has been
submitted to the Board (or a committee thereof) for consideration and that is under active
consideration by the Board (or a committee thereof) as of the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment or (ii) usurp any transactional opportunity (the services described in Section 10(b)(i) and
Section 10(b)(ii) are defined collectively as the “Restricted Business”). Nothing in this Section 10
shall prohibit the Executive from making any passive investment in a public company, from owning
five percent (5%) or less of the issued and outstanding voting securities of any entity, or from serving
as a non-employee, independent director of a company that does not compete with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (as described in this Section 10(b)), provided that such activities do not create a
conflict of interest with the Executive’s employment by the Company or result in the Executive being
obligated or required to devote any managerial efforts to such entity.

(c) Non-Solicitation of Employees. During the Restricted Period, except in
accordance with performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder, the Executive shall not, directly or
indirectly, induce any person who was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
Executive’s employment with the Company and with whom the Executive had contact or about
whom the Executive had access to Confidential Information during the then-immediately preceding
twelve (12) calendar month period ending no later than the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment to terminate employment with that entity, and the Executive shall not, directly or
indirectly, either individually or as owner, agent, employee, consultant or otherwise, employ, offer
employment to or otherwise interfere with the employment relationship of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries with any person who is or was employed by the Company or such subsidiary during the
Executive’s employment with the Company and with whom the Executive had contact or about
whom the Executive had access to Confidential Information during the then-immediately preceding
twelve (12) calendar month period ending no later than the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment unless, at the time of such employment, offer or other interference, such person shall
have ceased to be employed by such entity for a period of at least six (6) months; provided that the 
foregoing will not apply to individuals solicited or hired as a result of the use of an independent 
employment agency (so long as the agency was not directed to solicit or hire a particular individual) 
or to individuals who have responded to a public solicitation to the general population.  

(d) Confidentiality. During the Executive’s employment and at all times following
the termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason, the Executive shall not, without the
prior written consent of the Company, use, divulge, disclose or make accessible to any other person,
firm, partnership, corporation or other entity any confidential or proprietary
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information pertaining to the business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, including, without
limitation, know-how; trade secrets; customer lists; pricing policies; operational methods; and other
information relating to products, processes, past, current and prospective customers or other third
parties, services and other business and financial affairs (collectively, the “Confidential
Information”), in each case to which the Executive has had or may have access or which the
Executive developed or may have developed. The Company acknowledges that, prior to the
Executive’s employment with the Company, the Executive has lawfully acquired extensive
knowledge of the industries and businesses in which the Company engages and the Company’s
customers, and that the provisions of this Section 10 are not intended to restrict the Executive’s use of
such previously acquired knowledge. Upon termination of the Executive’s employment with the
Company for any reason, the Executive shall return to the Company all Company property and all
written Confidential Information in the possession of the Executive. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement or any other Company document to the contrary, the Executive shall be permitted, and the
Company expressly acknowledges the Executive’s right, to divulge, disclose or make accessible to
the Executive’s counsel any Confidential Information that, in the good faith judgment of the
Executive (or the Executive’s counsel), is necessary or appropriate in order for counsel to evaluate
the Executive’s rights, duties or obligations under this Agreement or in connection with the
Executive’s status as an officer and/or director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

In the event that the Executive receives a request or is required (by deposition, interrogatory, 
request for documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand or similar process) to disclose all or any 
part of the Confidential Information to a third party (other than the Executive’s counsel), the 
Executive agrees to (a) promptly notify the Company in writing of the existence, terms and 
circumstances surrounding such request or requirement; (b) consult with the Company, at the 
Company’s request, on the advisability of taking legally available steps to resist or narrow such 
request or requirement; and (c) assist the Company, at the Company’s request and expense, in seeking 
a protective order or other appropriate remedy. In the event that such protective order or other remedy 
is not obtained or that the Company requests no consultation or assistance from the Executive 
pursuant to this provision or otherwise waives compliance with the provisions hereof, the Executive 
shall not be liable for such disclosure unless such disclosure was caused by or resulted from a 
previous disclosure by the Executive not permitted by this Agreement.  Further, nothing in this 
Agreement or any other agreement by and between the Company and the Executive shall prohibit or 
restrict the Executive from (i) voluntarily communicating with an attorney retained by the Executive, 
(ii) voluntarily communicating with any law enforcement, government agency, including the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or a 
state or local commission on human rights, or any self-regulatory organization, regarding possible 
violations of law, including criminal conduct and unlawful employment practices or (iii) recovering a 
SEC whistleblower award as provided under Section 21F of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in 
each case without advance notice to the Company.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1833(b), the Executive acknowledges that the Executive shall not
have criminal or civil liability under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade
secret of the Company that (i) is made (A) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government
official, either directly or indirectly, or to the Executive’s attorney; and (B) solely for the purpose of
reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a
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complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal.
If the Executive files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of
law, the Executive may disclose the trade secret to his or her attorney and use the trade secret
information in the court proceeding, if the Executive (1) files any document containing the trade
secret under seal, and (2) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order. Nothing in
this Agreement is intended to conflict with 18 U.S.C. §1833(b) or create liability for disclosures of
trade secrets that are expressly allowed by such section.

(e) Subject to the permitted disclosures in Section 10(d), the Executive agrees that
the Executive will not at any time during the Term or thereafter, directly or indirectly, in any forum or
in any manner (including, but not limited to, orally, in writing or electronically whether for attribution
or anonymously) to any third party (including, but not limited, to any former, current or prospective
employee, client, investor, vendor or other counterparty) make, or cause to be made, any statement,
or express any observation or opinion disparaging or otherwise portraying in a negative light the
business, reputation, character, honesty, integrity, morality or business acumen or abilities of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, directors, officers, employees or direct or indirect equity holders,
including each equity holder’s respective affiliates.

(f) Injunctive Relief with Respect to Covenants. The Executive acknowledges and
agrees that the covenants and obligations of the Executive with respect to noncompetition,
nonsolicitation and confidentiality, as the case may be, set forth herein relate to special, unique and
extraordinary matters and that a violation or threatened violation of any of the terms of such
covenants or obligations will cause the Company irreparable injury for which adequate remedies are
not available at law. Therefore, the Executive agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law,
that the Company shall be entitled to an injunction, restraining order or such other equitable relief
(without the requirement to post bond) restraining the Executive from committing any violation of
the covenants or obligations contained in this Section 10. These injunctive remedies are cumulative
and are in addition to any other rights and remedies the Company may have at law or in equity. In
connection with the foregoing provisions of this Section 10, the Executive represents that the
Executive’s economic means and circumstances are such that such provisions will not prevent the
Executive from providing for the Executive and the Executive’s family on a basis satisfactory to the
Executive.

Nothing in this Section 10 shall impede, restrict or otherwise interfere with the Executive’s
participation in any Excluded Activities.

The Executive agrees that the restraints imposed upon the Executive pursuant to this Section
10 are necessary for the reasonable and proper protection of the Company and its subsidiaries and
affiliates, and that each and every one of the restraints is reasonable in respect to subject matter,
length of time and geographic area. The parties further agree that, in the event that any provision of
this Section 10 shall be determined by any court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction to be
unenforceable by reason of its being extended over too great a time, too large a geographic area or
too great a range of activities, such provision may be modified by the court or arbitrator to permit its
enforcement to the maximum extent permitted by law.
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Section 11. Intellectual Property. During the Term, the Executive shall promptly disclose
to the Company, its subsidiaries or their respective successors or assigns, and grant to the Company
and its successors and assigns without any separate remuneration or compensation other than that
received by the Executive in the course of the Executive’s employment, the Executive’s entire right,
title and interest in and to any and all inventions, developments, discoveries, models, or any other
intellectual property of any type or nature whatsoever developed solely during the Term
(“Intellectual Property”), whether developed by the Executive during or after business hours, or
alone or in connection with others, that is in any way related to the business of the Company, its
subsidiaries or its successors or assigns. This provision shall not apply to books or articles authored
by the Executive during non-work hours, consistent with the Executive’s obligations under this
Agreement including Section 10 thereof, so long as such books or articles (a) are not funded in whole
or in part by the Company, (b) do not interfere with the performance of the Executive’s duties under
this Agreement, and (c) do not use or contain any Confidential Information or Intellectual Property of
the Company or its subsidiaries. The Executive agrees, at the Company’s expense, to take all steps
necessary or proper to vest title to all such Intellectual Property in the Company, and cooperate fully
and assist the Company in any litigation or other proceedings involving any such Intellectual
Property.

Section 12. Disputes.

(a) Arbitration. Excluding requests for equitable relief by the Company under
Section 10(f), all controversies, claims or disputes arising between the parties that are not resolved
within sixty (60) days after written notice from one party to the other setting forth the nature of such
controversy, claim or dispute shall be submitted to binding arbitration in Maricopa County, Arizona,
including, without limitation, (i) any dispute, controversy or claim related in any way to the
Executive’s employment with the Company or any termination thereof, (ii) any dispute, controversy
or claim of alleged discrimination, harassment or retaliation (including, but not limited to, claims
based on race, sex, sexual preference, religion, national origin, age, marital or family status, medical
condition, handicap or disability) and (iii) any claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the
breach thereof (collectively, “Disputes”). Arbitration of disputes under this Agreement shall proceed
in accordance with the Employment Dispute Resolution Rules of the American Arbitration
Association (“AAA”) as those rules are applied to individually negotiated employment agreements, as
then in effect (“Rules”); provided, however, that both parties shall have the opportunity to conduct
pre-arbitration discovery; provided, further, that nothing herein will require arbitration of any claim
or charge which, by law, cannot be the subject of a compulsory arbitration agreement; and provided,
further, that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Executive may, but is not required 
to, arbitrate claims for sexual harassment or assault to the extent applicable law renders a pre-dispute 
arbitration agreement covering such claims invalid or unenforceable.  The arbitration shall be decided 
by a single arbitrator mutually agreed upon by the parties or, in the absence of such agreement, by an 
arbitrator selected according to the applicable rules of the AAA.

(i) Any judgment on or enforcement of any award, including an award providing
for interim or permanent injunctive relief, rendered by the arbitrator may be entered, enforced
or appealed in any court of competent jurisdiction. Any arbitration proceedings, decision or
award rendered hereunder, and the validity, effect and
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interpretation of this arbitration provision, will be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9
U.S.C. §1 et seq.

(ii) It is part of the essence of this Agreement that any Disputes hereunder will be
resolved expeditiously and as confidentially as possible. Accordingly, the Company and the
Executive agree that all proceedings in any arbitration will be conducted under seal and kept
strictly confidential. In that regard, no party will use, disclose or permit the disclosure of any
information, evidence or documents produced by any other party in the arbitration
proceedings or about the existence, contents or results of the proceedings except as may be
required by any legal process, as required in an action in aid of arbitration or for enforcement
of or appeal from an arbitral award or as may be permitted by the arbitrator for the
preparation and conduct of the arbitration proceedings. Before making any disclosure
permitted by the preceding sentence, the party intending to make such disclosure will give the
other party reasonable written notice of the intended disclosure and afford such other party a
reasonable opportunity to protect its interests.

(b) Jury Waiver. Each party to this Agreement understands and expressly
acknowledges that in agreeing to submit the disputes described in Section 12(a) to binding
arbitration, such party is knowingly and voluntarily waiving all rights to have such disputes heard and
decided by the judicial process in any court in any jurisdiction. This waiver includes, without
limitation, the right otherwise enjoyed by such party to a jury trial.

(c) Limitations Period. All arbitration proceedings pursuant to this Agreement
shall be commenced within the time period provided for by the legally recognized statute of
limitations applicable to the claim being asserted. No applicable limitations period shall be deemed
shortened or extended by this Agreement.

(d) Arbitrator’s Decision. The arbitrator shall have the power to award any party
any relief available to such party under applicable law, but may not exceed that power. The arbitrator
shall explain the reasons for the award and must produce a formal written opinion. The arbitrator’s
award shall be final and binding and judgment upon the award may be entered in any court of
competent jurisdiction. There shall be no appeal from the award except on those grounds specified by
the Federal Arbitration Act and case law interpreting the Federal Arbitration Act.

(e) Legal Fees. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 12(d), the
Arbitrator shall have the discretion to order the Company to pay or promptly reimburse the Executive
for the reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred by the Executive in successfully enforcing or
defending any right of the Executive pursuant to this Agreement even if the Executive does not
prevail on all issues; provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to reimburse the
Executive unless the amount recovered by the Executive from the Company, exclusive of fees and
costs, is at least equal to the greater of (i) $50,000, or (ii) 25% of the award sought by the Executive
in any arbitration or other legal proceeding.

(f) Availability of Provisional Injunctive Relief. Notwithstanding the parties’
agreement to submit all disputes to final and binding arbitration, either party may file an action in any
court of competent jurisdiction to seek and obtain provisional injunctive and equitable
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relief to ensure that any relief sought in arbitration is not rendered ineffectual by interim harm that
could occur during the pendency of the arbitration proceeding.

Section 13. Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify the Executive, to the
maximum extent permitted by applicable law and the governing instruments of the Company, against
all costs, charges and expenses incurred or sustained by the Executive, including the cost of legal
counsel selected and retained by the Executive in connection with any action, suit or proceeding to
which the Executive may be made a party by reason of the Executive being or having been an officer,
director or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Section 14. Cooperation in Future Matters. The Executive hereby agrees that for a
period of twelve (12) months following the Executive’s termination of employment, the Executive
shall cooperate with the Company’s reasonable requests relating to matters that pertain to the
Executive’s employment by the Company, including, without limitation, providing information or
limited consultation as to such matters, participating in legal proceedings, investigations or audits on
behalf of the Company, or otherwise being reasonably available to the Company for other related
purposes. Any such cooperation shall be performed at scheduled times taking into consideration the
Executive’s other commitments, and the Executive shall be compensated at a reasonable hourly or
per diem rate to be agreed upon by the parties to the extent such cooperation is required on more than
an occasional and limited basis. The Executive shall not be required to perform such cooperation to
the extent it conflicts with any requirements of exclusivity of services for another employer or
otherwise, nor in any manner that in the good faith belief of the Executive would conflict with the
Executive’s rights under or ability to enforce this Agreement.

Section 15. General.

(a) Notices. Any notices or other communications required or permitted under, or
otherwise given in connection with, this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have
been duly given (a) on the date delivered or sent if delivered in person or by email, (b) on the fifth
(5th) Business Day after dispatch by registered or certified mail, or (c) on the next business day if
transmitted by nationally recognized overnight courier, in each case as follows:

to the Company:

Ivory Parent, LLC
c/o GIC Real Estate, Inc.
280 Park Avenue, 9th Floor
New York, New York 10017
Attention:  Jesse Hom and Daniel Santiago
Email: jessehom@gic.com.sg; danielsantiago@gic.com.sg

and

Oak Street Real Estate Capital, LLC
30 N. LaSalle Street, Suite 4140
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Chicago, Illinois 60602
Attention: Michael Reiter and Jared Sheiker
Email: michael.reiter@blueowl.com; jared.sheiker@blueowl.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
One Manhattan West
New York, New York 10001
Attention: Blair Thetford, Esq.
Email: blair.thetford@skadden.com

and

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
155 N Upper Wacker Drive
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Attention:  Nancy Olson, Esq.
Email: nancy.olson@skadden.com

to the Executive:

At the Executive’s last residence and email address shown on the records of the
Company.

Any such notice shall be effective (i) if delivered personally, when received or (ii) if sent by
overnight courier, when receipted for.

(b) Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction finds or declares any
provision of this Agreement invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof shall not in any way be affected or impaired.

(c) Waivers. No delay or omission by either party hereto in exercising any right,
power or privilege hereunder shall impair such right, power or privilege, nor shall any single or
partial exercise of any such right, power or privilege preclude any further exercise thereof or the
exercise of any other right, power or privilege.

(d) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each
of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, e-mail or other means of
electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed
copy of this Agreement.

(e) Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
Company’s successors and the Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors,
administrators, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. This Agreement shall not be assignable by
the Executive, it being understood and agreed that this is a contract for the Executive’s
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personal services. This Agreement shall not be assignable by the Company except that the Company
shall assign it in connection with a transaction involving the succession by a third party to all or
substantially all of the Company’s business and/or assets (whether direct or indirect and whether by
purchase, merger, consolidation, liquidation or otherwise). When assigned to a successor, the
assignee shall assume this Agreement and expressly agree to perform this Agreement in the same
manner and to the same extent as the Company would be required to perform it in the absence of
such an assignment. For all purposes under this Agreement, the term “Company” shall include any
successor to the Company’s business and/or assets that executes and delivers the assumption
agreement described in the immediately preceding sentence or that becomes bound by this
Agreement by operation of law.

(f) Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the
parties and, effective as of the Effective Date, supersedes all prior agreements and understandings,
whether written or oral, relating to the subject matter hereof, including without limitation the Existing
Employment Agreement. This Agreement may not be amended except by a written instrument
hereafter signed by the Executive and a duly authorized representative of the Board (other than the
Executive).

(g) Governing Law and Jurisdiction. Except for Section 12 of this Agreement,
which shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, this Agreement and the performance hereof
shall be construed and governed in accordance with the laws of the State of Arizona, without giving
effect to principles of conflicts of law. The Executive hereby expressly consents to the personal
jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in Arizona for any lawsuit filed there against the
Executive by the Company arising from or relating to this Agreement.

(h) 409A Compliance. It is intended that this Agreement comply with Section
409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations and IRS guidance thereunder (collectively referred to
as “Section 409A”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, this Agreement shall, to the maximum
extent possible, be administered, interpreted and construed in a manner consistent with Section 409A.
To the extent that any reimbursement, fringe benefit or other, similar plan or arrangement in which
the Executive participates during the Term or thereafter provides for a “deferral of compensation”
within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, (i) the amount of the benefit provided thereunder in
a taxable year of the Executive shall not affect the amount of such benefit provided in any other
taxable year of the Executive (except that a plan providing medical or health benefits may impose a
generally applicable limit on the amount that may be reimbursed or paid), (ii) any portion of such
benefit provided in the form of a reimbursement shall be paid to the Executive on or before the last
day of the Executive’s taxable year following the Executive’s taxable year in which the expense was
incurred, and (iii) such benefit shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for any other benefit.
For all purposes under this Agreement, reference to the Executive’s “termination of employment”
(and corollary terms) from the Company shall be construed to refer to the Executive’s “separation
from service” (as determined under Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1(h), as uniformly applied by the
Company) from the Company to the extent necessary to comply with and avoid imposition on the
Executive of any tax penalty imposed under, Section 409A. If the Executive is a “specified
employee” within the meaning of Section 409A, any payment required to be made to the Executive
hereunder upon or following the Executive’s date of termination for any reason other than death or
“disability” (as such terms are used in Section 409A(a)(2) of the Code) shall, to the extent
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necessary to comply with and avoid imposition on the Executive of any tax penalty imposed under,
Section 409A, be delayed and paid in a single lump sum during the ten (10) day period following the
six (6) month anniversary of the date of termination. Any severance payments or benefits under this
Agreement that would be considered deferred compensation under Section 409A will be paid on, or,
in the case of installments, will not commence until, the sixty-second (62nd) day following separation
from service, or, if later, such time as is required by the preceding sentence or by Section 409A. Any
installment payments that would have been made to the Executive during the sixty-two (62)-day
period immediately following the Executive’s separation from service but for the preceding sentence
will be paid to the Executive on the sixty-second (62nd) day following the Executive’s separation
from service and the remaining payments shall be made as provided in this Agreement.

(i) Construction. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the
language chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall
be applied against any party. The headings of sections of this Agreement are for convenience of
reference only and shall not affect its meaning or construction.

(j) Payments and Exercise of Rights After Death. Any amounts payable hereunder
after the Executive’s death shall be paid to the Executive’s designated beneficiary or beneficiaries,
whether received as a designated beneficiary or by will or the laws of descent and distribution. The
Executive may designate a beneficiary or beneficiaries for all purposes of this Agreement, and may
change at any time such designation, by notice to the Company making specific reference to this
Agreement. If no designated beneficiary survives the Executive or the Executive fails to designate a
beneficiary for purposes of this Agreement prior to the Executive’s death, all amounts thereafter due
hereunder shall be paid, as and when payable, to the Executive’s spouse, if such spouse survives the
Executive, and otherwise to the Executive’s estate.

(k) Consultation With Counsel. The Executive acknowledges that, prior to the
execution of this Agreement, the Executive has had a full and complete opportunity to consult with
counsel or other advisers of the Executive’s own choosing concerning the terms, enforceability and
implications of this Agreement, and that the Company has not made any representations or warranties
to the Executive concerning the terms, enforceability and implications of this Agreement other than
as are reflected in this Agreement. The Company acknowledges that, following the execution of this
Agreement, the Executive shall have the right to consult with counsel of the Executive’s choosing (at
the Executive’s personal expense) concerning the terms, enforceability and implications of this
Agreement and the Executive’s rights, duties and obligations hereunder and as an officer and/or
director of the Company and, in so doing, may divulge Confidential Information to the Executive’s
counsel.

(l) Withholding. Any payments provided for in this Agreement shall be paid after
deduction for any applicable income tax withholding required under federal, state or local law.

(m) Survival. The provisions of Sections 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.
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(n) Waiver of Good Reason.  The Executive acknowledges and agrees that neither 
the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement or any changes to the 
Executive’s terms and conditions of employment, compensation or benefits as contemplated by this 
Agreement or otherwise will constitute Good Reason (or any similar term) under the Existing 
Employment Agreement or any other arrangement to which the Executive is subject.   

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed
as of the date first above written.

STORE CAPITAL LLC

By: /s/ Mary Fedewa

Name:  Mary Fedewa
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

EXECUTIVE

 /s/ Chad A. Freed
Chad A. Freed

​ 

​ ​ 



Exhibit 10.3

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
BETWEEN

STORE CAPITAL LLC
AND TYLER MAERTZ

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of February 3, 2023 (the
“Effective Date”), is entered into by and between STORE Capital LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (the “Company”), and Tyler Maertz (the “Executive”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, up until the date hereof, the Executive served as the Executive Vice President of
Acquisitions of STORE Capital Corporation (“STORE”) pursuant to the terms of an Employment
Agreement with the Company and STORE Capital Advisors, LLC, dated as of April 15, 2021 (the
“Existing Employment Agreement”);

WHEREAS, on the date hereof, STORE was merged with and into the Company upon the
closing of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger
Agreement”) by and among Ivory Parent, LLC, the Company and STORE, dated as of September 15,
2022; and

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to enter into this Agreement, which
supersedes and replaces the Existing Employment Agreement in its entirety.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the future performance and responsibilities of the
Executive and the Company and upon the other terms and conditions and mutual covenants
hereinafter provided, the parties hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Employment.

(a) Position. The Executive shall be employed by the Company during the Term (defined
below) as its Executive Vice President of Acquisitions. The Executive shall report directly to the
Chief Executive Officer.

(b) Duties. The Executive’s principal employment duties and responsibilities shall be
those duties and responsibilities customary for the positions of Executive Vice President of
Acquisitions and such other executive officer duties and responsibilities as the Chief Executive
Officer shall from time to time reasonably assign to the Executive.

(c) Extent of Services. Except for illnesses and vacation periods or as otherwise approved
in writing by the Chief Executive Officer, the Executive shall devote substantially all of the
Executive’s business time and attention and the Executive’s best efforts to the performance of the
Executive’s duties and responsibilities under this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Executive may (i) make any investment in entities unrelated to the Company and its affiliates, so long
as (A) the Executive is not obligated or required to, and shall not in fact, devote any material
managerial efforts to such investment, and (B) such investment is not in violation of any other terms
of this Agreement, including Section 10 hereof;
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(ii) participate in charitable, academic or community activities, and in trade or professional
organizations; or (iii) hold directorships in other businesses as permitted by the Board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) (the activities in clauses (i) through (iii) above are collectively referred
to herein as the “Excluded Activities”); provided in each case, that none of the Excluded Activities,
individually or in the aggregate, interfere with the performance of the Executive’s duties under this
Agreement.

(d) Location of Employment.  The principal location of the Executive’s employment with 
the Company will be at the Company’s office in Scottsdale, Arizona (subject to any remote working 
arrangements approved by the Company), although the Executive understands and agrees that the 
Executive may be required to travel from time to time for business reasons.

Section 2. Term.

(a) The Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall commence on the Effective
Date and, unless terminated earlier as provided in Section 7, the Executive’s employment shall
continue until the third (3rd) anniversary of the Effective Date (the “Initial Term”).

(b) Upon the expiration of the Initial Term and each Renewal Term (as defined below),
the Executive’s employment will automatically continue for subsequent one (1) year terms (each a
“Renewal Term”) unless either the Company or the Executive provides not less than ninety (90)
days’ advance written notice to the other that such party does not wish to renew the Agreement for a
subsequent Renewal Term. In the event such notice of nonrenewal is given pursuant to this Section
2(b), this Agreement will expire at the end of the then current term. The Initial Term and each
subsequent Renewal Term, taking into account any early termination of employment pursuant to
Section 7, are referred to collectively as the “Term.”

Section 3. Base Salary. The Company shall pay the Executive a base salary (the “Base
Salary”) during the Term, which shall be payable in periodic installments according to the
Company’s normal payroll practices. The initial Base Salary hereunder shall be paid at the annualized
rate of $365,750. The Executive’s Base Salary shall be considered annually by the Board, and may be
increased in the sole discretion of the Board. Any increase shall be retroactive to January 1 of the
year in which such increase is approved. The Base Salary, as adjusted by any subsequent increases,
shall not be decreased during the Term. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Base Salary” shall
mean the amount of the Executive’s annual base salary as established and adjusted from time to time
pursuant to this Section 3.

Section 4. Annual Cash Incentive Bonus.

(a) The Executive shall be eligible to receive an annual cash incentive bonus (the
“Cash Bonus”) for each fiscal year during the Term, commencing with 2023. The target amount of
the Cash Bonus for which the Executive is eligible shall be equal to 75% of the Base Salary (the
“Target Bonus Amount”), with a “threshold” amount equal to 37.5% of the Base Salary and a 
maximum amount equal to 150% of the Base Salary.  The actual amount of the Cash Bonus payable 
to the Executive with respect to any calendar year during the Term shall be based upon the 
satisfactory achievement of reasonable performance metrics and key performance 
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indicators (such metrics, the “Bonus Metrics”) determined by the Board; provided that the Bonus
Metrics (and definitions thereof) for each of 2023, 2024 and 2025 are as set forth on Appendix A.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the Bonus Metrics that apply for any 
applicable year shall each be determined independently of one another and the amount of the 
resulting Cash Bonus shall be based on the level of determination of each individual Bonus Metric 
based on its applicable weighting.  As a result, (i) if the Board determines that any applicable Bonus 
Metric has been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the applicable performance 
year, then, based on the level of such achievement and the applicable weighting of such Bonus 
Metric, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment of the corresponding Cash Bonus with 
respect to that Bonus Metric and (ii) if the Board determines that an applicable Bonus Metric has not 
been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the applicable performance year, then 
no Cash Bonus shall be due and payable to the Executive for such year with respect to such Bonus 
Metric. If any applicable Bonus Metric has been achieved at a level between a “threshold” level and a
“target” level, or at a level between a “target” level and a “maximum” level, with respect to the
applicable performance level, then the Cash Bonus with respect to that Bonus Metric shall be
determined on the basis of linear interpolation between the applicable levels.

(c) The Cash Bonus, if any, shall be paid to the Executive no later than thirty (30)
days after the date on which the Board determines (i) whether or not the applicable Bonus Metrics for
such performance year have been achieved, and the level of such achievement, and (ii) the amount of
the actual Cash Bonus so earned; provided that in no event shall any Cash Bonus, if earned, be paid
later than March 15 of the year following the performance year to which it relates.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(ii) or Section 8(b)(ii) in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment under certain circumstances, the
Executive must be employed by the Company throughout the entirety of an applicable performance
year (January 1 through December 31) in order to receive all or any portion of a Cash Bonus. For the
avoidance of doubt, if the Executive was employed by the Company from January 1 through
December 31 of such performance year, the Executive has met the employment criterion for Cash
Bonus eligibility for that year and need not be employed by the Company thereafter, including at the
time the Cash Bonus, if any, is determined or paid for that performance year, in order to receive
payment of any Cash Bonus amount the Executive would otherwise be entitled to receive; provided,
that the Executive will not be eligible to receive payment of any unpaid Cash Bonus if the
Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause.

Section 5. Long-Term Incentive.

(a) The Executive shall be eligible to participate in a long-term cash incentive plan
(the “LTIP”).  Pursuant to the LTIP, the Executive will receive a long-term incentive grant every third 
fiscal year during the Term, each such grant to reflect a three-year performance period (the 
“Performance Period”) and with the first such grant to be received in fiscal year 2023 covering the 
2023-2025 Performance Period, the second such grant to be received in fiscal 2026 covering the 
2026-2028 Performance Period, and so on.  The target amount of the LTIP 
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grant for the initial 2023-2025 Performance Period shall be equal, on an annualized basis, to 200% of 
the Base Salary as in effect on the date of grant (the “Target LTIP Grant”), with a “threshold” 
amount equal to 33% of the Target LTIP Grant and a maximum amount equal to 300% of the Target 
LTIP Grant.  The actual amount of any LTIP grant that will be payable to the Executive shall be based 
upon the satisfactory achievement of reasonable performance metrics and key performance indicators 
(such metrics, the “LTIP Metrics”) determined by the Board over the applicable Performance Period,
with payment of the actual amount determined to be earned for the applicable Performance Period to
be made as provided in Section 5(c) below; provided that the LTIP Metrics (and definitions thereof)
with respect to the 2023 LTIP grant covering the Performance Period that begins on January 1, 2023
and ends on December 31, 2025 are as set forth on Appendix B and example calculations of the
potential payouts of the 2023 LTIP grant at varying levels of achievement of such LTIP Metrics are as
set forth on Appendix C.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the LTIP Metrics that apply for any applicable 
Performance Period shall each be determined independently of one another and the amount of the 
resulting LTIP payment shall be based on the level of determination of each individual LTIP Metric 
based on its applicable weighting.  As a result, (i) if the Board determines that any applicable LTIP 
Metric has been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the applicable Performance 
Period, then, based on the level of such achievement and the applicable weighting of such LTIP 
Metric, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment of the corresponding LTIP amount with 
respect to that LTIP Metric for such Performance Period, and (ii) if the Board determines that an 
applicable LTIP Metric has not been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the 
applicable Performance Period, then no LTIP payment shall be due and payable to the Executive for 
such Performance Period with respect to such LTIP Metric. If any applicable LTIP Metric has been 
achieved at a level between a “threshold” level and a “target” level, or at a level between a “target” 
level and a “maximum” level, with respect to the applicable Performance Period, then the 
corresponding LTIP payment with respect to that LTIP Metric shall be determined on the basis of 
linear interpolation between the applicable levels.

(c) The LTIP payment, if any, payable in respect of a Performance Period shall be
paid to the Executive no later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the Board determines (i)
whether or not the applicable LTIP Metrics for such Performance Period have been achieved, and the
level of such achievement, and (ii) the amount of the actual LTIP payment so earned; provided that in
no event shall any LTIP payment, if earned, be paid later than March 15 of the year following the
final year of the applicable Performance Period.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(iv) or Section 8(b)(iv) in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment under certain circumstances, the
Executive must be employed by the Company throughout the entirety of an applicable Performance
Period in order to receive all or any portion of an LTIP payment. For the avoidance of doubt, if the
Executive was employed by the Company through the final day of the Performance Period, the
Executive has met the employment criterion for the LTIP payment for that Performance Period and
need not be employed by the Company thereafter, including at the time the LTIP payment, if any, is
determined or paid for that Performance Period, in order to receive payment of any LTIP payment
amount the Executive would otherwise be entitled to



5

receive; provided, that the Executive will not be eligible to receive payment of any unpaid LTIP
payments if the Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Board
determines in good faith that GIC and its affiliates have exited their investment in the Company (a
“GIC Exit”), then the Board shall determine the level of achievement as of the date of such GIC Exit 
of all applicable LTIP Metrics for any Performance Period that has not been completed as of the date 
of such GIC Exit and shall make any corresponding LTIP payments that the Board determines are 
payable to the Executive in respect thereof within 30 days following the date of the GIC Exit in full 
satisfaction of all rights that the Executive may otherwise have with respect to the LTIP.   

Section 6. Benefits.

(a) Paid Time Off. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to such paid
time off, including sick time and personal days, generally made available by the Company to other
senior executive officers of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s paid-
time off policy.

(b) Employee Benefit Plans. During the Term, the Executive (and, where
applicable, the Executive’s spouse and eligible dependents, if any, and their respective designated
beneficiaries) shall be eligible to participate in and receive the benefit of each employee benefit plan
sponsored or maintained by the Company and generally made available to other senior executive
officers of the Company, subject to the generally applicable provisions thereof. Nothing in this
Agreement shall in any way limit the Company’s right to amend or terminate any such employee
benefit plan in its sole discretion, with or without notice, so long as any such amendment affects the
Executive and the other senior executive officers of the Company in a similar fashion.

(c) Other Benefits. The perquisites set forth below shall be provided to the
Executive subject to continued employment with the Company:

(i) Disability Insurance. The Company shall maintain a supplemental,
long-term disability policy on behalf of the Executive; provided that the cost of such policy
(to the Company) shall not exceed $15,000 per year or such higher amount as may be
subsequently approved by the Board.

(ii) Annual Physical. The Company shall pay the cost of an annual medical
examination for the Executive by a licensed physician in the Scottsdale or Phoenix, Arizona
area selected by the Executive; provided that the cost for such annual medical examination
shall not exceed $2,500 per year or such higher amount as may be subsequently approved by
the Board.

(iii) Club Dues. The Company shall pay, or reimburse the Executive for, the
monthly membership dues actually incurred by the Executive for one fitness or country club
membership maintained by the Executive; provided that the payable or reimbursable amount
shall not exceed $1,000 per month or such higher amount as may be subsequently approved
by the Board. For the avoidance of doubt, except as specifically
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provided for above, the Company shall not pay, or reimburse the Executive for, any other
expenses associated with such club membership (including, but not limited to, any initiation
fees and personal expenditures at such club).

Section 7. Termination. The employment of the Executive by the Company pursuant to
this Agreement shall terminate:

(a) Death or Disability. Immediately upon the death or Disability of the Executive.
As used in this Agreement, “Disability” means the Executive’s inability to perform the essential
functions of the Executive’s position, with or without reasonable accommodation, due to a mental or
physical disability for a period of either (i) 90 consecutive days or (ii) 180 days in any 365 day
period.

(b) For Cause. At the election of the Company, for Cause. For purposes of this
Agreement, “Cause” means the Executive’s:

(i) in the reasonable judgment of the Board, refusal or neglect to perform
substantially all the Executive’s employment-related duties or to abide by or comply with the
lawful directives of the Board, which refusal or neglect is not cured within twenty (20) days’
of the Executive’s receipt of written notice from the Company;

(ii) personal dishonesty, incompetence or breach of fiduciary duty which,
in any case, has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Company or
any of its affiliates, as determined in the Board’s reasonable discretion;

(iii) violation by the Executive of any material written policy of the
Company (including any policy regarding sexual, racial or other harassment or
discrimination) that has been provided or made available to the Executive; provided, that, if
such violation is capable of being cured without resulting in financial or reputational harm to
the Company, the Executive shall have twenty (20) days after receipt of written notice of such
violation to so cure;

(iv) conviction of or entrance of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere (or any
applicable equivalent thereof) to a crime constituting a felony (or a crime or offense of
equivalent magnitude in any jurisdiction);

(v) willful violation of any federal, state or local law, rule, or regulation
that has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Company or any of its
affiliates, as determined in the Board’s reasonable discretion; or

(vi) material breach of any covenant contained in Section 10 of this
Agreement.

The Executive’s termination for Cause shall take effect immediately upon the Executive’s
receipt of written notice from the Company of such termination for Cause, which notice shall specify,
with particularity, each basis for the Company’s determination that Cause exists.
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(c) For Good Reason. At the election of the Executive, for Good Reason. For
purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following
actions or omissions, without the Executive’s written consent:

(i) A material reduction of, or other material adverse change in, the
Executive’s duties or responsibilities, such that the Executive is no longer performing the
duties or engaging in the responsibilities of a Executive Vice President of Acquisitions, or the
assignment to the Executive of any duties or responsibilities that are materially inconsistent
with the Executive’s position as Executive Vice President of Acquisitions of the Company;

(ii) A material reduction by the Company in the Executive’s annual Base
Salary, Target Bonus Amount or Target LTIP Grant;

(iii)  (A) the requirement by the Company that the primary location at 
which the Executive performs the Executive’s duties be changed to a location that is outside 
of a 35-mile radius of Scottsdale, Arizona, or (B) a substantial increase in the amount of travel 
that the Executive is required to do because of a relocation of the Company’s headquarters 
from Scottsdale, Arizona;

(iv) A material breach by the Company of any provision of this Agreement
not otherwise specified in this Section 7(c), it being agreed and understood that any breach of
the Company’s obligations under Section 6(c) shall not constitute a material breach of this
Agreement and the Executive’s sole remedy for any breach of such Section 6(c) shall be
monetary damages; and

(v) Any failure by the Company to obtain from any successor to the
Company an agreement to assume and perform this Agreement as contemplated by Section
15(e).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive’s termination of employment for Good Reason shall
not be effective, and Good Reason shall not be deemed to exist, until (A) the Executive provides the
Company with written notice specifying, with particularity, each basis for the Executive’s
determination that actions or omissions constituting Good Reason have occurred, and (B) the
Company fails to cure or resolve the issues identified by the Executive’s notice within thirty (30)
days of the Company’s receipt of such notice. The Company and the Executive agree that such thirty
(30) day period shall be utilized to engage in discussions in a good faith effort to cure or resolve the
actions or omissions otherwise constituting Good Reason, and that the Executive will not be
considered to have resigned from employment during such thirty (30) day period.

(d) Without Cause; Without Good Reason. At the election of the Company,
without Cause, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Executive, or, at the election of the
Executive, without Good Reason, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Company. For the
avoidance of doubt, the exercise by the Company of its right to not extend the Agreement, or the
expiration of this Agreement by its terms at the end of the Term, shall constitute a termination at the
election of the Company without Cause.
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Section 8. Effects of Termination.

(a) Termination By the Company Without Cause or By the Executive for Good
Reason. If the employment of the Executive is terminated by the Company for any reason other than
Cause, death or Disability, or if the employment of the Executive is terminated by the Executive for
Good Reason, then, subject to the terms and conditions of Section 15(i), the Company shall pay or
provide to the Executive the following compensation and benefits:

(i) Accrued Obligations. Any and all Base Salary, Cash Bonus, LTIP and
any other compensation-related payments that have been earned but not yet paid, including (if
applicable) pay in lieu of accrued, but unused, vacation, and unreimbursed expenses that are
owed as of the date of the termination of the Executive’s employment, in each case that are
related to any period of employment preceding the Executive’s termination date (the
“Accrued Obligations”). Any earned but unpaid Cash Bonus or LTIP that is part of the
Accrued Obligations shall be paid at the time provided for in Section 4 or Section 5 above, as
applicable. Any Accrued Obligations that constitute retirement or deferred compensation shall
be payable in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable plan, program or
arrangement. All other Accrued Obligations shall be paid within thirty (30) days of the date of
termination, or, if earlier, not later than the time required by applicable law; provided that the
payment of any unreimbursed expenses shall be subject to the Executive’s submission of
substantiation of such expenses in accordance with the Company’s applicable expense policy;

(ii) Severance Payment.

(A) An amount equal to 1 times the Executive’s Base Salary in
effect on the date of termination; plus

(B) An amount equal to the Target Bonus Amount (calculated on
the basis of a full fiscal year).

The sum of the amounts payable under clauses (A) and (B) of this Section 8(a)(ii) are
referred to, collectively, as the “Severance Payment.” Subject to the provisions of
Section 8(e), the Severance Payment shall be paid to the Executive in a single, lump
sum cash payment within sixty-two (62) days following the effective date of the
Executive’s termination of employment; and

(iii) COBRA Reimbursement. If the Executive is eligible for, and elects to
receive, continued coverage for the Executive and, if applicable, the Executive’s eligible
dependents under the Company’s group health benefits plan(s) in accordance with the
provisions of COBRA, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for a period of twelve (12)
months following termination of the Executive’s employment (or, if less, for the period that
the Executive is eligible for such COBRA continuation coverage) for the excess of (A) the
amount that the Executive is required to pay monthly to maintain such continued coverage
under COBRA, over (B) the amount that the Executive would have paid monthly to
participate in the Company’s group health benefits plan(s) had the Executive continued to be
an employee of the Company (the “COBRA Reimbursement”
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and such amount, the “COBRA Reimbursement Amount”). COBRA Reimbursements shall
be made by the Company to the Executive consistent with the Company’s normal expense
reimbursement policy; provided that the Executive submits documentation to the Company
substantiating the Executive’s payments for COBRA coverage. However, if the Company
determines in its sole discretion that it cannot, without potentially violating applicable law
(including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), provide any
COBRA Reimbursements that otherwise would be due to the Executive under this Section
8(a)(iii), then the Company will, subject to the provisions of Section 15(i), in lieu of any such
COBRA Reimbursements, provide to the Executive a taxable monthly payment in an amount
equal to the COBRA Reimbursement Amount, which payments will be made regardless of
whether the Executive elects COBRA continuation coverage (the “Alternative Payments”).
Any Alternative Payments will cease to be provided when, and under the same terms and
conditions, COBRA Reimbursements would have ceased under this Section 8(a)(iii). For the
avoidance of doubt, the Alternative Payments may be used for any purpose, including, but not
limited to, continuation coverage under COBRA, and will be subject to all applicable taxes
and withholdings, if any. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary under this Agreement, if at
any time the Company determines in its sole, good faith discretion that it cannot provide the
Alternative Payments contemplated by the preceding sentence without violating Section 2716
of the Public Health Service Act, the Executive will not receive such payments.

(iv) LTIP. A cash payment equal to the product of (A) the LTIP payment
that the Executive would have received for any Performance Period that has not been
completed as of the date of such termination if the Executive had continued in employment
through the end of the Performance Period, if any, based on the Board’s determination of
actual performance for the entire Performance Period in accordance with Section 5, and (B) a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days the Executive was employed during
such Performance Period and the denominator of which is the total number of days in the
Performance Period (the “Pro-Rated LTIP Payments”).  Such cash payment shall be made at 
the same time as it would have been paid in accordance with Section 5 if the Executive had 
remained employed through the end of the applicable Performance Period.  

(b) Termination on Death or Disability. If the employment of the Executive is
terminated due to the Executive’s death or Disability, the Company shall have no further liability or
further obligation to the Executive except that the Company shall pay or provide to the Executive (or,
if applicable, the Executive’s estate or designated beneficiaries under any Company-sponsored
employee benefit plan in the event of the Executive’s death) the following compensation and
benefits:

(i) The Accrued Obligations, at the times provided and subject to the
conditions set forth in Section 8(a)(i) above;

(ii) An amount equal to the Target Bonus Amount for which the Executive
is eligible for the year in which the termination of employment occurs, prorated for the
portion of such year during which the Executive was employed by the
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Company prior to the effective date of the Executive’s termination of employment, payable as
set forth in Section 8(a)(ii) above;

(iii) COBRA Reimbursement for 18 months provided in accordance with
Section 8(a)(iii) above; and

(iv) The Pro-Rated LTIP Payments in accordance with Section 8(a)(iv)
above.

(c) By the Company for Cause or By the Executive Without Good Reason. In the
event that the Executive’s employment is terminated (i) by the Company for Cause, or (ii) voluntarily
by the Executive without Good Reason, the Company’s sole obligation shall be to pay the Executive
the Accrued Obligations at the times provided and subject to the conditions set forth in Section 8(a)(i)
above; provided, that, if such termination is for Cause then the Executive shall not be eligible to
receive any unpaid Cash Bonus or LTIP payments.

(d) Termination of Authority; Resignation from Boards. Immediately upon the
termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, or the expiration of
this Agreement, notwithstanding anything else appearing in this Agreement or otherwise, the
Executive will stop serving the functions of the Executive’s terminated or expired positions, and shall
be without any of the authority or responsibility for such positions. On request of the Board at any
time following the termination or expiration of the Executive’s employment for any reason, the
Executive shall resign from the Board (and the boards of directors or managers of the Company or
any affiliate of the Company) if then a member and shall execute such documentation as the
Company shall reasonably request to evidence the cessation of the Executive’s terminated or expired
positions.

(e) Release. Prior to the payment by the Company of the payments and benefits
provided under Sections 8(a)(ii)-(iv) or Sections 8(b) (ii)-(iv) hereunder, if any, and in no event later
than sixty-two (62) days following the effective date of the Executive’s termination, the Executive
(or, if applicable, the Executive’s representative) shall, as a condition to receipt of such payments and
benefits, deliver to the Company a General Release of Claims in a form acceptable to the Company
that is effective and irrevocable with respect to all potential claims the Executive may have against
the Company or its affiliates or other related parties or individuals related to the Executive’s
employment. If the Executive does not timely execute and return the release, or timely revokes such
release after delivery, the Company shall not be required to pay the Executive all or any portion of
such payments and benefits.

Section 9. Section 280G of the Code. Notwithstanding anything contained in this
Agreement to the contrary, if the Executive would receive (a) any payment, deemed payment or other
benefit under this Agreement, that together with any other payment, deemed payment or other benefit
the Executive may receive under any other plan, program, policy or arrangement (collectively with
the payments under Section 8 hereof, the “Covered Payments”), would constitute an “excess
parachute payment” under Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), that would be or become subject to the tax (the “Excise Tax”) imposed under Section 4999
of the Code or any similar tax that may hereafter be imposed, and (b) a greater net after-tax benefit by
limiting the Covered Payments so that the portion thereof
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that are parachute payments do not exceed the maximum amount of such parachute payments that
could be paid to the Executive without the Executive’s being subject to any Excise Tax (the “Safe
Harbor Amount”), then the Covered Payments to the Executive shall be reduced (but not below zero)
so that the aggregate amount of parachute payments that the Executive receives does not exceed the
Safe Harbor Amount. In the event that the Executive receives reduced payments and benefits
hereunder, such payments and benefits shall be reduced in connection with the application of the Safe
Harbor Amount in a manner determined by the Board in a manner that complies with Section 409A
that first reduces any payments or benefits that are valued at full value under the applicable
provisions of Section 280G, with the latest in time payments or benefits reduced first, and then
reducing any payments or benefits that are valued at less than full value under the applicable
provisions of Section 280G, with the latest in time payments or benefits reduced first. For purposes of
determining whether any of the Covered Payments will be subject to the Excise Tax, such Covered
Payments will be treated as “parachute payments” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code,
and all “parachute payments” in excess of the “base amount” (as defined under Section 280G(b)(3) of
the Code) shall be treated as subject to the Excise Tax, unless, and except to the extent that, in the
good faith judgment of a public accounting firm appointed by the Company prior to the change in
control or tax counsel selected by such accounting firm (the “Accountants”), the Company has a
reasonable basis to conclude that such Covered Payments (in whole or in part) either do not constitute
“parachute payments” or represent reasonable compensation for personal services actually rendered
(within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(4)(B) of the Code) in excess of the allocable portion of the
“base amount,” or such “parachute payments” are otherwise not subject to such Excise Tax, and the
value of any non-cash benefits or any deferred payment or benefit shall be determined by the
Accountants in accordance with the principles of Section 280G of the Code.

Section 10. Noncompetition; Nonsolicitation and Confidentiality.

(a) Consideration. The Executive acknowledges that, in the course of the
Executive’s employment with the Company, the Executive will serve as a member of the Company’s
senior management and will become familiar with the Company’s trade secrets and with other
confidential and proprietary information and that the Executive’s services will be of special, unique
and extraordinary value to the Company and its subsidiaries. The Executive further acknowledges
that the business of the Company and its subsidiaries is national in scope and that the Company and
its subsidiaries, in the course of such business, work with customers and vendors throughout the
United States, and compete with other companies located throughout the United States. Therefore, in
consideration of the foregoing, the Executive agrees that (i) the Executive shall comply with
subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this Section 10 during the Term and for the period of time
following the Term specified in each such subparagraph, and (ii) the Company’s obligation to make
any of the payments and benefits to be paid or provided to the Executive under this Agreement
(including, without limitation, under Section 8 and Section 9) shall be subject to the Executive’s
compliance with subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this Section 10, during the Term and for the
period of time following the Term specified in each such subparagraph.

(b) Noncompetition. During the Term and for a period of twelve (12) months
following the termination of the Executive’s employment (the “Restricted Period”), the Executive
shall not, anywhere in the United States where the Company or its subsidiaries
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conduct business prior to the date of the Executive’s termination of employment (the “Restricted
Territory”), directly or indirectly, (i) whether as a principal, partner, member, employee, independent
contractor, consultant, shareholder or otherwise, provide services to (A) any person or entity (or any
division, unit or other segment of any entity) whose principal business is to purchase real estate from,
and to lease such real estate back to, the owners and/or operators of businesses that (x) are operated
from single-tenant locations within the United States, (y) generate sales and profits at each such
location, and (z) operate within the service, retail, and manufacturing sectors, including, without
limitation and for example only, restaurants, early childhood education centers, movie theaters, health
clubs and furniture stores, or (B) any other business or in respect of any other endeavor that is
competitive with or similar to any other business activity (a) engaged in by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries prior to the date of the Executive’s termination of employment or (b) that has been
submitted to the Board (or a committee thereof) for consideration and that is under active
consideration by the Board (or a committee thereof) as of the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment or (ii) usurp any transactional opportunity (the services described in Section 10(b)(i) and
Section 10(b)(ii) are defined collectively as the “Restricted Business”). Nothing in this Section 10
shall prohibit the Executive from making any passive investment in a public company, from owning
five percent (5%) or less of the issued and outstanding voting securities of any entity, or from serving
as a non-employee, independent director of a company that does not compete with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (as described in this Section 10(b)), provided that such activities do not create a
conflict of interest with the Executive’s employment by the Company or result in the Executive being
obligated or required to devote any managerial efforts to such entity.

(c) Non-Solicitation of Employees. During the Restricted Period, except in
accordance with performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder, the Executive shall not, directly or
indirectly, induce any person who was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
Executive’s employment with the Company and with whom the Executive had contact or about
whom the Executive had access to Confidential Information during the then-immediately preceding
twelve (12) calendar month period ending no later than the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment to terminate employment with that entity, and the Executive shall not, directly or
indirectly, either individually or as owner, agent, employee, consultant or otherwise, employ, offer
employment to or otherwise interfere with the employment relationship of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries with any person who is or was employed by the Company or such subsidiary during the
Executive’s employment with the Company and with whom the Executive had contact or about
whom the Executive had access to Confidential Information during the then-immediately preceding
twelve (12) calendar month period ending no later than the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment unless, at the time of such employment, offer or other interference, such person shall
have ceased to be employed by such entity for a period of at least six (6) months; provided that the 
foregoing will not apply to individuals solicited or hired as a result of the use of an independent 
employment agency (so long as the agency was not directed to solicit or hire a particular individual) 
or to individuals who have responded to a public solicitation to the general population.  

(d) Confidentiality. During the Executive’s employment and at all times following
the termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason, the Executive shall not, without the
prior written consent of the Company, use, divulge, disclose or make accessible to any other person,
firm, partnership, corporation or other entity any confidential or proprietary
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information pertaining to the business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, including, without
limitation, know-how; trade secrets; customer lists; pricing policies; operational methods; and other
information relating to products, processes, past, current and prospective customers or other third
parties, services and other business and financial affairs (collectively, the “Confidential
Information”), in each case to which the Executive has had or may have access or which the
Executive developed or may have developed. The Company acknowledges that, prior to the
Executive’s employment with the Company, the Executive has lawfully acquired extensive
knowledge of the industries and businesses in which the Company engages and the Company’s
customers, and that the provisions of this Section 10 are not intended to restrict the Executive’s use of
such previously acquired knowledge. Upon termination of the Executive’s employment with the
Company for any reason, the Executive shall return to the Company all Company property and all
written Confidential Information in the possession of the Executive. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement or any other Company document to the contrary, the Executive shall be permitted, and the
Company expressly acknowledges the Executive’s right, to divulge, disclose or make accessible to
the Executive’s counsel any Confidential Information that, in the good faith judgment of the
Executive (or the Executive’s counsel), is necessary or appropriate in order for counsel to evaluate
the Executive’s rights, duties or obligations under this Agreement or in connection with the
Executive’s status as an officer and/or director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

In the event that the Executive receives a request or is required (by deposition, interrogatory, 
request for documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand or similar process) to disclose all or any 
part of the Confidential Information to a third party (other than the Executive’s counsel), the 
Executive agrees to (a) promptly notify the Company in writing of the existence, terms and 
circumstances surrounding such request or requirement; (b) consult with the Company, at the 
Company’s request, on the advisability of taking legally available steps to resist or narrow such 
request or requirement; and (c) assist the Company, at the Company’s request and expense, in seeking 
a protective order or other appropriate remedy. In the event that such protective order or other remedy 
is not obtained or that the Company requests no consultation or assistance from the Executive 
pursuant to this provision or otherwise waives compliance with the provisions hereof, the Executive 
shall not be liable for such disclosure unless such disclosure was caused by or resulted from a 
previous disclosure by the Executive not permitted by this Agreement.  Further, nothing in this 
Agreement or any other agreement by and between the Company and the Executive shall prohibit or 
restrict the Executive from (i) voluntarily communicating with an attorney retained by the Executive, 
(ii) voluntarily communicating with any law enforcement, government agency, including the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or a 
state or local commission on human rights, or any self-regulatory organization, regarding possible 
violations of law, including criminal conduct and unlawful employment practices or (iii) recovering a 
SEC whistleblower award as provided under Section 21F of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in 
each case without advance notice to the Company.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1833(b), the Executive acknowledges that the Executive shall not
have criminal or civil liability under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade
secret of the Company that (i) is made (A) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government
official, either directly or indirectly, or to the Executive’s attorney; and (B) solely for the purpose of
reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a
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complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal.
If the Executive files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of
law, the Executive may disclose the trade secret to his or her attorney and use the trade secret
information in the court proceeding, if the Executive (1) files any document containing the trade
secret under seal, and (2) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order. Nothing in
this Agreement is intended to conflict with 18 U.S.C. §1833(b) or create liability for disclosures of
trade secrets that are expressly allowed by such section.

(e) Subject to the permitted disclosures in Section 10(d), the Executive agrees that
the Executive will not at any time during the Term or thereafter, directly or indirectly, in any forum or
in any manner (including, but not limited to, orally, in writing or electronically whether for attribution
or anonymously) to any third party (including, but not limited, to any former, current or prospective
employee, client, investor, vendor or other counterparty) make, or cause to be made, any statement,
or express any observation or opinion disparaging or otherwise portraying in a negative light the
business, reputation, character, honesty, integrity, morality or business acumen or abilities of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, directors, officers, employees or direct or indirect equity holders,
including each equity holder’s respective affiliates.

(f) Injunctive Relief with Respect to Covenants. The Executive acknowledges and
agrees that the covenants and obligations of the Executive with respect to noncompetition,
nonsolicitation and confidentiality, as the case may be, set forth herein relate to special, unique and
extraordinary matters and that a violation or threatened violation of any of the terms of such
covenants or obligations will cause the Company irreparable injury for which adequate remedies are
not available at law. Therefore, the Executive agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law,
that the Company shall be entitled to an injunction, restraining order or such other equitable relief
(without the requirement to post bond) restraining the Executive from committing any violation of
the covenants or obligations contained in this Section 10. These injunctive remedies are cumulative
and are in addition to any other rights and remedies the Company may have at law or in equity. In
connection with the foregoing provisions of this Section 10, the Executive represents that the
Executive’s economic means and circumstances are such that such provisions will not prevent the
Executive from providing for the Executive and the Executive’s family on a basis satisfactory to the
Executive.

Nothing in this Section 10 shall impede, restrict or otherwise interfere with the Executive’s
participation in any Excluded Activities.

The Executive agrees that the restraints imposed upon the Executive pursuant to this Section
10 are necessary for the reasonable and proper protection of the Company and its subsidiaries and
affiliates, and that each and every one of the restraints is reasonable in respect to subject matter,
length of time and geographic area. The parties further agree that, in the event that any provision of
this Section 10 shall be determined by any court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction to be
unenforceable by reason of its being extended over too great a time, too large a geographic area or
too great a range of activities, such provision may be modified by the court or arbitrator to permit its
enforcement to the maximum extent permitted by law.
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Section 11. Intellectual Property. During the Term, the Executive shall promptly disclose
to the Company, its subsidiaries or their respective successors or assigns, and grant to the Company
and its successors and assigns without any separate remuneration or compensation other than that
received by the Executive in the course of the Executive’s employment, the Executive’s entire right,
title and interest in and to any and all inventions, developments, discoveries, models, or any other
intellectual property of any type or nature whatsoever developed solely during the Term
(“Intellectual Property”), whether developed by the Executive during or after business hours, or
alone or in connection with others, that is in any way related to the business of the Company, its
subsidiaries or its successors or assigns. This provision shall not apply to books or articles authored
by the Executive during non-work hours, consistent with the Executive’s obligations under this
Agreement including Section 10 thereof, so long as such books or articles (a) are not funded in whole
or in part by the Company, (b) do not interfere with the performance of the Executive’s duties under
this Agreement, and (c) do not use or contain any Confidential Information or Intellectual Property of
the Company or its subsidiaries. The Executive agrees, at the Company’s expense, to take all steps
necessary or proper to vest title to all such Intellectual Property in the Company, and cooperate fully
and assist the Company in any litigation or other proceedings involving any such Intellectual
Property.

Section 12. Disputes.

(a) Arbitration. Excluding requests for equitable relief by the Company under
Section 10(f), all controversies, claims or disputes arising between the parties that are not resolved
within sixty (60) days after written notice from one party to the other setting forth the nature of such
controversy, claim or dispute shall be submitted to binding arbitration in Maricopa County, Arizona,
including, without limitation, (i) any dispute, controversy or claim related in any way to the
Executive’s employment with the Company or any termination thereof, (ii) any dispute, controversy
or claim of alleged discrimination, harassment or retaliation (including, but not limited to, claims
based on race, sex, sexual preference, religion, national origin, age, marital or family status, medical
condition, handicap or disability) and (iii) any claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the
breach thereof (collectively, “Disputes”). Arbitration of disputes under this Agreement shall proceed
in accordance with the Employment Dispute Resolution Rules of the American Arbitration
Association (“AAA”) as those rules are applied to individually negotiated employment agreements, as
then in effect (“Rules”); provided, however, that both parties shall have the opportunity to conduct
pre-arbitration discovery; provided, further, that nothing herein will require arbitration of any claim
or charge which, by law, cannot be the subject of a compulsory arbitration agreement; and provided,
further, that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Executive may, but is not required 
to, arbitrate claims for sexual harassment or assault to the extent applicable law renders a pre-dispute 
arbitration agreement covering such claims invalid or unenforceable.  The arbitration shall be decided 
by a single arbitrator mutually agreed upon by the parties or, in the absence of such agreement, by an 
arbitrator selected according to the applicable rules of the AAA.

(i) Any judgment on or enforcement of any award, including an award providing
for interim or permanent injunctive relief, rendered by the arbitrator may be entered, enforced
or appealed in any court of competent jurisdiction. Any arbitration proceedings, decision or
award rendered hereunder, and the validity, effect and
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interpretation of this arbitration provision, will be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9
U.S.C. §1 et seq.

(ii) It is part of the essence of this Agreement that any Disputes hereunder will be
resolved expeditiously and as confidentially as possible. Accordingly, the Company and the
Executive agree that all proceedings in any arbitration will be conducted under seal and kept
strictly confidential. In that regard, no party will use, disclose or permit the disclosure of any
information, evidence or documents produced by any other party in the arbitration
proceedings or about the existence, contents or results of the proceedings except as may be
required by any legal process, as required in an action in aid of arbitration or for enforcement
of or appeal from an arbitral award or as may be permitted by the arbitrator for the
preparation and conduct of the arbitration proceedings. Before making any disclosure
permitted by the preceding sentence, the party intending to make such disclosure will give the
other party reasonable written notice of the intended disclosure and afford such other party a
reasonable opportunity to protect its interests.

(b) Jury Waiver. Each party to this Agreement understands and expressly
acknowledges that in agreeing to submit the disputes described in Section 12(a) to binding
arbitration, such party is knowingly and voluntarily waiving all rights to have such disputes heard and
decided by the judicial process in any court in any jurisdiction. This waiver includes, without
limitation, the right otherwise enjoyed by such party to a jury trial.

(c) Limitations Period. All arbitration proceedings pursuant to this Agreement
shall be commenced within the time period provided for by the legally recognized statute of
limitations applicable to the claim being asserted. No applicable limitations period shall be deemed
shortened or extended by this Agreement.

(d) Arbitrator’s Decision. The arbitrator shall have the power to award any party
any relief available to such party under applicable law, but may not exceed that power. The arbitrator
shall explain the reasons for the award and must produce a formal written opinion. The arbitrator’s
award shall be final and binding and judgment upon the award may be entered in any court of
competent jurisdiction. There shall be no appeal from the award except on those grounds specified by
the Federal Arbitration Act and case law interpreting the Federal Arbitration Act.

(e) Legal Fees. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 12(d), the
Arbitrator shall have the discretion to order the Company to pay or promptly reimburse the Executive
for the reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred by the Executive in successfully enforcing or
defending any right of the Executive pursuant to this Agreement even if the Executive does not
prevail on all issues; provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to reimburse the
Executive unless the amount recovered by the Executive from the Company, exclusive of fees and
costs, is at least equal to the greater of (i) $50,000, or (ii) 25% of the award sought by the Executive
in any arbitration or other legal proceeding.

(f) Availability of Provisional Injunctive Relief. Notwithstanding the parties’
agreement to submit all disputes to final and binding arbitration, either party may file an action in any
court of competent jurisdiction to seek and obtain provisional injunctive and equitable
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relief to ensure that any relief sought in arbitration is not rendered ineffectual by interim harm that
could occur during the pendency of the arbitration proceeding.

Section 13. Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify the Executive, to the
maximum extent permitted by applicable law and the governing instruments of the Company, against
all costs, charges and expenses incurred or sustained by the Executive, including the cost of legal
counsel selected and retained by the Executive in connection with any action, suit or proceeding to
which the Executive may be made a party by reason of the Executive being or having been an officer,
director or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Section 14. Cooperation in Future Matters. The Executive hereby agrees that for a
period of twelve (12) months following the Executive’s termination of employment, the Executive
shall cooperate with the Company’s reasonable requests relating to matters that pertain to the
Executive’s employment by the Company, including, without limitation, providing information or
limited consultation as to such matters, participating in legal proceedings, investigations or audits on
behalf of the Company, or otherwise being reasonably available to the Company for other related
purposes. Any such cooperation shall be performed at scheduled times taking into consideration the
Executive’s other commitments, and the Executive shall be compensated at a reasonable hourly or
per diem rate to be agreed upon by the parties to the extent such cooperation is required on more than
an occasional and limited basis. The Executive shall not be required to perform such cooperation to
the extent it conflicts with any requirements of exclusivity of services for another employer or
otherwise, nor in any manner that in the good faith belief of the Executive would conflict with the
Executive’s rights under or ability to enforce this Agreement.

Section 15. General.

(a) Notices. Any notices or other communications required or permitted under, or
otherwise given in connection with, this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have
been duly given (a) on the date delivered or sent if delivered in person or by email, (b) on the fifth
(5th) Business Day after dispatch by registered or certified mail, or (c) on the next business day if
transmitted by nationally recognized overnight courier, in each case as follows:

to the Company:

Ivory Parent, LLC
c/o GIC Real Estate, Inc.
280 Park Avenue, 9th Floor
New York, New York 10017
Attention:  Jesse Hom and Daniel Santiago
Email: jessehom@gic.com.sg; danielsantiago@gic.com.sg

and

Oak Street Real Estate Capital, LLC
30 N. LaSalle Street, Suite 4140
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Chicago, Illinois 60602
Attention: Michael Reiter and Jared Sheiker
Email: michael.reiter@blueowl.com; jared.sheiker@blueowl.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
One Manhattan West
New York, New York 10001
Attention: Blair Thetford, Esq.
Email: blair.thetford@skadden.com

and

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
155 N Upper Wacker Drive
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Attention:  Nancy Olson, Esq.
Email: nancy.olson@skadden.com

to the Executive:

At the Executive’s last residence and email address shown on the records of the
Company.

Any such notice shall be effective (i) if delivered personally, when received or (ii) if sent by
overnight courier, when receipted for.

(b) Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction finds or declares any
provision of this Agreement invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof shall not in any way be affected or impaired.

(c) Waivers. No delay or omission by either party hereto in exercising any right,
power or privilege hereunder shall impair such right, power or privilege, nor shall any single or
partial exercise of any such right, power or privilege preclude any further exercise thereof or the
exercise of any other right, power or privilege.

(d) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each
of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, e-mail or other means of
electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed
copy of this Agreement.

(e) Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
Company’s successors and the Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors,
administrators, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. This Agreement shall not be assignable by
the Executive, it being understood and agreed that this is a contract for the Executive’s
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personal services. This Agreement shall not be assignable by the Company except that the Company
shall assign it in connection with a transaction involving the succession by a third party to all or
substantially all of the Company’s business and/or assets (whether direct or indirect and whether by
purchase, merger, consolidation, liquidation or otherwise). When assigned to a successor, the
assignee shall assume this Agreement and expressly agree to perform this Agreement in the same
manner and to the same extent as the Company would be required to perform it in the absence of
such an assignment. For all purposes under this Agreement, the term “Company” shall include any
successor to the Company’s business and/or assets that executes and delivers the assumption
agreement described in the immediately preceding sentence or that becomes bound by this
Agreement by operation of law.

(f) Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the
parties and, effective as of the Effective Date, supersedes all prior agreements and understandings,
whether written or oral, relating to the subject matter hereof, including without limitation the Existing
Employment Agreement. This Agreement may not be amended except by a written instrument
hereafter signed by the Executive and a duly authorized representative of the Board (other than the
Executive).

(g) Governing Law and Jurisdiction. Except for Section 12 of this Agreement,
which shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, this Agreement and the performance hereof
shall be construed and governed in accordance with the laws of the State of Arizona, without giving
effect to principles of conflicts of law. The Executive hereby expressly consents to the personal
jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in Arizona for any lawsuit filed there against the
Executive by the Company arising from or relating to this Agreement.

(h) 409A Compliance. It is intended that this Agreement comply with Section
409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations and IRS guidance thereunder (collectively referred to
as “Section 409A”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, this Agreement shall, to the maximum
extent possible, be administered, interpreted and construed in a manner consistent with Section 409A.
To the extent that any reimbursement, fringe benefit or other, similar plan or arrangement in which
the Executive participates during the Term or thereafter provides for a “deferral of compensation”
within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, (i) the amount of the benefit provided thereunder in
a taxable year of the Executive shall not affect the amount of such benefit provided in any other
taxable year of the Executive (except that a plan providing medical or health benefits may impose a
generally applicable limit on the amount that may be reimbursed or paid), (ii) any portion of such
benefit provided in the form of a reimbursement shall be paid to the Executive on or before the last
day of the Executive’s taxable year following the Executive’s taxable year in which the expense was
incurred, and (iii) such benefit shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for any other benefit.
For all purposes under this Agreement, reference to the Executive’s “termination of employment”
(and corollary terms) from the Company shall be construed to refer to the Executive’s “separation
from service” (as determined under Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1(h), as uniformly applied by the
Company) from the Company to the extent necessary to comply with and avoid imposition on the
Executive of any tax penalty imposed under, Section 409A. If the Executive is a “specified
employee” within the meaning of Section 409A, any payment required to be made to the Executive
hereunder upon or following the Executive’s date of termination for any reason other than death or
“disability” (as such terms are used in Section 409A(a)(2) of the Code) shall, to the extent
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necessary to comply with and avoid imposition on the Executive of any tax penalty imposed under,
Section 409A, be delayed and paid in a single lump sum during the ten (10) day period following the
six (6) month anniversary of the date of termination. Any severance payments or benefits under this
Agreement that would be considered deferred compensation under Section 409A will be paid on, or,
in the case of installments, will not commence until, the sixty-second (62nd) day following separation
from service, or, if later, such time as is required by the preceding sentence or by Section 409A. Any
installment payments that would have been made to the Executive during the sixty-two (62)-day
period immediately following the Executive’s separation from service but for the preceding sentence
will be paid to the Executive on the sixty-second (62nd) day following the Executive’s separation
from service and the remaining payments shall be made as provided in this Agreement.

(i) Construction. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the
language chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall
be applied against any party. The headings of sections of this Agreement are for convenience of
reference only and shall not affect its meaning or construction.

(j) Payments and Exercise of Rights After Death. Any amounts payable hereunder
after the Executive’s death shall be paid to the Executive’s designated beneficiary or beneficiaries,
whether received as a designated beneficiary or by will or the laws of descent and distribution. The
Executive may designate a beneficiary or beneficiaries for all purposes of this Agreement, and may
change at any time such designation, by notice to the Company making specific reference to this
Agreement. If no designated beneficiary survives the Executive or the Executive fails to designate a
beneficiary for purposes of this Agreement prior to the Executive’s death, all amounts thereafter due
hereunder shall be paid, as and when payable, to the Executive’s spouse, if such spouse survives the
Executive, and otherwise to the Executive’s estate.

(k) Consultation With Counsel. The Executive acknowledges that, prior to the
execution of this Agreement, the Executive has had a full and complete opportunity to consult with
counsel or other advisers of the Executive’s own choosing concerning the terms, enforceability and
implications of this Agreement, and that the Company has not made any representations or warranties
to the Executive concerning the terms, enforceability and implications of this Agreement other than
as are reflected in this Agreement. The Company acknowledges that, following the execution of this
Agreement, the Executive shall have the right to consult with counsel of the Executive’s choosing (at
the Executive’s personal expense) concerning the terms, enforceability and implications of this
Agreement and the Executive’s rights, duties and obligations hereunder and as an officer and/or
director of the Company and, in so doing, may divulge Confidential Information to the Executive’s
counsel.

(l) Withholding. Any payments provided for in this Agreement shall be paid after
deduction for any applicable income tax withholding required under federal, state or local law.

(m) Survival. The provisions of Sections 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.
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(n) Waiver of Good Reason.  The Executive acknowledges and agrees that neither 
the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement or any changes to the 
Executive’s terms and conditions of employment, compensation or benefits as contemplated by this 
Agreement or otherwise will constitute Good Reason (or any similar term) under the Existing 
Employment Agreement or any other arrangement to which the Executive is subject.   

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed
as of the date first above written.

STORE CAPITAL LLC

By: /s/ Mary Fedewa

Name:  Mary Fedewa
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

EXECUTIVE

/s/ Tyler Maertz
Tyler Maertz

​ 

​​



Exhibit 10.4

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT
BETWEEN

STORE CAPITAL LLC
AND CRAIG BARNETT

This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of February 3, 2023 (the
“Effective Date”), is entered into by and between STORE Capital LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (the “Company”), and Craig Barnett (the “Executive”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, up until the date hereof, the Executive served as the Executive Vice President of
Underwriting and Portfolio Management of STORE Capital Corporation (“STORE”) pursuant to the
terms of an Employment Agreement with the Company and STORE Capital Advisors, LLC, dated as
of April 15, 2021 (the “Existing Employment Agreement”);

WHEREAS, on the date hereof, STORE was merged with and into the Company upon the
closing of the transactions contemplated by the Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “Merger
Agreement”) by and among Ivory Parent, LLC, the Company and STORE, dated as of September 15,
2022; and

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive desire to enter into this Agreement, which
supersedes and replaces the Existing Employment Agreement in its entirety.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the future performance and responsibilities of the
Executive and the Company and upon the other terms and conditions and mutual covenants
hereinafter provided, the parties hereby agree as follows:

Section 1. Employment.

(a) Position. The Executive shall be employed by the Company during the Term (defined
below) as its Executive Vice President of Underwriting and Portfolio Management. The Executive
shall report directly to the Chief Executive Officer.

(b) Duties. The Executive’s principal employment duties and responsibilities shall be
those duties and responsibilities customary for the positions of Executive Vice President of
Underwriting and Portfolio Management and such other executive officer duties and responsibilities
as the Chief Executive Officer shall from time to time reasonably assign to the Executive.

(c) Extent of Services. Except for illnesses and vacation periods or as otherwise approved
in writing by the Chief Executive Officer, the Executive shall devote substantially all of the
Executive’s business time and attention and the Executive’s best efforts to the performance of the
Executive’s duties and responsibilities under this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Executive may (i) make any investment in entities unrelated to the Company and its affiliates, so long
as (A) the Executive is not obligated or required to, and shall not in fact, devote any material
managerial efforts to such investment, and (B) such
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investment is not in violation of any other terms of this Agreement, including Section 10 hereof; (ii)
participate in charitable, academic or community activities, and in trade or professional
organizations; or (iii) hold directorships in other businesses as permitted by the Board of Directors of
the Company (the “Board”) (the activities in clauses (i) through (iii) above are collectively referred
to herein as the “Excluded Activities”); provided in each case, that none of the Excluded Activities,
individually or in the aggregate, interfere with the performance of the Executive’s duties under this
Agreement.

(d) Location of Employment.  The principal location of the Executive’s employment with 
the Company will be at the Company’s office in Scottsdale, Arizona (subject to any remote working 
arrangements approved by the Company), although the Executive understands and agrees that the 
Executive may be required to travel from time to time for business reasons.

Section 2. Term.

(a) The Executive’s employment under this Agreement shall commence on the Effective
Date and, unless terminated earlier as provided in Section 7, the Executive’s employment shall
continue until the third (3rd) anniversary of the Effective Date (the “Initial Term”).

(b) Upon the expiration of the Initial Term and each Renewal Term (as defined below),
the Executive’s employment will automatically continue for subsequent one (1) year terms (each a
“Renewal Term”) unless either the Company or the Executive provides not less than ninety (90)
days’ advance written notice to the other that such party does not wish to renew the Agreement for a
subsequent Renewal Term. In the event such notice of nonrenewal is given pursuant to this Section
2(b), this Agreement will expire at the end of the then current term. The Initial Term and each
subsequent Renewal Term, taking into account any early termination of employment pursuant to
Section 7, are referred to collectively as the “Term.”

Section 3. Base Salary. The Company shall pay the Executive a base salary (the “Base
Salary”) during the Term, which shall be payable in periodic installments according to the
Company’s normal payroll practices. The initial Base Salary hereunder shall be paid at the annualized
rate of $391,875. The Executive’s Base Salary shall be considered annually by the Board, and may be
increased in the sole discretion of the Board. Any increase shall be retroactive to January 1 of the
year in which such increase is approved. The Base Salary, as adjusted by any subsequent increases,
shall not be decreased during the Term. For purposes of this Agreement, the term “Base Salary” shall
mean the amount of the Executive’s annual base salary as established and adjusted from time to time
pursuant to this Section 3.

Section 4. Annual Cash Incentive Bonus.

(a) The Executive shall be eligible to receive an annual cash incentive bonus (the
“Cash Bonus”) for each fiscal year during the Term, commencing with 2023. The target amount of
the Cash Bonus for which the Executive is eligible shall be equal to 75% of the Base Salary (the
“Target Bonus Amount”), with a “threshold” amount equal to 37.5% of the Base Salary and a 
maximum amount equal to 150% of the Base Salary.  The actual amount of the Cash Bonus payable 
to the Executive with respect to any calendar year during the Term shall be 
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based upon the satisfactory achievement of reasonable performance metrics and key performance 
indicators (such metrics, the “Bonus Metrics”) determined by the Board; provided that the Bonus
Metrics (and definitions thereof) for each of 2023, 2024 and 2025 are as set forth on Appendix A.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the Bonus Metrics that apply for any 
applicable year shall each be determined independently of one another and the amount of the 
resulting Cash Bonus shall be based on the level of determination of each individual Bonus Metric 
based on its applicable weighting.  As a result, (i) if the Board determines that any applicable Bonus 
Metric has been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the applicable performance 
year, then, based on the level of such achievement and the applicable weighting of such Bonus 
Metric, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment of the corresponding Cash Bonus with 
respect to that Bonus Metric and (ii) if the Board determines that an applicable Bonus Metric has not 
been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the applicable performance year, then 
no Cash Bonus shall be due and payable to the Executive for such year with respect to such Bonus 
Metric. If any applicable Bonus Metric has been achieved at a level between a “threshold” level and a
“target” level, or at a level between a “target” level and a “maximum” level, with respect to the
applicable performance level, then the Cash Bonus with respect to that Bonus Metric shall be
determined on the basis of linear interpolation between the applicable levels.

(c) The Cash Bonus, if any, shall be paid to the Executive no later than thirty (30)
days after the date on which the Board determines (i) whether or not the applicable Bonus Metrics for
such performance year have been achieved, and the level of such achievement, and (ii) the amount of
the actual Cash Bonus so earned; provided that in no event shall any Cash Bonus, if earned, be paid
later than March 15 of the year following the performance year to which it relates.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(ii) or Section 8(b)(ii) in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment under certain circumstances, the
Executive must be employed by the Company throughout the entirety of an applicable performance
year (January 1 through December 31) in order to receive all or any portion of a Cash Bonus. For the
avoidance of doubt, if the Executive was employed by the Company from January 1 through
December 31 of such performance year, the Executive has met the employment criterion for Cash
Bonus eligibility for that year and need not be employed by the Company thereafter, including at the
time the Cash Bonus, if any, is determined or paid for that performance year, in order to receive
payment of any Cash Bonus amount the Executive would otherwise be entitled to receive; provided,
that the Executive will not be eligible to receive payment of any unpaid Cash Bonus if the
Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause.

Section 5. Long-Term Incentive.

(a) The Executive shall be eligible to participate in a long-term cash incentive plan
(the “LTIP”).  Pursuant to the LTIP, the Executive will receive a long-term incentive grant every third 
fiscal year during the Term, each such grant to reflect a three-year performance period (the 
“Performance Period”) and with the first such grant to be received in fiscal year 2023 covering the
2023-2025 Performance Period, the second such grant to be received in fiscal



4

2026 covering the 2026-2028 Performance Period, and so on.  The target amount of the LTIP grant 
for the initial 2023-2025 Performance Period shall be equal, on an annualized basis, to 200% of the 
Base Salary as in effect on the date of grant (the “Target LTIP Grant”), with a “threshold” amount 
equal to 33% of the Target LTIP Grant and a maximum amount equal to 300% of the Target LTIP 
Grant.  The actual amount of any LTIP grant that will be payable to the Executive shall be based upon 
the satisfactory achievement of reasonable performance metrics and key performance indicators 
(such metrics, the “LTIP Metrics”) determined by the Board over the applicable Performance Period,
with payment of the actual amount determined to be earned for the applicable Performance Period to
be made as provided in Section 5(c) below; provided that the LTIP Metrics (and definitions thereof)
with respect to the 2023 LTIP grant covering the Performance Period that begins on January 1, 2023
and ends on December 31, 2025 are as set forth on Appendix B and example calculations of the
potential payouts of the 2023 LTIP grant at varying levels of achievement of such LTIP Metrics are as
set forth on Appendix C.

(b) For purposes of this Agreement, the LTIP Metrics that apply for any applicable 
Performance Period shall each be determined independently of one another and the amount of the 
resulting LTIP payment shall be based on the level of determination of each individual LTIP Metric 
based on its applicable weighting.  As a result, (i) if the Board determines that any applicable LTIP 
Metric has been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the applicable Performance 
Period, then, based on the level of such achievement and the applicable weighting of such LTIP 
Metric, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment of the corresponding LTIP amount with 
respect to that LTIP Metric for such Performance Period, and (ii) if the Board determines that an 
applicable LTIP Metric has not been achieved at or above a “threshold” level with respect to the 
applicable Performance Period, then no LTIP payment shall be due and payable to the Executive for 
such Performance Period with respect to such LTIP Metric. If any applicable LTIP Metric has been 
achieved at a level between a “threshold” level and a “target” level, or at a level between a “target” 
level and a “maximum” level, with respect to the applicable Performance Period, then the 
corresponding LTIP payment with respect to that LTIP Metric shall be determined on the basis of 
linear interpolation between the applicable levels.

(c) The LTIP payment, if any, payable in respect of a Performance Period shall be
paid to the Executive no later than thirty (30) days after the date on which the Board determines (i)
whether or not the applicable LTIP Metrics for such Performance Period have been achieved, and the
level of such achievement, and (ii) the amount of the actual LTIP payment so earned; provided that in
no event shall any LTIP payment, if earned, be paid later than March 15 of the year following the
final year of the applicable Performance Period.

(d) Except as otherwise provided in Section 8(a)(iv) or Section 8(b)(iv) in
connection with the termination of the Executive’s employment under certain circumstances, the
Executive must be employed by the Company throughout the entirety of an applicable Performance
Period in order to receive all or any portion of an LTIP payment. For the avoidance of doubt, if the
Executive was employed by the Company through the final day of the Performance Period, the
Executive has met the employment criterion for the LTIP payment for that Performance Period and
need not be employed by the Company thereafter, including at the time the LTIP payment, if any, is
determined or paid for that Performance Period, in order to
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receive payment of any LTIP payment amount the Executive would otherwise be entitled to receive;
provided, that the Executive will not be eligible to receive payment of any unpaid LTIP payments if
the Executive’s employment is terminated for Cause.

(e) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, if the Board
determines in good faith that GIC and its affiliates have exited their investment in the Company (a
“GIC Exit”), then the Board shall determine the level of achievement as of the date of such GIC Exit 
of all applicable LTIP Metrics for any Performance Period that has not been completed as of the date 
of such GIC Exit and shall make any corresponding LTIP payments that the Board determines are 
payable to the Executive in respect thereof within 30 days following the date of the GIC Exit in full 
satisfaction of all rights that the Executive may otherwise have with respect to the LTIP.   

Section 6. Benefits.

(a) Paid Time Off. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to such paid
time off, including sick time and personal days, generally made available by the Company to other
senior executive officers of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of the Company’s paid-
time off policy.

(b) Employee Benefit Plans. During the Term, the Executive (and, where
applicable, the Executive’s spouse and eligible dependents, if any, and their respective designated
beneficiaries) shall be eligible to participate in and receive the benefit of each employee benefit plan
sponsored or maintained by the Company and generally made available to other senior executive
officers of the Company, subject to the generally applicable provisions thereof. Nothing in this
Agreement shall in any way limit the Company’s right to amend or terminate any such employee
benefit plan in its sole discretion, with or without notice, so long as any such amendment affects the
Executive and the other senior executive officers of the Company in a similar fashion.

(c) Other Benefits. The perquisites set forth below shall be provided to the
Executive subject to continued employment with the Company:

(i) Disability Insurance. The Company shall maintain a supplemental,
long-term disability policy on behalf of the Executive; provided that the cost of such policy
(to the Company) shall not exceed $15,000 per year or such higher amount as may be
subsequently approved by the Board.

(ii) Annual Physical. The Company shall pay the cost of an annual medical
examination for the Executive by a licensed physician in the Scottsdale or Phoenix, Arizona
area selected by the Executive; provided that the cost for such annual medical examination
shall not exceed $2,500 per year or such higher amount as may be subsequently approved by
the Board.

(iii) Club Dues. The Company shall pay, or reimburse the Executive for, the
monthly membership dues actually incurred by the Executive for one fitness or country club
membership maintained by the Executive; provided that the payable or reimbursable amount
shall not exceed $1,000 per month or such higher amount as may be
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subsequently approved by the Board. For the avoidance of doubt, except as specifically
provided for above, the Company shall not pay, or reimburse the Executive for, any other
expenses associated with such club membership (including, but not limited to, any initiation
fees and personal expenditures at such club).

Section 7. Termination. The employment of the Executive by the Company pursuant to
this Agreement shall terminate:

(a) Death or Disability. Immediately upon the death or Disability of the Executive.
As used in this Agreement, “Disability” means the Executive’s inability to perform the essential
functions of the Executive’s position, with or without reasonable accommodation, due to a mental or
physical disability for a period of either (i) 90 consecutive days or (ii) 180 days in any 365 day
period.

(b) For Cause. At the election of the Company, for Cause. For purposes of this
Agreement, “Cause” means the Executive’s:

(i) in the reasonable judgment of the Board, refusal or neglect to perform
substantially all the Executive’s employment-related duties or to abide by or comply with the
lawful directives of the Board, which refusal or neglect is not cured within twenty (20) days’
of the Executive’s receipt of written notice from the Company;

(ii) personal dishonesty, incompetence or breach of fiduciary duty which,
in any case, has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Company or
any of its affiliates, as determined in the Board’s reasonable discretion;

(iii) violation by the Executive of any material written policy of the
Company (including any policy regarding sexual, racial or other harassment or
discrimination) that has been provided or made available to the Executive; provided, that, if
such violation is capable of being cured without resulting in financial or reputational harm to
the Company, the Executive shall have twenty (20) days after receipt of written notice of such
violation to so cure;

(iv) conviction of or entrance of a plea of guilty or nolo contendere (or any
applicable equivalent thereof) to a crime constituting a felony (or a crime or offense of
equivalent magnitude in any jurisdiction);

(v) willful violation of any federal, state or local law, rule, or regulation
that has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Company or any of its
affiliates, as determined in the Board’s reasonable discretion; or

(vi) material breach of any covenant contained in Section 10 of this
Agreement.

The Executive’s termination for Cause shall take effect immediately upon the Executive’s
receipt of written notice from the Company of such termination for Cause, which notice shall specify,
with particularity, each basis for the Company’s determination that Cause exists.
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(c) For Good Reason. At the election of the Executive, for Good Reason. For
purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following
actions or omissions, without the Executive’s written consent:

(i) A material reduction of, or other material adverse change in, the
Executive’s duties or responsibilities, such that the Executive is no longer performing the
duties or engaging in the responsibilities of a Executive Vice President of Underwriting and
Portfolio Management, or the assignment to the Executive of any duties or responsibilities
that are materially inconsistent with the Executive’s position as Executive Vice President of
Underwriting and Portfolio Management of the Company;

(ii) A material reduction by the Company in the Executive’s annual Base
Salary, Target Bonus Amount or Target LTIP Grant;

(iii)  (A) the requirement by the Company that the primary location at 
which the Executive performs the Executive’s duties be changed to a location that is outside 
of a 35-mile radius of Scottsdale, Arizona, or (B) a substantial increase in the amount of travel 
that the Executive is required to do because of a relocation of the Company’s headquarters 
from Scottsdale, Arizona;

(iv) A material breach by the Company of any provision of this Agreement
not otherwise specified in this Section 7(c), it being agreed and understood that any breach of
the Company’s obligations under Section 6(c) shall not constitute a material breach of this
Agreement and the Executive’s sole remedy for any breach of such Section 6(c) shall be
monetary damages; and

(v) Any failure by the Company to obtain from any successor to the
Company an agreement to assume and perform this Agreement as contemplated by Section
15(e).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Executive’s termination of employment for Good Reason shall
not be effective, and Good Reason shall not be deemed to exist, until (A) the Executive provides the
Company with written notice specifying, with particularity, each basis for the Executive’s
determination that actions or omissions constituting Good Reason have occurred, and (B) the
Company fails to cure or resolve the issues identified by the Executive’s notice within thirty (30)
days of the Company’s receipt of such notice. The Company and the Executive agree that such thirty
(30) day period shall be utilized to engage in discussions in a good faith effort to cure or resolve the
actions or omissions otherwise constituting Good Reason, and that the Executive will not be
considered to have resigned from employment during such thirty (30) day period.

(d) Without Cause; Without Good Reason. At the election of the Company,
without Cause, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Executive, or, at the election of the
Executive, without Good Reason, upon thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the Company. For the
avoidance of doubt, the exercise by the Company of its right to not extend the Agreement, or the
expiration of this Agreement by its terms at the end of the Term, shall constitute a termination at the
election of the Company without Cause.
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Section 8. Effects of Termination.

(a) Termination By the Company Without Cause or By the Executive for Good
Reason. If the employment of the Executive is terminated by the Company for any reason other than
Cause, death or Disability, or if the employment of the Executive is terminated by the Executive for
Good Reason, then, subject to the terms and conditions of Section 15(i), the Company shall pay or
provide to the Executive the following compensation and benefits:

(i) Accrued Obligations. Any and all Base Salary, Cash Bonus, LTIP and
any other compensation-related payments that have been earned but not yet paid, including (if
applicable) pay in lieu of accrued, but unused, vacation, and unreimbursed expenses that are
owed as of the date of the termination of the Executive’s employment, in each case that are
related to any period of employment preceding the Executive’s termination date (the
“Accrued Obligations”). Any earned but unpaid Cash Bonus or LTIP that is part of the
Accrued Obligations shall be paid at the time provided for in Section 4 or Section 5 above, as
applicable. Any Accrued Obligations that constitute retirement or deferred compensation shall
be payable in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable plan, program or
arrangement. All other Accrued Obligations shall be paid within thirty (30) days of the date of
termination, or, if earlier, not later than the time required by applicable law; provided that the
payment of any unreimbursed expenses shall be subject to the Executive’s submission of
substantiation of such expenses in accordance with the Company’s applicable expense policy;

(ii) Severance Payment.

(A) An amount equal to 1 times the Executive’s Base Salary in
effect on the date of termination; plus

(B) An amount equal to the Target Bonus Amount (calculated on
the basis of a full fiscal year).

The sum of the amounts payable under clauses (A) and (B) of this Section 8(a)(ii) are
referred to, collectively, as the “Severance Payment.” Subject to the provisions of
Section 8(e), the Severance Payment shall be paid to the Executive in a single, lump
sum cash payment within sixty-two (62) days following the effective date of the
Executive’s termination of employment; and

(iii) COBRA Reimbursement. If the Executive is eligible for, and elects to
receive, continued coverage for the Executive and, if applicable, the Executive’s eligible
dependents under the Company’s group health benefits plan(s) in accordance with the
provisions of COBRA, the Company shall reimburse the Executive for a period of twelve (12)
months following termination of the Executive’s employment (or, if less, for the period that
the Executive is eligible for such COBRA continuation coverage) for the excess of (A) the
amount that the Executive is required to pay monthly to maintain such continued coverage
under COBRA, over (B) the amount that the Executive would have paid monthly to
participate in the Company’s group health benefits plan(s) had the Executive continued to be
an employee of the Company (the “COBRA Reimbursement”
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and such amount, the “COBRA Reimbursement Amount”). COBRA Reimbursements shall
be made by the Company to the Executive consistent with the Company’s normal expense
reimbursement policy; provided that the Executive submits documentation to the Company
substantiating the Executive’s payments for COBRA coverage. However, if the Company
determines in its sole discretion that it cannot, without potentially violating applicable law
(including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), provide any
COBRA Reimbursements that otherwise would be due to the Executive under this Section
8(a)(iii), then the Company will, subject to the provisions of Section 15(i), in lieu of any such
COBRA Reimbursements, provide to the Executive a taxable monthly payment in an amount
equal to the COBRA Reimbursement Amount, which payments will be made regardless of
whether the Executive elects COBRA continuation coverage (the “Alternative Payments”).
Any Alternative Payments will cease to be provided when, and under the same terms and
conditions, COBRA Reimbursements would have ceased under this Section 8(a)(iii). For the
avoidance of doubt, the Alternative Payments may be used for any purpose, including, but not
limited to, continuation coverage under COBRA, and will be subject to all applicable taxes
and withholdings, if any. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary under this Agreement, if at
any time the Company determines in its sole, good faith discretion that it cannot provide the
Alternative Payments contemplated by the preceding sentence without violating Section 2716
of the Public Health Service Act, the Executive will not receive such payments.

(iv) LTIP. A cash payment equal to the product of (A) the LTIP payment
that the Executive would have received for any Performance Period that has not been
completed as of the date of such termination if the Executive had continued in employment
through the end of the Performance Period, if any, based on the Board’s determination of
actual performance for the entire Performance Period in accordance with Section 5, and (B) a
fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days the Executive was employed during
such Performance Period and the denominator of which is the total number of days in the
Performance Period (the “Pro-Rated LTIP Payments”).  Such cash payment shall be made at 
the same time as it would have been paid in accordance with Section 5 if the Executive had 
remained employed through the end of the applicable Performance Period.  

(b) Termination on Death or Disability. If the employment of the Executive is
terminated due to the Executive’s death or Disability, the Company shall have no further liability or
further obligation to the Executive except that the Company shall pay or provide to the Executive (or,
if applicable, the Executive’s estate or designated beneficiaries under any Company-sponsored
employee benefit plan in the event of the Executive’s death) the following compensation and
benefits:

(i) The Accrued Obligations, at the times provided and subject to the
conditions set forth in Section 8(a)(i) above;

(ii) An amount equal to the Target Bonus Amount for which the Executive
is eligible for the year in which the termination of employment occurs, prorated for the
portion of such year during which the Executive was employed by the
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Company prior to the effective date of the Executive’s termination of employment, payable as
set forth in Section 8(a)(ii) above;

(iii) COBRA Reimbursement for 18 months provided in accordance with
Section 8(a)(iii) above; and

(iv) The Pro-Rated LTIP Payments in accordance with Section 8(a)(iv)
above.

(c) By the Company for Cause or By the Executive Without Good Reason. In the
event that the Executive’s employment is terminated (i) by the Company for Cause, or (ii) voluntarily
by the Executive without Good Reason, the Company’s sole obligation shall be to pay the Executive
the Accrued Obligations at the times provided and subject to the conditions set forth in Section 8(a)(i)
above; provided, that, if such termination is for Cause then the Executive shall not be eligible to
receive any unpaid Cash Bonus or LTIP payments.

(d) Termination of Authority; Resignation from Boards. Immediately upon the
termination of the Executive’s employment with the Company for any reason, or the expiration of
this Agreement, notwithstanding anything else appearing in this Agreement or otherwise, the
Executive will stop serving the functions of the Executive’s terminated or expired positions, and shall
be without any of the authority or responsibility for such positions. On request of the Board at any
time following the termination or expiration of the Executive’s employment for any reason, the
Executive shall resign from the Board (and the boards of directors or managers of the Company or
any affiliate of the Company) if then a member and shall execute such documentation as the
Company shall reasonably request to evidence the cessation of the Executive’s terminated or expired
positions.

(e) Release. Prior to the payment by the Company of the payments and benefits
provided under Sections 8(a)(ii)-(iv) or Sections 8(b) (ii)-(iv) hereunder, if any, and in no event later
than sixty-two (62) days following the effective date of the Executive’s termination, the Executive
(or, if applicable, the Executive’s representative) shall, as a condition to receipt of such payments and
benefits, deliver to the Company a General Release of Claims in a form acceptable to the Company
that is effective and irrevocable with respect to all potential claims the Executive may have against
the Company or its affiliates or other related parties or individuals related to the Executive’s
employment. If the Executive does not timely execute and return the release, or timely revokes such
release after delivery, the Company shall not be required to pay the Executive all or any portion of
such payments and benefits.

Section 9. Section 280G of the Code. Notwithstanding anything contained in this
Agreement to the contrary, if the Executive would receive (a) any payment, deemed payment or other
benefit under this Agreement, that together with any other payment, deemed payment or other benefit
the Executive may receive under any other plan, program, policy or arrangement (collectively with
the payments under Section 8 hereof, the “Covered Payments”), would constitute an “excess
parachute payment” under Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), that would be or become subject to the tax (the “Excise Tax”) imposed under Section 4999
of the Code or any similar tax that may hereafter be imposed, and (b) a greater net after-tax benefit by
limiting the Covered Payments so that the portion thereof
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that are parachute payments do not exceed the maximum amount of such parachute payments that
could be paid to the Executive without the Executive’s being subject to any Excise Tax (the “Safe
Harbor Amount”), then the Covered Payments to the Executive shall be reduced (but not below zero)
so that the aggregate amount of parachute payments that the Executive receives does not exceed the
Safe Harbor Amount. In the event that the Executive receives reduced payments and benefits
hereunder, such payments and benefits shall be reduced in connection with the application of the Safe
Harbor Amount in a manner determined by the Board in a manner that complies with Section 409A
that first reduces any payments or benefits that are valued at full value under the applicable
provisions of Section 280G, with the latest in time payments or benefits reduced first, and then
reducing any payments or benefits that are valued at less than full value under the applicable
provisions of Section 280G, with the latest in time payments or benefits reduced first. For purposes of
determining whether any of the Covered Payments will be subject to the Excise Tax, such Covered
Payments will be treated as “parachute payments” within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code,
and all “parachute payments” in excess of the “base amount” (as defined under Section 280G(b)(3) of
the Code) shall be treated as subject to the Excise Tax, unless, and except to the extent that, in the
good faith judgment of a public accounting firm appointed by the Company prior to the change in
control or tax counsel selected by such accounting firm (the “Accountants”), the Company has a
reasonable basis to conclude that such Covered Payments (in whole or in part) either do not constitute
“parachute payments” or represent reasonable compensation for personal services actually rendered
(within the meaning of Section 280G(b)(4)(B) of the Code) in excess of the allocable portion of the
“base amount,” or such “parachute payments” are otherwise not subject to such Excise Tax, and the
value of any non-cash benefits or any deferred payment or benefit shall be determined by the
Accountants in accordance with the principles of Section 280G of the Code.

Section 10. Noncompetition; Nonsolicitation and Confidentiality.

(a) Consideration. The Executive acknowledges that, in the course of the
Executive’s employment with the Company, the Executive will serve as a member of the Company’s
senior management and will become familiar with the Company’s trade secrets and with other
confidential and proprietary information and that the Executive’s services will be of special, unique
and extraordinary value to the Company and its subsidiaries. The Executive further acknowledges
that the business of the Company and its subsidiaries is national in scope and that the Company and
its subsidiaries, in the course of such business, work with customers and vendors throughout the
United States, and compete with other companies located throughout the United States. Therefore, in
consideration of the foregoing, the Executive agrees that (i) the Executive shall comply with
subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this Section 10 during the Term and for the period of time
following the Term specified in each such subparagraph, and (ii) the Company’s obligation to make
any of the payments and benefits to be paid or provided to the Executive under this Agreement
(including, without limitation, under Section 8 and Section 9) shall be subject to the Executive’s
compliance with subparagraphs (b), (c), (d) and (e) of this Section 10, during the Term and for the
period of time following the Term specified in each such subparagraph.

(b) Noncompetition. During the Term and for a period of twelve (12) months
following the termination of the Executive’s employment (the “Restricted Period”), the Executive
shall not, anywhere in the United States where the Company or its subsidiaries
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conduct business prior to the date of the Executive’s termination of employment (the “Restricted
Territory”), directly or indirectly, (i) whether as a principal, partner, member, employee, independent
contractor, consultant, shareholder or otherwise, provide services to (A) any person or entity (or any
division, unit or other segment of any entity) whose principal business is to purchase real estate from,
and to lease such real estate back to, the owners and/or operators of businesses that (x) are operated
from single-tenant locations within the United States, (y) generate sales and profits at each such
location, and (z) operate within the service, retail, and manufacturing sectors, including, without
limitation and for example only, restaurants, early childhood education centers, movie theaters, health
clubs and furniture stores, or (B) any other business or in respect of any other endeavor that is
competitive with or similar to any other business activity (a) engaged in by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries prior to the date of the Executive’s termination of employment or (b) that has been
submitted to the Board (or a committee thereof) for consideration and that is under active
consideration by the Board (or a committee thereof) as of the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment or (ii) usurp any transactional opportunity (the services described in Section 10(b)(i) and
Section 10(b)(ii) are defined collectively as the “Restricted Business”). Nothing in this Section 10
shall prohibit the Executive from making any passive investment in a public company, from owning
five percent (5%) or less of the issued and outstanding voting securities of any entity, or from serving
as a non-employee, independent director of a company that does not compete with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (as described in this Section 10(b)), provided that such activities do not create a
conflict of interest with the Executive’s employment by the Company or result in the Executive being
obligated or required to devote any managerial efforts to such entity.

(c) Non-Solicitation of Employees. During the Restricted Period, except in
accordance with performance of the Executive’s duties hereunder, the Executive shall not, directly or
indirectly, induce any person who was employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during
Executive’s employment with the Company and with whom the Executive had contact or about
whom the Executive had access to Confidential Information during the then-immediately preceding
twelve (12) calendar month period ending no later than the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment to terminate employment with that entity, and the Executive shall not, directly or
indirectly, either individually or as owner, agent, employee, consultant or otherwise, employ, offer
employment to or otherwise interfere with the employment relationship of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries with any person who is or was employed by the Company or such subsidiary during the
Executive’s employment with the Company and with whom the Executive had contact or about
whom the Executive had access to Confidential Information during the then-immediately preceding
twelve (12) calendar month period ending no later than the date of the Executive’s termination of
employment unless, at the time of such employment, offer or other interference, such person shall
have ceased to be employed by such entity for a period of at least six (6) months; provided that the 
foregoing will not apply to individuals solicited or hired as a result of the use of an independent 
employment agency (so long as the agency was not directed to solicit or hire a particular individual) 
or to individuals who have responded to a public solicitation to the general population.  

(d) Confidentiality. During the Executive’s employment and at all times following
the termination of the Executive’s employment for any reason, the Executive shall not, without the
prior written consent of the Company, use, divulge, disclose or make accessible to any other person,
firm, partnership, corporation or other entity any confidential or proprietary
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information pertaining to the business of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, including, without
limitation, know-how; trade secrets; customer lists; pricing policies; operational methods; and other
information relating to products, processes, past, current and prospective customers or other third
parties, services and other business and financial affairs (collectively, the “Confidential
Information”), in each case to which the Executive has had or may have access or which the
Executive developed or may have developed. The Company acknowledges that, prior to the
Executive’s employment with the Company, the Executive has lawfully acquired extensive
knowledge of the industries and businesses in which the Company engages and the Company’s
customers, and that the provisions of this Section 10 are not intended to restrict the Executive’s use of
such previously acquired knowledge. Upon termination of the Executive’s employment with the
Company for any reason, the Executive shall return to the Company all Company property and all
written Confidential Information in the possession of the Executive. Notwithstanding anything in this
Agreement or any other Company document to the contrary, the Executive shall be permitted, and the
Company expressly acknowledges the Executive’s right, to divulge, disclose or make accessible to
the Executive’s counsel any Confidential Information that, in the good faith judgment of the
Executive (or the Executive’s counsel), is necessary or appropriate in order for counsel to evaluate
the Executive’s rights, duties or obligations under this Agreement or in connection with the
Executive’s status as an officer and/or director of the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

In the event that the Executive receives a request or is required (by deposition, interrogatory, 
request for documents, subpoena, civil investigative demand or similar process) to disclose all or any 
part of the Confidential Information to a third party (other than the Executive’s counsel), the 
Executive agrees to (a) promptly notify the Company in writing of the existence, terms and 
circumstances surrounding such request or requirement; (b) consult with the Company, at the 
Company’s request, on the advisability of taking legally available steps to resist or narrow such 
request or requirement; and (c) assist the Company, at the Company’s request and expense, in seeking 
a protective order or other appropriate remedy. In the event that such protective order or other remedy 
is not obtained or that the Company requests no consultation or assistance from the Executive 
pursuant to this provision or otherwise waives compliance with the provisions hereof, the Executive 
shall not be liable for such disclosure unless such disclosure was caused by or resulted from a 
previous disclosure by the Executive not permitted by this Agreement.  Further, nothing in this 
Agreement or any other agreement by and between the Company and the Executive shall prohibit or 
restrict the Executive from (i) voluntarily communicating with an attorney retained by the Executive, 
(ii) voluntarily communicating with any law enforcement, government agency, including the 
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”), Equal Employment Opportunity Commission or a 
state or local commission on human rights, or any self-regulatory organization, regarding possible 
violations of law, including criminal conduct and unlawful employment practices or (iii) recovering a 
SEC whistleblower award as provided under Section 21F of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, in 
each case without advance notice to the Company.

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1833(b), the Executive acknowledges that the Executive shall not
have criminal or civil liability under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade
secret of the Company that (i) is made (A) in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government
official, either directly or indirectly, or to the Executive’s attorney; and (B) solely for the purpose of
reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (ii) is made in a
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complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal.
If the Executive files a lawsuit for retaliation by the Company for reporting a suspected violation of
law, the Executive may disclose the trade secret to his or her attorney and use the trade secret
information in the court proceeding, if the Executive (1) files any document containing the trade
secret under seal, and (2) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order. Nothing in
this Agreement is intended to conflict with 18 U.S.C. §1833(b) or create liability for disclosures of
trade secrets that are expressly allowed by such section.

(e) Subject to the permitted disclosures in Section 10(d), the Executive agrees that
the Executive will not at any time during the Term or thereafter, directly or indirectly, in any forum or
in any manner (including, but not limited to, orally, in writing or electronically whether for attribution
or anonymously) to any third party (including, but not limited, to any former, current or prospective
employee, client, investor, vendor or other counterparty) make, or cause to be made, any statement,
or express any observation or opinion disparaging or otherwise portraying in a negative light the
business, reputation, character, honesty, integrity, morality or business acumen or abilities of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, directors, officers, employees or direct or indirect equity holders,
including each equity holder’s respective affiliates.

(f) Injunctive Relief with Respect to Covenants. The Executive acknowledges and
agrees that the covenants and obligations of the Executive with respect to noncompetition,
nonsolicitation and confidentiality, as the case may be, set forth herein relate to special, unique and
extraordinary matters and that a violation or threatened violation of any of the terms of such
covenants or obligations will cause the Company irreparable injury for which adequate remedies are
not available at law. Therefore, the Executive agrees, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law,
that the Company shall be entitled to an injunction, restraining order or such other equitable relief
(without the requirement to post bond) restraining the Executive from committing any violation of
the covenants or obligations contained in this Section 10. These injunctive remedies are cumulative
and are in addition to any other rights and remedies the Company may have at law or in equity. In
connection with the foregoing provisions of this Section 10, the Executive represents that the
Executive’s economic means and circumstances are such that such provisions will not prevent the
Executive from providing for the Executive and the Executive’s family on a basis satisfactory to the
Executive.

Nothing in this Section 10 shall impede, restrict or otherwise interfere with the Executive’s
participation in any Excluded Activities.

The Executive agrees that the restraints imposed upon the Executive pursuant to this Section
10 are necessary for the reasonable and proper protection of the Company and its subsidiaries and
affiliates, and that each and every one of the restraints is reasonable in respect to subject matter,
length of time and geographic area. The parties further agree that, in the event that any provision of
this Section 10 shall be determined by any court or arbitrator of competent jurisdiction to be
unenforceable by reason of its being extended over too great a time, too large a geographic area or
too great a range of activities, such provision may be modified by the court or arbitrator to permit its
enforcement to the maximum extent permitted by law.
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Section 11. Intellectual Property. During the Term, the Executive shall promptly disclose
to the Company, its subsidiaries or their respective successors or assigns, and grant to the Company
and its successors and assigns without any separate remuneration or compensation other than that
received by the Executive in the course of the Executive’s employment, the Executive’s entire right,
title and interest in and to any and all inventions, developments, discoveries, models, or any other
intellectual property of any type or nature whatsoever developed solely during the Term
(“Intellectual Property”), whether developed by the Executive during or after business hours, or
alone or in connection with others, that is in any way related to the business of the Company, its
subsidiaries or its successors or assigns. This provision shall not apply to books or articles authored
by the Executive during non-work hours, consistent with the Executive’s obligations under this
Agreement including Section 10 thereof, so long as such books or articles (a) are not funded in whole
or in part by the Company, (b) do not interfere with the performance of the Executive’s duties under
this Agreement, and (c) do not use or contain any Confidential Information or Intellectual Property of
the Company or its subsidiaries. The Executive agrees, at the Company’s expense, to take all steps
necessary or proper to vest title to all such Intellectual Property in the Company, and cooperate fully
and assist the Company in any litigation or other proceedings involving any such Intellectual
Property.

Section 12. Disputes.

(a) Arbitration. Excluding requests for equitable relief by the Company under
Section 10(f), all controversies, claims or disputes arising between the parties that are not resolved
within sixty (60) days after written notice from one party to the other setting forth the nature of such
controversy, claim or dispute shall be submitted to binding arbitration in Maricopa County, Arizona,
including, without limitation, (i) any dispute, controversy or claim related in any way to the
Executive’s employment with the Company or any termination thereof, (ii) any dispute, controversy
or claim of alleged discrimination, harassment or retaliation (including, but not limited to, claims
based on race, sex, sexual preference, religion, national origin, age, marital or family status, medical
condition, handicap or disability) and (iii) any claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the
breach thereof (collectively, “Disputes”). Arbitration of disputes under this Agreement shall proceed
in accordance with the Employment Dispute Resolution Rules of the American Arbitration
Association (“AAA”) as those rules are applied to individually negotiated employment agreements, as
then in effect (“Rules”); provided, however, that both parties shall have the opportunity to conduct
pre-arbitration discovery; provided, further, that nothing herein will require arbitration of any claim
or charge which, by law, cannot be the subject of a compulsory arbitration agreement; and provided,
further, that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Executive may, but is not required 
to, arbitrate claims for sexual harassment or assault to the extent applicable law renders a pre-dispute 
arbitration agreement covering such claims invalid or unenforceable.  The arbitration shall be decided 
by a single arbitrator mutually agreed upon by the parties or, in the absence of such agreement, by an 
arbitrator selected according to the applicable rules of the AAA.

(i) Any judgment on or enforcement of any award, including an award providing
for interim or permanent injunctive relief, rendered by the arbitrator may be entered, enforced
or appealed in any court of competent jurisdiction. Any arbitration proceedings, decision or
award rendered hereunder, and the validity, effect and
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interpretation of this arbitration provision, will be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, 9
U.S.C. §1 et seq.

(ii) It is part of the essence of this Agreement that any Disputes hereunder will be
resolved expeditiously and as confidentially as possible. Accordingly, the Company and the
Executive agree that all proceedings in any arbitration will be conducted under seal and kept
strictly confidential. In that regard, no party will use, disclose or permit the disclosure of any
information, evidence or documents produced by any other party in the arbitration
proceedings or about the existence, contents or results of the proceedings except as may be
required by any legal process, as required in an action in aid of arbitration or for enforcement
of or appeal from an arbitral award or as may be permitted by the arbitrator for the
preparation and conduct of the arbitration proceedings. Before making any disclosure
permitted by the preceding sentence, the party intending to make such disclosure will give the
other party reasonable written notice of the intended disclosure and afford such other party a
reasonable opportunity to protect its interests.

(b) Jury Waiver. Each party to this Agreement understands and expressly
acknowledges that in agreeing to submit the disputes described in Section 12(a) to binding
arbitration, such party is knowingly and voluntarily waiving all rights to have such disputes heard and
decided by the judicial process in any court in any jurisdiction. This waiver includes, without
limitation, the right otherwise enjoyed by such party to a jury trial.

(c) Limitations Period. All arbitration proceedings pursuant to this Agreement
shall be commenced within the time period provided for by the legally recognized statute of
limitations applicable to the claim being asserted. No applicable limitations period shall be deemed
shortened or extended by this Agreement.

(d) Arbitrator’s Decision. The arbitrator shall have the power to award any party
any relief available to such party under applicable law, but may not exceed that power. The arbitrator
shall explain the reasons for the award and must produce a formal written opinion. The arbitrator’s
award shall be final and binding and judgment upon the award may be entered in any court of
competent jurisdiction. There shall be no appeal from the award except on those grounds specified by
the Federal Arbitration Act and case law interpreting the Federal Arbitration Act.

(e) Legal Fees. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in Section 12(d), the
Arbitrator shall have the discretion to order the Company to pay or promptly reimburse the Executive
for the reasonable legal fees and expenses incurred by the Executive in successfully enforcing or
defending any right of the Executive pursuant to this Agreement even if the Executive does not
prevail on all issues; provided, however, that the Company shall have no obligation to reimburse the
Executive unless the amount recovered by the Executive from the Company, exclusive of fees and
costs, is at least equal to the greater of (i) $50,000, or (ii) 25% of the award sought by the Executive
in any arbitration or other legal proceeding.

(f) Availability of Provisional Injunctive Relief. Notwithstanding the parties’
agreement to submit all disputes to final and binding arbitration, either party may file an action in any
court of competent jurisdiction to seek and obtain provisional injunctive and equitable
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relief to ensure that any relief sought in arbitration is not rendered ineffectual by interim harm that
could occur during the pendency of the arbitration proceeding.

Section 13. Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify the Executive, to the
maximum extent permitted by applicable law and the governing instruments of the Company, against
all costs, charges and expenses incurred or sustained by the Executive, including the cost of legal
counsel selected and retained by the Executive in connection with any action, suit or proceeding to
which the Executive may be made a party by reason of the Executive being or having been an officer,
director or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries.

Section 14. Cooperation in Future Matters. The Executive hereby agrees that for a
period of twelve (12) months following the Executive’s termination of employment, the Executive
shall cooperate with the Company’s reasonable requests relating to matters that pertain to the
Executive’s employment by the Company, including, without limitation, providing information or
limited consultation as to such matters, participating in legal proceedings, investigations or audits on
behalf of the Company, or otherwise being reasonably available to the Company for other related
purposes. Any such cooperation shall be performed at scheduled times taking into consideration the
Executive’s other commitments, and the Executive shall be compensated at a reasonable hourly or
per diem rate to be agreed upon by the parties to the extent such cooperation is required on more than
an occasional and limited basis. The Executive shall not be required to perform such cooperation to
the extent it conflicts with any requirements of exclusivity of services for another employer or
otherwise, nor in any manner that in the good faith belief of the Executive would conflict with the
Executive’s rights under or ability to enforce this Agreement.

Section 15. General.

(a) Notices. Any notices or other communications required or permitted under, or
otherwise given in connection with, this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have
been duly given (a) on the date delivered or sent if delivered in person or by email, (b) on the fifth
(5th) Business Day after dispatch by registered or certified mail, or (c) on the next business day if
transmitted by nationally recognized overnight courier, in each case as follows:

to the Company:

Ivory Parent, LLC
c/o GIC Real Estate, Inc.
280 Park Avenue, 9th Floor
New York, New York 10017
Attention:  Jesse Hom and Daniel Santiago
Email: jessehom@gic.com.sg; danielsantiago@gic.com.sg

and

Oak Street Real Estate Capital, LLC
30 N. LaSalle Street, Suite 4140
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Chicago, Illinois 60602
Attention: Michael Reiter and Jared Sheiker
Email: michael.reiter@blueowl.com; jared.sheiker@blueowl.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
One Manhattan West
New York, New York 10001
Attention: Blair Thetford, Esq.
Email: blair.thetford@skadden.com

and

Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP
155 N Upper Wacker Drive
Chicago, Illinois 60606
Attention:  Nancy Olson, Esq.
Email: nancy.olson@skadden.com

to the Executive:

At the Executive’s last residence and email address shown on the records of the
Company.

Any such notice shall be effective (i) if delivered personally, when received or (ii) if sent by
overnight courier, when receipted for.

(b) Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction finds or declares any
provision of this Agreement invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect, the validity, legality and
enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof shall not in any way be affected or impaired.

(c) Waivers. No delay or omission by either party hereto in exercising any right,
power or privilege hereunder shall impair such right, power or privilege, nor shall any single or
partial exercise of any such right, power or privilege preclude any further exercise thereof or the
exercise of any other right, power or privilege.

(d) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each
of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same
instrument. A signed copy of this Agreement delivered by facsimile, e-mail or other means of
electronic transmission shall be deemed to have the same legal effect as delivery of an original signed
copy of this Agreement.

(e) Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the
Company’s successors and the Executive’s personal or legal representatives, executors,
administrators, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. This Agreement shall not be assignable by
the Executive, it being understood and agreed that this is a contract for the Executive’s
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personal services. This Agreement shall not be assignable by the Company except that the Company
shall assign it in connection with a transaction involving the succession by a third party to all or
substantially all of the Company’s business and/or assets (whether direct or indirect and whether by
purchase, merger, consolidation, liquidation or otherwise). When assigned to a successor, the
assignee shall assume this Agreement and expressly agree to perform this Agreement in the same
manner and to the same extent as the Company would be required to perform it in the absence of
such an assignment. For all purposes under this Agreement, the term “Company” shall include any
successor to the Company’s business and/or assets that executes and delivers the assumption
agreement described in the immediately preceding sentence or that becomes bound by this
Agreement by operation of law.

(f) Entire Agreement. This Agreement contains the entire understanding of the
parties and, effective as of the Effective Date, supersedes all prior agreements and understandings,
whether written or oral, relating to the subject matter hereof, including without limitation the Existing
Employment Agreement. This Agreement may not be amended except by a written instrument
hereafter signed by the Executive and a duly authorized representative of the Board (other than the
Executive).

(g) Governing Law and Jurisdiction. Except for Section 12 of this Agreement,
which shall be governed by the Federal Arbitration Act, this Agreement and the performance hereof
shall be construed and governed in accordance with the laws of the State of Arizona, without giving
effect to principles of conflicts of law. The Executive hereby expressly consents to the personal
jurisdiction of the state and federal courts located in Arizona for any lawsuit filed there against the
Executive by the Company arising from or relating to this Agreement.

(h) 409A Compliance. It is intended that this Agreement comply with Section
409A of the Code and the Treasury Regulations and IRS guidance thereunder (collectively referred to
as “Section 409A”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, this Agreement shall, to the maximum
extent possible, be administered, interpreted and construed in a manner consistent with Section 409A.
To the extent that any reimbursement, fringe benefit or other, similar plan or arrangement in which
the Executive participates during the Term or thereafter provides for a “deferral of compensation”
within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code, (i) the amount of the benefit provided thereunder in
a taxable year of the Executive shall not affect the amount of such benefit provided in any other
taxable year of the Executive (except that a plan providing medical or health benefits may impose a
generally applicable limit on the amount that may be reimbursed or paid), (ii) any portion of such
benefit provided in the form of a reimbursement shall be paid to the Executive on or before the last
day of the Executive’s taxable year following the Executive’s taxable year in which the expense was
incurred, and (iii) such benefit shall not be subject to liquidation or exchange for any other benefit.
For all purposes under this Agreement, reference to the Executive’s “termination of employment”
(and corollary terms) from the Company shall be construed to refer to the Executive’s “separation
from service” (as determined under Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-1(h), as uniformly applied by the
Company) from the Company to the extent necessary to comply with and avoid imposition on the
Executive of any tax penalty imposed under, Section 409A. If the Executive is a “specified
employee” within the meaning of Section 409A, any payment required to be made to the Executive
hereunder upon or following the Executive’s date of termination for any reason other than death or
“disability” (as such terms are used in Section 409A(a)(2) of the Code) shall, to the extent
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necessary to comply with and avoid imposition on the Executive of any tax penalty imposed under,
Section 409A, be delayed and paid in a single lump sum during the ten (10) day period following the
six (6) month anniversary of the date of termination. Any severance payments or benefits under this
Agreement that would be considered deferred compensation under Section 409A will be paid on, or,
in the case of installments, will not commence until, the sixty-second (62nd) day following separation
from service, or, if later, such time as is required by the preceding sentence or by Section 409A. Any
installment payments that would have been made to the Executive during the sixty-two (62)-day
period immediately following the Executive’s separation from service but for the preceding sentence
will be paid to the Executive on the sixty-second (62nd) day following the Executive’s separation
from service and the remaining payments shall be made as provided in this Agreement.

(i) Construction. The language used in this Agreement shall be deemed to be the
language chosen by the parties to express their mutual intent, and no rule of strict construction shall
be applied against any party. The headings of sections of this Agreement are for convenience of
reference only and shall not affect its meaning or construction.

(j) Payments and Exercise of Rights After Death. Any amounts payable hereunder
after the Executive’s death shall be paid to the Executive’s designated beneficiary or beneficiaries,
whether received as a designated beneficiary or by will or the laws of descent and distribution. The
Executive may designate a beneficiary or beneficiaries for all purposes of this Agreement, and may
change at any time such designation, by notice to the Company making specific reference to this
Agreement. If no designated beneficiary survives the Executive or the Executive fails to designate a
beneficiary for purposes of this Agreement prior to the Executive’s death, all amounts thereafter due
hereunder shall be paid, as and when payable, to the Executive’s spouse, if such spouse survives the
Executive, and otherwise to the Executive’s estate.

(k) Consultation With Counsel. The Executive acknowledges that, prior to the
execution of this Agreement, the Executive has had a full and complete opportunity to consult with
counsel or other advisers of the Executive’s own choosing concerning the terms, enforceability and
implications of this Agreement, and that the Company has not made any representations or warranties
to the Executive concerning the terms, enforceability and implications of this Agreement other than
as are reflected in this Agreement. The Company acknowledges that, following the execution of this
Agreement, the Executive shall have the right to consult with counsel of the Executive’s choosing (at
the Executive’s personal expense) concerning the terms, enforceability and implications of this
Agreement and the Executive’s rights, duties and obligations hereunder and as an officer and/or
director of the Company and, in so doing, may divulge Confidential Information to the Executive’s
counsel.

(l) Withholding. Any payments provided for in this Agreement shall be paid after
deduction for any applicable income tax withholding required under federal, state or local law.

(m) Survival. The provisions of Sections 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15 shall
survive the termination of this Agreement.
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(n) Waiver of Good Reason.  The Executive acknowledges and agrees that neither 
the completion of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement or any changes to the 
Executive’s terms and conditions of employment, compensation or benefits as contemplated by this 
Agreement or otherwise will constitute Good Reason (or any similar term) under the Existing 
Employment Agreement or any other arrangement to which the Executive is subject.   

[Signatures on following page]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed
as of the date first above written.

STORE CAPITAL LLC

By: /s/ Mary Fedewa

Name:  Mary Fedewa
Title:  President and Chief Executive Officer

EXECUTIVE

 /s/ Craig Barnett
Craig Barnett

​ 

​ ​ 



EXHIBIT 21

List of Subsidiaries

NAME OF SUBSIDIARY STATE/PROVINCE OF FORMATION

STORE Capital Advisors, LLC Arizona
STORE Capital Acquisitions, LLC Delaware
STORE Investment Corporation Delaware
STORE SPE Warehouse Funding, LLC
STORE Investment Company II, LLC

Delaware
Delaware

STORE Master Funding I, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding II, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding III, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding IV, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding V, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding VI, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding VII, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding VIII, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding IX, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding X, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XI, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XII, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XIII, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XIV, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XV, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XVI, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XVII, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XVIII, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XIX, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XX, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XXI, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XXII, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XXIII, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XXIV, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XXV, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XXVI, LLC Delaware
STORE Master Funding XXVII, LLC
STORE Master Funding XXVIII, LLC
STORE Master Funding XXIX, LLC
STORE Master Funding XXX, LLC
STORE Master Funding XXXI, LLC

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

STORE SPE 8th Ave 2019-3, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Applebee’s 2013-1, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Argonne 2017-5, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Ashley CA, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE AVF I 2017-1, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE AVF II 2017-2, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Bass 2019-2, LLC Delaware



STORE SPE Berry 2014-4, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Byron 2013-3, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Cabela’s I 2017-3, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Cabela’s II 2017-4, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Chancellor 2021-3, LLC Florida
STORE SPE Cicero 2013-4, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Columbia, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Conquest 2021-2, LLC Florida
STORE SPE Corinthian, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Drew 2019-1, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE LA Fitness 2013-7, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Mills Fleet 2016-1, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Mills Fleet II 2017-7, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE O’Charley’s, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Parker 2014-3, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Ruby Tuesday 2017-8, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE St. Augustine 2013-2, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Securities Holding, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Southern Motion 2018-1, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Sovereign 2021-1, LLC
STORE SPE Spring 2022-2, LLC

Florida
Delaware

STORE SPE Starplex, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE State College 2013-8, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Sunrise, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Swensons 2016-2, LLC
STORE SPE Tahoe 2022-1, LLC

Delaware
Delaware

STORE SPE USLBM 2017-6, LLC Delaware
STORE SPE Vegas 2020-1, LLC Delaware
SPE Park 2020-2, LLC Delaware



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Mary Fedewa, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of STORE Capital LLC for the year ended December 31, 2022;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: March 22, 2023  
  /s/ Mary B. Fedewa
  Mary B. Fedewa
  President and Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Ashley A. Dembowski, certify that:
 
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of STORE Capital LLC for the year ended December 31, 2022;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and
for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: March 22, 2023
 

 

/s/ Ashley A. Dembowski
 

Ashley A. Dembowski
 

Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Corporate Controller

 

(Principal Financial Officer)



EXHIBIT 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of STORE Capital LLC (the “Company”) for the year
ended December 31, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I,
Mary Fedewa, as President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify pursuant to Title 18, Chapter 63,
Section 1350 of the United States Code, as adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of
my knowledge:

(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company.

       

 

Date: March 22, 2023 /s/ Mary B. Fedewa
    Name: Mary B. Fedewa

    Title:
President and Chief Executive
Officer

    (Principal Executive Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and will not be deemed incorporated by
reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, whether
made before or after the date hereof, regardless of the general incorporation language in such filing, except to the extent
the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided
to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of STORE Capital LLC (the “Company”) for the year
ended December 31, 2022, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I,
Ashley A. Dembowski as Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Corporate Controller of the Company,
hereby certify pursuant to Title 18, Chapter 63, Section 1350 of the United States Code, as adopted by Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company.

 

 Date: March 22, 2023 /s/ Ashley A. Dembowski
 

Name: Ashley A. Dembowski
 

Title: Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and
Corporate Controller

 

(Principal Financial Officer)

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely to accompany the Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”), and will not be deemed incorporated by
reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, whether
made before or after the date hereof, regardless of the general incorporation language in such filing, except to the extent
the Company specifically incorporates it by reference.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided
to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.


